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ILLINOIS HEALTH FACILITIES AND SERVICES REVIEW BOARD R E eEl V E D 
APPLICATION FOR EXEMPTION FOR THE 

CHANGE OF OWNERSHIP FORAN EXISTING HEALTH CARE FAC'ILITY JAN 1 8 2017 
INFORMATION FOR EXISTING FACILITY 

Current Facility Name Hawthorn Surgery Center 
Address 240 Center Drive 

HEALTH FACILITIES & 
SERVICES REVIEW BOARD 

City Vernon Hills Zip Code 60061 County _L_ak'-'-e=--__ -::-:--,-,------, _____ _ 
Namc of currcnt liccnsed cntity for the facility Hawthorn Place Outpatient Surgery Center. LP. d/b/a Hawthorn Surgery Center 
Does the current licensee: own this facility X OR lease this facility (ifleased, check if sublease 0) 
Type of ownership of the current licensed entity (check one of the following:) Sole Proprietorship 
___ Not-for-Profit Corporation For Profit Corporation Pal1nership Governmental 
____ Limited Liability Company X Other, specify ~L~im~i~te~dO:!P~a"_'_rtO'_,n~e!.>rs!.!Ch~ip~ __________ _ 
Illinois State Senator for the district where the facility is located: Sen._T::-e::,:r'-1.ryc..:L:::i:c.:nk"--::-::-c-:,-:---=---::-:-::-::-::-___ _ 
State Senate District Number 30 Mailing address of the State Senator 321 State Capitol Building 

Springfield. IL 62706 
Illinois State Representative for the district where the facility is located: Rep. -,C""a",r""o,-,I A,-,.,-,S~e,-,-n",te,,-;:;::;:::--=-:;;-:---::----:=_=--=-
State Representative District Number 59 Mailing address of the State Representative 272 -S Stratton Office Building 

Springfield, IL 62706 

2. OUTSTANDING PERMITS. Does the facility have any projects for which the State Board issued a permit that will 
not be completed (refer to 1130.140 "Completion or Project Completion" for a definition of project completion) by the 
time of the proposed ownership change? Yes 0 No M. If yes, refer to Section 1130.520(f), and indicate the projects by 
Pr~ect# _____________________________________________ _ 

3. NAME OF APPLICANT (complete this information for each co-applicant and insert after this page). 
Exact Legal Name of Applicant UnitedHealth Group Incorporated 
Address 9900 Bren Road 
City, State & Zip Code East Minnetonka, MN 55343 
Type of ownership of the current licensed entity (check one ofthe following:) __ Sole Proprietorship 
___ Not-for-Profit Corporation X For Profit Corporation Partnership ~_ Governmental 
___ Limited Liability Company Other, specify ____________________ _ 

4. NAME OF LEGAL ENTITY THAT WILL BE THE LICENSEE/OPERATING ENTITY OF THE 
FACILITY NAMED IN THE APPLICATION AS A RESULT OF THIS TRANSACTION. 

Exact Legal Name of Entity to be Licensed Hawthorn Place Outpatient Surgery Center, L.P. 
Address 240 Center Drive 
City, State & Zip Code Vernon Hills, IL 60061 
Type of ownership of the current licensed entity (check one ofthe following:) _--,----_ Sole Proprietorship 
___ Not-for-Profit Corporation ___ For Profit Corporation __ Pal1nership Governmental 
___ Limited Liability Company X Other, specify -=L:.:.;im~it'-=e~d_'"P...:a:.:..;rt:.:..;n.=.er;..::s.:..::h:.!:ip ________ _ 

5. BUILDING/SITE OWNERSHIP. NAME OF LEGAL ENTITY THAT WILL OWN THE "BRICKS 
AND MORTAR" (BUILDING) OF THE FACILITY NAMED IN THIS APPLICATION IF DIFFERENT 
FROM THE OPERATING/LICENSED ENTITY 

Exact Legal Name of Entity That Will Own the Site Vernon Hills Hawthorn SC, LLC c/o H S A Commercial, Inc. 
Address 233 South Wacker Drive, Suite 350 
City, State & Zip Code Chicago, Illinois 60606 
Type of ownership of the current licensed entity (check one of the following:) ____ Sole Proprietorship 
__ Not-ror-Profit Corporation For Profit Corporation ___ Partnership ____ Governmental 

X Limited Liability Company Other, specify ___________________ _ 

---- -_ .. -------------------- Page 2 -------------------- ._------._-
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ILLINOIS HEALTH FACILITIES AND SERVICES REVIEW BOARD 
APPLICATION FOR EXEMPTION FOR THE 

CHANGE OF OWNERSHIP FOR AN EXISTING HEALTH CARE FACILITY 

1. INFORMATION FOR EXISTING FACILITY 

Current Facility Name Hawthorn Surgery Center 
Address 240 Center Drive 
City Vernon Hills Zip Code 60061 County......;;c.La;:..:k.:;:e'--__________ _ 
Name of current licensed entity for the facility Hawthorn Place Outpatient Surgery Center,loP. d/b/a Hawthorn Surgery Center 
Does the current licensee: own this facility X OR lease this facility (if leased, check if sublease 0) 
Type of ownership of the current licensed entity (cheCk one of the following:) Sole Proprietorship 
___ Not-for-Profit Corporation For Profit Corporation Partnership Governmental 
___ Limited Liability Company X Other, specify -c-=L"::'im:,:.:it""e:::::d::-P..):!a!.!rt""'ne:2r-"'Sh""ip"--__________ _ 
Illinois State Senator for the district where the facility is located: Sen._T='e::.:.r:.L!Y....:L::.:in.:.ck=........:77-=:-:--:--::::--::--:-:~::--__ --
State Senate District Number 30 Mailing address of the State Senator 321 State Capitol Building 

Springfield. IL 62706 
Illinois State Representative for the district where the facility is located: Rep. c-'C""a""r""'ol'-"A,!,.-"S~eC!..!.nt""e'-;:;::;_~;::-:::_;__:::---=~_;:::__;_:_ 
State Representative District Number 59 Mailing address ofthe State Representative 272 -S Stratton Office Building 

Springfield. IL 62706 

2. OUTSTANDING PERMITS. Does the facility have any projects for which the State Board issued a permit that will 
not be completed (refer to 1130.140 "Completion or Project Completion" for a definition of project completion) by the 
time of the proposed ownership change? Yes 0 No /I!l. If yes, refer to Section 1130.520(f), and indicate the projects by 
Pr~ect# ________________________________________________________ __ 

3. NAME OF APPLICANT (complete this infonnation for each co·applicant and insert after this page). 
Exact Legal Name of Applicant ...:S::J:pc::a:.::rta::.:n~M:::..er:..!1g:::..e:....r S:::.u:;:b:...;2::.:,-=l:.::L=.C _____________________ _ 
Address 9900 Bran Road 
City, State & Zip Code East Minnetonka, MN 55343 
Type of ownership of the current licensed entity (check one ofthe following:) Sole Proprietorship 
---;-;--_ Not-for-Profit Corporation For Profit Corporation ___ Partnersh ip _ Governmental 
--,X--,-_ Limited Liability Company Other, specify __________________ _ 

4. NAME OF LEGAL ENTITY THAT WILL BE THE LICENSEE/OPERATING ENTITY OF THE 
FACILITY NAMED IN THE APPLICATION AS A RESULT OF THIS TRANSACTION. 

Legal Name of Entity to be Licensed Hawthorn Place Outpatient Surgery Center, L.P. 
Address 240 Center Drive 
City, State & Zip Code Vernon Hills, IL 60061 
Type of ownership of the current licensed entity (check one of the following:) _-._ Sole Proprietorship 
__ Not-for·Profit Corporation __ For Profit Corporation ___ Partnership Governmental 
___ Limited Liability Company X Other, specifY -=Li::..:m.::;it:.::.ed:::...:...P=.art:.;:n~e::::rs::::.h:.:!ip~ _______ _ 

5. BUILDING/SITE OWNERSHIP. NAME OF LEGAL ENTITY THAT WILL OWN THE "BRICKS 
AND MORTAR" (BUILDING) OF THE FACILITY NAMED IN THIS APPLICATION IF DIFFERENT 
FROM THE OPERATlNGILICENSED ENTITY 

Exact Legal Name of Entity That Will Own the ... _V_e_r_no_n __ Hi_lIs_H_8w_t_h_or_n __ -,--L_LC_c_/o_H_S_A_f'._fl_I m_rr~_p.-.:r(_i;~_lln_c_._ 
Address 233 South Wacker Drive, Suite 350 
City, State & Zip Code Chicago, illinois 60606 
Type of ownership ofthe current licensed entity (check one of the following:) ___ -,-- Sole Proprietorship 
__ Not-for-Profit Corporation For Profit Corporation ___ Partnership Governmental 

X Limited Liability Company Other, specify __________________ _ 
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ILLINOIS HEALTH FACILITIES AND SERVICES REVIEW BOARD 
APPLICATION FOR EXEMPTION FOR THE 

CHANGE OF OWNERSHIP FOR AN EXISTING HEALTH CARE FACILITY 

1. INFORMATION FOR EXISTING FACILITY 

Current Facility Name Hawthorn Surgery Center 
Address 240 Center Drive 
City Vernon Hills Zip Code 60061 County -.::;L=ak:..:.;e=---__________ _ 
Name of current licensed entity for the facility Hawthorn Place Outpatient Surgery Center, loP. d/b/a Hawthorn Surgery Center 
Does the current licensee: own this facility X OR lease this facility (ifleased, check if sublease 0) 
Type of ownership of the current licensed entity (check one of the following:) Sole Proprietorship 
___ Not-for-Profit Corporation For Profit Corporation Partnership Governmental 
___ Limited Liability Company X Other, specifY 7'L:::lm!l!i~te~d::_P~a!!..!rt~ne!¥r~sh!.!'i1!.;;!.~-----------
Illinois State Senator for the district where the facility is located: Sell.,_T.:.:e::!.rry:.L..:L::!in~k:.......,~-::-_-:::---:--:-::--:-:--::--___ _ 
State Senate District Number 30 Mailing address of the State Senator 321 State Capitol Building 

Springfield, IL 62706 
Illinois State Representative for the district where the facility is located: Rep. -,C~a~r~oluA:l:.~S~e,,-,n~te,-===-=-=::--,.,--__ =---=--::-
State Representative District Number 59 Mailing address of the State Representative 272 -8 Stratton Office Building 

2. OUTSTANDING PERMITS. Does the facility have any projects for which the State Board issued a permit that will 
not be completed (refer to 1130.140 "Completion or Project Completion" for a definition of project completion) by the 
time of the proposed ownership change? Yes 0 No /Ill. If yes, refer to Section 1 I30.520(f), and indicate the projects by 
Pr~ect# ____________________________________________________________________ __ 

3. NAME OF APPLICANT (complete this information for each co-applicant and insert after this page). 
Exact Legal Name of Applicant Hawthorn Place Outpatient Surgery Center, L.P. 
Address 240 Center Drive 
City, State & Zip Code _V,.!..e~r.!.!n!!!on!.!...!..!H!.!!iII~$,..!I!:.L~60~0~6~1 ______________________________ __ 
Type of ownership of the current licensed entity (check one ofthe following:) Sole Proprietorship 
__ ~Not-for-Profit Corporation For Profit Corporation Partnership Governmental 
___ Limited Liability Company X Other, specifY-,L~im~ite;::!:d!..2P!:..!a~rt!!..n,-",e.!.."rs~h'!l::ip~ ____________ _ 

4. NAME OF LEGAL ENTITY THAT WILL BE THE LICENSEE/OPERATING ENTITY OF THE 
FACILITY NAMED IN THE APPLICATION AS A RESULT OFTHlS TRANSACTION. 

Exact Legal Name of Entity to be Licensed Hawthorn Place Outpatient Surgery Center. L.P. 
Address 240 Center Drive 
City, State & Zip Code Vernon Hills. IL 60061 
Type of ownership of the current licensed entity (check one of the following:) Sole Proprietorship 
__ Not-for-Profit Corporation __ For Profit Corporation ___ Partnership Governmental 
___ Limited Liability Company X Other, specifY --=L~rm~it:.:::e.:::.d..:.P..:::a::.!rt:.::ne~r=sh~j~p __________ _ 

5. BUILDING/SITE OWNERSHIP. NAME OF LEGAL ENTITY THAT WILL OWN TilE "BRICKS 
AND MORTAR" (BUILDING) OF THE FACILITY NAMED IN THIS APPLICATION IF DIFFERENT 
FROM THE OPERATING/LICENSED ENTITY 

Exact Legal Name of Entity That Will Own the Site Vernon Hills Hawthorn SC, LLC c/o H S A Commercia!. Inc. 
Address 233 South Wacker Drive. Suite 350 
City, State & Zip Code ..!C=..!.h!.!!ic~a!l;lg~o,wJ!.!!lIiL!!no!o!!.is~60!<.\6,!l,O!.!,!6,--_~ __________________ _ 
Type of ownership ofthe current licensed entity (check one of the following:) Sole Proprietorship 
___ Not-for-Profit Corporation For Profit Corporation ___ Partnership Governmental 
--''-'--_ Limited Liability Company Other, specify __________________ _ 

------_ ... _._-_ .. PageZ 
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ILLlN01S HEALTH FACILITIES AND SERVICES REVIEW BOARD 
APPLICATION FOR EXEMPTION FOR THE 

CHANGE OF OWNERSHIP FOR AN EXISTING HEALTH CARE FACILITY 

1. INFORMATION FOR EXISTING FACILITY 

CUrrent Facility Name Hawthorn Surgery Center 
Address 240 Center Drive 
City Vernon Hills Zip Code 60061 County --=l.:;;.ak;.:;;s=--__________ _ 
Name of current licensed entity for the facility Hawthorn Place Outpatient Surgery Center, L.P. dfb/a Hawthorn Surgery Center 

Does the current licensee: own this facility X OR lease this facility (ifleased. check if sublease D) 
Type of ownership of the current licensed entity (check one ofthe fullowing:) Sole Proprietorship 
___ Not-for-Profit Corporation For Profit Corporation Partnership Governmental 
-=:---:-_ Limited Liability Company X Other, specify ---",l"-,imC!!.it""s""-d-,--P-",a:..>;rtn,-"e,,,-rs~h.!!Jip,,,--__________ _ 
Illinois State Senator for the district where the faeility is located: Sen .. _T..;.;.e::.;.r""ry-'Lo.;;in..;.;.k.:-,:-::-:--::-_-::--:--:-::--::-::--___ _ 
State Senate District Number 30 Mailing address of the Slate Senator 321 State Capitol Building 

. Springfield, IL 621Q6 
lIlinois State Representative for the district where the faeility is loeated: Rep. -,C""a",-ro""I..:-A.!!..-"S::<9 .... nt"",e-:==--==-=:--:-:---=-:=---=--c.-
State Representative District Number Mailing address of lhe State Representative 272 -S Stratton Office Building 

Springfield, IL 62706 

2. OUTSTANDING PERMITS. Does the facility have any projects for which lhe State Board issued a permit that will 
not be completed (refer to 1130.140 "Completion or Project Completion" for a definition of project completion) by the 
time ofthe proposed ownership change? Yes 0 No M.lfyes, refer to Section 1 I30.520(f), and indicate the projects by 
Project 

3. NAME OF APPLICANT (complete this information for each co-applicant and insert after this page). 
Exact Legal Name of Applicant -"S""u",rg""ic""a""f :!C"",ar""eC,!,A-'!.ff,-,!iI""ia-",te""s..." 'C!.!.nc"', __________________ _ 
Address 510 Lake Cook Road, Suite 400 
City, State & Zip Code ....!:!.D~ee:::!rfi.!!'le:::!ld';!!J,::.!.IL=60""0~1:::,5--::---::--:----:-_ ___:_:_-::-:::---:----c---__=~_::_-:___:_:__----­
Type of ownership of the current licensed entity (check one of the following:) __ Sole Proprietorship 
___ Not-for-Profit Corporation X For Profit Corporation Partnership __ Governmental 
___ Limited Liabilily Company Other, specify _______________ _ 

4. NAME OF LEGAL ENTITY THAT WILL BE THE LICENSEE/OPERATING ENTITY OF THE 
FACILITY NAMED IN THE APPLICATION AS A RESULT OF THIS TRANSACTION. 

Exact Legal Name of Entity to be Licensed Hawthorn Place Outpatient Surgery Center, L.P. 
Address 240 Center Drive 
City, State & Zip Code Vernon Hills, IL 60061 
Type of ownership of the current licensed entity (check one of the following:) _,-:-_ Sole Proprietorship 
__ Not-for-Profit Corporation __ For Profit Corporation __ Partnership Governmental 
___ Limited Liability Company X Other, specify _L""im""'it'-'-e.c;..d..:.,p..:.,a_rtn"-e;....r-'-'sh""ip'--______ _ 

5. BUILDING/SITE OWNERSHIP. NAME OF LEGAL ENTITY THAT WILL OWN THE "BRICKS 
AND MORTAR" (BUILDING) OF THE FACILITY NAMED IN THIS APPLICATION IF DIFFERENT 
FROM THE OPERATING/LICENSED ENTITY 

Exact Legal Name of Entity That Will Own the Site Vernon Hills Hawthorn SC, LLC clo H S A Commercial, Inc. 
Address 233 South Wacker Drive. Suite 350 
City, State & Zip Code ...!:C~hmic~a~go~.~II!!.!.lin!.lJo""is"-6~0:06~0?t_6___::__:___:_-__:_-_:_:.,___:__,_----_=__::_-::-_:--___:_:__-
Type of ownership of the current licensed entity (check one of the following:) ____ Sole Proprietorship 
~_Not-for-Proflt Corporation For Profit Corporation ___ Partnership ____ Governmental 
-----'-'--_ Limited Liability Company Other, specify _________________ _ 

Page Z ----_._-----------
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6. TRANSACfION TYPE. CHECK THE FOLLOWING THAT APPLY TO TH E TRANSACTION: 
o Purchase resulting in the issuance of a license to an entity different from current licensee; 
o Lease resulting in the issuance ofa license to an entity different from current licensee; 
o Stock transfer resulting in the issuance of a license to a different entity from current licensee; 
~ Stock transfer resulting in no change from current licensee; 
o Assignment or transfer of assets resulting in the issuance of a license to an entity different from the current licensee; 
o Assignment or transfer of assets not resulting in the issuance of a license to an entity di fferent from the current 

licensee;' 
o Change in membership or sponsorship of a not-for-profit corporation that is the licensed entity; 
o Change of 50% or more of the voting members of a not-for-profit corporation's board of directors that controls a 

health care facility's operations, license, certification or physical plant and assets; 
o Change in the sponsorship or control of the person who is licensed, certified or owns the physical plant and assets 

of a governmental health care facility; 
o Sale or transfer of the physical plant and related assets of a health care facility not resulting in a change of current 

licensee; 
o Any other transaction that results in a person obtaining control of a health care facility's operation or physical plant 

and assets, and explain in "Attachment 3 Narrative Description" 

7. APPLICATION FEE. Submit the application fee in the form of a check or money order for $2,500 payable to the 
Illinois Department of Public Health and append as ATTACHMENT #1. 

8. FUNDING. Indicate the type and source offunds which will be used to acquire the facility (e.g., mortgage through 
Health Facilities Authority; cash gift from parent company, etc.) and append as ATTACHMENT #2. 

9. ANTICIPATED ACQUISITION PRICE: $ See Attachment t/2. 

10. FAIR MARKET VALUE OFTHE FACILITY: $ SeeAltachment#2. 
(to determine fair market value, refer to 77 lAC 1130.140) 

11. DATE OF PROPOSED TRANSACTION: Expected 10 close dUringlhe first half 012017. See Allachmentll2 for additional detail. 

12. NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION. Provide a narrative description explaining the transaction, and append it to the 
application as ATTACHMENT #3. 

13. BACKGROUND OF APPLICANT (co-applicants must also provide this information). Corporations and Limited 
Liability Companies must provide a current Certificate of Good Standing from the Illinois Secretary of State. Limited 
Liability Companies and Partnerships must provide the name and address of each partnerl member and specify the 
percentage of ownership of each. Append this information to the application as ATTACHMENT #4. 

14. TRANSACfION DOCUMENTS. Provide a copy of the complete transaction document(s) including schedules and 
exhibits which detail the terms and conditions of the proposed transaction (purchase, lease, stock transfer, etc). 
Applicants should note that the document(s) submitted should reflect the applicanfs (and co-applicant's, if applicable) 
involvement in the transaction. The document must be signed by both parties and contain language stating that the 
transaction is contingent upon approval of the Illinois Health Facilities and Services Review Board. Append this 
document(s) to the application as ATTACHMENT #5. 

15. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. (Co-applicants must also provide this information) Provide a copy of the 
applicants latest audited financial statements, and append it to this application as A TT ACHMENT #6. If the applicant is 
a newly formed entity and financial statements are not available, please indicate by checking YES __ t and 
indicate the date the entity was formed __ _ 

----- ---_._--------- Page 3 
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16. PRI~ARY CONTACf PERSON. Individual representing the. applicant 10 whom all correspondence and i!tqliiries 
pertaining to this application are to be directed. (Now: other persons represeutingthe applicant not named below will 
n~ written alltborizaUon th:Jm the applicant stating that. such pefll()ns are aJ$O authorized to rep.-esentthe applicant in 
relationship to this application). 

Name: Q.Qnlgl J. Lawler, Barnes & Thornburg LLP 
Address: One North Wacker Drive, Suite 4400 
City. State' &. Zip Code: ...lG.a.h~k:a!!olal:l>o ..... .u.'Lo.)6QtOXl60Qj6-~2ol:!8.v.:330!...... ___________________ _ 
Telepbone 0 EXt • .-JC ... 31 .... 2oL;) 2""'1;:t4-4;:::uc8S .... 1 _____ _ 

17. ADDITIONAL CONTACT PitRSON. Coil$ultanl, attorney, otJ,er individual who Is also authorized to dlscu$S 
this application and!1Ct on behalfofthe applicant. 

Name: JOhn Llelhen, Deputv General Counsel, OptumCare 
Address: 11000 Optom Circle. MN10t·V\1013 
City, State&. Zip Code: :=E~d&~n~P-::-ra:::ir:.:::ie<L.' :.:.:M""N,-,,66o::;a~44:,..!-_________ -,-________ _ 

Telephone ( ) . Ext. ""'(95=2=<.)=20=5-6..;:;.2=6=2 _____ ....,-

18. CERTIFICATION 
l·ceriify tb~t the abOve .. infonnation and aU\rttached irif()nnation areitue and ~t to tbe best of my ~nowledgeand 
belief. I certii)' that the number of beds 'witbin the faqility Will not change 8$. part of this transaction. I certifY that, no 
adverse action has been taken agalQst the applicant(s) by tho fetleralgovemntent, licensing or certifYing bodies. or lillY 
other agel'lcy of th~ State oflJlinois. I oertii)' that I am fully aware that a cbange in Qwnership will void any pen:riits for 
projects that have nOt been completed unless such projects win be completed orldteri:d purSuant tofbe requirements iit 
?7 JAC 1 t 30.52.0(0 prior to the e~tlv~ date oCthe proposed ownership change. I also certifY that t.he applicant has not 
already apquired the facility named in this appliCation or entered into IUl agreement tQacquire tbefaciUty named in the 
application unless the contract con . a clause .that the transaction is conthigent upon aPPl'Qval by the State Bonn:!. 

Signature of Autborized Officer'),\,lIllltSY.'\~L¥:q:Iu::.· "fOfOnitsdHealttl Group Incorp()fB~ 

Typed ot Printed Name or Authorized Officer Richard J. Mattera 

Title of Authorized Officer. .:.:Ass=iSIan=t.:.:Se=ore=ta::.z?'~. __________________ ----. 

Addte8s~ .99OQ eren Road 

City. State & Zip Code: East Minnetonka. MN 55343 

Telephone (952 ) 936.1300 Date: iAltt . n, .k;/7 
tiQD: complete "sep.rate signature page for eaclt eo-applicant and insert followl.-.g this page. 

----------------·--------------Page4 



16. PRIMAR.Y CONTACf PERSON. IndividUtlI re.pl'eSenting the applicant to whom all correspondence and inquiries, 
pertaining to this application are (0 be dir~ted. (Note: other persons representing the applicanl not oamed below will 
need writtenautlloriz,qtion from the applicant st~tillg that such pC.!SOnsare .also authoriZed to reprtSen~ the applicant iii 
relationshrp to this application). 

Name: Dantel J. Lawler, Barnas & Thcm1burg LLP 
Address: One NortbWiK:ker Drive SlIife 4400 
Cify, State & Zip. Code: Chicago, 'tL a06()6..2833 
Telephone () Ext • ..:(3.1.2) .... ''-''144-.8''''6 .... 1 ______ _ 

17. ADDlTl.ONAL tONTACTPERSON.ConsultaDt, altomey,othet· individUal who Is also Iluthorlzed to d~cuss 
this applicalion and act on behalf.ofthe «pplicant. 

Name:, John Uethen, Deputy General Counsel, OptumCare 
Address:. 11000 Qptum Circle MN101-W013 
City, State ltZip Code: Eden prairie. UN 55344 
Telephone () Ext. --l.l(9~5~2)w;2""O""5-6"",2,,,,6:!02 ____ _ 

18. CERTIF'ICATfON 
1 certifY that the aboVe infQr:mation and al! attached infolillati'On are true and correet to the best of my knowledge and 
belief. rcertifY lhatthe number 'Or beds within the facility will not chalJge as part oflhis transaction. [certify that 00 
adverse action has been taken against the app/icant(s) by thefe<feralgovemll1ent •. licensing or certifYing bodies, or any 
other lIgency of the Stafe oflHill()i~ [certifY that r am fully aware that a.change in ownership will void any permits for 
projects tbat have nOC been completed unress sue II projeQtswill be completed or altered pursuant to the requirements in 
77 lAC I 130.520{f) priol' 10 the effec;tive date. offhe proposed ownersliip change. J alSo certifY that the applicant has not 
already acquired tlje facility nlimed in t~is application or entered intO an agreement to acquire the facility named in the 
application unless !he contract clause that the. fransaction. is contingent upon approval by the State Board. 

W~:m~~J.D.~ ror Spartan Merger Sub 2; LLC 

Tn>Cd or Printed Name of Authorized Officer Richard J. Mattera 

Title of Authorized Officer: ~A;:::ssfs=ta:;;;:n~t:.;;S:.;:e.::;cre..::.t::::a:Ary __________________ • __ _ 

Address: 9~ Bren Road 

City, Stafe & ZlP Code~ East ,~M:!!;ln::.!neto=nk=a:;,.;, M:::;.:N..::5:::,534=3;.,.· _______ -,.-__ --______ _ 

Telephone (952 j,...:9;=:.3&-:;...;1=3()=Q ...... ____ ~.Da1e: aM. I~ 1f; 17 
NOTE: complete a sepal'ate signature page foreach cp.-appiicant and insert following this plJge. 

----------.--- Page 4 



16. PRIMARY CONTACT PERSON. Individual representing the applicant to whom all correspondence and inquiries 
pertaining to this application are to be directed. (Note: other persons representing the applicant not named below will 
need written authorization from the applicant stating that such persons are also authorized to represent the applicant in 
relationship to this application). 

Name: Daniel J. lawler. Barnes & Thornburg llP 
Address: One North Wacker Qrive, Suite 44QQ, ___ ---! __________________ _ 

City. State & Zip Code: Chicago. II 60606-2833 
Telephone () Ext. _(""3""'12::.<1..::2'-'.14.:..-4..:.;8::;=6;..:.1 ______ _ 

17. ADDITIONAL CONTACT PERSON. Consultant, attorney, other Individual \V11O is also authorized 10 discuss 
tbis application and act on behalf of (be applicant. 

Name: John Uethen. Deputy General Counsel. OptumCare 
Address: 11000 Optum Circle, MN101-W013 
City, State & Zip Code: Eden Prairi&. MN 55344 
Telephone () Ext. ____ (9;z;5u,2i>J,.)S<2051l!o!:::i-S;.u2a<6 .... 2 ______ _ 

18. CERTWICATION 
1 certify that the above information and all attached information are true and correct to the best of my knowledge and 
belief. I certify that the numbcr of beds within the facility will not change as part of this transaction. I certify that no 
adverse action has been taken against the applicant(s) by the federal government, licensing or certifYing bodies, or any 
other agency of the State of Illinois. I certify that I am fully aware that a change in ownership will void any permits for 
projects that have not been completed unless such projects will be completed or altered pursuant to the requirements in 
77 lAC 1 J 30.520(1) prior to the effective dale oCtile proposed ownership change. I also certify that the applicant has not 
already acquired the facility named in this application or entered into an agreement to acquire the facility named in the 
application unless the contract contains a clause that the transaction is contingent upon approval by the State Board. 

Signature of Authorized OffiC~~ for Hawthorn Place Outpatient Surgery Center, loP. 

Typed or Printed Name of Authorized Officer Riohard L Sharf!, Jr. 

Title of Authorized Officer: Vice President. SHe Hawthorn. Inc., General Partner of Hawthorn Place Outpatient Surgery 
Center. L.P. 

Address: 569 Brookwood Village. Surte.9~01L-_____________________ _ 

City, State & Zip Code: Birmingham. Alabama 35209 

Telephone ( 205 )~5:::!4::!::5.:!::25~7.:2 ________ 0ate: 

NOTE: complete a separate signature page for each co-ftpplicftllt and insel" following this page. 

. --- Page4 
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16. PRIMARY CONTACT PERSON. Individual representing the applicant to whom a/l correspondence and inquiries 
pertaining to this application are to be directed. (Note: other persons representing the applicant not named below will 
need written authorization from the applicant stating that such persons are also authorized to represent the applicant in 
relationship to this application). 

Name: Daniel J. Lawler, Barnes & Thornburg LLP 
Address: One North Wacker Drive. SYite 4400 
City, State & Zip Code: Chicago, II 60600-2833 
Telephone 0 Ext. --"'(3;..:,12""):..:;:2:..:..14.:...-4..:..:86=.:..1 _____ _ 

17. ADDITIONAL CONTACT PERSON. Consultant, attorney, other individual who is also authorized to discuss 
this application and act on behalf oflhe applicant. 

Name: John Llethen, Depyty General Counsel. OptumCare 
Address: 11000 Optum Circle MN1Q1-WQ13 
City, State & Zip Code: Eden Prairie, MN 55344 
Telephone () Ext. --\,(9 ... 5 .... '01-) 2 ... Q5.6....".u.26 ... 2 ........ _____ _ 

18, CERTIFICATION 
I certify that the above infurmation and all attaclled information are true and correct to the best of my knowledge and 
belief. I certify that the number of beds within the facility will not change as part of fhis transaction. [certify that no 
adverse action has been taken against the applicant(s) by the federal government, licensing or certifying bodies, or any 
other agency of the State of Illinois. I certify that (am fully aware that a change in ownership will void any permits for 
projects that have not been completed unless such projects will be completed or altered pursuant to the requirements in 
77 lAC I 130.520(f) prior to the effective date of the proposed ownership change. I also certify that the applieant has not 
already acquired the facility named in this application or entered into an agreement to acquire the facility named in the 
application unless the contract contains a clause that the transaction is contingent upon approval by the State Board. 

Signature of Authorized Officer 1Z ~r Surgical Care Affiliates, Inc. 

Typed or Printed Name of Authorized Officer Richard L, Sbarff. Jr, 

Tille of Authorized Officer: ...!E:!.x~e.:::'cut~iv::.e..!Vi.!!lce!::..!.P,!;re::::s~id~e:!.!nt!.._ __________________ _ 

Address: 569 Brookwood Village. Suite 901 

City, State & Zip Code: Birmingham, Alabama 35209 

Telephone (205 )c;:5""45:::..-.=;25""1.=.2'--_______ Date: ______________ _ 

NOTE: complete a separate signature page for each co-applicant lind Insert following this page. 

----- Page4 
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ATTACHMENT #1: 

APPLICA nON FEE 

The application fee of $2.500.00 is enclosed with this application. 

7/3934147.2 
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ATIACHMENT #2: 

FUNDING 

Surgical Care Affiliates, Inc. ("SCA'') and UnitedHealth Group Incorporated ("UHG") are palties to an 
agreement (the "Merger Agreement") that will, subject to the satisfaction or waiver of celtain conditions, 
result in the merger of SCA with a wholly-owned subsidiary ofUHG. As a result, following the closing 
of the transaction, SeA will cease to be a publicly-traded corporation and will become a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of UGH. 

The Merger Agreement calls for the acquisition of SeA's outstanding common stock for a fixed price of 
$57.00 per share, to be funded between 51 percent and 80 percent with UHG's common stock, with the 
final percentage to be detennined at UHG's option and the remainder in cash. Due to the structure of the 
transaction, no specific consideration is designated as being for the Facility. The transaction is expected 
to close during the first half of2017, subject to the tender of a majority of SeA's shares, regulatory 
approvals and other customary closing conditions. 

For a copy of the Merger Agreement and additional detail, please see Attachment #5. 

7/39341 q7.2 
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ATTACHMENT #3: 

NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION 

Hawthorn Place Outpatient Surgery Center. L.P. owns and operates Hawthorn Surgery Center in Vernon 
Hills, Illinois (the "Facility"). SHC Hawthorn, Inc., which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Surgical Care 
Affiliates, Inc. ("SCA"), owns thilty-eight percent (38%) of the ownership interests in the Facility. The 
remaining interests in the Facility are held by Orthopod. LLC, which individually holds a majority interest 
in the Facility. 

seA is a publicly-traded corporation that, by and through its subsidiaries, operates one of the largest 
networks of surgical facilities in the United States, which as of December 31, 2016, included 198 
ambulatory surgery centers and seven surgical hospitals, among which is the Facility. UHO is a publicly­
traded corporation that, by and through its subsidiaries, operates a diversified family of businesses 
dedicated to helping people live healthier lives. SeA and UHG are parties to an agreement that will, 
subject to the satisfaction or waiver of certain conditions, result in the merger of SeA with a wholly­
owned subsidiary ofUHG (the "Proposed Transaction"). As a result, following the closing of the 
transaction, SCA will cease to be a publicly-traded corporation and will become a wholly-owned 
subsidiary ofUOH. The transaction is expected to close during the first half of 20 17, subject to the tender 
of a majority of SeA's shares, regulatory approvals and other customary closing conditions. 

Please refer to Exhibit A for an ownership chart showing the ownership structure of the Facility before 
and after the closing of the Proposed Transaction. l As you can see, the Proposed Transaction will not 
result in any change in the direct ownership of the legal entity that owns and operates the Facility. 
Instead, the Proposed Transaction will result in a change ill the ownership structure several levels up the 
ownership chain from the legal entity that owns and operates the Facility. The legal entity that owns and 
operates the Facility will retain its assets, and there will be no change in the direct ownership of its stock. 
The legal entity that owns and operates the Facility wiII also retain its legal business name and federal tax 
identification number. Accordingly, the Proposed Transaction will not result in a change of ownership of 
the Facility for Medicare or state licensure purposes. In addition, no change in the local governing body 
or day-to-day operations of the Facility is anticipated as a result of the Proposed Transaction. 

For additional detail regarding the Proposed Transaction, please see the joint press release issued by UHO 
and seA dated January 9, 2017 and included as Exhibit B. 

I Imrnediately following the closing ofthe merger transaction, UHO will complete an internal reorganization through 
which the former SCA system will be incorporated into UHO's OptumCare business line. The attached chart depicts 
the ownership structure after the completion of both the merger transaction and this internal reorganization. 

713934147.2 
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713934147.2 

EXHmITA 

OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE CHART 

Please see attached. 
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HAWTHORN PLACE OUTPATIENT SURGERY CENTER, L.P. 
OWNERSlBP STRUCTURE CHART 

BEFORE PROPOSED TRANSACTION AFTER PROPOSED TRANSACTION 

ORTHOPOI), LLC 

!:!mE' 

SURGICAL CARE AFFILIA TES,INC. 
(a publioly !>old c:ornpony) 

SUkOlCAL CARE Afl'ILIA TES, LLC 

''''''Ii 
SUkGlCALHEALTH, LLC 

100% 

.. Towl bcrtt6tia1 ownmkipiftk:rntJ. SHe tudJ;,n:i, be. bolIba35% $~patmd' 
inld'trtOilld t:I J% lli:ni1cd pmna- in!eM\. 

ORTHOPOD,LLC 

Ill,. 

UNlTEDHEALTHGROUP 
INCORPORA 11ID 

(a publicly !>old company) 

UNJ'l'EI) HEAL THCAItE SER VlCIlS, 
INC. 

OP'l1JM,INC. 

OPTUMHEALTH HOLDINGS, LLC 

100% 

COLLABORAnvE CARE HOLDINGS. 
LLC 

'00% 

sPARTAN MERGER SUB 2, LLC 
(suc""""'to Soqiea1 
c-Affil"""lnc.) 

SURGICAL CARE AFFILIA lES, LLC 

'00% 

SUkGICAL HEALTH, LtC 

1O<W1t 



7/3934147.2 

EXHIBITB 

JOINT PRESS RELEASE ISSUED BY UHG AND seA DATED JANUARY 9,2017 

Please see attached. 
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Exhibit 99.1 

OPTUM'',\ SCA 
Surgical Care Affiliates' 

Surgical Care Affiliates (SCA), OptumCllre to Combine 

Creates comprehensive ambulatory care services platform, including primalY care. urgent care and surgical care services 

2 Combinalion broadens ability of the companies 10 Improve patient experience, and quality and cost of care 

3 Compallies to align strategy to Slipport vallie-based paYlI/en/models and a multi-payer approach 

4 Bllilds on companies' existingjoinf ventI/res. s/rong relationship and complementaJY capabilities 

Wakefield, Mass., and Deerfield, III. (Jan. 9,2017) - OpIum, a leading henlth services company and pan of United Health Group 
(NYSE: UNH), and Surgical Care Affiliates, Inc. (NASDAQ: SCAl), a leading ambulatory surgery center (ASC) and surgical 
hospital provider, are combining. The ftgreement calls for the acquisition of SCA's outstanding common stock for $57.00 per share, 

The combination ofSCA with OptumCare, Optum's primary and urgent care delivery services business working with more than 80 
health plans, will position the combined organization as a comprehensive provider of ambulatory care services, while continuing 
expansion ofSCA's network of ASCs and Sllrgical hospitals in partnership with leading health systems, medical groups and health 
payers. The combination bullds I1pon 1he two companies' successful ASC collaborations and expands OptumCare's capabilities in 
outpatient surgical procedures. 

"Joining with OptumCare will enable us to better support and empower independent physicians, helping them provide high-quality 
care for their patients while making health care more affordable. The combination ofSCA and OptumCare is another step forward 
toward OUL' vision of becoming the partner of choice for surgeons," said Andrew Hayek, chairman and chief executive officer of SCA. 
"We already have a strong relationship with OptumCare, so we have seen firsthand that our cultures and strategies are aligned and 
complementary." 

Larry C. Renfro, vice chairman of United Health Group and OpIUm chief executive officer. said: "Combining SCA and OptumCare 
will enable us to continue the transition to high-quality. high-value ambulatory surgical care, partnering with the full range of health 
systems, medical groups and health plans. We have an incredibly high regard for SCA's leadership and people, so we look forward to 
working with them and our payer partners to implement care models that reward independent surgeons and specialists for quality and 
core efficiency." 

System-wide, SCA and its affiliates serve approximately 1 million patients per year in more than 30 states. The company is II leader 
in partnering strategically with many health plans, medical groups and health systems to align with physicians through value-based 
payment models that rewaI'd quality, patient experience and cost-efficiency. 
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With the combination, SCA will become part of the OptumCare platform, which serves millions of consumers annually through 
20,000 affiliated physicians and hundreds of care facilities. Hayek and the SCA leadership team will continue forward as part of SCA 
and the larger OptumCare platform. The companies will offer compelling quality and value to patients and payers and support 
independent doctors' practices as eligible surgical cases (e.g., total joint replacements) continue to migrate to the ASC and surgical 
hospital environments. 

The agreement calls for the acquisition of SCA 's outstanding common stock for a fixcd price of $57.00 per share, to be funded 
between 51 percent and 80 percent with UnitedHealth Group common stock, with the final percentage to be determined at 
UnitedHealth Group's option and the remainder in cash. The transaction is expected to close during the first halfof2017, subject to 
the tender of a majority of SCA 's shares, regulatory approvals and other customary closing conditions, and is expected to be neutral 
to UnitedHealth Group's outlook for adjusted net eamings per share in 2017 and modestly accretive in 20t8. 

"Over the past eight years, we have had the great pleasure ofpartnering with SCA as the business has transfolmed into a leader in the 
health care services sector," said Lead Independent Director of SCA and Managing Partner ofTPG Capital Todd B. Sisitsky. "We 
believe this combination will create significant value fot' SCA's patients and physician pannel's, and we look forward to the combined 
company's future success." Affiliates ofTPG Capital, owning approximately 30 percent of the common stock of SCA, have agreed to 
tender their shares as part of the offer. 

AboutSCA 

SCA (NASDAQ: SCAl), a leader in the outpatient surgery industry. strategically partners with health plans, medical groups and 
health systems across the country to develop and optimize surgical facilities. SCA operates 205 surgical facilities, including 
ambulatory surgery centers and surgical hospitals, in partllership with approximately 3,000 physicians. For more infOlmation on SCA, 
visit www.scasurgery.com. 

AboutOptum 

Opium is. a leading information and technology-enabled health services business dedicated to helping make the health system work 
better for everyone. With more than 100,000 people worldwide, Optum delivers intelligent, integrated solutions that help to 
modernize the,health system and improve overall popUlation health. OpIum is part of United Health Group (NYSE: UNH). 

About United Health G,'oup 

United Health Group (NYSE: UNH) is a diversified health and well-being company dedicated to helping people live healthier lives 
and helping make the health system work better for everyone. UnltedHealth Group offers a broad spectrum of products and services 
through two 
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?istinct ~Iatfonns: UnitedHealthcare, which provides health care coverage and benefits services; and Optum, which provides 
information and technology-enabled health services. For more information, visit UnitedHealth Group at www.unitedhealthgrollp.com 
or follow @UnitedHealthGrp on Twitter. 

Contacts: 
For OpIum: 
Lauren Mihajlov 
952-205-6312 
Jauren.mihaj !ov@optum.com 

ForSCA: 
Alison Donnelly 
847-420-3822 
alison.donnelly@scasul'gery.com 

Tyler Mason 
424-333-6122 
tyler.mason@uhg.com 

Cnutlonn rv Statement Rellllrdinll Forw91'd Looking Statemen ts 

This communication may contnin statements that constitute "forward.looking statements," including, for example, infomlation I'clated 
to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated ("UnitedHealth Group"), Surgical Care Affiliates, [nco ("SCA") lind the proposed acquisition of 
SCA by UnitedHealth Group, Genenlily the words "believe," "expect," "intend," "estimate," "anticipate," "plan," "project," "should" 
and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements, which generally are not historical in nature. Such statements reflect the 
current analysis of existing information and involve substantial risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ 
materially from those expressed or implied by such statements. The following factors, among olhers, could cause actual results to 
differ materially from those described in these forward-looking statements: the possibility that various conditions to the 
consummation of the UnitedHealth Group exchange offer and mergers may not be satisfied or waived, including the receipt of 
regulatOlY clearances related to the mergers; uncertainty as to how many shares of SCA common stock will be tendered into the 
UnitedHealth Group exchange offer; the risk that the UnitedHealth Group exchange offer and mergers will not close within the 
anticipated time periods, or at an; the failure to complete or receive the anticipated benefits from UnitedHealth Group's acquisition of 
SCA; the possibility that the parties may be unable to successfully integrate seA's operatiOns into those of United Health Group; such 
integration may be more difficult, time-consuming or costly than expected; revenues following the transaction may be lower than 
expected; operating costs, customer loss and business disruption (including, without limitation, difficulties in maintaining 
relationships with employees, customers, clients, suppliers or physicians) may be greater than expected following the transaction; the 
retention of certain key employees at SCA may not be achieved; the parties may be unable to meet expectations regarding the timing, 
completion and accounting and tax treatments of the transactions; UnitedHeallb Group and SCA are subject to intense competition; 
factors that affect UnitedHealth Group's ability to generate sufficient funds to maintain its quarterly dividend payment cycle: the 
effects of local and national economic, credit and capital market 
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conditions; and the other risks and uncel1ainties relating to UnitedHealth Group and SCA described in their respective Annual 
Reports on Form IO·K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, and in their subsequent Quartel1y Reports on Form 10-Q and 
CUlTent Reports on Form g·K, all of which are filed with the U,S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") and available at 
www,sec.gov. 

UnitedHealth Group and SCA assume no obligation to update the information in this communication, except as otherwise required by 
law. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements or information, which speak only as of 
the date hereof. 

Additional Information lind Wbel'e to Find It 

This communication relates to a pending business combination transaction between UnitedHealth Group and SCA. The exchange 
offer referenced in this communication has not yet commenced. This communication is for infonnational purposes only and is neither 
an offer to sell or exchange, nor a solicitation of an offer to buy or exchange, any securities, nor shall there be any sale of securities in 
any jurisdiction in wbich such offer, sale or exchange would be unlawful prior to registration or qualification under the securities laws 
of any such jurisdiction. 

UnitedHealth Group intends to file a registration statement on Form S-4 related to the transaction with the SEC and may file 
amendments tbereto. UnitedHealth Group and a wholly-owned subsidiary of United Health Group intend to file a tendet' offer 
statement on Schedule TO (including a prospectus/offer to exchange, a related letter of transmittal and other exchange offer 
documents) related to the tl'ansaction with the SEC and may flIe amendments thereto. SCA intends to file a 
solicitationlrecommendation statement on Schedule 140-9 with the SEC and may file amendments thereto. SCA and UnitedHealth 
Group may also file other documents with the SEC regarding the transaction. This communication is not a substitute for any 
registration statement, Schedule TO, Schedule 14D-9 or any other document which SCA or UnitedHealth Group may file with the 
SEC in connection with the transaction. Investors and security holders are urged to read the registration statement, tbe Schedule TO 
(including tbe prospectus/offer to exchange, related letter of transmittal and other exciJange offer documents), the 
solicitation/recommendation statement on Schedule 140-9 and the other relevant materials with respect to the transaction carefully 
and in their entirety when they become available before making any decision regarding exchanging theil' shares, because they will 
contain important information about the transaction. The prospectus/offer to exchange, the related letter of transmittal and certain 
other exchange offer documents, as well as the solicitation/recommendation statement, will be made available to all holders ofSCA's 
stock at no expense to them. The exchange offer materials and the solicitation/recommendation statement will be made available for 
free at the SEC's website at YfWW.sec,gov. Additional copies of the exchange offer materials and the solicitation/recommendation 
statement may be obtained for free by contacting UnitedHealth Group's Investor Relations department at (800) 328·5919. Additional 
copies of the solicitation/recommendation statement may be obtained for free by contacting SCA's Investor Relations departmenf at 
800-768:0094. 
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In addition to the SEC filings made in connection with the transaction, each of UnitedHeolth Group and SCA files annual, quarterly 
and current reports and other information with the SEC. You may read and copy any reports or other such filed information at the 
SEC public reference room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC·0330 for further 
information on the public reference room. UnitedHealth Oroup's and SCA's filings with the SEC are also available to the public from 
commercial document-retrieval services and at the website maintained by the SEC at http://www.sec.gov. 

#ff# 
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ATTACHMENT #4: 

BACKGROUND OF APPLICANT 

Copies of the Certificate of Good Standing from the Illinois Secretary of State for Hawthorn Place 
Outpatient Surgery Center, L.P. and Surgical Care Affiliates, Inc. are attached. 

Neither UHG nor Spartan Merger Sub 2, LLC are authorized to do business in Illinois, nor are they required 
to be. Attached are copies of the Celiificate of Good Standing for UHG and Spartan Merger Sub 2, LLC 
from the Delaware Secretary of State. 

The sale member of Spartan Merger Sub 2, LLC is UHG, with its address at 9900 Bren Road, East 
Minnetonka, MN 55343. 

The partners in Hawthorn Place Outpatient Surgery Center, L.P. are as follows: 

.1:... . .... · ...... :~··;'/.;:; ..• · •.. l.'(}i,·?·.;Percentage··Inter~t··· '·.c.,·· .. ' . 
Orthopod, LLC 62% (Limited PatineI' 

:::";"'~-----I 

SHC Hawthorn, Inc. 35% (General PatineI') 
-----"-----' 

Other owners, none of whom hold a five percent (5%) or greater interest, hold the remaining partnership 
interests. The address for the Facility and its owners is 240 Center Dl'ive, Vernon Hills, IL 60061. 

7/3934147.2 

21 



File Number 8007564 

To all to whom these Presents Shall Come, Greeting: 

I, Jesse White, Secretary of State of the State of Illinois, do 
hereby certify that 
HAWTHORN PLACE OUTPATIENT SURGERY CENTER, L.P., A GEORGIA LP/LLLP 
HAVING OBTAINED AUTHORITY TO TRANSACT BUSINESS IN ILLINOIS ON AUGUST 
18, 1993, APPEARS TO HAVE COMPLIED WITH ALL PROVISIONS OF THE UNIFORM 
LIMITED PARTNERSHIP ACT (2001) OF THIS STATE, AND AS OF THIS DATE IS IN GOOD 
STANDING AS A FOREIGN LPILLLP AUTHORIZED TO TRANSACT BUSINESS IN THE 
STATE OF ILLINOIS, HAVING FULFILLED ALL REQUIREMENTS OF SAID ACT WITH 
REGARD TO PAYMENT OF FEES, THE FILING OF ANNUAL REPORTS (IF APPLICABLE) 
AND NEITHER HAVING HAD ITS AUTHORITY REVOKED NOR HAVING FILED A 
NOTICE OF CANCELLATION. 

Authentication #: 1701201760 

In Testimony Whereof, I hereto set 
my hand and cause to be affixed the Great Seal of 
the State of Illinois, this 12TH 

day of JANUARY A.D. 2017 

Authenticate at: hUp:/lwww.cyberdriveillinois.com SECRETARY OF STATE 
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File Number 6955-963-8 

To all to whom these Presents Shall Come, Greeting: 

I, Jesse White, Secretary of State of the State of Illinois, do hereby 

certify that I a.m the keeper of the records of the Department of 
Business Services. I certify that 
SURGICAL CARE AFFILIATES, INC., INCORPORATED IN DELAWARE AND LICENSED TO 
TRANSACT BUSINESS IN THIS STATE ON JUNE 05, 2014, AND MUST CONDUCT ALL 
BUSINESS IN THIS STATE UNDER THE ASSUMED NAME OF ILLINOIS SURGICAL CARE 
AFFILIATES, INC., APPEARS TO HAVE COMPLIED WITH ALL THE PROVISIONS OF THE 
BUSINESS CORPORATION ACT OF THIS STATE RELATING TO THE PAYMENT OF 
FRANCHISE TAXES, AND AS OF THIS DATE, IS A FOREIGN CORPORATION IN GOOD 
STANDING AND AUTHORIZED TO TRANSACT BUSINESS IN THE STATE OF ILLINOIS. 

In Testimony Whereof, I hereto set 

my hand and cause to be affixed the Great Seal of 

the State of Illinois, this 17TH 

day of JANUARY A.D. 2017. 

Authentication #: 1701702912 verifiable until 01117/2018 

Authenticate at: http://www.cyberdriveillinois.com 
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Delaware Page 1 

The First State 

I, JE1!TREY W. BULLOCK, SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE STATE OF 

DELAWARE, DO HEREBY CERTIFY "UNITEDHEALTH GROt1.P INCORPORATED" IS 

DULY INCORPORATED UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE AND IS IN 

GOOD STANDING AND HAS A LEGAL CORPORATE EXISTENCE SO .F.AR AS THE 

RECORDS OF THIS OFFICE SHOW, AS OF THE SEVENTEENTH DAY OF JANUARY, 

A.D. 20~7. 

AND I DO HEREBY FURTHER CERTIFY THAT THE ANNUAL RE.PORTS HAVE 

BEEN FILED TO DAm. 

AND I DO HEREBY FURTHER CERTIFY THAT THE FRANCHISE TAXES HAVE 

BEEN .PAID TO DATE. 

5777355 8300 

SR# 20170262295 
You may verify this certificate online at corp.delaware.gov/authver.shtml 
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Delaware Page 1 

The First State 

Z, JEFFREY W. BULLOCK, SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE STATE OF 

DELAWA:R:E:, DO HEREBY CERTIFY "SPARTAN MERGER SUB 2, LLC" IS DULY 

FORMED UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE AND ZS IN GOOD 

STANDZNG AND HAS A LEGAL EXZSTENCE SO F.AR AS THE RECORDS OF THIS 

OFFZCE SHOW, AS OF THE SEVENTEENTH DAY OF JANUARY, A.D. 2017. 

AND Z DO HEREBY 1!fJRTHER CERTIFY THAT THE ANNUAL FR.ANCHISE TAXES 

HAVE BEEN ASSESSED TO DATE. 

6272260 8300 

SRII 20170275502 
You may verify this certificate online at corp.delaware.gov/authver.shtml 
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ATTACHMENT #5: 

TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS 

The Agreement and Plan of Reorganization by and among UnitedHealth Group Incorporated, Spartan 
Merger Sub 1, Inc., Spartan Merger Sub 2, LLC, and Surgical Care Affiliates, Inc., dated Januaty 7, 2017, 
appears on pages 10-121 of the enclosed Form 8-K. 

7/3934147.2 
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UNITED STATES 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

Washington, D.C. 20549 

FORMS-K 

CURRENT REPORT 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) 

OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported) 
January 6,2017 

Surgical Care Affiliates, Inc. 

Delaware, 
(State or Other Jurisdiction 

of Incorporation) 

(Exact name of registrant as specified in charter) 

001-36154 
(Commission 
File Number) 

510 Lake Cook.Road, Suite 400 
Deerfield,IL 60015 

(Address of Principal Executive Offices, including Zip Code) 

(847) ,236-0921 
(Registrant's telephone number, including area code) 

20-8740447 
(t.R.s. Employer 

Identification No.) 

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfY the filing obligation of the registrant 
under any of the following provisions: 

(8l Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425) 

o Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12) 

o Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b» 

o Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.l3e-4(c» 
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Item 1.01 Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement. 

On January 7, 2017, Surgical Care Affiliates, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("SCA" or the "Company"), entered into an Agreement 
and Plan of Reorganization (the "Merger Agreement") with UnitedHealth Group Incorporated, a Delaware corporation ("Parent" or 
"UnitedHealth Group"), and Parent's wholly owned subsidiaries, Spartan Merger Sub 1, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Purchaser"), 
and Spartan Merger Sub 2, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Merger Sub 2"). 

Tlte Offer and tile Mergers; TrallsactiOll COllsideratioll 

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, and upon the terms and subject to the conditions thereof, Purchaser will commence an exchange 
offer (the "Offer") to purchase all of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the Company 
(the "Shares"), with each Share accepted by Purchaser in the Offer to be exchanged for the right to receive, at the election of Parent, 
either: 

i. (x) $11.40 in cash (the "Minimum Cash Consideration") and (y) a number of shares of Parent common stock equal to (A) 
$57.00 minus the Minimum Cash Consideration, divided by (B) the volume weighted average of the closing sale prices per 
share of Parent common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on each of the five full consecutive trading days ending 
on and including the third business day prior to the closing (the "Parent Trading Price") (the stock consideration calculated 
in accordance with this clause (y), the "Maximum Stock Consideration"); or 

II. (x) an amount in cash greater than the Minimum Cash Consideration and not to exceed $27.93 (such amount, the 
"Alternative Cash Consideration," and each of the Alternative Cash Consideration and the Minimum Cash Consideration, 
as applicable, being referred to herein as the "Cash Consideration") and (y) a number of shares of Parent common stock 
equal to (A) $57.00 minus the Alternative Cash Consideration, divided by (B) the Parent Trading Price (the stock 
consideration calculated in accordance with this clause (y), the "Alternative Stock Consideration," and each of the 
Alternative Stock Consideration and the Maximum Stock Consideration, as applicable, being referred to herein as the 
"Stock Consideration"); 

plus cash in lieu of any fractional shares (as further described below), in each case, without interest, but subject to any applicable 
withholding of taxes (together with the applicable Stock Consideration and the applicable Cash Consideration, the "Transaction 
Consideration"). 

If the conditions ofthe Offer are satisfied and the Offer closes, Parent would acquire any remaining Shares by a merger of Purchaser 
with and into the Company (the "First Merger"), with the Company surviving the First Merger as a wholly owned indirect subsidiary 
of Merger Sub 2. Immediately following the First Merger, the Company, as the surviving company of the First Merger, will be 
merged with and into Merger Sub 2 (the "Second Merger" and together with the First Merger, the "Mergers"), with Merger Sub 2 
surviving the Second Merger as a wholly owned direct subsidiary of Parent. The Merger Agreement contemplates that the First 
Merger will be effected pursuant to Section 251 (h) of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the "DGCL"), which 
pelwits completion of the First Merger upon the acquisition by Purchaser of one Share more than 50% ofthe number of Shares that 
are then issued and outstanding. Accordingly, no vote of the Company stockholders will be required in connection with the First 
Merger if Parent and Purchaser consummate the Offer. 

The Company and Parent intend, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, that the Offer and the Mergers, taken together, will qualify as 
a "reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"). 

The obligations of Parent and Purchaser to consummate the Offer are subject to the satisfaction of or, if permissible, waiver of certain 
conditions including, but not limited to, (i) a majority of the Shares having been validly tendered and not properly withdrawn prior to 
the expiration of the Offer (such condition, the "Minimum Condition"), (ii) the expiration or termination of any waiting period 
applicable to the Offer or Mergers under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended (the "HSR Act"), 
(iii) Parent's Registration Statement on Form S-4 with respect to the shares of Parent common stock to be issued in the Offer or the 
First Merger having been declared effective by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"), (iv) the apprqval of 
listing on the New York Stock Exchange of the shares of Parent common stock to be issued in the Offer or the First Merger, (v) 
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the accuracy of the representations and warranties, and compliance with the covenants, of the Company contained in the Merger 
Agreement, in each case subject to certain qualifications, (vi) the absence of any injunction by any court or other tribunal of 
competent jurisdiction, or any applicable law, that would make the Offer or the Mergers illegal, (vii) the delivery of a written opinion 
of Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP to the Company, and the delivery of a written opinion of Hogan Lovells US LLP to Parent, 
in each case in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the applicable recipient, to the effect that, on the basis of certain facts, 
representations and assumptions set forth or referred to in such opinion, the Offer and the Mergers, taken together, will qualify as a 
"reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code (the "Tax Opinion Conditions"), (viii) receipt of certain required 
approvals and delivery of certain notices for the certificates of need and licenses to operate for the Company's facilities and (ix) other 
customary conditions (collectively, the "Offer Conditions"). Certain of the Offer Conditions, such as the Minimum Condition, cannot 
be waived by Purchaser without the Company's consent. Purchaser is obligated to waive the Tax Opinion Conditions if requested by 
the Company. Consummation of the Offer or the First Merger is not subject to any financing conditions. 

In the First Merger, each olltstanding Share not tendered in the Offer and accepted for payment, other than Shares owned by Parent, 
the Company (in the treasury of the Company), subsidiaries of either Parent or the Company or by stockholders who have validly 
exercised their appraisal rights under Delaware law, will be converted into the right to receive the Transaction Consideration. No 
fractional shares of Parent common stock will be issuable in the Offer or the First Merger, and each Company stockholder who 
otherwise would be entitled to receive a fraction of a share of Parent common stock pursuant to the Offer or the First Merger will be 
paid an amount in cash (without interest) determined by mUltiplying (i) the Parent Trading Price, rounded to the nearest 
one-hundredth of a cent by (ii) the fraction of a share (after aggregating all Shares held by such stockholder and accepted for payment 
by Purchaser pursuant to the Offer or otherwise held by such stockholder at the time the First Merger becomes effective, as 
applicable, and rounded to the nearest one thousandth when expressed in decimal form) of Parent common stock to which such 
stockholder would otherwise be entitled. 

Treatment of CompallY Equity Awards; Other Employee Benefits Matters 

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, each option to purchase Shares that is outstanding immediately prior to the effective time ofthe 
First Merger (the "Effective Time") will be cancelled and converted into an option to purchase a number of shares of Parent common 
stock equal to the' product of (x) the number of Shares subject to such option and (y) $57.00 divided by the Parent Trading Price (the 
"Equity Award Conversion Ratio"), at an exercise price per share equal to (A) the exercise price per Share of such option 
immediately prior to the Effective Time divided by (B) the Equity A ward Conversion Ratio. Each Company restricted stock unit 
("Company RSU") outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time will be cancelled and converted into a restricted stock unit 

. denominated in shares ofp'arenfcommon stock ("Parent RSU"). The number of shares of Parent common stock subject to each Parent 
RSU will be equal to the product of (x) the number of Shares subject to such Company RSU immediately prior to the Effective Time 
and (y') the Equity Award Conversion Ratio. Each Company performance share award ("Company PSA") that is outstanding as of the 
effective' time of the First Merger will be cancelled and converted into a performance share award denominated in shares of Parent 
common stock ("Parent PSA"). The number of shares of Parent common stock subject to each Parent PSA equal to the product of 
ex) the number of Shares subject to such Company PSA immediately prior to the Effective Time, multiplied by (y) the Equity Award 
Conversion Ratio. The awards will continue to be subject to the terms and conditions applicable to the awards immediately prior to 
the Effective Time, except as provided above and except that the post-change in control protection period, during which an individual 
whose employment is terminated by the Company without "cause" would benefit from accelerated vesting, is extended from two 
years to four years. 

'Prior to the Effective Time, the Company's Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP"), and each outstanding offering period then 
in progress will terminate and each participant's accumulated contributions to the ESPP will be used to purchase Shares in 

'accordance with the terms of the ESPP (and any remaining accumulated but unused payroll deductions will be distributed without 
interest to th~ relevant participants). No one may elect to participate in the ESPP after January 6, 2011 and no participant as of 
January 6, 2011, may increase his or her payroll deduction percentages or purchase elections after January 6, 2017. No new offerings 
in the ESPP will be made after January 6, 20) 7. 
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Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Parent has agreed to honor all ofthe existing employment and severance agreements with 
employees ofthe Company in accordance with their terms. For one year after the Effective Time, Parent will provide, or cause to be 
provided, to employees of the Company who continue to be employed by Parent or its subsidiaries (i) a base salary and bonus 
oPPol1unities that are no less favorable to such employee as the base salary and bonus opportunities provided to such employee 
immediately prior to the Effective Time and Oi) employee benefits that are, in the aggregate, no less favorable than those provided 
immediately prior to the Effective Time or, in Parent's discretion, substantially comparable to those made available to similarly 
situated employees of Parent and its subsidiaries. 

Other Terms of the Merger Agreement 

The Merger Agreement includes customary representations, wan'anties and covenants of each of the Company, Parent, Purchaser and 
Merger Sub 2. The Company has agreed to operate its business in the ordinary course and to refrain from engaging in certain 
activities until the completion of the First Merger. The Company and Parent have agreed to use reasonable best efforts to consummate 
the Offer and the Mergers and make effective the Mergers as soon as practicable, including using reasonable best efforts to obtain 
approval of the proposed transactions under the HSR Act. 

In addition, under the terms of the Merger Agreement, the Company has agreed not to solicit, initiate, knowingly encourage or 
knowingly facilitate the making of any alternative acquisition proposal, subject to customary exceptions permitting the Company to 
respond to and support unsolicited alternative acquisition proposals under certain circumstances. The Merger Agreement also 
includes customary termination provisions for both the Company and Parent. In certain circumstances, the Company will be obligated 
to pay Parent a termination fee of$90 million, including if the Merger Agreement is terminated by Parent following a change of 
recommendation by the board of directors of the Company or as a result of the material breach by the Company of its obligations not 
to solicit, initiate, knowingly encourage or knowingly facilitate the making of any alternative acquisition proposal, or if the Company 
terminates the Merger Agreement to enter into an agreement with respect to a proposal from a third party that the board of directors 
of the Company has determined is superior to Parent's, in each case, as is described in further detail in the Merger Agreement. Under 
certain additional circumstances described in the Merger Agreement, the Company will be obligated to pay Parent a termination fee 
of$90 million if the Merger Agreement is terminated and, within twelve months following such termination, the Company 
consummates a business combination transaction ofthe type described in the Merger Agreement or enters into a definitive agreement 
for such a business combination transaction that is subsequently consummated. The parties to the Merger Agreement are also entitled 
to an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of the Merger Agreement by the other party, and to enforce specifically the terms 
of the Merger Agreement. 

The board of directors of the Company has unanimously (i) determined and resolved that the terms of the Offer, the Mergers and the 
other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement are advisable, and fair to and in the best interests of, the Company and its 
stockholders, (ii) determined that it is advisable and in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders to enter into the Merger 
Agreement, and that the Merger Agreement is advisable, (iii) approved the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated 
thereby, on the terms and conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement and (iv) resolved to recommend that the Company's 
stockholders accept the Offer and tender their Shares to Purchaser pursuant to the Offer. 

The foregoing summary of the principal terms of the Merger Agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its 
entirety by reference to the full copy of the Merger Agreement filed as Exhibit 2.1 hereto and incorporated herein by reference. The 
summary and the copy ofthe Merger Agreement are intended to provide information to investors regarding the terms ofthe Merger 
Agreement and are not intended to modify or supplement any factual disclosures about the Company or Parent in its public reports 
filed with the SEC. In particular, the Merger Agreement and related summary are not intended to be, and should not be relied upon as, 
disclosures regarding any facts and circumstances relating to any party to the Merger Agreement. The Merger Agreement includes 
representations, warranties and covenants ofthe Company, Parent, Purchaser and Merger Sub 2 made solely for the benefit ofthe 
parties to the Merger Agreement. The assertions embodied in those representations and warranties were made solely for purposes of 
the contract among the Company, Purchaser, Parent and Merger Sub 2 and may be subject to important qualifications and limitations 
agreed to by the Company, Purchaser, Parent and Merger Sub 2 in connection with the negotiated terms. Moreover, some of those 
representations and warranties may not be accurate or complete as of any specified date, may be subject to a contractual standard of 
materiality different from those generally applicable to the Company's or Parent's SEC filings and were used for purposes of 
allocating 
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risk among the Company, Purchaser, Parent and Merger Sub 2 rather than establishing matters as facts. Investors should not rely on 
the representations, warranties and covenants or any description thereof as characterizations of the actual state of facts of the 
Company, Parent, Purchaser, Merger Sub 2 or any of their respective subsidiaries or affiliates. 

Temier ami Support Agreemellt 

On January 7, 2017, concurrently with the execution of the Merger Agreement, TPG FOF V·A, L.P., TPG FOF V·B, L.P. and TPG 
Partners V, L.P. (each, a "TPG Stockholder") entered into a tender and support agreement (the "Tender and Support Agreement") 
with Parent and Purchaser, pursuant to which, among other things and subject to the terms and conditions therein, each TPG 
Stockholder agreed to tender all Shares of which such TPG Stockholder is the beneficial or record owner, representing in the 
aggregate approximately 30.4% of the outstanding Shares, into the Offer. 

Item 5.02 Departure of Directors or Certain Officers; Election of Directors; Appointment of Certain Officers; Compensatory 
Arrangements of Certain Officers. 

On January 6, 2017, the board of directors of the Company approved an amendment to all outstanding equity-based awards to extend 
the post-change in control protection period, during which an individual whose employment is terminated by the Company without 
"cause" would benefit from accelerated vesting, from two years to four years effective upon the consummation ofthe First Merger. 

Item 5.03 Amendments to Articles ofIncorporation or Bylaws; Change in Fiscal Year. 

On January 6, 2017, the board of directors ofthe Company adopted an amendment to the Company's Bylaws (the "Bylaws"), which 
amendment took effect upon adoption by the board of directors of the Company. Specifically, a new Section 8.8 was added to 
Article VIII of the Bylaws to provide that, unless the Company consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court 
of Chancery of the State of Delaware, or, ifthe Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware does not have jurisdiction, the federal 

. district court for the District of Delaware or other state courts of the State of Delaware (collectively, the "Delaware Courts"), will be 
the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Company, Oi) any action asserting a 
claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer or other employee or stockholder of the Company to the Company or 
the Company's stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or the Company's 
certificate of incorporation or Bylaws or as to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction on the Court of Chancery of the State of 
Delaware, or (iv) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine of the State of Delaware. The new provision 
further provides that any stockholder of the Company will be deemed to have consented to the provision. The foregoing description is 
qualified in its entirety by reference to the marked copy of the Bylaws, which is filed herewith as Exhibit 3.1 and incorporated herein 
by reference. 

Item 8.01 Other Events. 

Joint Press Release 

On January 9,2017, the Company and Parent issued a joint press release announcing entry into the Merger Agreement. A copy of the 
press release is attached hereto as Exhibit 99.1 and is incorporated herein by reference. 

Cautionary Statement Regartling Forward Looking Statemellls 

This communication may contain statements that constitute "forward-looking statements," including, for example, information related 
to UnitedHealth Group, SCA and the proposed acquisition ofSCA by UnitedHealth Group. Generally the words "believe," "expect," 
"intend," "estimate," "anticipate," "plan," "project," "should" and similar expressions identifY forward-looking statements, which 
generally are not historical in nature. Such statements reflect the current analysis of existing information and involve substantial risks 
and unceJ1ainties that could cause actual results to 
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differ materially from those expressed or implied by such statements. The following factors, among others, could cause actual results 
to differ materially from those described in these forward-looking statements: the possibility that various conditions to the 
consummation of the Offer and the Mergers may not be satisfied or waived, including the receipt of regulatory clearances related to 
the mergers; unceltainty as to how many shares of SCA common stock will be tendered into the Offer; the risk that the Offer and the 
Mergers will not close within the anticipated time periods, or at all; the failure to complete or receive the anticipated benefits from 
UnitedHealth Group's acquisition ofSCA; the possibility that the parties may be unable to successfully integrate SCA's operations 
into those of UnitedHealth Group; such integration may be more difficult, time-consuming or costly than expected; revenues 
following the transaction may be lower than expected; operating costs, customer loss and business disruption (including, without 
limitation, difficulties in maintaining relationships with employees, customers, clients, suppliers or physicians) may be greater than 
expected following the transaction; the retention of certain key employees at SCA may not be achieved; the parties may be unable to 
meet expectations regarding the timing, completion and accounting and tax treatments ofthe transactions; UnitedHealth Group and 
SCA are subject to intense competition; factors that affect UnitedHealth Group's ability to generate sufficient funds to maintain its 
quarterly dividend payment cycle; the effects of local and national economic, credit and capital market conditions; and the other risks 
and uncertainties relating to UnitedHealth Group and SCA described in their respective Annual Reports on Form 10-K for the fiscal 
year ended December 31,2015, and in their subsequent Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K, all of 
which are filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") and available at www.sec.gov. 

SCA assumes no obligation to update the information in this communication, except as otherwise required by law. Readers are 
cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements or information, which speak only as of the date hereof. 

Addiiionallnformation ami Where to Find It 

This communication relates to a pending business combination transaction between UnitedHealth Group and SCA. The Offer 
referenced in this communication has not yet commenced. This communication is for informational purposes only and is neither an 
offer to sell or exchange, nor a solicitation of an offer to buy or exchange, any securities, nor shall there be any sale of securities in 
any jurisdiction in which such offer, sale or exchange would be unlawful prior to registration or qualification under the securities laws 
of any ,such jurisdiction. 

UnitedHealth Group intends to file a registration statement on Form S-4 related to the transaction with the SEC and may file 
amendments thereto. UnitedHealth Group and a wholly-owned subsidiary of UnitedHealth Group intend to file a tender offer 
staterrlenton Schedule TO (including a prospectus/offer to exchange, a related letter of transmittal and other exchange offer 
documents) related to the transaction with the SEC and may file amendments thereto. SCA intends to file a 
solicitation/recommendation statement on Schedule 140-9 with the SEC and may file amendments thereto. SCA and UnitedHealth 
Group may also file other documents with the SEC regarding the transaction. This communication is not a substitute fOi" any 
registration statement, Schedule TO, Schedule 140-9 or any other document which SCA or UnitedHealth Group may file with the 
SEC in connection with the transaction. Investors and security holders are urged to read the registration statement, the Schedule TO 
(including the prospectuS/offer to exchange, related letter of transmittal and other exchange offer documents), the 
solicitation/recommendation statement on Schedule 14D-9 and the other relevant materials with respect to the transaction carefully 
and in their entirety when they become available before making any decision regarding exchanging their shares, because they will 
contain important information about the transaction. The prospectus/offer to exchange, the related letter of transmittal and certain 
other exchange offer documents, as well as the solicitation/recommendation statement, will be made available to all holders ofSCA's 
stock at no expense to them. The exchange offer materials and the solicitation/recommendation statement will be made available for 
free at the SEC's website at www.sec.gov. Additional copies of the exchange offer materials and the solicitation/recommendation 
statement may be obtained for free by contacting UnitedHealth Group's Investor Relations department at (800) 328-5979. Additional 
copies of the solicitation/recommendation statement may be obtained for free by contacting SCA's Investor Relations depaltment at 
(800) 768-0094. 

In addition to the SEC filings made in connection with the transaction, each of United Health Group and SCA files annual, quarterly 
and current reports and other information with the SEC. You may read and copy any reports or other such filed information at the 
SEC public reference room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at !-800-SEC·0330 for further 
information on the public reference room. UnitedHealth Group's and seA's filings with the SEC ale also available to the public from 
commercial document-retrieval services and at the website maintained by the SEC at http://www.sec.gov. 
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Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits. 

(d) Exhibits 

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, dated January 7, 2017, among UnitedHealth Group Incorporated, Spartan Merger 
Sub 1, Inc., Spartan Merger Sub 2, LLC and Surgical Care Affiliates, Inc. Schedules to the Agreement and Plan of 
Reorganization have been omitted pursuant to Item 601 (b )(2) of Regulation S-K. The registrant will fum ish copies of any 
such schedules to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission upon request. 

3.1 Amended and Restated By-Laws ofSurgicai Care Affiliates, Inc. 

99.1 Joint Press Release issued by UnitedHeaIth Group Incorporated and Surgical Care Affiliates, Inc. dated January 9,2017 . 
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SIGNATURE 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its 
behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized. 

Date: January 9, 2017 
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Surgical Care Affiliates, Inc. 

By: lsi Andrew P. Hayek 
Name: Andrew P. Hayek 
Title: Chailman, President and Chief Executive 

Officer 
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EXHIBIT INDEX 

Ducription 

Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, dated January 7, 2017, among UnitedHealth Group Incorporated, Spartan 
Merger Sub 1, Inc., Spartan Merger Sub 2, LLC and Surgical Care Affiliates, Inc. Schedules to the Agreement and Plan 
of Reorganization have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The registrant will furnish copies of 
any such schedules to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission upon request. 

Amended and Restated By-Laws of Surgical Care Affiliates, Inc. 

Joint Press Release issued by UnitedHealth Group Incorporated and Surgical Care Affiliates, Inc. dated January 9, 2017. 
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF REORGANIZATION 

by and among 

UNITEDHEALTH GROUP INCORPORATED, 

SPARTAN MERGER SUB 1, INC., 

SPARTAN MERGER SUB 2, LLC, 

and 

SURGICAL CARE AFFILIATES, INC. 

Dated as of January 7,2017 
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF REORGANIZATION 

This AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF REORGANIZATION (this "Agreement"), dated as of January 7,2017, is by and among 
Surgical Care Affiliates, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), UnitedHealth Group Incorporated, a Delaware corporation 
("Parent"), Spartan Merger Sub 1, Inc., a Delaware corporation and indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Parent and direct wholly 
owned subsidiary of Merger Sub 2 ("Purchaser"), and Spartan Merger Sub 2, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and direct 
wholly owned subsidiary of Parent ("Merger Sub 2", and, together with Purchaser, the "Merger Subs"). Parent, each of the Merger 
Subs and the Company are each sometimes referred to herein as a "f!li:!v." and collectively as the "Parties". 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, it is proposed that Purchaser shall commence an exchange offer (the "Offer") to acquire all oHhe outstanding 
shares of common stock, $0.01 par value per share, of the Company (the "Company Common Stock") for the consideration and upon 
the !erms and subject to the conditions set forth herein; 

WHEREAS, it is also proposed that (a) the P8Ities shall effect the acquisition of the Company by Parent through the merger of 
Purchaser with and into the Company, with the Company surviving the merger (the "First Merger") and (b) immediately following 
the First Merger, the merger of the Company, as the surviving company of the First Merger, with and into Merger Sub 2, with Merger 
Sub 2 surviving the merger (the "Second Merger" and, together with the First Merger, the "Mergers"); 

WHEREAS, the First Merger will be effected under Section 251 (h) of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware 
(the "DGCL") and will be effected as soon as practicable following the consummation of the Offer upon the terms and subject to the 
conditions set forth herein; 

WHEREAS, the Second Merger will be governed by Section 267 ofthe DGCL and Section 18-209(i) of the Limited Liability 
Company Act of the State of Delaware (the "DLLCA") and will be effected as soon as practicable following tlte consummation of the 
First Merger upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein; 

WHEREAS, in connection with the First Merger, each outstanding share of Company Common Stock issued and outstanding 
immediately prior to the First Effective Time (other than Cancelled Shares or Dissenting Shares) will automatically be converted into 
the right to ,ecei'/e the Transaction Consideration upon the terms and condition::; set forth in thi5 Agreement and in accordance with 
theDGCL; 

WHEREAS, the Parties intend that the Offer and the -Mergers, taken together, will qualify as a "reorganization" witr.in the 
mear.j'lg of Section 368(a) ofthe Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), and that this Agreement he, and is hereby 
adopted as, a "plan ofreorganization" for purposes of Sections 354 and 361 ofthe Code; 

WHEREAS. the board of directors of the Company (the "Company Board of Directors") unanimously (a) determined that the 
terms of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated herel:-y (the "Transactigns"), including the Offer and the First Merger in 
conn,~ctiOi) then:with are fair to, and in the best interests of, tht: Ccmpany and hs sIo(;kholders, (b) determined that it is in the best 
hte-rest, ortne Company and its stockhold~rs to enter into, and declared advisable, this Agreement, (c) approved the execution and 
deliverl Jy the Company of this Agreement, the performance by the Compaily of its covenants and agreements contained herein and 
the cllf'summation of the Offer, the Mergers and the ether 
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Transactions upon the terms and subject to the conditions contained herein and (d) resolved to recommend that the holders of shares 
of Company Common Stock accept the Offer and tender their shares of Company Common Stock to Purchaser pursuant to the Offer 
(such recommendation, the "Company Recommendation"); 

WHEREAS, the board of directors of Parent has unanimously approved this Agreement and the Transactions contemplated 
hereby, including the Offer and the Mergers, and the performance by it of its covenants and agreements contained herein; 

WHEREAS, the board of directors or manager, as applicable, of each ofthe Merger Subs has unanimously (a) determined that 
the terms of the Transactions, including the Offer and the Mergers, are fair to, and in the best interests of, such Merger Sub and its 
stockholder or mem ber, as applicable, (b) determined that it is in the best interest of such Merger Sub to enter into, and declared 
advisable, this Agreement, (c) approved the execution and delivery, by such Merger Sub, of this Agreement (including the agreement 
of merger, as such term is used in Section 251 of the DGCL), the performance by such Merger Sub of its covenants and agreements 
contained herein and the consummation of the Transactions, including the Offer and the Mergers, upon the terms and subject to the 
conditions contained herein, and (d) in the case of Purchaser, resolved to recommend that Merger Sub 2, as the sole stockholder of 
Purchaser, approve the adoption of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including, without limitation, the First 
Merger; 

WHEREAS, Parent, as the sole member of Merger Sub 2, has taken all requisite action to approve and authorize the execution, 
delivery and performance of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including, without limitation, the Offer and 
the Mergers, and has adopted this Agreement; 

WHEREAS, as a condition and inducement to Parent's willingness to enter into this Agreement, certain stockholders of the 
Company are simultaneously herewith entering into that certain Tender and Support Agreement (the "Tender and Support 
Agreement"), pursuant to which, among other things, such stockholders agree to tender shares of Company Common Stock owned by 
them into the Offer and vote shares of Company Common Stock owned by them in favor of the adoption of this Agreement if a vote 
is required to effect the First Merger pursuant to the DGCL; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to make certain representations, wan'anties, covenants and agreements specified herein in 
connection with the Offer and the Mergers and to prescribe certain conditions to the Offer and the Mergers. 

, : 

, ;NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the representations, warra_nties, covenants and agreements contained 
: herein, and, intending to be iegll-Ily b9und hereby, the Parties agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I THE OFFE'R· 
.1' < 

Section I, I The Offer, 

(a) Terms and Conditions onhe Offer, Subject to the terms and condition:. of this Agreement and provided that this Agreement 
has not been ierminateq in accordance with Article VIII and that the Company shall have complied with its obligations under 
Sectio;] l,~ and SectionlJ hereof, as promptly as practicable after the date hereof (but in nO event later than 5:00 p.m., New York 
c:;ity time, on the twentieth (20th) Business Day following the date hereof), P!lrchas~r shall, and Parent shall cause Purchaser to, 
commence the Offer within the meaning of Rule 14d-2 pron;ulgated under the Securities 
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Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (together with the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, the "Exchange Act"). The 
obligations of Purchaser to, and of Parent to cause Purchaser to, accept for payment, and pay for, any shares of Company Common 
Stock validly tendered and not properly withdrawn pursuant to the Offer are subject only to the satisfaction or waiver of the 
conditions set forth in Annex A (the "Offer Conditions"). In the Offer, each share of Company Common Stock accepted by Purchaser 
shall be exchanged for the right to receive, at the election of Parent (such election to be made by delivery of written notice by 
Purchaser to the Company no later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the tenth (10th) business day prior to the Expiration Date, 
which notice shall specify the amount of Stock Consideration and Cash Consideration elected to be utilized by Purchaser), either: (i) 
(x) $11.40 in cash (the "Minimum Cash Consideration") and (y) a number of shares of Parent Common Stock equal to (A) $57.00 
minus the Minimum Cash Consideration, divided by (B) the Parent Trading Price (the "Maximum Stock Consideration"), or (ii)(x) an 
amount in cash greater than the Minimum Cash Consideration and not to exceed $27.93 (such amount elected by Parent, the 
"Altemative Cash Consideration," and each of the Altemative Cash Consideration and the Minimum Cash Consideration, as 
applicable, being referred to herein as the "Cash Consideration") and (y) a number of shares of Parent Common Stock equal to 
(A) $57.00 minus the Alternative Cash Consideration, divided by (B) the Parent Trading Price (the "Alternative Stock Consideration" 
and each of the Alternative Stock Consideration and the Maximum Stock Consideration, as applicable, being referred to herein as the 
"Stock Consideration", and the applicable Stock Consideration together with the applicable Cash Consideration, the "Transaction 
Consideration"). 

(b) Changes to Terms and Conditions. Purchaser expressly reserves the right to waive any Offer Condition or modify the terms 
of the Offer, including increasing the Transaction Consideration payable in the Offer, except that, without the prior written consent of 
the Company, Purchaser shall not, and Parent shall not permit Purchaser to, (i) reduce the number of shares of Company Common 
Stock subject to the Offer, (ii) reduce the Transaction Consideration to be paid in the Offer, (iii) change the form of consideration 
payable in the Offer, other than the election of Parent to pay either (A) the Minimum Cash Consideration and the Maximum Stock 
Consideration or (B) the Alternative Cash Consideration and the Alternative Stock Consideration, in each case, in accordance with 
Section I.l(a), (iv) waive, amend or modify any of the conditions set forth in paragraphs (A), (B), (C), (D), (E)(I), (E)(5) or (E)(6) of 
Annex A (provided, that Parent shall (and shall cause Purchaser to) waive both of the conditions set forth in paragraphs (E)(5) and (E) 
(6) of Annc;lX A upon the written request of the Company), (v) add any condition to the Offer other than those set forth in Annex A, 
(vi) amend, modify or supplement any Offer Condition or, except as otherwise expressly permitted by this Agreement, any other terr.1 
of the OtTer, in each case, in any manner adverse to the holders of Company Common Stock, (vii) except as otherwise expressly 
required or permitted under this Agreement, terminate or extend the Offer, or (viii) provide any "subsequent offering period" in 
aecordance with Rule 14d-l1 of the Exchange Act. 

. (c) JaQiration and Extension of the Offer. 

(i) Unless the Offer is extended pursuant to and in accordance with this Agr~emtnt, the Offe:r shaIll'xpire at 12:01 a.m., 
New York City time, 011 the date that is twenty one (21) business days (for this pllrpos~ calculated ill accordance with Rule 14d­
I (g)(J) promulgated under the Exchange Act) after the date the Offer is first commenced (within the mea111ng oCf;.ule 14d-2 
promlligated under the Exchange Act) (such initial expiration date, or such .subse4Uent time and date to which the ';!xpiration of 
the Offer is extended pUi'Suant to and in accordance with this Agreement, the "fuiration Date"). 

(ii) Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless this Agreement has been terminated in accordance with Alticle VIII (and subject 
to the Company's and Parent's respective rights to terminate this Agreement in accordance with Article VIII), (A) Purchaser 
shall (and Parent shall 
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cause Purchaser to) extend the Expiration Date for any period required by applicable U.S. federal securities laws and the rules 
and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") and its staffwith respect thereto or the rules and 
regulations of the Nasdaq Global Select Market ("Nasdaq"), applicable to the Offer (but in no event shall Purchaser be required 
to extend the Offer past the End Date) and (B) if at any scheduled Expiration Date the Offer Conditions shall not have been 
satisfied or earlier waived, Purchaser may elect to, and if requested by the Company, shall (and Parent shall cause Purchaser to), 
extend the Offer and the Expiration Date to a date that is not more than ten (10) business days (for this purpose calculated in 
accordance with Rule 14d-l(g)(3) promulgated under the Exchange Act) after such previously scheduled Expiration Date; 
provided, however, that if, as of any Expiration Date, the Offer Conditions set forth in paragraph (A) or paragraph (B) of Annex 
Ll shall not have been satisfied, if Purchaser elects to, or if the Company requests Purchaser to, extend the Offer and the 
Expiration Date pursuant to clause (B) of this Section l.Hc)(ii), Purchaser shall extend the Offer and the then-scheduled 
Expiration Date to a date that is not more than twenty (20) business days (for this purpose calculated in accordance with Rule 
14d-l(gX3) promulgated under the Exchange Act) after the then-scheduled Expiration Date (but which may in no event be later 
than the End Date); provided, further, that Purchaser shall not be required to (and shall not, if requested by the Company) extend 
the Offer and the Expiration Date to a date that is the later of (I) thirty (30) calendar days following the date on which each of 
the conditions set forth in paragraphs (A), (C), (D) and (EX8) of Annex A has been satisfied, and (2) May 7,2017. 

(iii) Purchaser shall not terminate or withdraw the Offer without the prior written consent of the Company other than in 
connection with the termination ofthis Agreement in accordance with Article VITI. In the event this Agreement is terminated in 
accordance with Article VIII prior to any scheduled Expiration Date, Purchaser shall promptly (and in any event within twenty­
four (24) hours of such termination of this Agreement) irrevocably and unconditionally terminate the Offer. 

(d) Payment for Shares of Company Common Stock. Subject only to the satisfaction or waiver by Purchaser ofthe Offer 
Conditions as of the Expiration Date in accordance with Section I. 1(a) and Section l.l(b), Purchaser shall, and Parent shall cause 
Purchaser to, (i) promptly after the Expiration Date accept for payment (the time of such acceptance, the "Acceptance Time"), and 
(ii) promptly (within the meaning of Section 14e-l (c) promulgated under the Exchange Act), and in any event within three 
(3) business days (for this purpose calculated as set forth in Rule 14d-l (g)(3) promulgated under the Exchange Act) after the 

.. Expiration Date pay for, all shares oCCompany Common Stock that are validly tendered (and not properly withdrawn) in the Offer 
'(excluding shares ofCo.mpany Common Stock tendered pursuant to guaranteed delivery procedures that have not yet been delivered 
for settlement or satisfaction of such guarantee). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Parent shall provide or cause to be 
provided to Purchas·er on a timely basis the funds and shares of Parent Common Stock necessary to pay for any shares of Company 
Common Stock that Purchaser becomes obligated to purchase pursuant to the Offer; provided, however, that notwithstanding 
anything to the contrary contained in this Section l.l(d) without the prior written consent of the Company, Purchaser shaH no! accept 
for payrpent orpay for. any share? of Company Common Stock if, as a result, Purchaser would acquire less than the number of ~hares 

•. ofComp~y Conjmon Stock necessary to satisfy the Mi!1imum Condition. The Company shaH register (and shall instruct its transfer 
( ··agent to regisfer) the tral1sfer of shares of Company Common Stock a.:;.::epted for payment effective immediately after the Acceptance 

Time.':·· . . ..• 
, t " 
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(e) No Fl'actional Shares. In lieu of any fractional share of Parent Common Stock that otherwise would be issuable pursuant to 
the Offer, each holder of Company Common Stock who otherwise would be entitled to receive a fraction of a share of Parent 
Common Stock pursuant to the Offer or Section 3.1, as applicable (after aggregating all shares of Company Common Stock tendered 
in the Offer (and not validly withdrawn) by such holder or otherwise held by such holder as of the First Effective Time, as applicable) 
will be paid an amount in cash (without interest) determined by mUltiplying (i) the Parent Trading Price, rounded to the nearest one­
hundredth of a cent by (ii) the fraction of a share (after aggregating all shares of Company Common Stock held by such holder and 
accepted for payment by Purchaser pursuant to the Offer or otherwise held by such holder at the First Effective Time, as applicable, 
and rounded to the nearest one thousandth when expressed in decimal form) of Parent Common Stock to which such holder would 
otherwise be entitled (the "Fractional Share Cash Amount"). No such holder shall be entitled to dividends, voting rights or any other 
rights in respect of any fractional share of Parent Common Stock. 

(f) Tax Withholding. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, each of the Company, Parent, Purchaser, 
Merger Sub 2, the First Surviving Corporation, the Surviving Company and the Exchange Agent shall be entitled to deduct and 
withhold from amounts otherwise payable pursuant to this Agreement, such amounts as may be required to be deducted or withheld 
with respect to the making of such payment under any applicable Tax Law. Any amounts so deducted or withheld shall be treated for 
all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the Person in respect of which such deduction or withholding was made. 

(g) Adjustments to the Transaction Consideration. The Cash Consideration and the applicable Stock Consideration (whether 
payabll~ pursuant to the Offer or Section 3.1) shall each be adjusted appropriately to reflect the effect of any stock split, reverse stock 
split, stock dividend (including any dividend or distribution of securities convertible into Company Common Stock or Parent 
Common Stock, as applicable), reclassification, combination, exchange of shares or other like change (other than in connection with 
the Transactions) with respect to the number of shares of Company Common Stock or shares of Parent Common Stock outstar.ding 
after the date hereof and prior to Purchaser's acceptance for payment of, and payment for, shares of Company Common· Stock that are 
tendered pursuant to the Offer; provided, however, that nothing in this Section 1.1(g) shall be deemed to permit or authorize the 
Company to effect any such change that it is not otherwise authorized or permitted to undertake pursuant to this Agreement. 

(b.) Ncthing in thi.s S.!ction ! .1 shall be deemed to impair, limit or otherwise restrict in any manner the right of the Parties to 
terminate this Agreement pursuant to the terms of Article VIII. 

Section L2 Schedule TO; Offer Documents; Registration Statement. 

(a) A:~ soon a:; practicable on the date the Offer is first commenced (within the meaning of Rule 14d-2 promulgated l.tnder the 
Ex(,hang:: 'A ct), Parent sh~ll, and shall cause Purchaser to: 

. (i) p~ep~e and file ~ith the SEC a Tender' Ofter Statet:nent ,m Schedule 'fo (together with ali amcndmellts and 
o;vp?.lerI1ent; .tberetl:), and including all exhibits thereto, the "~riliedule TO".) with respect to the Offer, whi.yh.Schcduh; TO shall 
(.:ontain as 1m c;£.hibit an offer to purchase and forms of the lelter(s) of transmittal and summary C'dveltisement, if any, and 'other 
~u3tomary ancillary documents, in each case, in respect of the Offer (together with all amendments and supplements thereto, the 
".Ot~1l.!:JJ_<J.!ill!!l\ill11"); 

~ii) deliver ,1 copy of the Schedule TO, including all exhibits thereto, to the Company at its principal executive offices in 
accordance with Rule 14d-3(a) promulgated under the Exchange Act; 
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(iii) give telephonic notice of the infonnation required by Rule 14d-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act, and mail by 
means of first class mail a copy of the Schedule TO, to Nasdaq in accordance with Rule 14d-3(a) promulgated under the 
Exchange Act; and 

(iv) subject to the Company's compliance with Section 1.3(a) and Section l.3(c), cause the Offer Documents to be 
disseminated to all holders of shares of Company Common Stock as and to the extent required by the Exchange Act. 

(b) ConcUlTently with the filing of the Offer Documents, Parent shall prepare and file with the SEC a registration statement on 
Fonn S-4 to register under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (together with the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, 
the "Securities Act"), the offer and sale of Parent Common Stock pursuant to the Offer and the First Merger (the "Registration 
Statement"), which shall include a preliminary prospectus containing the information required under Rule 14d-4(b) promulgated 
under the Exchange Act (together with any amendments thereof or supplements thereto, the "Offer Prospectus"). 

(c) Until the termination of this Agreement in accordance with Article VIII, Parent shall, with the Company's reasonable 
cooperation, use its reasonable best efforts to (i) have the Registration Statement declared effective under the Securities Act as 
promptly as practicable after its filing, (ii) ensure that the Registration Statement and the Offer Documents comply in all material 
respects with the applicable provisions ofthe Securities Act and the Exchange Act, and (iii) keep the Registration Statement effective 
for so long as necessary to complete the First Merger. Parent shall notify the Company promptly of the time when the Registration 
Statement has become effective or any supplement or amendment to the Registration Statement has been filed, and of the issuance of 
any stop order or suspension of the qualification of the shares of Parent Common Stock issuable in connection with the Offer or the 
First Merger for offering or sale in any jurisdiction. The Company shall promptly furnish in writing to Parent and Purchaser 
infonnation concel11ing the Company, its Subsidiaries, the Facility Entities and the holders of shares of Company Common Stock that 
is required by applicable Law or otherwise reasonably advisable to be included in the Offer Documents and the Registration 
Statement so as to enable Parent and Purchaser to comply with their obligations under this Section 1.2. Parent, Purchaser and the 
Company shall cooperate in good faith to detennine the information regarding the Company that is necessary or reasonably advisable 
to include in the Offer Documents and the Registration Statement in order to satisfy applicable Laws. Each of Parent, Purchaser and 
the COhlpanyshail promptly correct any infonnation provided by it or any of its respective Representatives for use in the Offer 
Dccuments and thc Registration Statement if and to the extent that such infonnation shall have become false or misleading in any 
material respect. To the extent pennitted by applicable Law, Parent and Purchaser shall have no responsibility with respect to any 
information supplied by the Company for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the Offer Documents and the Registration 
Statement. P.arent and Purchaser shall, with the Company's cooperation, take all reasonable steps to cause the Offer Documents and 
'the Registration State~llent, ~s so corrected, to be filed with the SEC and to be disscminated to the holders of shares of the Company 
Common Stock, ill each case as and to the extent required by applicable Laws, or by the SEC or its staff or Nasdaq. Parent shall cause 

.~. "" .: the -Registra~ion Sta~emeIlt,':tnd the Offer Documents to cQmply as ~o form and sub~~nge in all material respects with requirements of 
. applicable Law. Eadl.offl arent and· Purchaser shall (A) provide the Cp,mpanY,and its connse,l with a reasonable opportunity to review 

': '. ',~ .. ' and cU!.l1ment on.tiJe Offer Documents and the Registration Statement (and ,any ami(ridments or supplemc'lts to any of tneforegoing) 
., •. : L prior .to·the £ling therwf with the SEC, and give reasonable con.sideration to.anY timely cpII'fnents ther~(m made by·theCompaliy or 

its counsel, (B) promptly notify the Company of the receipt of, and promptly provide the Company copies or, all comments from, and 
all correspondence with, the SEC or its staff with respect to any Offer Document or the Registration Statement and .promptly notify 
the Conlp'any of an); rec:uest by 'the SEC or its stafffor any amendment or supplement thereto or for additional inform.ation, 
(C) provide 
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the Company and its counsel with a reasonable opportunity to review and comment on any proposed correspondence between it or 
any of its Representatives on the one hand and the SEC or its staff on the other pand with respect to any Offer Document or the 
Registration Statement and give reasonable consideration to any timely comments thereon made by the Company or its counsel and 
(D) promptly provide the Company with final copies of any correspondence sent by it or any of its Representatives to the SEC or its 
staff with respect to any Offer Document or the Registration Statement, and of any amendments or supplements to any Offer 
Document or the Registration Statement. Parent shall also take any other action required to be taken under the Securities Act, the 
Exchange Act, any appiicabJe foreign or state securities or "blue sky" Laws and the rules and regulations thereunder in connection 
with the issuance ofthe Parent Common Stock in the Offer or the First Merger, and will pay all expenses thereto, and the Company 
shall timely furnish aU information concerning the Company and the holders ofthe Company Common Stock as may be reasonably 
requested in connection with any such actions. 

Section 1.3 Company Actions. 

(a) Compan" Determinations, Approvals and Recommendations. The Company hereby approves and consents to the Offer and 
represents and warrants to Parent and Purchaser that, at a meeting duly called and held on or prior to the date hereof, the Company 
Board of Directors has, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein (including its ability to make a Company 
Adverse Recommendation Change ill accordance with Section 6.3): 

0) determined that the terms of the Transactions, including the Offer and the Mergers, are fair to, and III the best interests 
of, the Company and its 'stockholders; 

(ii) detelmine.J that it is in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders to enter into, and dedared advisable; this 
Agreement; 

(iii) approved rlJe execution and delivery by the Company of this Agreement, the performance by the Company of its 
covenants and 3.greements contained herein and the consummation of the Offer, the Mergers and the other Transactions upen ,the 
terms and subject tt) the conditions contained herein; and 

(b) resolved t,) make the Company Recommendation. 

The Company hereby ~(liJsents to the inclusion ofth(' fo!'egoing detenninations and approvals and the COmpa!l), ilecolilr:umdativn in 
the Offer Document, ::rnd ',he Registration Statement, lL'lless and until the Company Board of Directors has effected a Company 
Adversp- Recommendatiofj t.hange in compliance with 'he tenm or Section 6.3 . 

. (b) Schedu1.:LI4f!:,2.rte CompaJ'ly shall (i) file with the SEC concurrently with the filing by Parent Slid Flircha~er€,fthf 
,),' Schedule TO,. a ScAk.:t.at:ol"H.ecommendathn Statement on Schedule 14I?-9 pertaining to the Offer, which shaP c!m:ain'l.nd.; 

·zonstitute. nQtice tD holders or sharel> of Company Common Stf'ck informing. such hoider:; of their rights of appro;,>.,,! ill re~peci of 
, . suc!Hhares·ofC;:ImpaIlY Cemmon Stock in accordance with Saction 262 of the DOeL (together with "llruner.dmeC)!;' fmd 

, .upplernents ther\~t~i, ar"d inc1udilig all exhiljiJs thereto, the "Schedule 14D.:t") and (ii) cause the Schedlile 14D-9 to be maHed ~o the. 
!nlde1'5 of snare!; of ':IHi·.}Jar.y Common Stock promptly after commencement of the Offer. The Compartyshall ('IUS" th~ Schedlile 
14.~-9 to comply a~ to,furm and substance in all material respects with the requirements of the applicable provisions of the Exchange 
.Act and other applicable Law, and to reflect and contain the Company Recommendation unless and until the Company Board of' 
Director~ has effected a Company Adverse Recommendation Change in compliance with the tenD;; of ,Section 6.:},. To thl'; extent 
h~quested by the Company, Parent shaH cause the Schedule 140-9 to 
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be mailed or otherwise disseminated to the holders of shares of Company Common Stock (to the extent required by the applicable 
Laws) together with the Offer Documents. Each of Parent and Purchaser shall promptly furnish in writing to the Company all 
information concerning Parent and Purchaser that is required by applicable Laws or otherwise reasonably advisable to be included in 
the Schedule 14D-9 so as to enable the Company to comply with its obligations under this Section l.3(b). Parent, Purchaser and the 
Company shall cooperate in good faith to detemline the information regarding Parent and Purchaser that is necessary or reasonably 
advisable to include in the Schedule 14D-9 in order to satisry applicable Laws. Each of the Company, Parent and Purchaser shall 
promptly correct any infonnation provided by it or any of its Representatives for use in the Schedule 14D-9 ifand to the extent that 
such information shall have become false or misleading in any material respect. To the extent permitted by applicable Law, the 
Company shall have no responsibility with respect to any information supplied by Parent or Purchaser for inclusion or incorporation 
by reference in the Schedule 14D-9. The Company shall, with Parent's and Purchaser's reasonable cooperation, take all reasonable 
steps to cause the Schedule 14D-9, as so corrected, to be filed with the SEC and to be disseminated to the holders of shares of 
Company Common Stock, in each case as and to the extent required by applicable Laws or by the SEC or its staff. Unless and until 
the Company Board of Directors has effected a Company Adverse Recommendation Change in accordance with Section 6.3, ilie 
Company shall (A) provide Parent and its counsel with a reasonable opportunity to review and comment on the Schedule 14D-9 (and 
any amendments or supplements to the foregoing) prior to ilie filing thereof with the SEC, give reasonable consideration to any 
timely comments thereon made by Parent or its counsel, (B) promptly notifY Parent of the receipt of, and promptly provide Parent 
copies of, all comments from, and all correspondence with, the SEC or its staff with respect to the Schedule 14D-9 and promptly 
notifY Parent of ahy request by the SEC or its stafffor any amendment or supplement thereto or for additional information, 
(C) provide Parent and its counsel with a reasonable opportunity to review and comment on any proposed correspondence between it 
or any of its Representatives on the one hand and the SEC or its staff on the other hand with respect to the Schedule 14D-9 and give 
reasonable considerationt() any comments thereon made by Parent or its counsel and (D) promptly provide Parent with final copies of 
any correspondence sent by it or any of its Representatives to the SEC or its staff with respect to the Schedule 14D-9, and of any 
amendments or supplements to the Schedule 14D-9. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 1.3(b), but subject to 
Section 6.3, the Cqmpa,ny may ;mlen.d or supplement the Schedule 14D-9 in connection with a Company Adverse Recommendation 
Change, without the prior consent of Parent and without providing Parent or its counsel an opportunity to review or comment thereon. 
The Schedule 14D-9 shall include the fairness opinion ofthe Company's financial advisor referenced in Section 4.19 and the notice 
and other information required by Section 262(d) of the DGCL. 

. : (c) Comganv Illf0fI!i!ation. In connection with the Offer.anq the,Mergers, the CompanyshalJ, or shall cause its transfer.agent to, 
. prQ'1lRt!y, fUlJli;Sh. Parent .and Purchaser with such assistance an~, such ifl~ormlftion as Parent, Purchaser or any of their Representatives 

may reasonably request in order to disseminate and otherwisecommuni<;ate the Qff,er and the Mergers to the record and beneficial 
holders of shares of Company Common Stock, including a list, as oIthemost recent practicable date, of the stockholders of the 
Company, :tnailirlg iahelir and any available listing or computet fifes·containilig the' nam.es and addresses of all record and beneficial 
holders 'of shares of"ConiptinyCopunon Stock, and lists·of security positioHs of shares of Company Common Stock held in stock .. 

. • depositories {i'ncluding updated lists of stockholders, mailing labelsj lisl:ing~ or files 'of securities positions), in each case as of the : 
. most'tciceRt practicabl(:"d'at~, and shall promptly furnish Parent and Purchaser with 'such additional information and assistance 

, (in6iudin~ updated lists of the record and beneficial holders of shares of Cotnpany Common :Stock, mailing labels and lists of security 
. p'ositions)as Piu'l!nt·ilfld Ptirchaser or their agents may reasonably request'in order to communicate the Offer and the Mergers to the 

holderslofshares efCom~any Common Stock. Subject to applicabJe-Laws, and except for such steps as are necessary to disseminate 
the Offer Docuinents and any other documents necessary to consummate the Offer and the Mergers, Parent and Purchaser (and ilieir 
'respective agents) shall: . 
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(i) hold in confidence the information contained in any such lists of stockholders, mailing labels and listings or files of 
securities positions; 

(ii) use such information only in connection with the Offer and the Mergers; and 

(iii) ifthis Agreement shall be terminated pursuant to Alticle VIII, promptly return (and shall use their respective 
reasonable efforts to cause their Representatives to return to the Company or destroy) any and all copies and any extracts or 
summaries from such information then in their possession or control and, if requested, promptly certify to the Company in 
writing that all such material has been returned or destroyed. 

ARTICLE II THE MERGERS 

Section 2.1 The Mergers. Upon the terms and subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in this Agreement, 
and in accordance with the DGCL (including Section 25l(h)) and the DLLCA, as applicable, (a) at the First Effective Time (as 
defined below), Purchaser shall be merged with and into the Company, whereupon the separate existence of Purchaser will cease, 
with the Company surviving the First Merger (the Company, as the surviving entity in the First Merger, sometimes being referred to 
herein as the "First Surviving Corporation"), such that following the First Merger, the First Surviving Corporation will be an indirect 
wholly owned subsidiary of Parent and a direct wholly owned subsidiary of Merger Sub 2, and (b) immediately thereafter, and as part 
of the same plan, at the Second Effective Time, the First Surviving Corporation shall be merged with and into Merger Sub 2, 
whereupon the separate existence of the First Surviving Corporation will cease, with Merger Sub 2 surviving the Second Merger 
(Merger Sub 2, as the surviving entity of the Second Merger, sometimes being referred to herein as the "Surviving Company"), such 
that following the Second Merger, the Surviving Company will be a wholly owned direct subsidiary of Parent. The Mergers shall 
have the effects provided in this Agreement and as specified in the DGCL and the DLLCA, as applicable. The First Merger shall be 
governed by and effected under Section 251(h) of the DGCL as soon as practicable following the Acceptance Time and the Second 
Merger shall be governed by and effected under Section 267 of the DGCL and Section 18-209(i) of the DLLCA. 

Section 2.2 Ciosing. The closing of the Mergers (the "Closing") shall take place at the offices of Hogan LoveIls US LLP, 1601 
Wewatta Street, Suite 900, Denver, Colorado at 10:00 a.m., New York City time as soon as practicable following the Acceptance 
Time, and in any event no .later than the second (2nd) Business Day after the satisfaction or waiver (to the extent permitted by 
applicable Law) of the last of the conditions set forth in Article VII (other than thos,e conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied 
at or immediately,prior to the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver of such conditions), or at such other place, date and 
time as the Company and Parent may agree in writing, The date on which,the Clos:ing actually occurs is referred to as the "Closing 

, , Date." , 

,Section 2.3 Effective Times. As soon as practicable on the Closing Date, (a) the Parties shall cause a certificate of merger with' 
, respect to the First Merger (the "First Certificate of Merger") to be duly executed and filed with the Secretary of State of the State of 

Delaware (the "Delaware Secreta!y"j as provided under the DGCL and make any other filings, recordings or publications required to 
be l)1ade by the Company or Purchaser under the DGCL in connection with the First Merger, and (b) immediately following, or 
contemporaneously with, the filing ofthe First Certificate of Merger, Merger Sub 2 shall cause a certificate of ownership and merger 
with respect to the Second Merger (the "Second Celtificate of Merger", and together with the First Certificate of Merger, the 
"Certificates of Mergec") to be -july executed and filed with the Delaware Secretary as provided under the DGCL and theDLLCA 
and make any other f;lings, recordings or publications required to be made by the First Surviving Corporation or Merger Sub 2 under 
the DGCL and the DLLCA in connection with the Second Merger. The First Merger 

9 

48 



shall become effective at such time as the First Certificate of Merger is duly filed with the Delaware Secretary or on sllch later date 
and time as shall be agreed to by the Company and Parent and specified in the First Certificate of Merger (such date and time being 
hereinafter referred to as the "First Effective Time"). The Second Merger shall become effective at such time as the Second 
Certificate of Merger is duly filed with the Delaware Secretary or on such later date and time as shall be agreed to by the Company 
and Parent and specified in the Second Certificate of Merger (such date and time being hereinafter referred to as the "Second 
Effective Time"). The First Effective Time shall, in all events, precede the Second Effective Time. 

Section 2.4 Effects of the Mergers. The effects of the Mergers shall be as provided in this Agreement and in the applicable 
provisions of the DGCL and the DLLCA. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, and subject thereto, (a) at the First 
Effective Time, all of the property, rights, privileges, powers and franchises of the Company and Purchaser shall vest in the First 
Surviving Corporation, and all debts, liabilities and duties of the Company and Purchaser shall become the debts, liabilities and duties 
of the First Surviving Corporation, all as provided under the DGCL and (b) at the Second Effective Time, all of the property, rights, 
privileges, powers and franchises of the First Surviving Corporation and Merger Sub 2 shall vest in the Surviving Company, and all 
debts, liabilities and duties of the First Surviving Corporation and Merger Sub 2 shall become the debts, liabilities and duties of the 
Surviving Company, all as provided under the DGCL and the DLLCA. 

Section 2.5 Organizational Documents of the Surviving Company. 

(a) At the First Effective Time, the Parties shall take all reqUIsite action so that the Company Certificate and the Company 
Bylaws shall be the certificate of incorporation and bylaws, respectively, ofthe First Surviving Corporation until thereafter changed 
or amended as provided therein or by applicable Law (but subject to Section 6.8). 

(b) At the Second Effective Time (but subject to Section 6.8), the Parties shall take all requisite action so that the certificate of 
formation and limited liability company agreement of Merger Sub 2 as in effect immediately prior to the Second Effective Time shall 
be the certificate off ormation and limited liability company agreement of the Surviving Company, until thereafter amended in 
accordance with applicable Law and the applicable provisions of such certificate of formation and limited liability company 
agreement. 

Section 2.6 Directors; Manager. 

(a) Subject to applicable Law, the Parties shall take all requisite action so that the directors of Purchaser immediately prior to the 
first Effective Tii11e ~r~l.' be the initial directors of the First Surviving Corporation and shall hold office until their respective 
successors are duly elected ipld qualified, or their earlier cleath, resignation or remoyal. 

l \. >. , . • • 
(b) Subject to applicable Law, the Parties shall take all requisite action so that the manager of Merger Sub l immediately prior 

to the Second Effective Time shall be and become the manager ofthe Surviving Company as ofthe Second Effective Time. 

, Section 2.7 Office~. 

" . (a) The Parties shall take all requisite action so that the officers of Purchaser immediately prior to the First Effective Time, from 
'and after the First Effective Time, shall continue as thf:l officers of the First Surviving Corporation. 
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(b) Except as otherwise detennined by Parent prior to the Second Effective Time, the Parties shall take all requisite action so 
that the officers of the First Surviving Corporation immediately prior to the Second Effective Time, from and after the Second 
Effective Time, shall be the officers of the Surviving Company and shall hold office until their respective successors are duly elected 
and qualified, or their earlier death, resignation or removal. 

ARTICLE III CONVERSION OF SHARES; EXCHANGE OF CERTIFICATES 

Section 3.1 Effect on Capital Stock. 

(a) At the First Effective Time, by virtue of the First Merger and without any action on the part of any ofthe.Parties.or the 
holder of any shares of Company Common Stock or Purchaser Common Stock: 

(i) Conversion of Company Common Stock. At the First Effective Time, subject to Section J.J(a), the first sentence of 
Section I.I(d). Section l.l{e) and any applicable withholding Tax, each share of Company Common Stock issued and 
outstanaing immediately prior to the First Effective Time (other than any Cancelled Shares and any Dissenting Shares) shall be 
automatically converted into the right to receive the applicable Transaction Consideration. From and after the First Effective 
Time, aI' such shares of Company Common Stock shall no longer be outstanding and upon the conversion thereof shall cease tc 
exist, and each applicable holder of such shares of Company Common Stock shall cease to have any rights with respect thereto, 
except the right to receive the applicable Transaction Consideration upon the surrender of such shares of Company Common 
Stock in accordance with Section 3.2 (including the right to receive the Fractional Share Cash Amount, if any), into which such 
shares of Company Common Stock have been converted pursuant to this Section 3.1(a), together with the amounts, if any, 
payable pursu~nt to Section 3.2(e). 

(ii) Cancellation of Company Common Stock; Certain Subsidiary Owned Shares. Each share of Company Common Stock 
issued and outstanding immediately prior to the First Effective Time that is owned or held in treasury by the Company and each 
share of Company Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the First Effective Time that is owned by Parent, 
Purchaser or a'1y other direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent shall no longer be outstanding and shall . 
automatically be cancelled and shall cease to exist (the "Cancelled Sh~"), and no consideration shall be delivered in exchange 
therefor. 

" (iii) Treatment of Purchaser Share~. At the Fir&t Effective Time, each issued and outstanding share of common stock, par 
value $0.01 per share, of Purchaser (the "Purchaser Common Stock") shall be automatically converted into and become one . 
fully paid and nonassessable share of r,ommon stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the First Surviving Corporation and shall 

. constitute tHe only outstanding shares of <;apitaJ ~tock of the First Surviving Corporation. From and after the First Effective 
Time, all certificates representing shares of Purchaser Common Stock shall be deemed for all pvrposes to represent the number. 
of shares of common stock of the First SUl'vivir.g Corporatiorl into which they were converted in accordanc;,~ With the 
imr.1edhltely preceding sentence. 

All of the shares ofCcmpany Common Stock converted into the right to receive the Transaction Consideration pursuant to this 
Article m; shall no longer be outstanding and upon the conversion thereof shall cease to exist as of the First Effective Time, and 
uncer~if:;ated shares of Company Common Stock represenfed by book-entry fonn ("Book-Entry Shares") and each certificate that, 
immediately prior to the 
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First Effective Time, represented any such shares of Company Common Stock (each, a "CeI1ificate") shall thereafter represent only 
the right to receive the applicable Transaction Consideration and the Fractional Share Cash Amount into which the shares of 
Company Common Stock represented by such Book-Entry Share or Certificate have been converted pursuant to this Section 3.l(a), as 
well as any dividends or other distributions to which holders of Company Common Stock become entitled in accordance with 
Section 3.2(e). 

(b) Conversion of Fi!'st SUlviving Corporation Shares. At the Second Effective Time, by virtue of the Second Merger and 
without any action on the part of any of the Pal1ies or holders of any securities of the First Surviving Corporation or of Merger Sub 2, 
(i) each membership interest of Merger Sub 2 issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Second Effective Time shall remain 
outstanding as a membership interest of the Surviving Company and (ii) all shares of common stock of the First Surviving 
Corporation shall no longer be outstanding and shall automatically be cancelled and shall cease to exist without any consideration 
being payable therefor. 

( c) Shares of Dissenting Stockholders. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, any shares of Company 
Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the First Effective Time and held by a Person (a "Dissenting 
Stockholder") who has not tendered into the Offer or has not voted in favor of, or consented to, the adoption of this Agreement, and 
has complied with all the provisions of the DOCL concerning the right of holders of shares of Company Common Stock to demand 
appraisal oftheir shares (the "Appraisal Provisions") of Company Common Stock ("Dissenting Shares"), to the extent the AppraIsal 
Provisions are applicable, shall not be converted into the right to receive the Transaction Consideration as described in Section 3.l(a) 
ill, but such holder shall be entitled to receive such consideration as may be determined to be due to such Dissenting Stockholder 
pursuant to the procedures set forth in Section 262 of the DOCL. If such Dissenting Stockholder, after the First Effective Time, 
effectively withdraws its demand for appraisal or fails to perfect or otherwise loses its right of appraisal, in any case pursuant to the 
DOCL, each of such Dissenting Stockholder's shares of Company Common Stock shall thereupon be treated as though such shares of 
Company Common Stock had been converted as of the First Effective Time into the right to receive the applicable Transaction 
Consideration pursuant to Section 3. J(a)(i). The Company shall give Parent prompt notice of any demands for appraisal of shares of 
Company Common Stock received by the Company, withdrawals or attempted withdrawals of such demands and any other 
instruments served pursuant to Section 262 ofthe DGCL and shall give Parent the opportunity to direct all negotiations and 
proceedings with respect to demands for appraisal under the DGCL. The Company shall not, without the prior written cnnsent of 
Parent, vohmtariiy make arty payment to any Dissenting Sto('kholder with respect to, or settle or offer to settle, or approve the 
withdrawal ot~ any sllch demands. 

; Section 3.2 Exchange.ofCertificates. 

(a) A'ppointment of Exchange Agent. Prior to the,First Effective Time, Parent shall appoint a bank or trust company (which bank 
of trust company shall be reasonably acceptable to the ('ort'ipany)'to act as exchange agent (such exchange agent, which, if -
practicable, shal! also:l?e-the depositary pursuant to the Offer, the '-Exchange Agent") for the payment ofthe Transaction 
Consideratioilin the Offer'and the First Merger and shall enter into an agreement relating to the Exchange Agent's responsibilities 
under this Agreement, which shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Company. 

(b) Deposit of Transaction Consideration. Parent shall deposit, or cause to be deposited, with the Exchange Ag~nt, prior to or 
concurrently with the First Effective Time, cash sufficient to pay the aggregate Cash Consideration (together with, to the extent then 
determinable, ~he aggregate Fractional Share Cash Amount) payabl~ in the Fir.st Merger to holders of Company Common Stock and 
shall deposit, or shall cause to be deposited, with the Exchange Agent, prior to or concurrentiy with the First 
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Effective Time, evidence of Parent Common Stock in book-entry form (or certificates representing such Parent Common Stock, at 
Parent's election) representing the number of shares of Parent Common Stock sufficient to deliver the aggregate Stock Consideration 
payable in the First Merger (such cash and certificates, together with any dividends or distributions with respect thereto, the 
"Exchange Fund"). 

(c) Exchange Procedures. Promptly after the First Effective Time (and in any event within three (3) Business Days thereafter), 
Parent shall, and shall cause the Surviving Company to, cause the Exchange Agent to mail to each holder of record of shares of 
Company Common Stock whose shares of Company Common Stock were converted pursuant to Section 3.l(a)(i) into the right to 
receive the Transaction Consideration (i) a letter of transmittal in customary form (which shall specifY that delivery shall be effected, 
and risk ofloss and title to the Certificates shall pass, only upon delivery of the Certificates to the Exchange Agent and shall be in 
such form and have such other provisions as Parent and the Company shall reasonably agree) (the "Letter of Transmittal") and 
(ii) instructions for use in effecting the surrender of Certificates or Book-Entry Shares in exchange for the Transaction Consideration, 
the Fractional Share Cash Amount and any dividends or other distributions to which such Certificates or Book-Entry Shares become 
entitled in accordance with Section 3.2(e) (collectively. the "Exchanged Amounts"). Parent shall cause the Exchange Agent to make, 
and the Exchange Agent shall make, delivery of the Transaction Consideration, including payment of the Fractional Share Cash 
Amount, and any amounts payable in respect of dividends or other distributions on shares of Parent Common Stock in accordance 
with Section 3.2(e) out ofthe Exchange Fund in accordance with this Agreement. The Exchange Fund shall not be used for any 
purpose that is not expressly provided for in this Agreement. 

(d) Surrender of Certificates or Book-Entry Shares. Upon surrender of Certificates or Book-Entry Shares to the Exchange Agent 
together with the Letter of Transmittal, duly completed and validly executed in accordance with the instructions thereto, and such 
other documents as may customarily be required by the Exchange Agent, the holder of such Certificates or Book-Entry Shares shall 
be entitled to receive in exchange therefor the Exchanged Amounts. In the event of a transfer of ownership of shares of Company 
Common Stock that is not registered in the transfer or stock records of the Company, any cash to be paid upon, or shares of Parent 
Common Stock to be issued upon, due surrender of the Certificate or Book-Entry Share formerly representing such shares of 
Company Common Stock may be paid or issued, as the case may be, to such a transferee if such Certificate or Book-Entry Share is 
presented.to the Exchange Agent, accompanied by all documents required to evidence and effect such transfer and to evidence that 
any applicable stock transfer or other similar Taxes have been paid or are not applicable. No interest shall be paid or shall accrue on 
the cash payable upon surrender of any Certificate or Book-Entry Share. Until surrendered as contemplated by this Section 3.2, each 
Certificate and Book-Entry Share shall be deemed at any time after the First Effective Time to represent only the right to receive, 
upon such surrender, the Exchanged Amounts. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, any holder of Book-Entry 
Shares shall not be required to deliver a Certificate or an executed letter of transmittal to the Exchange Agent to receive the 
Exchanged Amounts that such holder is entitled to receive pursuant to this Article III. In lieu thereof, each holder of record of one or 

.. more Book-Entry Sharys whose Company Common Stock were converted into the right to receive the E)[changed Amounts shall 
upon receipt by the'EJ:(charige Agent of an "agent's message" in customary' form (or such 'other evidence, if any, as the Exchange 
Agent may r~asonaljly. ~quest), be entitled to receive, and Parent shall cause the Exchange Agent to exchange and deliver as . 
promptly as reasonably practicable after the First Effective Time, the Exchanged Amounts in respect of each such share of Company 
Common Stock, and the Book-Entry Shares of such holder shall forthwith be cancelled. ' 

(e) Treatment of Un exchanged Shares. No dividends or other distributions, ifany, with a record date after the First EffeCtive 
;rime with respect to Pa~nt Common Stock, shall be pard to the holder of any unsurrendered share of Company Common Stock to be 
converted into the right to receive shares of Parent Common Stock pursuant to Section 3.I(a)(j) until such holder shall surrender such 
share' 
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in accordance with this Section 3.2. After the surrender in accordance with this Section 3.2 of a share of Company Common Stock to 
be converted into the right to receive shares of Parent Common Stock pursuant to Section 3.1 (al(i), the holder thereof shall be entitled 
to receive (in addition to the Transaction Consideration and the Fractional Share Cash Amount payable to such holder pursuant to this 
Article Ill) any such dividends or other distributions, without any interest thereon, which theretofore had become payable with respect 
to the Parent Common Stock issuable in respect of such share of Company Common Stock. 

(f) No Further Ownership Rights in Company Common Stock. The shares of Parent Common Stock delivered and cash paid in 
accordance with the terms of this Artjcle nr upon conversion of any shares of Company Common Stock shall be deemed to have been 
del ivered and paid in full satisfaction of all rights pertaining to such shares of Company Common Stock (subject to any rights of 
Dissenting Stockholders). From and after the First Effective Time, (i) all holders of Certificates and Book-Entry Shares shall cease to 
have any rights as stockholders ofthe Company other than the right to receive the Transaction Consideration into which the shares 
represented by such Certificates or Book-Entry Shares have been converted pursuant to this Agreement upon the surrender of such 
Certificate or Book-Entry Share in accordance with Section 3.2(d) (together with the Fractional Share Cash Amount and any 
dividends or other distributions to which such Certificates or Book-Entry Shares become entitled in accordance with Section 3.2(e», 
without interest, and (ii) the stock transfer books of the Company shall be closed with respect to all shares of Company Common 
Stock outstanding immediately prior to the First Effective Time. From and after the First Effective Time, the stock transfer books of 

, the Company shall be closed, and there shall be no further registration of transfers on the stock transfer books of the First Surviving 
Corporation or the Surviving Company of shares of Company Common Stock that were outstanding immediately prior to the First 
Effective Time. If, at any time after the First Effective Time, any Certificates or Book-Entry Shares formerly representing shares of 
Company Common Stoc~ are presented to the Surviving Company, Parent or the Exchange Agent for any reason, such Certificates or 
Book-Entry Shares shall be cancelled and exchanged as provided in this Article III, subject to applicable Law in the case of 
Dissenting Shares. 

(g) Investment of Exchange Fund. The Exchange Agent shall invest any cash included in the Exchange Fund as directed by 
Parent; provided that such investments shall be in obligations of or guaranteed by the United States of America, in commercial paper 
obligations rated A-lor P-l or better by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. or Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC, respectively, 
in certificates of deposit, bank repurchase agreements or banker's acceptances of commercial banks with capital exceeding $ I billion, 
orin money market funds having a ·rating in the highest investment category granted by a recognized credit rating agency at the time 
of investment. No such investment or loss thereon shall affect the amounts payable to holders of Certificates or Book·Entry Shares 
pursuant to this Article JJI, and following any losses from 'arty such investment, or to the extent the cash portion ofthe Exchange Fund 
otherwise diminishes for any. reason below the level required for the Exchange Agent to make cash payments pursuant to this 
Article III; Parent shall promptly provide additional funds to' the Exchange Agent for the benefit ofthe holders of shares of Company 
COmmon Stock at the First Effective Time in the amount of such losses or other shortfall, which additional funds will be deemed to 
be. part <:if the Excha'ngr.7 Fund. Any interest and other income resulting from such investment shall become a part of the Exchange 
Fund, and any cash amounts in excess of the amounts payable under Section 3. I, shall be promptly returned to Parent. 

, : . j . • ,;" t : ; , • • . ' , •• ~ 

. (h) Termination ;of Exchange Fund. Any portion of the Exchange Fund (including any interest or other amounts received with 
respecttheretoj'that remains unclaimed by, or otherwise undistributed to, the holders of Certificates and Book-Entry Shares for 270 
days after the First Effective Time shall be delivered to Parent, upon Parent's demand, and any holder of Certificates or Book-Entry 
'Shares who has not theretofore complied with this Article III shall thereafter look only to Parent or the 
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Surviving Company (subject to abandoned property, escheat or other similar Laws), as general creditors thereof, for satisfaction of its 
claim for Transaction Consideration (including any Fractional Share Cash Amount) and any dividends and distributions which such 
holder has the right to receive pursuant to this Article III without any interest thereon. 

(i) No Liability. None of Parent, the Company, Purchaser or Merger Sub 2 or the Exchange Agent shall be liable to any Person 
in respect of any portion of the Exchange Fund or the Transaction Consideration delivered to a public official pursuant to any 
applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar Law. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, any portion ofthe 
Transaction Consideration or the cash to be paid in accordance with this Article III that remains undistributed to the holders of 
Certificates and Book-Entry Shares as of the second (2nd) anniversary of the First Effective Time (or immediately prior to such earlier 
date on which the Transaction Consideration or such cash would otherwise escheat to or become the property of any Governmental 
Entity), shall, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, become the property of the Surviving Company, free and clear of all claims 
or interest of any Person previously entitled thereto. 

G) Lost Certificates. If any Certificate shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by 
the Person claiming such Certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Parent, and, if 
required by Parent or the Exchange Agent, the posting by such Person of a bond in customary amount as Parent or the Exchange 
Agent may reasonably require as indemnity against any claim that may be made against it or the Surviving Company with respect to 
such Certificate, the Exchange Agent (or, if subsequent to the termination of the Exchange Fund and subject to SectIon 3.2(h), Parent) 
shall deliver, in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed Certificate, the Transaction Consideration and any dividends and 
distributions deliverable in respect thereof pursuant to this Agreement had such lost, stolen or destroyed Certificate been surrendered. 

Section 3.3 Company Options, Company RSU A wards and ESPP. 

(a) Company Options. Each option to purchase shares of Company Common Stock granted pursuant to a Company Stock Plan 
that is outstanding immediately prior to the First Effective Time (each, a "Company Option") shall, as of the First Effective Time, by 
virtue of the First Merger and without any action on the part of any holder of such Company Option, cease to represent an option to 
purchase shares of Company Common Stock and shall be converted into an option to purchase a number of shares of Parent Common 
Stock equal to the product (rounded down to the nearest whole number) of (x) the number of shares of Company Common Stock 
subject to such Company Option immediately prior to such time an.d (y) the Equity A ward Conversion Ratio, at an exercise price per 
share (rounded up to the nearest whole cent) equal to (A) the exercise price per share of Company Common Stock of such Company 
Option immediately prior to the First Effective Time divided by (8) the Equity Award Conversion Ratio; provided, however, that the 

. conversion .of the Company Options as provided in this Section 3.3(a) shall in any event be done in a manner consistent with the 
requirements of Section 4Q9A qfthe Code; provided further, that in the case of any Company Option to which Section 422 of the 
Code applies. the conversiqn .of such option shall be done in accordl1llce with the foregoing, subject to such adjustments as are 
I}ecessary in order to satisfy the requirements of Section 424(a) of the Code. Except as specifically provided above or in Section 6.4 
.(h) of this Agreement, following the time ofthe conversion contemplated above, each Company Option shall continue to be governed 
by the same terms and conditions (including vesting and exercisabiIity terms) as were applicable to such.Company Option 
immediately prior to the First Effective Time. For purposes of this Agreement, the term "Equity A ward Conversion Ratio" means 
$57.00 divided by the Parent Trading Price. 
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(b) Company RSU Awards. 

(i) Each restricted stock unit awarded in respect of shares of Company Common Stock granted under a Company Stock 
Plan 01' otherwise that is outstanding as of the First Effective Time (each, a "Company RS U A ward") shall, by virtue of the 
occurrence of the First Merger and without any action on the part of any holder of such Company RSU A ward, as of the First 
Effective Time, cease to represent a restricted stock unit denominated in shares of Company Common Stock and shall be 
converted into a restricted stock unit denominated in shares of Parent Common Stock (a "Parent Stock-Based RSU"). The 
number of shares of Par en! Common Stock subject to each such Parent Stock-Based RSU shall be equal to the product (rounded 
down to the nearest whole number) of (x) the number of shares of Company Common Stock subject to such Company RSU 
Award immediately prior to the First Effective Time and (y) the Equity Award Conversion Ratio. Except as specifically 
provided above or in Section 6.4(h), following the First Effective Time, each such Parent Stock-Based RSU shall continue to be 
governed by the same terms and conditions (including vesting terms) as were applicable to the applicable Company RSU Award 
immediately prior to the First Effective Time. 

(ii) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, if a Company RSU Award is subject to an agreement with 
an individual holder in effect as of the date hereofthat provides that such Company RSU Award shall be settled in connection 
with a change of control involving the Company (without the required occurrence of termination or any other event), such 
Company RSU Award shall be treated as set forth in Section 3.1 above. 

(c) Company PerfOlmance Share Awards. Each performance share award awarded in respect of shares of Company Common 
Stock granted under a Company Stock Plan that is outstanding as of the First Effective Time (each, a "Company Performance Share 
Award") shall, by virtue of the occurrence of the First Merger and without any action on the part of any holder of such Com pany 
Performance Share Award, as ofthe First Effective Time, cease to represent a performance share award denominated in shares of 
Company Common Stock and shall be converted into a performance share award denominated in shares of Parent Common Stock (a 
"Parent Performance Share A ward"). The number of shares of Parent Common Stock subject to each such Parent Performance Share 
Award shall be equal to the product (rounded down to the nearest whole number) of ex) the number of shares of Company Common 
Stock subject to such Company Performance Share A ward immediately prior to the First Effective Time, multiplied by (y) the Equity 
A ward Conversion Ratio. Except as specifically provided above or in Section 6.4(h), following the First Effective Time, each such 
·Parent Performance Share Award shall continue to be governed by the same terms and conditions as were applicable to the applicable 
Company Performance Share Award immediately prior to the First Effective Time, including the satisfaction of the performance 
criteria set forth in the Company Performance Share Award. 

(d) Any applicable Taxes required to be withheld with respect to payments in: respect of Company RSU Awards shall first be 
withheld f~om th~ Cash Consideration, ifany. Prior to the First Effective Time, the Company Board of Directors or the appropriate 
committee therc<?fshall adopt resolutions and shall take all such other actions as are necessary to effectuate the treatment ofthe 

. Conipany 'Options, CQmpany RSU Awards and Company Performance Share Awards (ccllectively, the "CompaIlY Stock Awards") as 
wntem~la'te~ by this Section 3.3. . 

{e) As soon as reasonably practicable following the date of this Agreement and in any event prior to the First Effective Time, the 
Company shall take all actions, including obtaining any necessary determinations and resolutions of the Company Board of Directors 
or a committee thereof and, if appropriate, amending the terms of the Company Employee Stock Purchase Plan (tbe "ESPP") that 
may be necessary or required under the ESPP and Law, to ensure that (A) except for the six-month offering 
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period under the ESPP that commenced on January I, 2017 (the "Final Offering"), no offering period shall be authorized or 
commenced on or after the date of this Agreement; (B) if, with respect to the Final Offering, the First Effective Time shall occur prior 
to June 30, 2017 (which is the Purchase Date, as defined in the ESPP), (i) each individual participating in the Final Offering shall 
receive notice of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement no later than ten (10) Business Days prior to the First Effective 
Time and shall have an opportunity to terminate his or her outstanding purchase rights under the ESP?, (ii) the Final Offering shall 
end immediately prior to the First Effective Time, and (iii) any remaining accumulated but unused payroll deductions shall be 
distributed to the relevant participants without interest as promptly as practicable following such termination; (C) each ESPP 
participant's accumulated contributions under the ESPP shall be used to purchase shares of Company Common Stock in accordance 
with the ESPP as of the end of the Final Offering (subject to the provisions of the ESPP regarding the maximum number and value of 
shares purchasable per participant); (D) the applicable purchase price for shares of Company Common Stock shall not be decreased 
below the levels set forth in the ESPP as of the date of this Agreement; (E) no individual shall be permitted to increase his or her rate 
of contribution under the ESPP following the date of this Agreement; and (F) the ESPP shall terminate in its entirety prior to the First 
Effective Time and no fUlther rights shall be granted or exercised under the ESPP thereafter, 

(f) If Parent so elects, Parent may, in its sole discretion, assume any or all of the Company Stock Plans; provided, however, that 
if Parent does not elect to assume such Company Stock Plans, the Company Options, Parent Stock-Based RSUs and Parent 
Performance Share Awards contemplated under Section 3,3 shall be granted under the stock plans of Parent. To the extent that Parent 
does not elect to assume one or more of the Company Stock Plans, in response to written notice from Parent delivered not less than 
ten (10) Business Days prior to the First Effective Time, at or prior to the First Effective Time, the Company, the Company Board of 
Directors and the compensation committee of the Company Board of Directors, as applicable, shall adopt any reso.lu,tions and take all 
steps necessary to (i) cause such Company Stock Plan(s) to terminate at or prior to the First Effective Time and (ii) ensure that from 
and after the First Effective Time none of Parent, Purchaser, the Company or any of their successors or Affiliates will be required to " 
deliver shares of Company Common Stock or other capital stock of the Company to any Person pursuant to or in settlement of awards, 
pursuant thereto. 

ARTICLE IV REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY 

'Except as disclosed'(i) in ~he publicly available Company SEC Documents filed with or furnished to the SEC (including the 
exhibits and schedules thereto or incorporated therein) since September 5, 2013 and prior to the date hereof (Wit:lOut giving effect to 
any .amendment thereof filed with or furnished to the SEC on or after the date of this Agreement and excluding any disclos,ures set· 
,forth iii .lnysuch Company SEC Document that is in any risk factor section, or in any other section to the extent they are forwltrd­
look;n'~ !>tatements or are similarly non-specific, predictive, cautionary or fonvard-Iooking hi nature), where,t1ereJevance of the 
,in~ol'mation to a particular representation or wan'anty i<; reasonably apparent on th,; face .of such disclosure or (ii) iil the disclosure 
schec.ule delivered by the Company to Parent immediately prior to the execution of this Agreemf:nt {the "Company Disclosure 
Schedule") (provided that disclosure in any section of such Company Disclosure Schedule shall apply only to t,he corresponding 
section of this Agreement except to the extent that it is reasonably apparent on the face of such disclosure that such disclosure applies 
to ao)ther representation or warranty), the Company represents and warrants to Parent and Purchaser as follows: 
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Section 4.1 Organization. 

(a) The Company is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of 
Delaware and has all requisite corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and assets and to carryon its 
business as presently conducted. Each of the (i) Company's Subsidiaries is a legal entity duly organized, validly existing and in good 
standing under the Laws of its respective jurisdiction of organization and has all requisite corporate or similar power and authority to 
own, lease and operate its properties and assets and to carry on its business as presently conducted and (ii) Company and its 
Subsidiaries is duly qualified to do business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the property owned, leased or 
operated by it or the nature of the business conducted by it makes such approvals or qualification necessary, except in the cases of 
each of clauses (i) and (ii) where the failure to be so organized or in existence or qualified or to have such power, authority or 
approvals or be in good standing, has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect. 

(b) The Company has made available to Parent prior to the date of this Agreement a true and complete copy of the Company's 
certificate of incorporation (the "Company Certificate") and bylaws (the "Company Bylaws", and together with the Company 
Certificate, the "Company Organizational Documents"), as amended through the date hereof. The Company Organizational 
Documents are in full force and effect and the Company is not in violation of their provisions. The Company has made available to 
Parent prior 'to .the date of this Agreement a true and complete copy of the certificate of incorporation, bylaws, limited partnership 
agreement, limited liability company agreement or comparable constituent or organizational documents (the "Organizational 
Documents") for each Subsidiary ofthe Company, in each case, as amended through the date hereof, and the Organizational 
Documents of the Subsidiaries of the Company are in full force and effect and no Subsidiary is in violation of its Organizational 
Documents. Section 4. Hb) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true and complete list of all Subsidiaries of the Company 
and any other joint ventures, partnerships or similar arrangements in which the Company or its Subsidiaries have a limited liability, 
partnership Qr other equity interest (or any other security or other right, agreement or commitment convertible or exercisable into, or 
exchangeable for, any such interest in any Person), the amount and percentage of any such interest held by the Company and such 
Subsidiary, in each case as of the date of this Agreement. Neither the Company nor any "significant subsidiary" ofthe Company 
within the meaning of Rule 1·02(w) of Regulation SoX under the Exchange Act has filed for bankruptcy or filed for reorganization 
under the, U.S. federal bankruptcy Laws or similar state or federal Law, or become subject to conservatorship or receivership, in each 
case, since December 31, 2013. 

Section ,9 p~~ital Stock., 

(a) The authorized capital stock ofthe Company cClllsists of 180,000,000 shart;S of Company Common Stock and 20,000,000 
shares of preferred srock, par value $0.01 per share ("Company PrefelTed Stock"). As QfJanuary 5, 2017,. (i) 40,499,3'W shares of 
Company Common Stcck.were issued and outstanding, (ii~'nQ shares cfCompany Common Stock were held in treasury, (iii) no , 
,shares of Company·Pr.eferred Stock were issued or outstancling, (iv) 2,810;035 shares of Company Common Stock were subject to 
orltstanding Company ,StQck.~wards, ofwhich amount (A) 726,587 sh~res of Company Common Stock wercsubject to outstanding 
Company RSU Awards,. (B) 2,006,176 shares of Company Common Stock were issuable upon the exercise of outstanding Company 
Options.·and (C) 77>,272 shares of Company Common Stock were subject to outstanding Company Performance Share Awards, 
assuming·targetperformance is attained, (v) 3,968,969 sh&res of Company Common Stock remained available for future grants of 
Company Stock Awards, (vi) 394,220 shares of Company Common Stock are reserved for issuance in respect ofthe ESPP, and 
(vii) no other shares of capital stock or other voting securities of the Company were issued, reserved for issuance or outstanding. All 
mltstanding shares of Company Common Stock are, and shares of Company Common Stock reserved for issuance with respect to 
Company Stock Awards, when issued in accordance with the respective terms thereof, will be, duly authoriz~; valid!) issued, fully 
paid amI aonassessable and free of preemptive rights. 
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(b) Except (x) as set forth in this Section 4.2(b) or in Section 4.2(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule and (y) with respect to 
any of the following that are issued, granted, transferred, exchanged, sold, registered for sale, extended, entered into, redeemed or 
otherwise acquired or arising after the date of this Agreement as expressly permitted under Section 6.1 (b)(xiii), there are no 
outstanding subscriptions, options, warrants, calls, convertible securities, exchangeable securities, preemptive rights, stock 
appreciation rights, redemption rights, repurchase rights, or other similar rights, agreements or commitments to which the Company is 
a party (i) obligating the Company to (A) issue, transfer, exchange, sell or register for sale any shares of capital stock or other equity 
interests of the Company or securities convertible into or exchangeable for such shares or equity interests, (B) grant, extend or enter 
into any such subscription, option, warrant, call, convertible securities or other similar right, agreement or arrangement, in each case, 
with respect to equity interests of the Company, (C) redeem or otherwise acquire any such shares of capital stock or other equity 
interests, (D) provide a material amount of funds to, or make any material investment (in the form of a Joan, capital contribution or 
otherwise) in, any Subsidiary (other than a wholly owned Subsidiary ofthe Company), except as set forth in the Organizational 
Documents ofthe Subsidiaries of the Company, or (E) make any payment to any Person the value of which is derived from or 
calculated based on the value of Company Common Stock or Company Preferred Stock (other than in connection with Company 
Benefit Plans and other employee or contractor compensation arrangements) or (ii) granting any preemptive or antidilutive or similar 
rights with respect to any security issued by the Company. 

(c) Except (x) as set forth in this Section 4.2(c) or in Section 4.2(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule and (y) with respect to 
any ofthe following that are issued, granted, transferred, exchanged, sold, registered for sale, extended, entered into, redeemed or 
otherwise acquired or arising after the date of this Agreement as expressly permitted under Section 6.l(b)(xiii), there are no 
outst~nding subscriptions, options, warrants, calls, convertible securities, exchangeable securities, preemptive rights, stock 
appreciation rights, redemption rights, repurchase rights, or other similar rights, agreements or commitments to which any of the 
Company's Subsidiaries is a party (i) obligating such Subsidiary to (A) issue, transfer, exchange, sell cr register for sale any shares of 
capital stock or other equitY interests of such Subsidiary of the Company or securities convertible into or exchangeable for such 
shares or equity interests, (B) grant, extend or enter into any such SUbscription, option, warrant, call, convertible securities or other 
similar right, agreement or arrangement, in each case with respect to equity interests of such Subsidiary, (C) redeem or otherwise. 
acquire l!I1Y such .,hares of capital stock or other equity interests, ~xcept as set forth in the Organizational Documents of the 
Subsidiaries ofthe Company, (D) provide a material amount of funds to, or make any material investment (in the form of a.loan, 
capital contribution or otherwise) in, any Subsidiary (other than a wholly owned Subsidiary thereof), except as set forth in the 
Organizational Documents of the Subsidiaries of the. Company, or (E) make any payment to any Person the value of which is derived 
from or calculated based on the value of Company Common Stock or Company Preferred Stock (other than in conne,.tiGn with 
Company Benefit Plans and other employee or contractor compensation arrangements) or (ii) granting any preemptive cr antidilutiv'.l 
or ~im.ilar rights wit.~ re,~pect -to any security issued by the Subsidiaries of the Company ,exc~pt as set forth in the l)rgani".ational 
Do.cuments ofthe Silbsidiarie,; of the Company. . 

· . . (d) The Company doesnot have outstanding any bonds, debentures,110tes' or other indebtedness, the holders of whicl: ha're the 
right to vo:e (0f \vhi.:h are convertib~e or exchangeable into or exercisable for securitIes having the right to vote) with the. , 
sti)(;kholders of the Comp~ny on any matter. There are no voting trusts or other agreements or understandings to whjeh the Corr,pany 

: .is a party with res!,ect to the voting or registration of the capitid stock or oth~r equity interest ofth,.:! Company. Since January 5, 2017 . 
· throllgh the date hereof, the Company has not issued or repurchased any shares of its capital stock (other than in connection with the 
· exercise, settlement or vesting of Company Stock A wards in accordance with their respective terms). . .. " 

58 



H. 

(e) With respect to each Subsidiary ofthe Company, such Subsidiary (i) does not have outstanding any bonds, debentures, notes 
or other indebtedness, the holders of which have the right to vote (or which are convertible or exchangeable into or exercisable for 
securities having the right to vote) with the stockholders of such Subsidiary on any matter, and (ii) there are no voting trusts or other 
agreements or understandings to which such Subsidiary is a party with respect to the voting or registration of the capital stock or other 
equity interest of such Subsidiary. 

(f) All of the outstanding shares of capital stock or other equity interests of each Subsidiary ofthe Company that is required to 
be set forth on Section 4.l(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule and that are owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company or a 
Subsidiary of the Company, are owned free and clear of any Liens other than Permitted Liens and all of such shares of capital stock 
or other equity interests are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and free of preemptive rights. No Subsidiary 
of the Com pany owns any shares of capital stock of the Company. 

(g) No dividends or similar distributions which have accrued or been declared but are unpaid on the Company Common Stock, 
Company Stock Awards, shares of capital stock or other equity interests ofthe Company and the Company is not subject to any 
obligation (contingent or otherwise) to pay any dividend or otherwise to make any distribution or payment to any current or former 
holder of any of the Company Common Stock, Company Stock A wards, shares of capital stock or other equity interests, as 
applicable. 

(h) Section 4.2(h) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true and complete list of the number of Company Stock 
A wards outstanding, including in each case the name of the holder thereof, the number of shares of Company Common Stock 
underlying each security, the date of grant, term, vesting schedule, the plan under which the Company Stock A ward was granted, the 
weighted average exercise price with respect to the Company Options and whether such Company Stock A ward b intended to qualifY 
as an "incentive stock option" as defined in Section 422 of the Code, in each case, as of the date of this Agreement. 

Section 4.3 ,Corporate Authority Relative to this Agreement: No Violation . 

. (a) The Company has the requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to consummate the 
Transactions, inclpding the Offer and the Mergers. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the Company and 
the consummation of the Transactions, including the Offer and the Mergers, have been duly and validly authorized by the Company 

. Board of Directors and, other than as set forth in Section 4.3(d), no other corporate proceedings on the part of the Company or vote of 
thl? Company's stockholders are necessary to authorize the consumn;lationofthe Transactions. The Company Board of Directors has .. 
,unani,mollsl,y (iJ determiJ),ed th,at the: terms of the Transactions, including the Offer and the Mergers, are fair to, and in the best, 
interests of" the Coinplllly. aqd its. stockholders, (ii) determined that it is, in the ,best int~rest o(the Company and its stockholders to 
enter into, and declared advisable, this Agreement, (iii) appmved the execution and delivery by the Company of this Agreement 
(including the agreement of merger, as such term is used in Section 251 ofthe DGCL), the performance by the Company of its. 
cbvenantsfand agreements cbntaint!d herein and the consummation ofthe Transactions, including the Offer and the Mergers, upon the 
terms and subject to the'conditions contained herein and (iv) resolved to, unless a Company Adverse Recommendation Change is 
made, recommend thilt tie holders of ~hares of Company Common Stock accepnhe Offer and tender their shares of Company, . 
Common Stock to·Purchaser pursuant tc the Offer. 

(b) The ~ffirrilaiive vot~ ~f the holders of a majority of the issued and outstanding sh~res of Company Common Stock is the 
only vote of the holders of any class or series of Company capital stock that, absent Section 251 (h) of the DGCL, would have been 
necessary under the DOCL and the Company Certificate and Company Bylaws to adopt, approve or authorize this Agreement and to ; 
consummate the First Merger. 
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(c) This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by the Company and, assuming this Agreement constitutes 
the legal, valid and binding agreement of Parent, Purchaser and Merger Sub 2, this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding 
agreement of the Company and is enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, except as such enforcement may be 
subject to applicable bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium or other similar Laws affecting creditor's rights generally 
and the availability of equitable relief (the "Enforceability Exceptions"). 

(d) Other than in connection with or in compliance with (i) the filing of the Certificates of Merger with the Delaware Secretary, 
(ii) the filing of the Offer Documents, the Schedule 14D-9 and the Registration Statement (including the Offer Prospectus), with the 
SEC and any amendments or supplements thereto and declaration of effectiveness of the Registration Statement, (iii) the Exchange 
Act, (iv) the Securities Act, (v) applicable state securities, takeover and "blue sky" laws, (vi) the rules and regulations of Nasdaq, 
(vii) the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder 
(the "HSR Act"), (viii) the approvals set forth in Section 4.3(d) of the Company Disclosure Schedule (clauses (i) through 
(viii) collectively, the "Company Approvals"), and (ix) such other authorizations, consents, Orders, licenses, permits, approvals, 
registrations, declarations and notice filings, the failure of which to be obtained would not reasonably be expected to have a Company 
Material Adverse Effect or prevent or materially impede, interfere with, hinder or delay the consummation of any ofthe Transactions, 
no authorization, consent, Order, license, permit or approval of, or registration, declaration, 110tice or filing with, any Governmental 
Entity is necessary for the consummation by the Company of the Transactions, including the Mergers. 

(e) The execution and delivery by the Company ofthis Agreement does not, and (assuming the Company Approvals are 
obtained) the consummation ofthe Transactions and compliance with the provisions hereof will not (i) result in any.materialloss, 
suspension, limitat.ion or impairment of any right of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge ofthe Com pany, any 
ofthe Facility Entities to own or use any assets required for the conduct of their business or result in any material violation of, or 
material default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) under, or give rise to a right oftelmination, cancellation, first offer, 
first refusal, modification or acceleration of any obligation or to the loss of a benefit under any material loan or guarantee of 
indebtedness or material credit agreement, note, bond, mortgage, indenture, lease, agreement, Contract, instrument, permit, 
concession, franchise, right or license binding upon the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge of the Company, any 
of the Facility Entities or by which or to which any of their respective properties, rights or assets ofthe Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge of the Company, any of the Facility Entities are bound or subject, or result in the creation of any 
liens. claims, mortgages, encumbrances, pledges, security interests, equities or charges of any kind (each, a "Lien") other than 
Permitted Liens, in each case, upon the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge of the Company, any of the Facility 
Entities or any of the material properties or assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge of the Company, 
any oftbe Facility Entities, (ii) conflict with or result in any violation of any provision of the Company Organizational Documents 01' 

the Organizational Documents of the Company's Subsidiaries, or, to the knowledge of the Company, any of the Organizational 
!Documents of the Facility Entities or (iii) materially conflict with or materially violate any applicable Laws to which the Company, 

, any of its Subsidiaries or, to th~ knowledge ofthe Company, any ofthe Facility E,:ntiti~s, or any of their properties or assets, is 
subJect. 

(f) The Company has not opted out of Section 251(h) of the DGCL in the Company Certificate. 
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Section 4.4 Reports and Financial Statements. 

(a) The Company has timely filed or furnished all forms, documents, certifications, statements and reports required to be filed or 
furnished by it with the SEC since December 31,2013 (all such documents and reports filed or furnished by the Company, including 
all exhibits, supplements or schedules thereto, the "Company SEC Documents"). As of their respective dates or, if amended, as of the 
date of the last such amendment (and, in the case of registration statements and proxy statements, on the dates of effectiveness and the 
dates of the relevant meetings, respectively), (i) the Company SEC Documents complied in all material respects with the 
requirements of the Securities Act, the Exchange Act and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the "Sarbanes-Oxley Act"), as the case 
may be, and the applicable rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and (ii) none ofthe Company SEC Documents contained 
any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the 
statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. Since December 31, 20 J 3, no executive 
officer ofthe Company has failed in any respect to make the certifications required of him or her under Section 302 or 906 ofthe 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act. As of the date of this Agreement, there are no outstanding or unresolved comments in any comment letters of 
the staff of the SEC received by the Company relating to the Company SEC Documents. No Subsidiary ofthe Company nor, to the 
knowledge ofthe Company, any of the Facility Entities, is subject to the periodic reporting requirements of the Exchange Act or is 
subject to the periodic reporting requirements of any foreign Governmental Entity that perfomls a similar function to that ofthe SEC 
or any applicable foreign securities Law of any exchange or quotation service. 

(b) (i) Each of the consolidated balance sheets included in or incorporated by reference into the Company SEC Documents 
(including the related notes and schedules) presents fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position ofthe Company 
and its consolidated Subsidiaries and Facility Entities as of its date and (ii) each ofthe Company's consolidated statements of 
operations and comprehensive loss, changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows included in or incorporated by reference into the 
Company SEC Documents (including any related notes and schedules) (such changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows, together 
with the consolidated balance sheets referred to in clause (i) (and the related notes and schedules), the "Company Financial 
Statements") presents fairly, in all material respects, the results of operations and cash flows, as the case may be, ofthe Company and 
its consolidated Subsidiaries and Facility Entities for the periods set forth therein (subject, in the case of unaudited statements, to 
normal year-end audit adjustments and the absence of notes), (iii) the Company Financial Statements (A) have been prepared from, 
and are in accordance with, the books and records of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries and Facility Entities and (8) are 
in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (HGAAP"}(except,. in the case ofthe unaudited statements, subject 
to normal year-end audit adjustments and the absence of notes) applied on a consistent basis during the periods involved (except as 
may; be indicated therein or in the notes thereto), and (iv) the Company Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with 
and comply in all material respects with the applicable accounting requirements .and, with the rules and regulations of the SEC, the 
Exchange Act and the Securities Act. As of the date hereof, PrkewaterhouseCoopers LLP has not resigned (or infonned the 
Company that it intends to re~ign} Or been dismissed. as independent public accountants of the Company. 

(e) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to, nor does it have any Contractual commitment to become a 
party to, any material "off-balance sheet arrangements" (as defined in Item 303(a) of Regulation S-K of the SEC). 

(d) Since December 31,2013, (i) none of the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company nor, to the knowledge of the 
CompaiJy, any Representative of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, has received any written complaint, allegation or 
claim regarding the accounting, internal 
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accounting controls or auditing practices, procedures, methodologies or methods of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company 
or any compl'!.int, allegation or claim, whether written or to a compliance hotline or similar reporting method, from employees of the 
Company or any Subsidiary of the Company regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters with respect to ,the Company or 
any Subsidiary of the Company, and (ii) no attorney representing the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, whether or not 
employed by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, has reported evidence ofa violation of securities Laws or breach of 
fiduciary duty by the Company, any Subsidiary ofthe Company or any of their respective Representatives to the Co~pany Board of 
Directors or any committee thereof, or to the General Counselor Chief Executive Officer of the Company .. 

Section 45 Internal Controls and Procedures. The Company has established and maintains disclosure controls and·procedures and 
internal control over financial reporting (as such terms are defined in paragraphs (e) and (f), respectively, of Rule 13a-15 under the 
Exchange Act) sufficient to comply in all material respects with all legal and accounting requirements applicable to the Company and 
each of its Subsidiaries and as otherwise required by Rule l3a-15 or 15d-5 under the Exchange Act. The Company's disclosure 
controls and procedures are reasonably designed to ensure that all material information required to be disclosed by the Company in 
the reports that it files or furnishes under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods 
specified in the rules and forms of the SEC, and that all such information is accumulated and communicated to the Company's 
management as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure and to make the certifications required pursuant to 
Seclions 302 and 906 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The Company, each Subsidiary of the Company and each'oftheir officers and 
directors in their respective capacities as such are in material compliance with, and, since December 31. 2013. have materially 
complied with the applicable provisions ofSarbanes-Oxley Act and the Exchange Act Based on its most recent evaluation of. internal 
controls over financial reporting prior to the date hereof, management of the Company has disclosed to the Company's auditors and 
the audit c.')mmittee ofthe Company Board of Directors (i) any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or 
operation of internal controls over financial reporting that are reasonably likely to adversely affect in any material respect the 
Company's ability to report financial information and (ii) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other 
employees who have a significant role in the Company's internal control over financial reporting, and each such deficiency, weakness 
and fraud ';;0 aisclosed to auditors, if any, has been disclosed to Parent prior to the date hereof. 

Section 4.6 No Undisclosed Lia.bilities. There are no Liabilities of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge of 
the Company, any of the Facility Entities of any nature whatsoever (whether accrued, ab~olute, detelmined, contingent or otherwise 
and whether due or to become due), except for (a) Liabilities that are reflected or n;served against on the c:onsolid<lted balance sheet· 
.of the Com)any and its Subsidiarie5 lncluded in its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the nine-monti' period ended September 30, 
2016 (indding aay notes the;-eto), (b) Liabilities expressly contemplated by fuis AgreemeJ!t or otherwise required to be incurred in I 

connC(-<;io.l with this Agreement (,1' th~ Transaction:" (c) Liabilities incUlred in the ordinary COllne ofbusiness since September 30, 
'2016 and (:.I) Liatililj,~s that ;u.v,~ not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Mllte:'ial Advers~Effect ' . 

Section 4.7 !'.:.Q'T'Iili!!nre with Law; Permits. 

, . 

" , 

(a) The CCUlpany, its SubsidiarieS, and, to the knOwledge of the Company, the Facility Entities a.e, and since December ~l. 
2013 have been, in wmpllanci:) with all !).pplicable federal, state, local and foreign laws, statutes, ordinances, COdes, rules, regulatiou's, d 

judgments, Orders, ccmmOll laws or agency requirements of Governmental Entities including Company Regulatory Agencies 
(collectiveiy, "Laws" and each, a "Law"), and all such Laws by which their properties or assets are bound, except whel'e such non- , 
compliance would not reasonably be expected ;0 have a Company Material Adverse ; 
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Effect. Since December 31, 2013, none of the Company, its Subsidiaries, or, to the knowledge of the Company, any of the Facility 
Entities has received any written notice or, to the knowledge of the Company, other communication from any Governmental Entity, 
including, without limitation, any Company Regulatory Agency, regarding any actual or possible failure to comply with any 
applicable Law in any material respect. 

(b) The Company, its Subsidiaries, and, to the knowledge of the Company, the Facility Entities (A) hold, and have at all times 
since December 31, 2013 held, all franchises, grants, authorizations, licenses, permits, consents, certificates, approvals, exemptions, 
clearances, permissions, qualifications and registrations and Orders of all applicable Governmental Entities, including Company 
Regulatory Agencies, necessary for the lawful operation of the businesses of the Company, its Subsidiaries, and the Facility Entities, 
respectively, including the ownership, operation and leasing of their respective properties and assets (the "Company Permits"), and 
(B) have filed all tariffs, reports, notices and other documents with all applicable Governmental Entities, including Company 
Regulatory Agencies, and have paid all fees and assessments due and payable, in each case in connection with such Company 
Permits, except, in the case of each of clause (A) and (B), as would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse 
Effect. Except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, (i) all Company Permits are valid 
and in full force and effect, and are not subject to any administrative or judicial proceeding that would reasonably be expected to 
result in any modification, temlination or revocation thereof and, to the knowledge of the Company, no suspension or cancellation of 
any such-Company Permit is threatened by a Governmental Entity in writing and (ii) the COJ)lpany, each of its Subsidiaries, and, to 
the knowledge of the Company, each of the Facility Entities is, ana has at all times since December 31,2013 been, in compliance 
with the terms, conditions and requ.irements of all Company Permits. 

(c) None of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries, or, to the knowledge of the Company, the Facility Entities, nor any 
Representative acting on behalf of the Company, its Subsidiaries, or, to. the knowledge of the Company, the Facility Entities, has 
materially violated ·or is in material violation of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, or any other Law relating to 
bribery, corruption or similar activities, nor has any such Person (i) used any funds of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries, or, to the 
knowledge of the Company, the Facility Entities for unlawful contributions, unlawful gifts, unlawful entertainment or other unlawful 
expenses relating to political activity; (ii) made any unlawful payment to foreign or domestic governmental officials or employees or 
to foreign or domestic political parties or campaigns from funds ofthe Company, any of its Subsidiaries, or, to the kl)owledge of the 
Company, the Facility Entities; (iii) established or maintained any unlawful fund of monies or other assets of the Company, any of its 
-Subsidiaries. 01'; to the -knowledge of the Company, the Facility Entities; (iv) made any fraudulent entry on the books or records of the 
Company, any ofits Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge of the Company, the Facility Entities; (v) made any unlawful bribe, unlawful 
rebate, llnlawful. payoff, unlawfuLintluence paymen.t, unlawful kickback or other unlawful payment to any,Person, private or public, 

I regardlessrofform,.whether in money, property or services, to obtain favorablt; treatment in securing business to obtain special 
__ -'x:oncessions-[orthe Company, any of its Subsidiaries, or, to the knowledge. of the Company,the Facility Entities; or (vi) engaged in 

. any transaction or dealing in property or interests in property of,received from or made any contribution of funds, goods or services 
to or for the benefit of, provided any payments or :naterial aS5istan(;<;1 to, or otherwise engaged in or facilitated any transactions with a 
Prohibited Person. 

Sectioh 4.,8 Celtain Regulatory Matters. 

(a) The operations, products, and services ofthe Company, its Subsidiaries, and, to the knowledge of the Company, the Facility 
Entities, are and smce December 31, 2013 have been (except with respect to (i) the Federal Health Care Program Anti-Kickbaqk 
Statute, 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(b); 
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(ii) the Federal False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729-3733, and (iii) state anti-kickback, fee-splitting, self-referral and corporate 
practice of medicine Laws, each of which the Company, its Subsidiaries, and, to the knowledge of the Company, the Facility Entities 
are and since December 31, 20 I I have been), in material compliance with all applicable health care Laws, including the following 
federal and state Laws and all applicable regulations promulgated thereunder, relating to the regulation, provision or administration 
of, or payment for, health care benefits, health care insurance coverage and health care products or services: (i) Title XVIII of the 
Social Security Act, 42 U.S.c. §§ 1395-1395hhh (the Medicare statute), including specifically, the Federal Ethics in Patient Referrals 
Act, 42 U.S.c. § 1395nn; (ii) Title XIX ofthe Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1396- I 396v (the Medicaid statute) and state 
Medicaid Laws; (iii) TRICARE, IOU .S.C. § 1071 et seq.; (iv) the Federal Health Care Program Anti-Kickback Statute, 42 U.S.C. § 
1320a-7b(b); (v) the Federal False Claims Act, 31 U.S.c. §§ 3729-3733; (vi) the Federal Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act, 31 
U.S.C. §§ 3801-3812; (vii) the Federal Civil Monetary Penalties Law, 42 U.S.c. §§ 1320a-7a and 1320a-7b; (viii) state anti-kickback, 
fee-splitting, self-referral and corporate practice of medicine Laws; (ix) workers' compensation Laws; and (x) licensure, permit or 
authorization Laws relating to the regulation, provision, or administration Qf, or payment for, health care products or services 
(collectively "Health Care Laws"). Since December 31, 20 13 (except with respect to (i) the Federal Health Care Pro$ram Anti­
Kickback Statute, 42 U.S.c. § 1320a-7b(b); (ii) the Federal False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729-3733, and (iii) state anti-kickback, 
fee-splitting, self-referral and corporate practice of medicine Laws, each of which shall be since December 31, 2011), no notice has 
been received by the Company, any of its Subsidiaries, or, to the knowledge ofthe Company, any of the Facility Entities, and no 
Actions are pending against the Company, any of its Subsidiaries, or, to the knowledge ofthe Company, any ofthe Facility Entities, 
alleging any material breach or violation of, non-compliance with or default under any such Health Care Laws, other than any 
Actions filed under seal of which the Company has no knowledge. 

(b) Except as set forth 00 Section 4.8 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, to the knowledge ofthe Company, no Person has 
filed or has made a non-frivolous threat to file, in the last six (6) years, a claim against the Company, any of its Subsidiaries, or any of 
the Facility Entities an Action under any federal or state whistleblower statute, including under the Federal False Claims Act, 31 
U.S.c. §§ 3729-3733. 

(c) The Company and its Subsidiaries have provided Purchaser a copy of their current compliance program materials. Since 
December 31, 2013, none of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries, or, to the knowledge of the Company, any of the Facility Entities 
have received any overpayments from, or owe any outstanding refunds to, any Governmental Entity, or agent thereof, or private third·· 
party payer that have not been returned in full to such Governmental Entity, agent thereof, or private third-party payer, respectively, 
other than overpayments and refunds that occur in the ordinary course of business and that are not in excess of $10,000,000 in the 
aggregate. Except as set'forth on Section 4.8 of the Company Disclosure,Schedule, since December 31,2013, the Company, its 
Subsidiaries, and, to the knowledge of the Company, the Facility Entities have not been audited, surveyed or otherwise examined in 
connection w.ith a contract with any Governmental Program or any third party-payer program, other than audits, surveys or reviews 

. that occur in the ordinal), course of business and where the aggregate amounf for which the Company, its Subsidiaries and the Facility 
Entities, in the aggregate, reasonably expect to be liable is, not ill; excess of $5,000,000. ,None of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries, 
or, to the knowledge of the Company, any ofthe Facility Entities have any outstanding health care reimbursement audits related to 
services provided by the Company, any of its Subsidiaries, or the Facility Entities and conducted by any Governmental Entity, agent 
thereof, or other third-party payers where the aggregate amount for which the Company, its Subsidiaries and the Facility Entities, in 
th~ aggregate, reasonably expect to be liable is in excess ~f$5,000,000. 
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(d) None of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries, or, to the knowledge of the Company, any of the Facility Entities (i) is a party 
to an Order, individual integrity agreement, or corporate integrity agreement with any Governmental Entity, including the Office of 
Inspector General of the United States Department of Health and Human Services, concerning compliance with Health Care Laws, 
(ii) has any reporting obligations pursuant to a settlement agreement entered into with any Governmental Entity related to Health 
Care Laws, or (iii) is responding or, since December 31, 20 I 3 has responded to, any search warrant, subpoena, criminal or civil 
investigative demand by or from any Governmental Entity relating to Health Care Laws. 

(e) The Company, each ofits Subsidiaries, and, to the knowledge of the Company, each of the Facility Entities requires that 
each health care professional providing services on behalf of the Company, its Subsidiaries, or any of the Facility Entities, as 
applicable, be duly licensed (i) under the applicable Laws of each state or other jurisdiction in which such health care professional 
practices and (ii) under the applicable Laws of each state or territory to the residents of which the health care professional provides 
services that require licensure in such state or territory. No health care professional employed by the Company, any of its 
Subsidiaries, or any of the Facility Entities is, to the knowledge of the Company, under investigation by, or is not in good standing 
with, any Governmental Entity, including a medical board. 

(f) None ofthe Company, any of its Subsidiaries, or, to the knowledge ofthe Company, any ofthe Facility Entities, nor any of 
their Representatives acting on their behalf, respectively, has, since December 31, 2013, made an untrue statement of material fact or 
a fraudulent statement to any Governmental Entity, or failed to disclose a material fact required to be disclosed to any Governmental 
Entity. 

(g) Neither the Company, its Subsidiaries, or, to the knowledge of the Company, any of the Facility Entities, nor any oftheh' 
Representatives authorized to act on their behalf, respectively, including employees or contractors: (i) has been convicted of, formally 
charged with, or, to the knowledge of the Company, investigated for any crime or violation or engaged in any conduct for which such 
Person would reasonably be expected to be excluded, suspended, or debarred from participating, or would be otherwise ineligible to 
participate, in any Governmental Programs; (ii) to the knowledge ofthe Company, has engaged ill any conduct that would reasonably 
be expected to subject such Person or entity to a civil monetary penalty or criminal penalty under Sections 1128A or 1128B of the 
Social Security Act or any similar Law; (iii) has been convicted of or formally charged with, or to the knowledge of the Company, 
has been investigated for, any violation of Laws related to fraud, theft, embezzlement, breach of fiduciary responsibility, financial 
misconduct, or obstruction of an investigation; or (iv) is excluded, suspended, or debarred from participation, or is otherwise 
ineligible to participate, in any Governmental Programs. The Company verifies on an ongoing, monthly basis that its and its 
Subsidiaries' employees and contractors are not excluded, suspended or debarred from participation, or otherwise ineligible to 
paqicip:lte in, in any Governmental p,rograms. 

(h) Since Decerhber 31,2013, all reports, applications, documents, claims, permits and notices required to be filed, maintained 
or furnished to any Governmental Entity pursuant to any Healthcare Laws by the Company, its Subsidiaries, and, to the knowledge of 
the Company, the Facility Entities have been so filed, maintained Of furnished; except where failure to file, maintain or furnish such 
reports, applications, documents, claims, permits or notices would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Mat(;rial Adverse 
Effect. All such reports, applications, documents, claim5, permits and notices were complete and accurate in all material respects on 
the date filed (or were corrected in or supplemented by a subsequent filing filed prior to the date hereof). 
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Section 4.9 Environmental Laws and Regulations. Each ofthe Company and its Subsidiaries, and, to the knowledge of the 
Company, each of the Facility Entities is, and for the past five years, has been in compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws, 
which compliance includes timely applying for, obtaining, maintaining and complying with all Company Permits required under 
Environmental Laws for the operation oftheir respective businesses, except, in each case, as would not reasonably be expected to 
have a Company Material Adverse Effect. There is no Order or Action relating to or arising from any actual or alleged 
noncompliance with, or liability under, Environmental Laws (including, without limitation, relating to or arising from the Release or 
threatened Release of, or exposure of any Person to, any Hazardous Materials) that is pending against the Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge ofthe Company, any of the Facility Entities or, to the knowledge ofthe Company, threatened 
against the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any of the Facility Entities that would be material to the Company. Neither the 
Company nor its Subsidiaries, nor, to the knowledge of the Company, the Facility Entities has caused or arranged for the Release, 
disposal, transportation or treatment of any Hazardous Materials, and to the knowledge of the Company, there has been no Release of 
any Hazardous Materials, in either case, such that the Company or its Subsidiaries or the Facility Entities would reasonably be 
expected to incur material liability. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries, nor, to the knowledge of the Company, any 
Facility Entity, has received any written notice of, or entered into, any Order involving uncompleted, outstanding or unresolved 
material liabilities or material corrective or remedial obligations relating to or arising under Environmental Laws (including, without 
limitation, relating to or arising from the Release or threatened Release of, or exposure of any Person to, any Hazardous Materials). 
The Company has made available to Parent copies of all material environmental assessments, reports, audits and other material 
documents in its possession or under its control that relate to Company's or any Subsidiaries' compliance with Environmental Laws 
or the environmental condition of any real property that Company or the Subsidiaries currently or formerly have owned, operated, or 
leased. 

Section 4.10 Employee Benefit Plans. 

(a) Section 4.1 O(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a correct and complete list of each material Company Benefit 
Plan. With r~spect to each material Company Benefit Plan, to the extent applicable, correct and complete copies ofthe following have 
been delivered or made available to Parent by the Company: (i) the Company Benefit Plan document (including all current 
amendments and attachment" thereto); (ii) written summaries ofthe material terms of such Company Benefit Plan ifit is not in 
writing; (iii) all related trust documents; (iv) the most recent annual report (Form 5500) filed with the Internal Revenue Service (the 
"IRS"); (v) the most recent determination, opinion or advisory letter from the IRS; (vi) the most recent summary plan description and 
any summary of material modifications thereto; (vii) all material filings and communications received from or sent to any 
Governmental Entity since December 31, 2013; and (viii) the most recent actuarial valua:tion, if applicable. 

(b) 'Except as has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, (i) each Company 
Benefit Plan has been established, operated an.1i administered in all respects in accordance with its terms and the requirements of all 
applicable Laws, including ERISA and the Code, and (ii) all contributions required to be made to any Company Benefit Plan by 
applicable Law or by any plan document or other contractual undertaking, and allpremimns due or payable with respect to insurance 
policies funding such Company Benefit Plan, if any, have been timely made or paid. in full or, to the extent not required to be made or " 
paid on or before the 3ate hereof, have beer; fully reflected on the books and records (lithe Company and/or its Subsidiaries in 
accordance with GAAP. 

(c) Section 4.1 O(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule identifies each Company Benefit Plan that is intended to be qualified 
under Section 401(a) of the Code (each, a "Qualified Plan"). The IRS has issued a favorable dettrmination, opinion or advisory letter 
with respect to each Qualified Plan and its 

27 

66 



-_ ... ----------

related trust, and such letter has not been revoked (nor, to the knowledge of the Company and its Subsidiaries, has revocation been 
threatened), and there are no existing circumstances and no events have occurred that would reasonably be expected to adversely 
affect the qualified status of any Qualified Plan or the related trust or materially increase the costs relating thereto. No trust funding 
any Company Benefit Plan is intended to meet the requirements of Section 501 (c)(9) of the Code. 

(d) None of the Company, its Subsidiaries, any of the Facility Entities (to the knowledge of the Company), nor any of their 
respective ERISA Affiliates has in the last six (6) years maintained, established, contributed to or been obligated to contribute to any 
plan that is (i) a "multiemployer plan" within the meaning of Section 400 l(a)(3) of ERISA or a plan that has two (2) or more 
contributing sponsors at least two (2) of whom are not under common control, within the meaning of Section 4063 of ERISA or 
(ii) subject to Title IV or Section 302 of ERISA or Section 412, 430 or 4971 of the Code. No Company Benefit Plan is or has been a 
"multiple employer welfare arrangement" (as defined in Section 3(40) of ERISA). 

(e) There are no pending or, to the knowledge ofthe Company and its Subsidiaries, threatened material claims (other than 
claims for benefits in the ordinary course), lawsuits or arbitrations which have been asserted or instituted with respect to the Company 
Benefit Plans (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any claims, lawsuits or arbitrations relating to any fiduciaries thereof with 
respect to their duties to the Company Benefit Plans or the assets of any of the trusts under any of the Company Benefit Plans). 
Except as would not reasonably be expected to result in material liability to the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any of the 
Facility Entities, 0) none of the Company, any ofits Subsidiaries, any of the Facility Entities (to the knowledge of the Company) or 
any of their ERI SA Affiliates has incurred (either directly or indirectly, including as a result of any indemnification obligation) any 
Liability under or pursuant to Title I of ERISA or the penalty, excise Tax or joint and several Liability provisions of the Code relating 
to employee benefit plans, and (ii) no event, transaction or condition has occurred or exists that could be expected to result in any 
such Liability to the Company, any of its Subsidiaries, any ofthe Facility Entities (to the knowledge of the Company), any of their 
ERISA Affiliates or, after the First Effective Time, Parent or any ofits Affiliates. 

(f) None of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge of the Company, the Facility Entities, sponsors or has any 
obligation with respect to any employee benefit plan that provides for any post-employment or post-retirement medical or death 
benefits (whether or not insured) with respect to former or current directors or employees, or their respective beneficiaries or 
dependents, beyond their retirement or other separation from service (including any obligation with respect to any such employee 
benefit plan that the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any of the Facility Entities may have sponsored prior to the date hereof), 
except as required by Section. 4980B ofthe Code or comparable U.S; state Laws. 

I . 

(g) Except as set forth on Section 4.IO(g) of the Company'Disclosure Schedule, the consummation of the Transactions will not, 
either alone 01' in combination with another event, (i) entitle any current or fomer employee, director, consultant or officer of the 
Compe.ny. any of its Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge·ofthe Company, the Facility Entities to severance pay, (ii) accelerate the time 
of payment or vesting, or increase the amount of compensation due to any such employeCi director, consultant or officer, (iii) trigger 
any 'fulldingobligation under any Company BenefIt Plan or impose any restrictions or limitations on the Company's rights to amend., 
merge, terminate, or receive a Teversion of material assets from .any Company Benefit Plan; or (iv) result in any payment (whether in 

. cash o'r property of,the vesting of property) to any "disqualified individual" (as such term is "defined in Treasury Regulations 
Section 1.2800-1) that would, individually or in combination with any other such pay.ment, constitute an "excess parachute 
payment" (as defined in Section 280G(b)(I) of the Code). No Company Benefit Plan or other contract, l!-greement, plan or 
arrangement provides for the gross-up or reimbursement of Taxes under Section 4999 of the Code, Section 409A(a)(I)(B) of the 

. Code, or otherwise. . 
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Section 4.11 Absence of Certain Changes or Events. 

(a) Other than in connection with the negotiation and execution of this Agreement, since December 31, 2015 through the date of 
this Agreement, (x) the businesses of the Company, its Subsidiaries and, to the knowledge of the Company, the Facility Entities have 
been conducted in all material respects in the ordinary course of business and (y) none of the Company, any Subsidiary of the 
Company or, to the knowledge of the Company, any Facility Entity has undertaken any action that if taken after the date of this 
Agreement would require Parent's consent or otherwise constitute a breach pursuant to Section 6. I (b)(vi), (vii), {viii), 00 ill, (xiv), 
(xv), (xvi) or (xvii). 

(b) Since December 31, 2015, there has not been any fact, change, circumstance, event, occurrence or development that has had 
or would reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect. 

Section 4.12 Investigations: Litigation. Except as would not be material to the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole, 
or as set forth on Section 4.12 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, (a) there is no Action pending (or, to the knowledge ofthe 
Company, threatened) by any Governmental Entity with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or, to the knowledge of the 
Company, any ofthe Facility Entities, or any of their respective properties, assets or businesses, (b) there is no Action or subpoena, 
civil investigative demand or other request for information relating to potential violations of Law, in each case pending (or, to the 
knowledge of the Company, threatened) against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or, to the knowledge of the Company, any of 
the Facility Entities, or any of their respective properties, assets or businesses and (c) there are no Orders of any Governmental Entity 
against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge of the Company, any of the Facility Entities, any of their 
respective properties, assets or businesses. 

Section 4.13 Information Supplied. The information supplied by the Company for inclusion in the Offer Documents, the 
Schedule 14D-9 and the Registration Statement (including the Offer Prospectus) will not, at the time the Offer Documents, the 
Schedule 14D-9 and the Offer Prospectus (and any amendment or supplement thereto) are mailed to the stockholders of the Company 
or at the.time the Registration Statement is declared effective by the SEC, or on the date that the Offer is consummated, contain any 
untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the 
statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading. The Schedule 14D-9 will comply in all 
material respects with the requirements of the Exchange Act and any other applicable federal securities Laws. The representations 
and warranties in this Section 4.13 will not apply to statements or omissions included or incorporated by reference in the Schedule 
14D·9 based upon information supplied to the Company by Parent or PurchaSer for inclusion therein. 

Section 4.14 Tax Matters. (a) Except as set forth in Section 4.14(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, and, except as would 
not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect: 

, ' 

(i) Each ofthe Company and its Subsidiaries has prepared and timely.filed (taking into account any valid extension oftime 
within wpich to file) all Tax Returns required to be filed by it and all such Tax Returns ?.re true, complete and accurate. 
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(ii) Each ofthe Company and its Subsidiaries has timely paid all Taxes required to be paid by it (whether or not shown on 
any Tax Return), except for Taxes tor which adequate reserves have been established, in accordance with GAAP, on the 
Company Financial Statements. 

(iii) Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries has complied with all applicable Law relating to the payment, collection, 
withholding and remittance of Taxes (including information reporting requirements), including with respect to payments made 
to or received from any employee, creditor, stockholder, customer or other third party. 

(iv) No Tax Returns of the Company and its Subsidiaries have been examined, and neither the Company nor any orits 
Subsidiaries has waived or extended any statute of limitations with respect to Taxes or agreed to any extensions of time with 
respect to a Tax assessment or deficiency. 

(v) All assessments for Taxes due from the Company or allY of its Subsidiaries with respect to completed and settled audits 
or examinations or any concluded Action have been timely paid in full. 

(vi) No deficiencies for Taxes have been claimed, proposed or assessed by any Governmental Entity in writing against the 
Company or any of its Subsidiaries except for deficiencies which have been fully satisfied by payment, settled or withdrawn, 
and the Company and its Subsidiaries do not reasonably expect any Taxing Authority to assess any additional Taxes with 
respect to any period for which a Tax Return has been filed. 

(vii) There are no audits, examinations, investigations or other proceedings ongoing, pending, or threatened in respect of 
any Taxes or Tax matters of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. 

(viii) There are no Liens for Taxes on any of the assets ofthe Company or any of its Subsidiaries other than statutory Liens 
fo;· Taxes not yet due and payable, or for Taxes being contested in proper proceedings and for which there is a reserve in 
aCC0roance with GAAP. 

(ix) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries (A) is or has been a member of any affiliated, consolidated, . 
combined, unitary, group relief or similar group for purposes of filing Tax Returns or paying Taxes (other than a group the 
'~Iilmon parent of which is the Company), (B) is a party to any agreement or arrangement relating to the apportionment, 
sharing, assignment, indemnification or allocation of any Tax or Tax asset (other than an agreement or arrangement solely 
between or among the Company and/or its Subsidiaries) or (C) has any Liability for Taxes of any Person (other than the 
Company or my of its Subsidiaries) under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any analogous or simi!1!T provision of 
state, local ,)r fOff.lign Law), as transferee, successor, or otherwise. 

(x) The charge;;, accruals and reserves for Taxes with respect to the Company and its Subsidiaries reflected on the 
Cmr;p.rny Financial Statements filed with the SEC prior to the date here,of are adequate, in accordance with GAAP, to cover all 
mat.cti,il faxes payable by the Company and its Subsidiaries for all periods through the date of such Company Financi.al 
Sldtements and such charges, accruals and reserves, as adjusted for the passage of time and ordinary C0Urse ;,usines,; operatioll3 
tHrough the Closing Date are adequate to cover all material Taxes payable by the Comp~"lY and its Subsidiaries for all periods 
through the Closing Date. . 
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(xi) No claim has been made within the past two (2) years in writing by a Taxing Authority in a jlUisdiction where the 
Company or any of its Subsidiaries has never filed Tax Returns asserting that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is or may 
be subject to Taxes imposed by that jurisdiction. 

(xii) All intercompany transactions between or among the Company and any of its Subsidiaries, or any of them, have 
occurred on arm's-length terms in compliance with the principles of Section 482 of the Code (or any similar provision of U.S. 
state, local, or foreign Tax Law), and the Company and its Subsidiaries have complied in all material respects with applicable 
rules relating to transfer pricing (including the maintenance of contemporaneous documentation and the preparation of all 
required transfer pricing reports). 

(xiii) (A) As of December 31, 2015, the consolidated federal income Tax Return group of which the Company is the 
common parent had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of at least $247,000,000, and (B) the net operating losses 
or other Tax attributes of the Company and each of its Subsidiaries, prior to giving effect to the transactions contemplated by 
this Agreement, are not currently subject to any limitation under Sections 382, 383, or 384 of the Code, and will not be 
decreased in any material amount prior to the Closing. 

(b) None ofthe Company or any of its Subsidiaries has been a "controlled corporation" or a "distributing corporation" (within 
the meaning of Section 355(a)(l)(A) of the Code) in any distribution that was purported or intended to qualify for tax-free treatment 
under Section 355 of the Code (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law) occurring during the two (2)-year period 
ending on the date hereof. 

( c) None of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has participated in any "listed transaction" within the meaning of Treasury 
Regulations Section 1.60 11·4(b )(2) (or any analogous or similar provision of state, local or foreign Law). 

(d) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is aware of the existence of any fact, or has taken or agreed to take any 
action, that would reasonably be expected to prevent or impede the Offer and the Mergers, taken together, from qualifying as a 
"reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code. 

Section 4.15' Employment and Labor Matters. 

. . (a) Since Decemqer 31: 2013, (i) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries nor, to the knowledge ofthe Company, any 
Facility Entity, is or has been, a party to any collective bargaining agreement, labor union contract, trade union agreement, or other 
similar agreement with a labor union or like organization (each, a "Collective Bargaining Agreement"), (Ii) no employee is or has 
been represented by a labor organization for purposes of collective bargaining with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, 

, or, to the knowledge of the Company, any of the Facility Entities, and (iii) to the knowledge ofthe Company, there have been no 
':activities or proceedings of any labor or trade union or other like organization to organize any employees of the Company, any of its 
Subsidiaries 01' the Facility Entities. No Collective Bargaining Agreement is being negotiated by the Company, any of its Subsidiaries 

. ·or, to the knowledge onhe Company, any of the Facility Entities. Since December 31, 2013, there has been no strike, lockout, 
'slowdown, of'1work stoppage against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or, to the knowledge of the Company, any of the Facility . 
Entities, pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened, that may interfere in any material respect with the respective 
bllsiness activities of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries, or any of the Facility Entities. 
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(b) Except as has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, (i) there is no 
pending charge or complaint against the Company or any ofits Subsidiaries, or, to the knowledge of the Company, any of the Facility 
Entities, by the National Labor Relations Board or any comparable Governmental Entity, and (ii) none of the Company nor any of its 
Subsidiaries, nor, to the knowledge of the Company, any of the Facility Entities, is a party, or otherwise bound by, any consent decree 
with, or citation by, any Governmental Entity relating to employees or employment practices. Except as has not had and would not 
reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, (i) the Company and its Subsidiaries, and, to the knowledge of 
the Company, the Facility Entities, have complied with all applicable Laws regarding employment and employment practices 
(including anti-discrimination), terms and conditions of employment and wages and hours (including classification of employees and 
independent contractors, and equitable pay practices) and other laws in respect of any reduction in force (including notice, 
information and consultation requirements), and (ii) no claims relating to non-compliance with the foregoing are pending or, to the 
knowledge of the Company, threatened. Except as has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material 
Adverse Effect, (i) there are no outstanding assessments, penalties, fines, Liens, charges, surcharges, or other amounts due or owing 
by the Company pursuant to any workplace safety and insurance/workers' compensation Laws, and the Company and its 
Subsidiaries, and, to the knowledge of the Company, the Facility Entities, have not been reassessed under such Laws since 
December 3 1,2013, and (ii) there are no claims that may affect the accident cost experience of the Company or its Subsidiaries, or, to 
the knowledge of the Company, any of the Facility Entities. 

Section 4.16 Intellectual Property. 

(a) Section 4.16(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list of all Company Registered 
Intellectual Property, indicating for each such item the registration qr application number, owner and filing jurisdiction. Each item of 
Company Registered Intellectual Property is valid, enforceable, subsisting and in full force in all material respects. All necessary 
registration, maintenance and renewal fees currently due and owing in connection with Company Registered Intellectual Property 
have been paid. 

(b) Except as set forth in Section 4.I6(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, the Company, a Subsidiary of the Company or a 
Facility Entity is the exclusive owner, free of any exclusive license or Lien (other than a Permitted Lien), of each item ofIntellectual 
Property used by the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge of the Company, any ofthe Facility Entities or material to 
the business of the Company, any· of its Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge of the Company, any of the Facility Entities, other than 
Intellectual Property that is licensed to or held for use by the Company, any of its Suhsidiaries or any afthe Facility Entities pursuant 
to a valid and enforceable written license agreement or other agreement and Intellectual Property that is available generally to the 
public or may otherwise be used without the requirement of a license, in each case free and clear of any exclusive licenses or Liens, 
except Permitted Liens. Such Intellectual Property comprises all Intellectual Property used by or material to the business of the 
Company, each of its Subsidiaries and, to the knowledge of the Company, any of the Facility Entities as currently conducted. 

Jc)No Company Jrtt~!Iectual Property is subject to any proceeding to which the Company, any ofits Subsidiaries or, to the 
knowledge ofthe Company, any of the Facility Entities is a party or outstanding Order, which proceeding or Order are materially 
affecting or could materially affect the use thereof by or rights therein of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any of the Facility 
Entities.' . 

(d) Except as set forth in Section 4.16(d) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, there are no amounts currently owed by the 
Company, any of its Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge of the Company, any of the Facility Entities to any employee, contractor or 
other Person in consideration for the development for or acquisition by the Company, such Subsidiary or any of the Facility Entities 
of any material Company Intellectual Property, other than salaries paid to employees in the ordinary co,!rse of business. 

32 

71 



(e) Neither (i) the operations or business ofthe Company, any of its Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge ofthe Company, any of 
the Facility Entities as conducted since December 31, 2013 or as currently conducted, including the products or services of the 
Company, any of its Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge of the Company, any of the Facility Entities, nor (ii) the Company Intellectual 
Propel1y owned by the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge of the Company, any of the Facility Entities infringe, 
misappropriate or violate any Intellectual Property rights of any third party, nor are there any pending, or to the knowledge of the 
Company, threatened claims or Actions with respect to any of the foregoing. To the knowledge of the Company, no Person is 
infringing, misappropriating or violating any Company Intellectual Property that is owned by (or purported to be owned by) or 
exclusively licensed to the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any ofthe Facility Entities, and no such claims have been made by the 
Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any of the Facility Entities since December 31,2013 with respect to (x) Company Registered 
Intellectual Property, or (y) other Company Intellectual Property that is material to the business of the Company or its Subsidiaries. 

(f) The Company, each of its Subsidiaries and, to the knowledge of the Company, each of the Facility Entities has at all times 
taken commercially reasonable steps to protect their respective rights in and the confidentiality, integrity and security of all material 
confidential and proprietary information of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or its Facility Entities and any trade secret or 
confidential information of third parties that was provided to or held by the Company, its Subsidiaries or the Facility Entities subject 
to obligations of confidentiality and is used, stored or transmitted by the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge of the 
Company, any of the Facility Entitics. 

(g) Except as set forth in Section 4. I 6(g) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, the Company, each of its Subsidiaries and, to the 
knowledge of the Company, each of the Facility Entities has required each Representative employed or engaged by the Company, 
such Subsidiary of the Company or such Facility Entity (as applicable) who contributed to the discovery or development of any 
materiai Intellectual Property for or on behalf of the Company, such Subsidiary of the Company or such Facility Entity to execute a 
written and ~nforceable instrument of assignment in favor of the Company, such Subsidiary ofthe Company or such Facility Entity as 
assignee that assigns to the Company, such Subsidiary of the Company or such Facility Entity all of such Representative's right, title 
and interest in and to such Intellectual Property, to the extent not already owned by them by operation of Law. 

(h) The Company, each of its Subsidiaries and, to the knowledge of the Company, each ofthe Facility Entities has sufficient 
rights to use all material Software, information technology systems, information technology equipment, and associated 
doculT)entatio!l used or held for use in connection with the operation of the Company's, such Subsidiary'S or such Facility Entity's 

, busir:V;ss (a$ applicable) as presently conducted (the "IT Assets"). The IT Assets operate and perform in all material respects in , 
'accordimce with their documentation and fimctional specifications and otherwise as required in connection with the operation aHlle 
,Company's, eac~ of its Subsidiaries' and, to the knowledge of the Company, each of the Facility Entities' business. The'IT Assets 
have not Platt;rIally malfunctioned or failed since December 3],2013 and the Company and its Subsidiaries have taken commercially 
reasonable steps to pl'0tect Ine integrity and security of the IT Assets from, and, to the knowledge of the Company, tht'; IT Ass,ets do 
not contain, any virus,,"s, bug2 or other devices or effects that could enable or assist any PerSon to access without authorization tho IT 

. Assets or Olh.;rwisc signiticflntly adversely affect the functionality of the IT Assets, except as discIos(".d in their documeNtation,. 
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Section 4.17 Property. 

(a) The Company or one or more of its Subsidiaries has good and marketable fee simple title to all land, together with all 
buildings, stmctures, fixtures, and improvements located thereon and all easements, rights of way, and appurtenances relating thereto, 
owned by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (the "Owned Real Property") free and clear of any Liens other than Permitted 
Liens. Section 4.17(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule contains a correct and complete list by address of the Owned Real 
Property. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries: (i) lease or grant any Person the right to use or occupy all or any part of 
the Owned Real Property; (ii) has granted any Person an option, right of first offer, or right of first refusal to purchase such Owned 
Real Property or any portion thereof or interest therein; or (iii) has received written notice of any pending, and to the knowledge of 
the Company threatened, condemnation proceeding affecting any material Owned Real Propel1y or any material portion thereof or 
material interest therein. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to any agreement or option to purchase any real 
property or interest therein. 

(b) Either the Company or a Subsidiary of the Company has a good and valid leasehold interest in each lease, sublease and other 
agreement under which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, as applicable, uses or occupies or has the right to use or occupy any 
real property (such material property subject to a lease, sublease or other real property agreement either (x) requiring leasehold 
payments in excess of $500,000 annually or (y) for a location at which the Company or a Subsidiary of the Company provides health 
care services, collectively, the "Leased Real Property" and Stich leases, subleases and other agreements are, collectively, the "Real 
Property Leases"), in each case~ free and clear of all Liens other than any Permitted Liens. Section 4. I 7(b) ofthe Company 
Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true, correct and complete list of the Leased Real Property (except for the Leased Real Property for a 
location at which the Company or a Subsidiary of the Company provides health care services), including the address, tenant, landlord, 
date of lease of all leases, subleases, licenses and similar agreements, and all amendments thereto. Except as would not reasonably be 
expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, each Real Property Lease of the Company or a Subsidiary of the Company, 
(i) is a valid and binding obligation of the Company or the Subsidiary of the Company that is party thereto and, to the knowledge of 
the Company, of each other party thereto, and is in full force and effect, subject to the Enforceability Exceptions, Oi) is not subject to 
uncured default on the part of the Company or its Subsidiary or, to the knowledge of the Company, any other party thereunder, and 
(iii) is not subjeCt to any event that has occurred or circumstance that exists which, with the giving of notice, the passage of time, or 
both, would cO.nstitute a breach or default by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge ofthe Company, any other 
party, under any such Real Property Lease. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is currently subleasing, licensing or 
01herwise granting any Person any right to use or occupy any material Leased Real Property. True and complete copies of all Real 
PropertY, Leases Mthe Company or a Subsidiary of the C~mpany (except for Real Property Leases for a location at which the 
Cqmpany ~r ~ Subsidiarj of the Company provides health care services) have been made available to Parent and Purchaser. 

, .. (c) The Company and each Subsidiary of the Company, and, to the knowledge of the Company, any of the Facility Entities, has 
good and'vl:did title to, Or' valiu'riglits by lease, license, other agreement or otherwise'to use, all assets and properties (in each case, 

, tangible and intangible) necessary to enable the Company and each of .its ,Subsidiaries and the Facility Entities to conduct their 
business as currently conducted, except where the failure to have good and valid title or valid rights would not reasonably be expected 
to have a Company Material Advers.:: Effect. 
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Section 4.18 Insurance. Except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect: (a) the 
Company and its Subsidiaries, and each Facility Entity to the knowledge ofthe Company, maintain insurance with reputable insurers 
or otherwise sufficient self-insurance programs in such amounts and against such risks as the management of the Company has in 
good faith determined to be prudent and appropriate; (b) all insurance policies maintained by or on behalf ofthe Company. any of its 
Subsidiaries, or any of the Facility Entities to the knowledge of the Company, as of the date of this Agreement are in full force and 
effect and all premiums due on such policies have been paid by the Company, its Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge of the Company, 
the Facility Entities; (c) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries, nor any Facility Entity to the knowledge ofthe Company, is 
in breach or default under such policies; and (d) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has, and no Facility Entity to the 
knowledge of the Company has, received any written notice of termination or cancellation or denial of coverage with respect to any . 
insurance policy since December 31,2013 that in the case of such termination or cancellation has not been replaced or superseded by 
materially similar or more favorable coverage. 

Section 4.19 Opinion of Financial Advisor. The Company Board of Directors has received the oral opinion of J.P. Morgan 
Securities LLC, to be confirmed by delivery of a written opinion to the effect that, as of the date hereof and subject to the 
assumptions, limitations, qualifications and other matters considered in the preparation thereof, the Transaction Consideration to be 
paid to the holders of Company Common Stock entitled to receive Transaction Consideration pursuant to this Agreement is fair from 
a financial point of view to such holders, and such opinion has not been withdrawn, modified or revoked as of the date hereof. The 
Company shall, promptly following the execution ofthis Agreement by all Parties, furnish an accurate and complete copy of said 
opinion to Parent solely for informational purposes, and it is agreed and understood that such written opinion was delivered for the 
information and assistance ofthe Company Board of Directors. 

Section 4.20 Material Contracts. 

(a) Except for this Agreement, Contracts filed as exhibits to the Company SEC Documents or as set forth in Section 4.20 of the 
Company Disclosure Schedule, as of the date of this Agreement, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to or 
bound by: 

(i) any "material contract" (as such term is defined in Item 60I(b)(1O) of Regulation S-K of the SEC); 

(ii) any Contract between the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, on the one hand, and any officer, director or 
Affiliate (other than a wholly owned Subsidiary of the Company) of the Company (or of any Subsidiary of the Company) or any 
oftheir respective "associates" or "immediate family" members (as such terms are defined in Rule 12b-2 and Rule 16a-l of the 
Exchange Act), on the other hand, including (but not limited to) any Contract pursuant to which the Company or any Subsidiary 
of the Company has an obligation tl] indemnify such officer, director, Affiliate or family member but in each case excluding any 
Compa,ny Benefit Plans; . 

(iii) any Contract that requires or is reasonably likely to require annual or one time payments or delivery of goods, 
services, materialS, Intellectual Property or other assets from third parties to the Company and its Subsidiaries of at least 
$5,000,000, in each case that is not terminable for convenience by the Company or its Subsidiaries on ninety (90) days' notice 
or less and that is not a Contract of a type that is described in another subsection of this Section 4.20(a); 

(iv) any Contract that requires or is reasonably likely to require annual or one-time payments or delivery of goods, 
services, materials, Intellectual Property or other assets from the Company and its Subsidiaries to third parties of at least 
$5,000,000, in each case that is not telminable for convenience by the Company or its Subsidiaries on ninety (90) days' notice 
or less and that is not a Contract of a type that is described in another subsection of this Section 4.20(a); 
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(v) any Contract that imposes any restriction on the right or ability of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to compete in 
any material respect (or that following the First Effective Time will restrict the ability of Parent and its Subsidiaries (other than 
the Company and its Subsidiaries) to compete) with any other Person in any line of business or geographic region or that 
contains any standstill or similar agreement that has not expired or terminated and pursuant to which the Company or its 
Subsidiaries has agreed not to acquire or dispose of the securities of another Person; 

(vi) any Contract that obligates the Company or its Subsidiaries in any material respect (or following the First Effective 
Time, obligates Parent or its Subsidiaries (other than the Company and its Subsidiaries» to conduct business with any third 
party on a preferential or exclusive basis or which contains "most favored nation" covenants that are material to the Company 
and its Subsidiaries; 

(vii) any Collective Bargaining Agreement to which the Company or any of Its Subsidiaries is a party; 

(viii) any agreement relating to Indebtedness of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries having an outstanding principal 
amount in excess of $5,000,000, including any guarantees ofTndebtedness of any other Person and excluding trade payables 
arising in the ordinary course of business; 

(ix) any Contract that grants any right of first refusal, right of first offer or similar right to a third party (including 
stockholders of the Company) with respect to any material assets, rights or properties of the Company and its Subsidiaries that is 
(A) triggered by or exercisable in connection with the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement or the Transactions, 
(B) exercisable at a date certain or is subject to similar time-based vesting of rights, (C) currently exercisable or (D) material 
and, to the knowledge ofthe Company, is likely to be triggered or become exercisable; 

(x) any Contract that provides for the acquisition or disposition of any assets (other than acquisitions or dispositions of 
assets in the ordinary course of business) or business (whether by merger, sale of stock, sale of assets or otherwise) and'that 
contains outstanding obligations of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries as of the date of this Agreement in excess of 
$5,000,000 or that are otherwise material; 

(xi) (A) any joint venture, paltnership or limited liability company agreement or other similar Contract relating to the 
formation, creation, operation, management or control of any joint venture, partnership o! limited liability company that is 
material, and (B) any strategic alliance, collaboration, co-promotion or research and development project Contract that is 
material; 

(xii) an,y Contract that by its telms limits or restricts the ability of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (A) to make 
distributions or declare or pay dividends in respect of!heir "apitalstock, partnership interests, rJembership interests or other 
equity interests, as the .::ase may be, 0r (B) to make loans to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; 
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(xiii) any Contract that obligates the Company or any ofits Subsidiaries to make any loans, advances or capital 
contributions to, or investments in, any Person, except for any such Contract that is entered into in the ordinary course of 
business; 

(xiv) any Contract that provides for indemnification by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of any other Person, except 
for any such Contract that is entered into in the ordinary course of business; 

(xv) any Contract with the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services; 

(xvi) any Contract relating to the voting or control of Company Common Stock or the election of directors of the 
Company; and 

(xvii) any Contract (A) granting the Company or any of its Subsidiaries any right to lise any rights under any Intellectual 
Property, other than "off the shelf' software that has not been modified for use by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and 
does not exceed a cost to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of$100,000 annually, (8) pursuant to which the Company or 
any of its Subsidiaries grants any third person the right to use any rights under any Intellectual Property (other than non­
exclusive licenses to Intellectual Property granted in the ordinary COllrse of business), or (C) restricting the right of the Company 
or any of its Subsidiaries to use, register, transfer, license or enforce any Company Intellectual Property. 

All contracts of the types referred to in this Section 4.20 (whether or not set forth on Section 4.20 ofthe Company Disclosure 
Schedule) are referred to herein as "Company Material Contracts." The Company has made available to Parent prior to the date of 
this Agreement a complete and correct copy of each Company Material Contract as in effect on the date of this Agreement. 

(b) Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company is in breach of or default under the terms of any Company 
Materia[ Contract and, to the knowledge of the Company, no other party to any Company Material Contract is in breach of or default 
under the terms of any Company Material Contract and, since December 31, 2013, no event has occurred or not occurred through the 
Company's or any of its Subsidiaries' action or inaction or, to the knowledge of the Company, through the action or inaction of any 
third pmty, that with notice or the lapse of time or both would constitute a breach of or default under the terms of any Company 
Material Contract, in each case, except as has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse 

• Effect.·Each Company Material Contract is a valid and binding obligation of the Company or the Subsidiary of the Company that is 
party thereto and, to the knowledge of the Company, of each other party thereto, and is in full force and effect, subject to the 
Enforceability Exceptions. There are no material disputes pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened with respect to 
any Company Material Contract. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any written notice of the intention of 

: any other party to any Company Material Contract to terminate fOl'ldefault, convenience or otherwise any Company Material 
Contract. ," 

Section 4.21 Privacy and Data Security. 

(a) Each of the Company's and its Subsidiaries" and to the knowledge of the Company each Facility Entity's, receipt, 
collection. use, disclosure, processing, storage, disposal and security of Personal Information has, since December 31,2013, 
materially complied, and materially complies, with (i) any Contracts to which the Company or any Subsidiary or Facility Entity is a 
party, (ii) applicable Information Privacy and Security Laws, (iii) to the extent applicable. PCI DSS, and (iv) all required consents and 
authorizations from individuals that apply to the Company's or any of its Subsidiaries' or Facility Entities' receipt, access, use and 
disclosure of such individual's Personal Information. Except as 
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has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, the Company and each of its 
Subsidiaries has, and each Facility Entity to the knowledge of the Company has, all necessary authority, consents and authorizations 
to receive, access, use and disclose the Personal Information in the Company's or any of its Subsidiaries' or Facility Entities' 
possession or under its control in connection with the operation of the Company or any Subsidiary or Facility Entity. Except as set 
forth in Section 4.21(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, the Company and each of its Subsidiaries has, and each Facility Entity 
to the knowledge of the Company has, since December 31,2013, (y) posted its Notice of Privacy Practices as that term is defined 
under HIPAA ("HIPAA Notice of Privacy Practices") and (z) except as has not had and would not be reasonably expected to have a 
Company Material Adverse Effect, complied with its HIPAA Notice of Privacy Practices and any other privacy policies it has 
provided to individuals 01' made publicly available on its website(s}. 

(b) Except as has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, since 
December 31,2013, each of the Company and each of its Subsidiaries has, and each Facility Entity to the knowledge of the Company 
has, entered into a Contract that addresses the provisions for "business associate contracts" if and as required by 45 C.F .R. § 164.504 
(e) or § 164.314(a), as amended ("Business Associate Contracts"), with the applicable third party in each instance where (i) the 
Company or its Subsidiaries or Facility Entities (as the case may be) acts as a Business Associate to that third party or (ii) the 
Company or its Subsidiaries or Facility Entities (as the case may be) provides protected health information (as defined in 45 C.F.R. § 
160.103) to that third party, or that third party otherwise acts as a Business Associate to Company or any of its Subsidiaries or 
Facility Entities, in each case as required by, and in material conformity with, HIPAA and the applicable Business Associate 
Contracts to which the Company or its Subsidiaries or Facility Entities is a party. 

(c) Except as has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect or otherwise 
disclosed in Section 4.21{c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, there has been no (i) data security breach of any IT Assets ofthe 
Company, its Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge of the Company, a Facility Entity that store, process, protect, transmit or maintain 
Personal Information, (ii) any unauthorized access, control, use, modification or destruction of such IT Asset or (iii) unauthorized 
access, use, acquisition or disclosure of any Personal Information, in the case of each of clauses (i) through (iii) with respect to 
Personal Information that is owned, used, stored, or controlled by or on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or to the 
knowledge of the Company any of its Facility Entities, in a manner not authorized by the Company or a Subsidiary or Facility Entity, 
as applicable, including any unauthorized access, use, or disclosure of Personal Information that would constitute a breach for which 
notification to individuals or Governmental Entities is required under any applicable Information Privacy and Security Laws. 

(d) Except as has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect or otherwise 
di.<;c1osed in Section 4.2l(dl of the Company Disclosure Schedule, each ,of the Company and each of its Subsidiaries has, and each 
Facility Entity to.the knowledge of the Company has responded to and m~tigated each known Security Incident (as defined in 45 
C.F .R. § 164304) related to any IT Assets or Personal Information transmitted, processed, maintained, stored or otherwise available 
on or through any IT Assets. 

(e) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries, nor any Facility Entity to the knowledge ofthe Company, (i) i~, to the 
knowledge of the Company, under investigation by any Governmental Entity for a violation of any applicable Information Privacy 
and Security Laws; (ii) has received since December 31, 2013 any written notices Oi' audit requests from a Governmental Entity 
relating to any such violations that remain open or pending or, with respect to those that are closed, are material, other than those set 
forth in Section 4.21 (el of the Company Disclosure Schedule; or (iii) is subject to any Order, nor, to the knowledge of the Compa.ny, 
is any such Order pending or threatened, relating to the Company's or any of its Subsidiaries' or Facility Entities' processing of 
Personal Information processed by the Company or its Subsidiaries or Facility Entities. 
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(f) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, the consummation of the 
transactions contemplated hereby is not prohibited by the Company's, each of its Subsidiaries', and to the knowledge of the 
Company, each of its Facility Entities', applicable HIP AA Notice of Privacy Practices, as defined above. 

(g) The Company has performed a security risk assessment that meets the standards set forth at 45 C.F.R. § 164.308(a)(1 )(ii)(A), 
including an assessment as described at 45 C.F.R. § 164.306(d)(3), taking into account factors set forth in 45 C.F.R. § 164.306(a}-(c) 
and updated periodically as required by 45 C.F.R. § 164.316(b )(2)(iii) (collectively, the "Security Risk Assessment"). Unless set forth 
in Section 4.2Hg) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, the Company has addressed the security safeguards sufficient to reduce any 
reasonably anticipated and material threats and deficiencies identified in its current Security Risk Assessment to a reasonable and 
appropriate level to comply with 45 C.F.R. § 164.306(a). 

Section 4.22 Affiliate Transactions. There are not and have not been within the last three (3) years any transactions, or series of 
related transactions, agreements, arrangements or understandings that would be required to be disclosed under Item 404 of Regulation 
S-K promulgated under the Securities Act that have not been disclosed in the Company SEC Documents filed prior to the date hereof. 

Section 4.23 Finders or Brokers. Except for J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has 
employed any investment banker, broker or finder in connection with the Transactions who would be entitled to any fee or any 
commission in connection with or upon consummation of the Offer or the Mergers. The Company has made available to Parent a 
true, correct and complete copy of any engagement letter or other Contract between the Company and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC 
relating to the Transactions. 

Section 4.24 State Takeover Statutes. Assuming ~he accuracy of the representations and warranties of Parent and the Merger 
Subs set forth in Section 5.14, the Company Board of Directors has taken all action necessary to render inapplicable to this 
Agreement and the Tender and Support Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby all applicable state anti­
takeover statutes or regulations (including Section 203 of the DGCL), "business combination," "control share acquisition," "fair 
price," "moratorium" and any similar provisions in the Company Certificate (including Article XIII of the Company Certificate) or 
Company Bylaws. The Company is not party to a stockholder rights agreement, "poison pill" or similar anti-takeover agreement or 
plan that will be triggered by the Transactions. . 

Se-.ction 4.25 DaCL 25I(h). The Corr,pany has not taken, or authorized or permitted any Representatives ofthe Company to 
lake, l'Jly action that would render Section 251(h) of the DGCL inapplicable to the First Merger. 

Section 4.26 No Other ·Representations. Except for the representatiOrls and warranties contamed in this Article IV or in any 
cenifi(;ate;; delivered by the Company pursuant to paragraph (E)(4) of Annex A, each af Parent, Purchaser and Merger Sub 2 
acknowledges that neither the Company nor any person on behalf of the Company makes any nther express or implied repreSl~ntation 
or warranty (amI hereby disclaims any such other representation or warranty) with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries- : 
or 1n connection with the Transactions or with respect to any information :>rovided or made available to·Parent or the Merger Subs or 
allY oftheir respe,;tive Representatives in connection with the Transactions. The Parties agree that no provision of this Agreement is 
intended tc eliminate or limit Parent's, Purchaser's and Merger Sub 2's available remedies with respect to fraud. 
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ARTICLE V REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND MERGER SUBS 

Except as disclosed in the publicly available Parent SEC Documents filed or furnished to the SEC (including the exhibits and 
schedules thereto) since December 31, 2013 and prior to the date hereof(without giving effect to any amendment thereof filed with or 
furnished to the SEC on or after the date of this Agreement and excluding any disclosures set forth in allY such Parent SEC Document 
that is in any risk factor section, or in any other section to the extent ttiey are forward-looking statements or are similarly non-specific, 
predictive, cautionary or forward-looking in nature), where the relevance of the information to a particular representation or warranty 
is reasonably apparent on the face of such disclosure, Parent and the Merger Subs jointly and severally represent and warrant to the 
Company as follows: 

Section 5.1 Organization. 

(a) Each of Parent and Purchaser is a corporation, and Merger Sub 2 is a limited liability company, in each case, duly 
incorporated or organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware and has all requisite 
corporate or limited liability company power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and assets and to carry on its 
business as presently conducted. Each of (i) Parent's Subsidiaries is a legal entil] duly organized, validly existing and in good 
standing under the Laws of its respective jurisdiction of organization and has all requisite corporate or similar power and authority to 
own, lease and operate its properties and assets and to carry on its business as presently conducted and (ii) Parent and its Subsidiaries 
is duly qualified to do business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the property owned, leased or operated by it or 
the nature of the business conducted by it makes such approvals or qualification necessary, except in the case of each of clauses 
(i) and (ji) where the failure to be so organized, in existence or qualified or to have such power, authority or approvals or be in good 
standing, has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect or prevent or materially delay 
the consummation ofthe Transactions. 

(b) Par~nt has made available to the Company prior to the date ofthis Agreement a true and complete copy of Parent's 
. certificate of incorporation and bylaws (the "Parent Organizational Documents"). The Parent Organizational Documents are in full 

force and effect and. Parent is not in violation of its provisions. 

Section 5.2 Capitalization. The authorized capital stock of Parent consists of 3,000,000,000 shares of common stock, par value 
$0.01 per share (tfte, "Parent Common Stock"), a~d 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock,. par value $0.001 per share (the "Parent 
Preferred Stock"). As of September 30, 2016, (i) 951,940,888 shares of Parent Common Stock were issued and outstanding, (ii) no 
shares of Parent Common Stock were held in treasury; (iii) flo shares of Parent Preferred Stock were issued or outstanding, 
(iv) 78, 189,328 s~ares of Parent Common Stock were reserved for issuance under the Parent Stock Plans in respect of outstanding 
and future awards (any such awards, collectively, "Parent Stock Awards"), (v) 37,771,677 shares of Parent Common Stock were 

. issuable upon the exerCi~e of outstanding options and stock apprecia.tion rights, (vi) 71'7,831·shares of Parent Common Stock were 
suoject to outstanding perfolm'ance-based restricted stock units under the Parent Stock T>lans (assuming, if applicable, achievement of 
alI'perforrnance goals at maximum level), (vii) 5,736,468 shares ofPareri'i Common Stock were subject to outstanding restricted stock 
units under the Parent Stock Plans and (viii) no other shares of capital stock" or other voting securities of Parent were issued, reserved 

Ifor issuance or outstanding. Extept as set forth in this Section 5.2, there are. no outstanding s~bscriptions, options, warrants, calls, 

40 

79 



convertible securities, exchangeable securities, preemptive rights, stock appreciation rights, redemption rights, repurchase rights, or 
other similar rights, agreements or commitments to which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is a party (A) obligating Parent or any of 
its Subsidiaries to (l) issue, transfer, exchange, sell or register for sale any shares of capital stock or other equity interests of Parent or 
any Subsidiary of Parent or securities convertible into or exchangeable for such shares or equity interests, (2) grant, extend or enter 
into any such subscription, option, warrant, call, convertible securities or other similar right, agreement or arrangement, (3) redeem or 
otherwise acquire any sllch shares of capital stock or other equity interests, (4) provide a material amount of funds to, or make any 
material investment (in the form of a loan, capital contribution or otherwise) in, any Subsidiary (other than a wholly owned 
Subsidiary of Parent) or (5) make any payment to any Person the value of which is derived from or calculated based on the value of 
Parent Common Stock or Parent Preferred Stock (other than in connection with Parent benefit plans and other employee or contractor 
compensation arrangements), or (B) granting any preemptive or antidilutive or similar rights with respect to any security issued by 
Parent or its Subsidiaries. Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has outstanding any bonds, debentures, notes or other 
indebtedness, the holders of which have the right to vote (or which are convertible or exchangeable into or exercisable for securities 
having the right to vote) with the stockholders of Parent on any matter. There are no voting trusts or other agreements or 
understandings to which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is a party with respect to the voting or registration of the capital stock or 
other equity interest of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries. Since September 30, 2016 through the date hereof, Parent has not issued any 
shares of its capital stock (other than in connection with the exercise, settlement or vesting of Parent Stock Awards in accordance 
with their respective terms). 

Section 53 Corporate Authority Relative to this Agreement; No Violation. 

(a) No vote of holders of capital stock of Parent is necessary, pursuant to applicable Law, the Parent Organizational Documents, 
pursuant to New York Stock Exchange rules or otherwise, to approve this Agreement, the issuance of any Parent Common Stock to 
be exchanged for Company Common Stock pursuant to Article I or Article II or the Transactions, including the Offer and the 
Mergers. Each of Parent, Purchaser and Merger Sub 2 has the requisite corporate or limited liability company power and authority to 
execute and deliver this Agreement and to consummate the Transactions, including the Offer. and the Mergers. The execution, 
delivery and performance of this Agreement by Parent and the Merger Subs and the consummation by each of them of the 
Transactions, including the Offer and the Mergers, have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary corporate or comparable 
action on the part of Parent and the Merger Subs, and, except as set forth in Section 53(b), no other corporate or comparable action 
on the part of any of Parent, Purchaser or Merger Sub 2 is necessary to authorize the execution and delivery by Parent and the Merger 
Subs of this Agreement and the consummation of the Transactions, including the Offer "and the Mergers, subject to, in the case of the 

. First Merger, the adoption of this Agreement by Merger Sub 2 as the sole stockholder of Purchaser. The board of directors of Parent 
has approved this Agreement and the Transactions contemplated hereby, including the Offer and the Mergers, and the performance by 

i" it of its covenants and agreements contained herein. The board of directors ot-manager, as applicable, of each of the Merger Subs has 
unanimously (i) determined that the terms of the Transactions, including the Offer and the Mergers are fair to, and in the best interests 

, of, such Merger Sub and its stockholder or member, as applicable, (ii) determined that it is in the best interest of such Merger Sub to' 
enter into, and declared advisable, this Agreement, (iii) approved the execution and delivery, by such Merger Sub, of this Agreement 
(including the agreement of merger, as such term is used in Section 251 of the DGCL), the'performance by such Merger Sub of its 
covenants and agreements contained herein and the consummation ofthe Transactions, including the Offer and the Mergers, upon the 
terms and subject to the conditions contained herein, and (iv) in the case of Purchaser, resolved to recommend that Merger Sub 2, as 
the sole stockholder of Purchaser, approve the adoption ofthis Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including, 
without limitation, the First Merger. This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by Parent and the Merger Subs 
and, assuming this 
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Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding agreement of the Company, this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding 
agreement of Parent and the Merger Subs and is enforceable against Parent and the Merger Subs in accordance with its terms, except 
as such enforcement may be subject to the Enforceability Exceptions. 

(b) Other than in connection with or in compliance with (i) the filing of the Certificates of Merger with the Delaware Secretary, 
(ii) the filing of the Offer Documents, the Schedule 14D-9 and the Registration Statement (including the Offer Prospectus) with the 
SEC and any amendments or supplements thereto and declaration of effectiveness of the Registration Statement, (iii) the Exchange 
Act, (iv) the Securities Act, (v) applicable state securities, takeover and "blue sky" laws, (vi) the rules and regulations ofthe New 
York Stock Exchange, (vii) the HSR Act (clauses (i) through (vii) collectively, the "Parent Approvals"), and (viii) such other 
authorizations, consents, Orders, licenses, permits, approvals, registrations, declarations and notice filings, the failure of which to be 
obtained would not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect, no authorization, consent, Order, license, permit 
or approval of, or registration, declaration, notice or filing with, any Governmental EntitY is necessary for the consummation by 
Parent or the Merger Subs of the Transactions, including the Mergers. 

(c) The execution and delivery by Parent and the Merger Subs of this Agreement does not, and (assuming the Parent Approvals 
are obtained) the consummation of the Transactions and compliance with the provisions hereof will not (i) result in any loss or 
suspension, limitation or impairment of any right of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries to own or use any assets required for the conduct 
of their business or result in any violation of, or default (with or without notice or lapse oftime, or both) under, or give rise to a right 
of termination, cancellation, first offer, first refusal, modification or acceleration of any obligation or to the loss of a benefit under any 
material loan, guarantee ofindebtedness or credit agreement, note, bond, mortgage, indenture, lease, agreement, Contract, instrument, 
permit, concession, franchise, right or license binding upon Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or by which or to which any of their 
respective material properties, rights or assets are bound or subject, or result in the creation of any Liens other than Permitted Liens, 
in each case, upon any ofthe properties or assets of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) conflict with or result in any violation of any· 
proVision of the Parent Organizational Documents or the Organizational Documents of any Subsidiary of Parent, or (iii) materially 
conflict with or materially violate any applicable Laws to which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, is subject. 

(d) Prior to the Acceptance Time, Parent will have taken all necessary action to permit it to issue the number ofshares of Parent 
Common Stock required to be issued in connection with Purchaser's obligations pursuant to Article J and Parent's obligations 
pursuant to Article III. Such Parent Common Stock, when issued, will be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable, and no 
stockholder of Parent will have any preemptive right, right of subscription, right of purchase or similar right in respect thereof. Such 
Parent Common Stock, when issued, and the offering thereof, will be registered under the Securities Act !lod the Exchange Act and 
registered or exempt from registration under any applicable state securities or "blue sky" taws. 

Section 5.4 ~orts and Financial Statements. 

('1) PareM and each of its Subsidiaries has timely tiloo or furnished all forms, documents, certifieations, statements and rep0i1s 
required to be filed or furnished by it with the SEC since December 31,2013 (all sllch documents and reports filed or fhrnished by 
Parent c;r any of its Subsidiaries, including ali exhibits, supplements or schedules thereto, the "Parent SEC Documents"). As of their 
respectiye dates or, if amended! as of the date of the last such amendment (and, in the case of registration statements and proxy 
statements, on the dates of effectiveness and the dates ofthf.) relevant meetings, respectively), (i) the Parent SEC Documents complied 
in ail material respects ·with the requirements of the Securities Act, the Exchange Act and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as the case may 
be, and the applicable 
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rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and (ii) none of the Parent SEC Documents contained any untrue statement of a 
material fact or omitted to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of 
the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. Since December 31, 2013, no executive officer of Parent has failed in 
any respect to make the certifications required of him or her under Section 302 or 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. As of the date of 
this Agreement, there are no outstanding or unresolved comments in any comment letters of the staff of the SEC received by Parent 
relating to the Pare~t SEC Documents. 

(b) (i) Each of the consolidated balance sheets included in or incorporated by reference into Parent SEC Documents (including 
the related notes and schedules) presents fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Parent and its 
consolidated Subsidiaries as of its date and (li) each of Parent's consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, 
changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows included in or incorporated by reference into the Parent SEC Documents (including 
any related notes and schedules) (such changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows, together with the consolidated balance sheets 
referred to in clause (i) (and the related notes and schedules), the "Parent Financial Statements") presents fairly, in all material 
respects, the results of operations and cash flows, as the case may be, of Parent and its consolidated Subsidiaries for the periods set 
fOith therein (subject, in the case of unaudited statements, to normal year-end audit adjustments and the absence of notes), (iii) the 
Parent Financial Statements (A) have been prepared from, and are in accordance with, the books and records of Parent and its 
consolidated Subsidiaries and (B) are in conformity with GAAP (except, ~n the case ofthe unaudited statements, subject to normal 
ye~-end audit adjustments and the absence of notes) applied on a consistent basis during the periods involved (except as may be 
indicated therein or in the notes thereto) and (iv) the Parent Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with and comply 
in all material respects with the applicable accounting requirements and with the rules and regulations of the SEC, the Exchange Act 
and the Securities Act. As of the date hereof, Deloitte and Touche LLP has not resigned (or informed Parent that it intends to resign) 
or been di~missed as independent public accountants of Parent. 

(c) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to, nor does it have any Contractual commitment to become a party to, 
any material "off-balance sheet arrangements" (as defined in Item 303(a) of Regulation S-K of the SEC). 

(d) Si'1t::e December 31,2013, (i) none of Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent nor, to the knowledge of Parent, any 
Representative of Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent, has received any written complaint, allegation or claim regarding the 
accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing practices, procedures, methodologies or methods of Parent or any Subsidiary of 
Parent or any complaint; allegation or claim, Whether written or to a compliance hotIine or similar reporting method, from employees 
of Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent regarding questionable accounting or aUditing matters with respect to Parent or any Subsidiary 
of Parent, and (ii) no attorney representing Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent, whether or not employed by Parent or any Subsidiary 
of Parent, has reported evidence of a violation of securities Laws or breach of fiduciary duty by Parent, any Subsidiary of Parent or 
any of their respective Representatives to Parent board of directors or any committee thereof, or to the General Counselor Chief 
Executive Officer of Parent. . 

• • I • 

" Section 5.5 Internal Controls and Procedures. Parent has established and maintai;lS di'sclosure controls and procedures and 
in.ternal control o~,rer financial r~porting (as such terms are defined ill paragraphs (e) and (f), respectively, of Rule 13a-15 under the 

,Exchange Act) sufficient to comply in all material respects with all legal and accounting requirements applicable to the Company and 
ea(:~ of its Suhsidiariesllnd as othe,rwise required by Rule 13a-15 or·15d-5 under the Exc/i'ange Act. Parent's disclosure controls and 
procedures are reasonably designed to ensure that all material information required to be disclosed by Parent in the reports that it files 
or furnishes under the Exchange Act is 

43 

82 



recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC, and that all such 
information is accumulated and communicated to the Company's management as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding 
required disclosure and to make the certifications required pursuant to Sections 302 and 906 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Parent, each 
Parent Subsidiary and each of their officers and directors in their respective capacities as such are in material compliance with, and, 
since December 31, 2013, have materially complied with the applicable provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the Exchange Act. 
Based on its most recent evaluation of internal controls over financial reporting prior to the date hereof, management of Parent has 
disclosed to Parent's auditors and the audit committee of Parent board of directors (a) any significant deficiencies and material 
weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting that are reasonably likely to adversely affect in any 
material respect Parent's ability to report financial infOlmation and (b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management 
or other employees who have a significant role in Parent's internal control over financial reporting, and each such deficiency, 
weakness and fraud so disclosed to auditors, if any, has been disclosed to the Company prior to the date hereof. 

Section 5.6 No Undisclosed Liabilities. There are no Liabilities of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries of any nature whatsoever 
(whether accnled, absolute, determined, contingent or otherwise and whether due or to become due), except for (a) Liabilities that are 
reflected or reserved against on the consolidated balance sheet of Parent and its Subsidiaries included in its Quarterly Report on Form 
10-Q iorthe nine months ended September 30, 2016 (including any notes thereto), (b) Liabilities expressly contemplated by this 
Agreement or otherwise required to be incurred in connection with this Agreement or the Transactions; (c) Liabilities incurred in the 
ordinary course of business since September 30, 2016 and (d) Liabilities that have not had and would not reasonably be expected to 
have a Parent Material Adverse Effect. 

Section 5.7 Compliance with Law. Parent and its Subsidiaries are, and since December 31, 2013 have been, in compliance with 
all applicable Laws and all such Laws by which their respective properties or assets are bound, except where such non-compliance 
would not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect. Since December 31,2013, neither Parent nor any of its 
Subsidiaries has received any written notice or, to the knowledge of Parent, other communication from any Governmental Entity 
regarding any actual or possible failure to comply with any applicable Law in any material respect. 

Section S.8 Absence of Certain Changes or Events. 

(a) Other than in connection with the negotiation and execution of this Agreement, since December 31,2015 through the date of 
this Agreement, the businesses of Parent and its Subsidiaries have been coilrlucted in all material respects in the 0rdinary course of 
business. 

(b) Si:l..:e Decembel' 31,2015, there has not been any fact, change, circumstance, event, occurrence or development that has had 
or would rC3sonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect. 

Secticn 5.9 Investigations; Litigation. Except as would not be material to Parent and its Subsidiaries taken as whole. (a) there is 
no Action pending (or, to the knowledge of Parent, threatened) by any Governmental Entity with respect to Parent or any of its . 
Subsidiaries or any of their respective properties, assets or businesses, (b) there is no Action or subpoena, civil investigative demand 
or other request for information relating to potential violations of Law, in each case pending (or, to the knowledge of Parent, . 
threatened). against Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective properties, assets or businesses, and (c) there are no 
Orders of any Governmental Entity against Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective properties, assets or businesses. 

44 

83 



Section 5.10 Information Supplied. The information supplied by Parent for inclusion in the Offer Documents, the Schedule 14D-
9 and the Registration Statement (including the Offer Prospectus) will not, at the time the Ofter Documents, the Schedule 14D-9 and 
the Offer Prospectus (and any amendment or supplement thereto) are mailed to the stockholders of the Company or at the time the 
Registration Statement is declared effective by the SEC, or on the date that the Offer is consummated, contain any untrue statement of 
a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in 
light ofthe circumstances under which they are made, not misleading. The Offer Documents, the Offer Prospectus and the 
Registration Statement will comply in all material respects with the requirements of the Exchange Act and the Securities Act and any 
other applicable federal securities Laws. The representations and warranties in this Section 5.10 will not apply to statements or 
omissions included or incorporated by reference in the Offer Documents, the Schedule 14D-9 and the Registration Statement 
(including the Offer Prospectus) based upon information supplied to Parent or Purchaser by the Company for inclusion therein. 

Section 5.11 Finders or Brokers. Neither Parent nor any of Parent's Subsidiaries has employed any investment banker, broker or 
finder in connection with the Transactions who would be entitled to any fee or any commission in connection with or upon 
consummation of the Offer or the Mergers. 

Section 5.12 Sufficiency of Funds. Parent will have as ofthe Acceptance Time and the First Effective Time, sufficient funds to 
consummate the Offer, First Merger, and the other Transactions contemplated hereby on the terms and subject to the conditions set 
forth herein. 

Section 5.13 Merger Subs. The authorized capital stock of Purchaser consists solely of 100 shares of common stock, par value 
$0.01 per share, 100 shares of which are validly issued and outstanding. All of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Purchaser 
is, and at the Acceptance Time (if any) and immediately prior to the First Effective Time will be, owned by Merger Sub 2 (free and 
clear of 'III Liens other than Permitted Liens). All of the issued and outstanding equity interest of Merger Sub 2 are, and at the 
Acceptance Time (if any), First Effective Time and Second Effective Time will be, owned by Parent or a direct or indirect wholly-
0wned Subsidiary of Parent (free and clear of ~/1 Liens other than Permitted Liens). Since their respective dates of incorporation or 
organizatlOn, Purchaser and Merger Sub 2 have not carried on any business nor conducted any operations other than the execution of 
this Agreement, the performance of their respective obligations hereunder and matters ancillary thereto. 

Section 5.14 ;)wnership of Company Common Stock. As of and for the three (3) years prior to the date oftbis Agreement, 
neither 7arent nor any of its Subsidiaries (nor any oftheir respective "affiliates" or "associates" (as such terms are defined in 
S{;.~ti(\n 2CJ of the DOeL» "owns" or "owned" (as such terms are defined in Section 203 ofthe DGCL) any shares of Company 
C%lnlOI1 Stock or other securities convertible into, exchangeable into or exercisable for shares of Company' Common Stock. Other 
that. the T"nder and Support Agreement, there are no voting trusts or other agreements or understanding to .which Parent· Of any of its 
)ubsidiar ies is a party with re~l'ect to the. voting of the capital stock or other equity interest of the Company or any of its .suJsidiaries. 

SectionS.!5 Tax Matters. Neither Parent nor any ofits Subsidiaries i$ aware ofthe existence of any fact, or has taken pr agreed 
to take any action, that would reasonably be expected to prevent or impede the Offer and the Mergers, taken together, from quaiifYing . 
as a "reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code. 
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Section 5.16 No Other Representations. Except for the representations and warranties contained in this Article V, the Company 
acknowledges that none of Parent or the Merger Subs nor any person on behalf of Parent or the Merger Subs makes any other express 
or implied representation or warranty (and hereby disclaims any such other representation or warranty) with respect to Parent or the 
Merger Subs or any of their respective Subsidiaries or in connection with the Transactions or with respect to any information 
provided or made available to the Company or any of its Representatives in connection with the Transactions. The Parties agree that 
no provision ofthis Agreement is intended to eliminate or limit the Company's available remedies with respect to fraud. 

ARTICLE VI COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS 

Section 6. I Conduct of Business. 

(a) During the period from the date hereof until the earlier of the First Effective Time and the termination of this Agreement in 
accordance with its terms, except (i) as may be required by applicable Law, (ii) with the prior written consent of Parent (such consent 
not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), (iii) as may be required or expressly permitted (but for this Section 6.1) by 
this Agreement or (iv) as set forth in Section 6.1 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, the business of the Company and its 
Subsidiaries shall be conducted in all material respects in the ordinary course and, to the extent consistent with the foregoing, the 
Company and its Subsidiaries shall use their respective commercially reasonable efforts to maintain and preserve the Company's 
business organization intact, keep available the services of key employees and maintain its relationships with Government Entities 
and prumers, health systems, health plans, medical groups, payors, customers, suppliers, distributors and licensors having significant 
business dealings with the Company and its Subsidiaries, and the Company and its Subsidiaries shall not consent to allow any Facility 
Entity to take any action inconsistent with the foregoing; provided, however, that no action taken by the Company or its Subsidiaries 
with respect to matters specifically addressed by clauses (i) through (xxii) of Section 6.1(b) shall be deemed a breach of this sentence 
unless such action would constitute a breach of such, other provision. 

(b) During the period from the date hereof until the earlier of the First Effective Time and the termination of this Agreement in 
accordance with its terms, except (1) as may be required by applicable Law, (2) with the prior written s:onsent of Parent (such consent 
not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), (3) as may be required or expressly permitted by this Agreement, or (4) as 
set forth in Section 6.1 (b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, the Company and its Subsidiaries shall not, and shall not consent to 
allow any Facility Entity, to, ' 

(i) (x) am~nd Qr oth.erwise change the, Company Organizational Documents, (y) amend or othern'ise change the 
OrgwJizational .Qocuments of the Company's Subsidiari!!s in any material re~pect or (z) amend Of otherwise change the 
Organizational bocument~ Of any Facility Entity; . ' ','. . . .. -... , 

,: '(ii) split, combine·or reclassify any of its capital sfock; . 

, , (iii) make, declare or pay any dividend, or make any other distribution en, or redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire, any 
sh~res 'of its capital stock, or any other securities or obligations convertible (whether currently convertible or conveltible only 
after the passage oftime or the o..:currence of certain events) into or exchangeabfe for any shares of its capital stock (except 
(A) dividends paid by any direct or indirect wholly owned Subsidiaries of the Company to the Company or to any other wholly 
owned direct or indirect Subsidiary of the Company, respectively, (B) dividends paid by any Facility Entity in the ordinary . 
course of business in accordance with its respective Organizational Documents, (C) the acceptance of shares of Company 
Common Stock as payment for the exercise price of Company Options or for withholding Taxes incurred in connection with,the 
exercise of CompanjL Options or the vesting or 

46 

85 



settlement of Company RSU A wards outstanding as of the date hereof in accordance with past practice and the terms ofthe 
Company Stock Plans, (D) in connection with the ESPP in accordance with its terms, or (E) the repurchase of shares of 
Company Common Stock in connection with a forfeiture of Company Stock Awards or the termination of a Company Stock 
Award holder's position with the Company); 

(iv) grant any Company Stock Awards or other equity-based awards or interests, or grant any individual, corporation or 
other entity any right to acquire any shares of its capital stock, in each case, other than as permitted under Section 6.l(b)(xiii); 

(v) issue, sell, deliver, pledge, dispose of, encumber, grant or otherwise permit to become outstanding any additional shares 
of its capital stock or securities convertible or exchangeable into, or exercisable for, any shares of its capital stock or any 
options, warrants, or other rights of any kind to acquire any shares of its capital stock, except (A) pursuant to the exercise of 
Company Options or the settlement of Company RSU A wards outstanding as of the date hereof in accordance with their telms, 
(B) in connection with the ESPP in accordance with its terms, or enter into any agreement, understanding or arrangement with 
respect to the sale or voting of its capital stock or equity interests, (C) by a wholly owned Subsidiary of the Company to or in 
favor of the Company or another wholly owned Subsidiary ofthe Company,and (D) except as permitted by Section 6.1 (b)(xiii); 

(vi) adopt a plan of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, merger, consolidation, restructuring, recapitalization or 
other reorganization with respect to the Company, any of its material Subsidiaries or any material Facility Entity; 

(vii) incur, assume, acquire, endorse, guarantee or otherwise become liable for any Indebtedness for borrowed money 
(other than the assumption, endorsement, guarantee of or other Liability for any existing Indebtedness for borrowed money of 
another Subsidiary of the Company) or issue or sell any debt securities or calls, options, warrants or other rights to acquire any 
debt securities (directly, contingently or otherwise), except for (A) Indebtedness for borrowed money in: an aggregate principal 
amount not to exceed $10,000,000 outstanding at any time, (B) any Indebtedness for borrowed money among the Company and 
its wholly owned Subsidiaries or among wholly owned Subsidiaries of the Company, (C) incurring, assuming, acquiring, 
endorsing or guaranteeing any existing Indebtedness of any acquisition target in connection with any transaction permitted by 
Section 6.l(b)(x), or (D) Indebtedness for borrowed money incurred in the ordinary COl!rse of business under an existing credit 
facility (as in effect on the date hereof); provided that any such Indebtedness with respect to borrowed money incurred, 
assumed, Qcquired, endorsed, guaranteed or for which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries otherwise becomes liable under 
this Section 6.1(b)(vii) (other than clause (C) shall not be subject to any material prepayment penalty; 

(viii) make any loans or advances to any other Person in excess of$I,OOO,OOO in the aggregate, except for (x) loans or 
. advances among the CompallY and any of its Subsidiaries, in each case, in the ordinary course of business, and (y) advances to 

directors or employees -in the ordinary course of business to cover costs and expenses incurred in their respective capacities as 
such; 

(ix) (A) sell, transfer, lease, rent, license, assign, abandon, mortgage, encumber or otherwise dispose of any of its 
properties, legal entities or assets to any Person other than sales, transfers, leases,. rents, licenses, assignments, abandonments, 
mortgages, encumbrances OI dispositions (x) in the ordinary course ofbusin'ess con:sigtent with past practice, (y) on an 
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intercompany basis among the Company and its Subsidiaries, or (z) mortgages or encumbrances on properties, legal entities or 
properties that are not material or (B) cancel, release or assign any material Indebtedness of any such Person owed to it, in the 
case of each of clause CA) and clause (B) other than Permitted Liens; 

(x) (A) acquire (whether by merger or consolidation, acquisition ~f stock or assets or by formation of a joint venture or 
otherwise) any other Person for consideration in excess of $5,000,000 in any transaction or series of related transactions or any 
material assets or properties of any other Person, or (B) make any material investment in any other Person either by purchase of 
stock or securities, contributions to capital, property transfers or purchase of property or assets of any Person other than (x) a 
Wholly owned Subsidiary of the Company or (y) as required by the terms of any Contract in effect as of the date ofthis 
Agreement (other than. letters of intent); 

(xi) make any capital expenditures in excess of its 2017 capital expenditure budget as disclosed to Parent prior to the date 
hereof; provided, however, subject to prior consultation with Parent, that the Company and its Subsidiaries shall be permitted to 
make emergency capital expenditures in any commercially reasonable amount that the Company reasonably determines is 
necessary to maintain its ability to operate its businesses in the ordinary course of business; 

(xii) except in the ordinary course of business, (x) terminate, materially amend, or waive any material right under, any 
Company Material Contract or (y) enter into any contract that would constitute a Company Material Contract ifit were in effect 
on the date of this Agreement; 

(xiii) except as required by applicable Law or the terms of any Company Benefit Plan, or as set forth in Section 6. I(b)(xiii) 
of the Company Disclosure Schedule, as in effect on the date of this Agreement, and except as required or permitted by this 
Agreement, (A) establish, adopt, enter into, amend or terminate any Collective Bargaining Agreement or Company Benefit Plan 
(including, but not limited to, any employment, change-in-control, retention, severance, compensation or similar agreement or 
arrangement) or any plan that would be a Company Benefit Plan if in effect on the date hereof (including, but not limited to, any 
employment, change-in-control, retention, severance, compensation or similar agreement or arrangement) except for 
establishing, adopting, entering il1to, or amending any Company Benefit Plan as may be required to implement any action 
otherwise permitted under this Section 6. I (b)(xiii), (B) increase in any manner the compensation (including severance, change­
in-control and· retention compensation) or benefits of any of the current or former directors, officers, employees, partners, 
consultants, independent contractors or other service providers of the Company or its Subsidiaries, in each case other than in the 
ordinary course of business, (C) payor award, or commit to payor award, any bonuses or incentive compensation (including 
equity-based incentive compensation or retentio!! bonuses), (D) accelerate any rights or benefits, other than in the ordinary 
~our:;~ of business and consistent with past practice, (E) establish or fund any rabbi trust or other funding arrangement in respect 

. ohny Company Benefit Plan, (F) grant or amend any Company Stock Awards or other: equity-based awards, or (G) hire, Or 
terminate (other than for cause) the employment or services of, any officer, employee, independent contractor or consultant who 
has annualiz·~d base compensation greater than $300,000; provided, that, the Company may establish terms and conditions for 
the payment of cash bonuses in respect of 2017 to ~he extent that the bonus targets, metrics, degree of attainability and reliance, 

, on SUbjective performance criteria are substantially comparable to such awards made in calendar year 2.0 I 6 (with reasonable 
a<Uustments to account for changes in business objectives) and are reflected at 100% oftarget payout in the Company's 2017 
budget provided to Purchaser in connection with the Transactions; 
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(xiv) implement or adopt any change in its financial accounting principles, practices or methods, other than as may be 
required by GAAP or applicable Law, each as concurred with by the Company's independent registered public accountants; 

(xv) settle or compromise any Action, except for settlements or compromises that (A) with respect to the payment of 
monetary damages, involve monetary remedies with a value not in excess of$1,000,000 (net of any amounts covered by 
insurance or reserved for in the most recent balance sheet included in the Company Financial Statements as of the date hereof), 
individually or in the aggregate or (8) do not impose any: material restriction on the Company's business or the businesses of its 
Subsidiaries; 

(xvi) except in the ordinary course of business, make, change or revoke any material Tax election, change or adopt any 
annual Tax accounting period or adopt or change any material method of Tax accounting, file any amended Tax Return, enter 
into any "closing agreement" within the meaning of Section 7]21 of the Code (or any analogous or similar provision of state, 
local or foreign Law), request any Tax ruling from any Taxing Authority, settle or compromise any material Tax Liability or any 
audit, examination or other proceeding relating to a material amount of Taxes, or surrender any claim for a material refund of 
Taxes; 

(xvii) enter into any new line of business; 

(xviii) other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, reduce the amount of insurance coverage 
or fail to renew or replace any existing insurance policies; 

(xix) amend any material Company Permit in a manner that adversely impacts the ability to conduct its business, or 
terminate or allow to lapse any material Company Permits in a manner that adversely impacts its ability to conduct its business; 

(xx) cancel or allow to lapse or otherwise abandon any material Company Intellectual Property; 

(xxi) amend or modify the engagement letter of the Company's financial advisor in a manner that increases the fee or 
commission payable by the Company or any 'of its Subsidiaries; or . 

(xxii) agree to take or authorize, or make any binding commitment to take, any of the foregoing actions that are prohibited 
pursuant to this Sectron 6.I(b). 

Section 6.2 Access. 

(&) For purposes offurthering the Transactions,the,Companyshall upon reasonable advance notice, afford Parent and its 
Representatives (at Parenfs and its Representatives' solci cost and expense) reasonaqle ~ccess during normal business hours, 
throughout the period prior to the First Effective Time,.in a mann.er that do~s not unreasonably interfere with the business of the 
Company.or any of its Subsidiaries or Facility Entities, to its and.its Subsidiaries' and Facility Entities' personnel, properties, 

. contraots. books and records, Tax: Returns, Representatives, accQlIntant wQrk papers, permits, licenses and any report, schedule or 
. other doc.un;rent fileq pr received by it pursuant to the requirements of applicable Law, and, during such period, the Company shall, 

and shall calise its Subsidiaries to, and shall use iellsonab.le efforts to. cause i1$ Facility Entities to, without limitation to the preceding 
obligations, make availabie to Parent subject to the same terms and conditions all other information concerning its business, 
properties and personnel as Parent may reasonably request. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company 

49 

88 



-I 

shall not be required to provide access to or make available to any person any document or information that, in the reasonable 
judgment of the Company, (i) would violate any of its obligations with respect to any applicable Law or Order, (ii) would violate any 
of its material obligations with respect to confidentiality or the terms of any Contract (provided that the Company will use reasonable 
best effol1s to provide, or allow such access or disclosure to, any such document or information) or (iii) is subject to any attorney­
client or work-product privilege (provided that the Company will use reasonable best efforts to allow such access or disclosure in a 
manner that does not result in loss or waiver of such privilege, including, but not limited to, entering into appropriate common interest 
or similar agreements). All requests for access or information made pursuant to this Section 6.2(a} shall be directed to an executive 
officer or other person designated by the Company. 

(b) No investigation by Parent or its Representatives shall affect or be deemed to modify or waive the representations and 
warranties of the Company set forth in this Agreement. No rights under this Section 6.2 can be exercised by Parent or any of its 
Representatives to prepare for, or otherwise in connection with, any Action relating to this Agreement or to provide Parent or any of 
its Representatives access to any of the Facility Entities that is greater than the access the Company has historically had to such 
Facility Entity. 

(c) The Parties hereto hereby agree that all information provided to them or their respective Representatives in connection with 
this Agreement and the consummation ofthe Transactions shall be governed in accordance with the confidentiality agreement, dated 
December 18, 2016 (the "Confidentiality Agreement"), between the Company and Parent. 

Section 6.3 No Solicitation. 

(a) The Company shall and shall cause each orits Subsidiaries and its and their respective officers, directors, managers and 
employees and shall instruct and cause its and its Subsidiaries' respective agents, financial advisors, investment bankers, attorneys 
and accountants (such officers, directors, managers, employees, agents, financial advisors, investment bankers, attorneys and 
accountants in their capacity as such, collectively, "Representatives"): (i) to immediately cease and cause to be terminated any 
solicitation, discussions or negotiations with any Persons (other than Parent and its Representatives) that are ongoing with respect to a 
Company Takeover Proposal and (i/) not to, directly or indirectly through intermediaries, (A) solicit, initiate, knowingly encourage 
(including by way offilrnishing non-public information relating to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries) or knowingly facilitate 
any inquiries regarding, or the making of any proposal or offer that constitutes, or could reasonably be expected to lead to, a 
Company TakeC'ver Proposal, (B) conduct, engage in, continue or otherwise participate in allY discussions or negotiations regarding, 
or furnish to any other Person any information in connection with, or for the purpose of knowingly encouraging or knowingly 
facilitating, a Company Takeover Proposal (other than,solely in response to an unsolicited inquiry, to refer the inquiring Person to 

. this Section 6.3 end to limit its conversation or other communication exclusively to such referral), (C) approve, endorse,.recommend 
or enter into, or propose ~o approve, endorse, recommend or enter into, any letter of intent, term sheet, acquisition agreement, merger 
agreement, joint v"nture agreement or similar document, agreement, commitment or agreement in principle (whether written, oral, 
binding or non-binding) with respect to a Company Takeover Proposal, (D)amend or grant any waiver or release under any standstill 
or similar agreement with respect to any class of equity securities of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (E) approve· any 
transaction involving the Company or any of its Subsidiaries under or any third party (other than Parent or Purchaser) becoming an 
"interested stockholder" oftheCompany or any ofits Subsidiaries under, Section 203 of the DGCL or Article XIII oftheCompany 
Certificate (except a transaction involving Parent, Purchaser 01' their Affiliates) or (F) resolve to do any of the foregoing. 
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(b) The Company shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries to, promptly request any Person that has executed a confidentiality or 
non-disclosure agreement in connection with any actual or potential Company Takeover Proposal that remains in effect as of the date 
of this Agreement to return or destroy all confidential information in the possession of such Person or its Representatives. The 
Company shall, within twenty-four (24) hours ofthe date hereof, terminate access by any third party to any data room (virtual or 
actual) containing any ofthe Company's confidential information. 

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, if at any time after the date of this Agreement and 
prior to the Acceptance Time, the Company or any of its Representatives, receives a bona fide written Company Takeover Proposal 
from any Person that did not result from a breach of this Section 6.3 and if the Company Board of Directors determines in good faith, 
after consultation with its independent financial advisor and outside legal counsel, that such Company Takeover Proposal constitutes 
or is reasonably likely to lead to a Company Superior Proposal and that the failure to take such action would be inconsistent with the 
directors' fiduciary duties under applicable Law, then the Company, its Subsidiaries and their respective Representatives may, 
(i) furnish information with respect to the Company, its Subsidiaries and the Facility Entities to the Person who has made such 
Company Takeover Proposal, including non-public information, if the Company receives from such Person an executed 
confidentiality agreement containing terms that are not materially less restrictive to the other party than those contained in the 
Confidentiality Agreement (such confidentiality agreement, an "Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement".); provided that the Company 
shall promptly (but in no event later than twenty-four (24) hours) deliver a copy of any Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement that it 
enters mto to Parent; provided further that the Company shall concurrently with the delivery to such Person make available to Parent 
any non-public information concerning the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that is provided or made available to such Person or its 
Representatives unless such non-public information has been previously provided to Parent and (ii) engage in or otherwise participate 
in discnssioL1$ or negotiations with the Person making such Company Takeover Propvsal and its Representatives regarding such 
Company Takeover Proposal. The Company shall promptly (and in any event within twenty-four (24) hours) notify Parent and the 
Merger Subs if the Company commences furnishing non-public information or commences discussions or negotiations as provided in 
this Section 6.3(c). 

(d) The Company shall promptly (and in no event later than twenty-four (24) hours after receipt) notify Parent in writing in the 
event that the Company or any of its Representatives receives a Company Takeover Proposal or a request for information relating to 
the Compa!)y or its Subsidiaries that contemplates a Company Takeover Proposal, including the identity of the Person making the 
Company Takeover Proposal and the material terms and conditions thereof (including an unredacted copy of such Company 
Takeover Proposal or, where such Company Takeover Proposal is not in writing, a description of the terms thereof). The Company 
shall promptiy (ane in no event later than twenty .. four (24) hours after receipt) proVide to Parent copies of any proposals, ~ndications 

. of intere.>t and/or ('raft agreements relating to such Company Takeover Proposal. The Company shall provide Parent with at least two' 
(2) Busi\less D<::i'S priQr written notice of "lny meeting of the Company Board of Directors tor such lesser notice as is provided to 
members ofthe C,)mpny Board of Directors) !It which the Company Board of Directors is reasonably expected to consider any'. 
Company Takeo'vtr Proposal. The Company agrees that it ar,d its Subsidiaries wi!l not enter into liny agreement with any Person 

, subsequent to the datI:! of this Agreement that prohibits the Company from providing any information to Parent in accordance with, 01' 

-otherwise complying with, this Section 6.3. 

(e) The Compaay Board of Directors shall not (i)(A) unless a Company Adverse Recommendation Change has been made in 
compliance with t.his Section 6.3, fail to include the Company Recommendation in the Schedule 14D-9 or the Offer Prospectus when 
disseminated to the Company's stockholders, (B) change, qualify, withhold, withdraw or modify (or authorize or publicly propose to 
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change, quality, withhold, withdraw or modify), in any such case in a manner adverse to Parent, the Company Recommendation, 
(C) publicly recommend a tender offer or exchange offer (other than the Offer), (D) adopt, approve or recommend, or publicly 
propose to adopt, approve or recommend, to stockholders of the Company a Company Takeover Proposal, (E) make any public 
statement inconsistent with the Company Recommendation, or (F) if a Company Takeover Proposal shall have been publicly 
announced or disclosed, either fail to recommend against such Company Takeover Proposal or fail to reaffirm the Company 
Recommendation promptly following a written request by Parent to do so and in any event on or prior to the later of (x) the fifth 
(5th) Business Day prior to the then-scheduled Expiration Date of the Offer (if the then-scheduled Expiration Date cannot be 
extended in accordance with Section l.lL£.lliill, or (y) the tenth (10th) Business Day after the Company Takeover Proposal shall have 
been publicly announced or disclosed, but in any event at least one (1) Business Day prior to such scheduled Expiration Date) (any 
action described in this clause (i) being referred to as a "Company Adverse Recommendation Change"), or (ii) authorize, cause or 
permit the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to enter into any letter of intent, memorandum of understanding, agreement (including 
an acquisition agreement, merger agreement, joint venture agreement or other agreement) or agreement in principle with respect to 
any Company Takeover Proposal (other than an Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement) (a "Company Acquisition Agreement"). 

(f) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, prior to the Acceptance Time, but not after, the 
Company Board ofDirecLors may, in respect of a bona fide, written Company Superior Proposal that did not result from a breach of 
this Section 6.3, (l) make a Company Adverse Recommendation Change or (2) terminate this Agreement in accordance with 
Section 8.1 (Q in order to enter into a definitive agreement for such Company Superior Proposal, in either case if and only if, prior to 
taking such action, the Company Board of Directors has determined in good faith, after consultation with its independent financial 
adviser and outside legal counsel, that the failure to take such action would be inconsistent with the directors' fiduciary duties under 
applicable Law; provided, however, that, prior to taking either such action, (w) the Company has given Parent at least five 
(5) Business Days' prior written notice of its intention to take such action, including the terms and conditions of and the basis for such 
action, and the identity ofthe Person making, any such Company Superior Proposal and has contemporaneously provided to Parent a 
copy of the Company Superior Proposal or any proposed Company Acquisition Agreements and a copy of any related financing 
commitments in the Company's possession (or, in each case, ifnot provided in writing to the Company, a written summary of the 
terms thereof), (x) the Company has negotiated, and has caused its RepresentativeS to negotiate, in good faith with Parent during such 
five (5) l3usiness Day period, to the extent Parent wishes to negotiate, concerning any revisions to the terms of this Agreement 
proposed by Parent, and (y) following the end of such five (5) Business Days' notice period, the Company Board of Directors shall 
have determined, after consultation with its independent financial advisor and outside legal counsel, and giving due consideration to 
the ~evisions to~he terms of this Agreement to which Par.ent has committed in writing, that the Company Superior Proposal would 
nevet1heless con.tinue .to c6n,stitute a Company Superior Proposal' (assuming the revisions committed to by Parent in writing were to 
be givepef[ect) andtha(tqe failuni to take such action would be incon.sistent with t~e directors" fiduciary duties under applicable 
La'"Y., lUlU (z) i·n tbe event of any change to any of the financial terms'(including the form, amount and timing of payment of 
consideration) or any oth¢r material terms of such Company Superior Proposal', the Company' shall, in each case, have delivered to 

'Parent an additiona( notice cdp~istent yvith that described in91ause (W) ab.9veof mis p'rovi~ and a new notice period under clause 
'(w) of this provi~o shall commence (except that the five (5) Blisiness Day'notice period referred to above shall instead be equal to two 
(2) Business Days) during which time the Company shall be required to comply with the requirements ofthis Section 6.3(D anew 

. with .respect to such additional notice, including clauses (w) through (z) above af this proviso. Notwithstanding anything to the 
contrary contained. herein, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries shall enter Into any Company Acquisition Agreement 
unless this Agreement has been terminated in accordance with its terms and the Termination.Fee has been paid in the manner 
provided in Section 8.3. 
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(g) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, other than in connection with a Company Takeover 
Proposal, the Company Board of Directors may, at any time prior to, but not after, the Acceptance Time, make a Company Adverse 
Recommendation Change in response to an Intervening Event if, prior to taking such action, the Company Board of Directors has 
determined in good faith, after consultation with its independent financial advisor and outside legal counsel, that the failure to take 
such action would be inconsistent with the directors' fiduciary duties under applicable Law, provided, however, that, prior to taking 
stich action, (i) the Company has given Parent at least five (5) Business Days' prior written notice of its intention to take such action, 
and specifying in reasonable detail the Intervening Event and the potential reasons that the Company Board of Directors is proposing 
to effect a Company Adverse Recommendation Change, (ii) the Company has negotiated, and has caused its Representatives to 
negotiate, in good faith with Parent during such five (5) Business Day period, to the extent Parent wishes to negotiate, to enable 
Parent to propose revisions to the terms of this Agreement such that it would cause the Company Board of Directors to not make such 
Company Adverse Recommendation Change, and (iii) following the end of such five (5) Business Days period, the Company Board 
of Directors shall have considered in good faith any revisions to the terms of this Agreement to which Parent has committed in 
writing, and shall have determined, after consultation with its independent financial advisor and outside legal counsel (assuming the 
revisions committed to by Parent in writing were to be given effect), that the failure to make a Company Adverse Recommendation 
Change would be inconsistent with the directors' fiduciary duties under applicable Law. 

(h) Nothing contained in this Section 6.3 shall prohibit the Company or the Company Board of Directors from complying with 
its disclosure obligations under United States federal or state Law with regard to a Company Takeover Proposal, including (i) taking 
and disclosing to the stockholders of the Company a position contemplated by Rule 14e-2(a)(2)-(3) or Rule 14d-9 promulgated under 
the Exchange Act or (ii) making any "stop, look and listen" communication to the stockholders of the Company pursuant to Rule 14d-
9{f) under the Exchange Act if, in either case, the Company Board of Directors determines in good faith, after consultation with 
outside legal counsel, that the failure to do so would be inconsistent with the directors' fiduciary duties under applicable Law or 
obligations of the Company or the Company Board of Directors under applicable federal securities Law; provided, however, that in 
any event the Company Board of Directors shall not make or resolve to make a Company Adverse Recommendation Change except 
in accordance with Section 6.3(e), Section 6.3(f) or Section 6.3(g), as applicable or otherwise take, agree or resolve to take any action 
prohibited or governed by this·Section 6.3 except in accordance with this Section 6.3. 

Section 6.4 Embloyee Matters. 

(a) Prior to the First Effective Time, the Company will, and will cause its Subsidiaries to, and from and after the First Effective 
Time, Par.,nt will, and will cause the First Surviving Corporation or the 'Surviving Compa.'lY, as applicable, to honor, in accordance 
'with their terms, including any right to amend or terminate. ali existing employment and 5everance agreements between the Company 
or any of its Subsidiaries and any officer, director or employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, but excluding any officers, 
directors or employees that primarily work at a (i) FacilitY Entity or (ii) a provider of health care services. 

(b) Effective as of the First Effective Time and until the one (1) year anniversary ofthe First Effective Time, Parent shall 
. provide, or shaH cause the First SurViving Corporation or the Survivin~fCompany, as applicable, to provide, to each employee of the 
Company or its Subsidiaries who continues to be employed ·by Parent or the First Surviving Corporation or the Surviving Company, 
as applicahle; or 
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any of their Subsidiaries following the First Effective Time, but excluding any officers, directors or employees that primarily work at 
a (i) Facility Entity or (ii) a provider of health care services (the "Continuing Employees"), (i) base salary or base wage, bonus and 
incentive opportunities (excluding any equity based compensation awards, the ESPP, and any retention bonuses or special one-time 
payments) no less favorable than those provided to such Continuing Employees immediately prior to the First Effective Time and 
(ii) employee benefits including retirement and welfare benefits (excluding equity based compensation awards and the ESPP) that are, 
in the aggregate, no less favorable than those provided to such Continuing Employees immediately prior to the First Effective Time 
or, in Parent'!) discretion, are substantially comparable to those made available similarly situated employees of Parent and its 
Subsidiaries. 

(c) Following the First Effective Time, Parent shall, or shall cause the Surviving Company to, cause any employee benefit plans 
sponsored or maintained by Parent or the Surviving Company or their Subsidiaries in which the Continuing Employees are eligible to 
participate following the Closing Date to (l) waive any pre-existing conditions or limitations, actively-at-work requirements and 
eligibility waiting periods under any welfare plans of Parent or its Subsidiaries (except, fhat such waiver shall not apply to Parent's 
employee s'upp!emerttallife insurance election options, with or without Accidental Death and Dismemberment, of (i) one times or two 
times salary for coverage greater than $500,000 or (ii) three times or four times salary, to the extent such evidence of insurability is 
required under Contract by Parent's employee supplemental life insurance); and (2) give each Continuing Employee service credit for 
such Continuing Employee's employment with the Company and its Subsidiaries (as well as service with any predecessor employer 
ofthe Company ot any such Subsidiary, to the extent service with the predecessor employer is recognized by the Company or such 
Suosidiary) prior to the First Effective Time for all purposes including level of benefits (including severance benefits), vesting, 
benefit accrual, and eligibility to participate under each applicable Parent benefit plan, as ifsuch service had been performed with 
Parenr, except for any employee benefit plans that are frozen or grandfathered as ofllie First Effective Time, for purposes of 
qllalifying for subs:dized early retirement benefits (including retirement treatment under the Parent Stock Plans), or for benefit 
accrual under defined benefit pension plans, or to the extent it would result in a duplication of benefits. 

(d) Tfrequested by Parent in writing delivered to the Company not less than ten (10) Business Days before the anticipated First 
Etlt1ctive Tim!':, the Company Board of Directors (or the appropriate committee thereof) shall adopt resolutions and 'take such 
corporate a;:;tion as is reasonably necessary to terminate the Company's 401 (k) plans (collectively, the "Company 401(kl Plan"), 
effect!'li!:: a3 of the day prior to the First Effective Time. Following the First Effective Time, and as soon as. reasonably practicable 
!bliowing P!lIent's "eceipt of a favorable determination letter from the IRS on the termination of th~ Company 401(k) Plan, which 
Parent shall reque!.,"t as soon as reasonably practicable following the First Effective Ti:ne; the assets thereof shall be distributed.to. the 
partil'ipal1ts, and Pamr:tshall take any and all actions as may be required, including arr'e;Jdments to the Company 401 (k) Plan andior 
Parent'~; applicable 40 l(k) plan (the "Parent 40 l(k) Plan") to permit the Continuing,Employees who are then actively employed to 

;,' milke roliovo;-r eOlltdbuti(lns of "eligible rollover distributions" (within the mean;llg of Section 401 (a)(31) of the Code), in the form of . 
cash, shaf'~s ofPurent Common Stock, notes (in the case ofloans) or.a combination thereof in an amount eq:Jal to the full account 
b;:llance distributed to such Continuing Employee from the Company 40 I (k) Plan to the Pare!!t 401(k) Plan. 

(e) Nothi:1g ir. thi'; Agreement shall confer upon any Continuing Emplcyee or otber service provider any right to .cont4nue in the 
~mploy or :;ervice of Parent. the Surviving Company or any Affiliate of Parent, or shaH interfere with or rl.'.strict in-any way the lights 
of Parent, the Surviving Company or any of their Affiliates, which rights are hereby expressly reserved, to discharge or terminate the 
sen'ices of any Continuing Employee at any time for any reason whatsoever, with or without cause. Without limiting any of the 
obligations in Section 6.4(a) and Section 6.4(b). in no event shall the terms of this 
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Agreement be deemed to (i) establish, amend, or modifY any Company Benefit Plan or any "employee benefit plan" as defined in 
Section 3(3) of ERISA, or any other benefit plan, program, agreement or arrangement maintained or sponsored by Parent, the 
Surviving Company, the Company or any of their Subsidiaries (including, after the Closing Date, the Company and its Subsidiaries) 
or Affiliates; or (ii) alter or limit the ability of Parent, the Surviving Company or any of their Subsidiaries (including, after the 
Closing Date, the Company and its Subsidiaries) or Affiliates to amend, modifY or terminate any Company Benefit Plan or any other 
compensation or benefit or employment plan, program, agreement or arrangement after the Closing Date. Notwithstanding any 
provision in this Agreement to the contrary, nothing in this Section 6.4 shall create any third party beneficiary rights in any 
Continuing Employee or current or former service provider of the Company or its Affiliates (or any beneficiaries or dependents 
thereof). 

(f) Prior to making any widely distributed written or orally binding communications to the Continuing Employees pertaining to 
material compensation or benefit matters that are affected by the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, the Company shall use 
commercially reasonable efforts to provide Parent with a copy of the intended communication and a reasonable period oftime to 
review and comment on the communication, and shall consider any such comments in good faith. 

(g) The Company shall provide Parent with an update to Section 4.2(h) of the Company Disclosure Schedule within three 
(3) Business Days prior to the anticipated Acceptance Time, to reflect any changes occurring between the date ofthis Agreement and 
the applicable date of delivery of such updated schedule. 

(h) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or the terms applicable to the Company Stock Awards issued 
under the 2013 Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plan providing for accelerated vesting in the event of certain terminations following a 
Change in Control, as such term is defined in the agreements governing any such awards, the Company and Parent agree, and shall 
take all necessary actions to amend the terms of such awards, conditioned upon the occurrence of the First Effective Time, to provide 
that the period following such a Change in Control during which an individual's award becomes fully vested in the event of certain 

. terminations as prov.ided for therein shall be extended from two (2) years to four (4) years. 

Section 6.5 Regulatory Approvals: Efforts. 

; (a) Prior to the Closing, Parent, the Merger Subs and the Company shall use their respective reasonable best .efforts to 
consummate the Offer and the Mergers and make effective the Mergers as soon as practicable, including (i) the prompt preparation 

. and filirig of all forms,registrations, applications and notices required to be filea under applicable Law to consummate the Offer and 
the Mergers (including the Registration Statement, the Offer Document's, the Schedule 14D"9 and the Offer Prospectus), (ii) the 

, ~atisfaction ofthe conditi.ons to' consummating the Offer and. the Mergers; (iii) taking all actions necessary to as soon as practicable 
e'btain (and cooperating 'Yith'each other in obtaining (including through the provision oflriformation required for any health 
'regulatory or'other permits, licenses, consents and approvals», any consent, waiver, authoriZation, Order or approval of, or any 

i exemption,by, any third party, including any Governmental Entity (whicl1actions shall include furnishing a.1l information and 
, documentarY·,material required under the HSR Act) required to be obtained or made by Parent, the Merger Subs, th0 Company or any 

oOheir I:esp~ctive Subsidiaries iuconnection with the Offer or the Mergers or the taking of any action contemplated b}' this 
,Agre~ment, and (iv) ,the e~ecution and delivery of any reasonable additional instruments necessary to consummate the Offer and the 
Mergt;rs and to fully c~rry out the purposes of this Agreement~ 
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(b) Parentand the Company shall each keep the other reasonably apprised of the status of matters relating to the completion of 
the Offer and the'Mergers and work cooperatiVely in connection with obtaining all required consents, waivers, authorizations, Orders 
or approvals of, or any exemptions by, any Governmental Entity undertaken pursuant to the provisions of this Section 6.5. In that 
regard, prior to the Closing, each Party shall promptly consult with the other Parties to this Agreement with respect to and provide 
any reasonable information and assistance as the other Parties may reasonably request with respect to (and, in the case of 
correspondence, provide the other Parties (or their counsel) copies of) all notices, submissions, or filings made by sllch Party with any 
Governmental Entity or any other information supplied by such Party to, or correspondence with, a Governmental Entity in 
connection with this Agreement and the Offer and the Mergers. Each Party to this Agreement shall promptly inform the other Parties 
to this Agreement, and if in writing, furnish the other Paliies with copies of (or, in the case of oral communications, advise the other 
Parties orally of) any communication from or to any Governmental Entity regarding the Offer and the Mergers, and afford the other 
Parties a reasonable opportunity to review and discuss in advance, and reasonably consider the views of the other Parties in 
connection with. any proposed communication with any such Governmental Entity. The Parties agree that it is Parent's sole right to 
devise the strategy for all filings, notifications, submissions and communications in connection with any filing, notice, petition, 
statement, registration, submission of information, application or similar filing with a Governmental Entity subject to this Section 6.5, 
so long as such strateJ~y complies with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Ifany Party to this Agreement or any 
Representative of such Parties receives a request for additional information or documentary material from any Governmental Entity 
with respect to the Offer or the Mergers, then such Party will use reasonable best efforts to make. or cause to be made, as promptly as 
reasonably practicable and after reasonable consultation with the other Parties to this Agreement, an appropriate response to such 
request. To the extent permitted by Law, each Party shall furnish the other Parties with copies of all correspondence, filings and 
communications (and memoranda setting forth the substance thereof) between it and any such Governmental Entity with respect to 
this Agre~ment ar.d the Offer and the Mergers, and furnish the other Parties with such reasonable information and assistance as the 
other Parties may reasonably request in connection with its preparation of necessary filings or submissions of information to any such 
Governmental Entity; I2!.Qvided, however, that Parent and the Company may, as each deems advisable and necessary, reasonably 
designate any competitively sensitive material provided to the other under this Section 6.5 as "Antitrust Counsel Only Material." 
Such materials and the information contained therein shall be given only to the outside antitrust counsel of the recipient and will not 
be disclose-:I by such outside counsel to employees, officers or directors of the recipient unless express permission is obtained i'1 
advance from the SOUf("'e of the materials (Parent or the Company, as the case may be) or its legal counsel. Notwithstanding anything 
to the contrary contained in this Section 6.5, materials provided pursuant to this Section 6.5 may be redacted (i) to remove references 
concerning the valuation of the Company and the Offer or the Mergers or other confidential information, and (ii) as necessary to 
address reasonable privilege concerns. 

(l:) The Company and Parent will each request early tennimition of the waiting period with respect to the Offer M.d the Mergers 
under ti:r~ RSR Act. The Company and Parent shall use reasonable best efforts to file, as promptly as practicable, but in any eve[1~ no 
later ~h.111 "five (5) Business Days after the date of this Agreement, all notifications required under the HSR Act In the event that the 
Parties receive a :cquest for information or documentary material pursuant to the HSR Act (a "Second Request"), the Parties wili use 
their I;e~pective rC!Js'onable tlest efforts to respond to such Sec')nd Request as promptly as practicable or-as otherwisti agreed by the 
Company and .Parent, and counsel for both Parties will closely cooperate during the entirety of any such SecondRequest review 
proe:ess. 
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Section 6.6 Takeover Statutes. None of Parent, the Company and their respective Subsidiaries s11all take any action that would 
cause the Transactions or the Tender and Support Agreement, to be subject to requirements imposed by any takeover statute. If any 
"moratorium", "control share acquisition", "fair price", "supermajority", "affiliate transactions" or "business combination statute or 
regulation" or other similar state anti-takeover Laws and regulations may become, or may purport to be, applicable to the Offer, the 
Mergers or any other Transactions, or the Tender and Support Agreement, each of the Company and Parent and their. respective 
boards of directors, or in the case of Merger Sub 2, its manager, shall grant such approvals and take sllch actions as are reasonably 
necessary so that the transactions contemplated hereby and by the Tender and Support Agreement may be consummated as promptly 
as practicable on the terms contemplated hereby and otherwise act to eiiminate or minimize the effects of such statute or regulation on 
the tran!.actions contemplated hereby and by the Tender and Support Agreement. 

Section 6.7 Public Announcements. Unless a Company Adverse Recommendation Change has occurred, the Parties shaH 
consult with one another prior to issuing, and provide each other with the opportunity to review and comment upon, ~ny public 
announcement, statement or other disclosure with respect to this Agreement or the. Transactions and shaH not issue any such public 
announcement or statement prior to such consultation, except as may be required by Law or by the rules and regulations of the New 
York. Stock Exchange or Nasdaq; provided that each of the Company and Parent may make any public statements in response to 
questions by the pre~s, analysts, investors or analyst or investor calls, so long as such statements are not inconsistent with previous 
state.ments mad", jointly b}' the Company and Parent (or made by one Party after having consulted with tbe other Party). ,In ad~ition, 
unless a Company Adverse Recommendation Change has occurred, the Company shall, to the extent reasonably practicable, consult 
with Parent regarding the form and content of any public disclosure of any material developments or matters involving the Company, 
induding eafi~jilgs releases and regulatory matters, reasonably in advance of publication and release. The Company and Parent agree 
to issue ajoir:t press rele'iisl" announcing the execution and delivery of this Agreement. 

Section 0.8 [nd~'lnification and Insurance. 

(a) From :md after the First Effective Time, each of the First Surviving Corporation and the Surviving Company shall, and 
Parent ;>hali~au5e the r;rJ': Surviving Corporation and the Surviving Company to, indemnify and hold harmh~ss, to the 1ullest ext<\nt 
permitted or othel~.v!s\! c-Olltemplated by the Company Organizational Documents (or Organizational Documents of the Company's 
Sub<;idiarie~;, .;:ac.!l present and former director and officer of the Company and any of its Subsidiaries and an)' other!Person entitled 
t,; illd.;:mnifi.;;~tionunder the Company Organizational Documents or organizational documents of the Company's Subsidiaries (in, 
each l:ase, SGlely when acting in such capacity) (collectively, together with their respective heirs, executors and administrators, the 
".Gomn<!f£(J.!l!J,§,~,!.lJaleQ.r&tie.f) against any documented costs or expenses (including documented attorneys' fees),judgments, fines, 
los,~~, claim;;, diil~lage:'. vi' Liabilities hClmed in connection with any Claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigatiolJ.whether civil~ '1 
;;rilTJh~ai, admk;i,tli.\1h'e cr :nves'tigative, arising out of or related to the fact that ~uch Person is or was a,dire("tor.or Gfficer;Qfthe, , 
Company lliy '-It'its 3!lb-,jdiaries 'lfld pertaining to matters existing or oCl:;urring or actions or omissions taker. at{lf prior to the Hrst 
Effecriv;,;'\';,;;." \y;dtlc:in;;; (i) the Transactions, and (ii) actions to enforce th!s Section 6.8, and each of the First'SurviMingColJ)otation 
and 'the Sl1(\r1v!:ig:C6mpilIlY shall, and Parent shall cause the First Survivirig Corporation and the Surviving C('m}:l!;lny to"also, 
;,d:,.'an',:e cx,er:Sf),~ :0 the ':::l'mpany fndemnified Parties as incurred to the fullest extent permitted or orheTWi3!j contympiat.ed by: the .. 
Compar,y Organi.~iltiO!lai Documents (or Organizational Documents of the Company's Subsidiaries); provided that the Company' ' 
lndemmfi.;:d Party to whQm expenses are advanced provides an undertaking to repay such advances if it is ultimately; d,etf\rminedhy a 
fin".! and :1onappea;abie judicial determination that such Company Indemnified Party is not entitled to indemni:6cation, . 
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(b) All rights to indemnification and exculpation from Liabilities for acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the First Effective 
Time and rights to advancement of expenses relating thereto now existing in favor of any Company Indemnified Party or as provided 
in the Company Organizational Documents (or Organizational Documents of the Company's Subsidiaries) or any indemnification 
agreements in existence as of the date hereof between such Company Indemnified Party and the Company or any of its Subsidiaries 
that are set forth on Section 6.8(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, shall survive the Transactions and shall continue in fiJI! 
force and effect in accordance with their terms, and shall not be amended, repealed or otherwise modified for a period of six (6) years 
after the First Effective Time in any manner that would adversely affect the rights thereunder of such Company Indemnified Parties, 
except as required by applicable Law. 

(c) Prior to the First Effective Time, the Company shall and, if the Company is unable to, the Surviving Company shall 
promptly following the First Effective Time, obtain and fully pay the premium for the extension of the directors' and officers' 
liability coverage of the Company's existing directors' and officers' insurance policies for a claims reporting or discovery period of at 
least six (6) Years from and after the First Effective Time from an insurance carrier with the same or better credit rating as the 
Company's current insurance carrier with respect to directors' and officers' liability insurance ("D&O Insurance") with terms, 
conditions, retentions and limits of liability that are no less favorable in the aggregate to the Company Indemnified Parties than the 
Com pan)' 's exi.sting policies. If neither the Company nor the Surviving Company obtains such a "tail" insurance policy as of the First 
Effective Time, then, for a period of six (6) years after the First Effective Time, the Surviving Company shall cause to be maintained 
in effect the D&O Insurance in place as of the date hereof with terms, conditions, retentions and limits ofliability that are no less 
favorable in thlf aggregate to the Company Indemnified Parties than those provided in the Company's existing policies as of the date 
hereof (provide!,i that the Surviving Company may substitute therefor policies with a substantially comparable insurer of similar 
national reputation that have at least the same coverage and amounts as the D&O Insurance in place on the date hereof and containing 
terms, conditions, retentions and limits ofliability which are no less favorable in the aggregate to the Company Indemnified Parties 
than those of the D&O Insurance in place on the date hereof) with respect to claims arising from facts or events, or actions or 
omissions, which occurred or are alleged to have occurred at or before the First Effective Time; provided, however, that the Surviving 
'Company shall not be obligated to make annual premium payments for such insurance to the extent such premiums exceed 200% of 
the premiums.paid jn 2016 by the Company for such insuraIlce (the "Premium Cap"), and if such premiums for such insurance would 
at any time exceed th·; Premium Cap, then the Surviving Company shall cause to be maintained policies of insurance which, in the 
Surviving Company 'sgood faith determination, proviiJe the maximum coverage available at an annual premium equal to the 
Premium Cap. 

.. . (d) The rights 'of ·;;ach Company Indemnified Party pursuant to this'Section 6.8 shall be in addition to, and not in limitation of, 
any bther rights such Company Indemnified Party may have urid'erthe Company Organizational Documents (or Compl'my Subsidiary 
Organizational D(x;u~eilts) or under any appiicable Contracts or Law. "',. . . • . 

. (e) IfPatt:ni. or.the S'.Irviving Company or any oftheir,respective successors or'assigns (i) consolidate with or merge into any 
. other corporatiJi>n o!'cntiry and,shall not be the continuing or s,llrviy;jng corporation or ent.ity of such consolidation or merger or 

(ii):tr.ansfer all or subst.lntiaUy all of its properties and assets to any individuai. corporatiollQr other entity, then, and in each sllch 
..; '.' case,.proper'provisions 3hall be made so that-the successors and assigns of Parent or the Surviving Company shall assume all of the 

: obligations set forilt in thisSectirm 6.8. 

, (f) The pr~visi~ns ofihis Section 6,8 shall survive the First Effective Time and are intended to be for the benefit of, and shall be 
enforceable by, each Company Indemnified Party and his or her heirs and representatives, The Company Indemnified Parties are 
expressly intended as third party beneficiaries of this Section 6.8. 
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Section 6.9 Control of Operations. Without in any way limiting any Party's rights or obligations under this Agreement, the 
Parties understand and agree that (a) nothing contained in this Agreement shall give Parent or the Company, directly or indirectly, the 
right to control or direct the other Party's operations (or the operations ofthe other Party's Subsidiaries) prior to the First Effective 
Time and (b) prior to the First Effective Time, each of the Company and Parent shall exercise, consistent with the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement, complete control and supervision over its operations. 

Section 6.10 Section 16 Matters. Prior to the First Effective Time, Parent and the Company shall take all such steps as may be 
required to cause any dispositions of Company Common Stock (including derivative securities with respect to Company Common 
Stock) or acquisitions of shares of Parent Common Stock (including derivative securities with respect to Parent Common Stock) 
resulting from the Transactions by each Person who is subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act 
with respect to the Company (including any director designated by any such Person and including any Person to the extent deemed a 
director by deputization) or will become subject to such reporting requirements with respect to Parent, to be exempt under Rule 16b-3 
promulgated under the Exchange Act 

Section 6.11 Transaction Litigation. The Company shall give Parent the opportunity to participate in the defense or settlement of 
any stockholder Action against the Company or its directors or executive officers relating to the Transactions, including the Offer and 
the Mergers. The Company agrees that it shall not settle or offer to settle any Action commenced prior to or after the date of this 
Agreement against the Company or its directors, executive officers or similar persons by any stockholder of the Company relating to 
this Agreement. the Offer, the Mergers, or the other Transactions without the prior written consent of Parent, which consent shall not 
be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed to the extent that such settlement only requires (A) the issuance of additional 
disclosure and/or (B) the payment of money if the amount of money to be paid in connection with such settlement does not materially 
exceed any insurance proceeds that the Company reasonably expects to receive with respect to such Action and any deductible in 
respect thereof. Each of Parent and the Company shall notify the other promptly (and in any event within 48 hours) of the 
commencement ofaoy such stockholder Action of which it has received notice. 

Section 6.12 Exchange Matters. 

(a) Parent shall file a supplemental listing application (or such other form as may be required) with the New York Stock 
Exchange with respect to the shares of Parent Common Stock to be issued in connection with the Offer (if the Acceptance Time 
occurs) and the First Merger and such other shares of Parent Common Stock to be reserved for issuance in connection with the Offer 

. (if the Acceptance Timtr occurs) and the First Merger to be approved for listing on the New York Stock Exchange subject to official 
notice of issuance, prior to the Acceptance Time. 

(b), The Company shall coqperate with Parent and use reaso,nable best efforts to take, .or cause to be taken, all actions reasonably 
necessary, proper or advisable .Oll its part under applicable Laws and rules and policies of Nasdaq to enable the delisting of the 
C~mpany Common Stoc~ f.rom Nasdaq and the termination of its registration under the Exchange Act, in each case, as promptly as. 
practicable after the First E(fecti':'e Time, provided that such delisting and t~rmjnation shall not be effective until after the First 
Effective Time. . 

Section 6.13 Rule 14d-10 Matters. The Parties acknowledge that certain payments have been made or are to be made and certain 
benefits have been granted or are to be granted according to employment compensation, severance and other employee benefit plans 
of the Company, including the Company Benefit Plans (collectively, the "Arrangements") to certain holders of shares of Company 
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Common Stock and holders of Company Stock Awards. The Compensation Committee ofthe Company Board of Directors (the 
"Compensation Committee") (a) at a meeting to be held prior to the Acceptance Time, will duly adopt resolutions approving as an 
"employment compensation, severance or other employe,e benefit arrangement" within the meaning of Rule 14d-1O(d)(I) under the 
Exchange Act (i) each Arrangement presented to the Compensation Committee on or prior to the date hereof, (ii) the treatment of the 
Compfl.ny Stock A wards, as applicable, in accordance with the terms set forth in this Agreement, and (iii) the applicable terms of 
Section 6.4 and Section 6.8, and (b) will take all other actions necessary to satisfY the requirements of the non-exclusive safe harbor 
under Rule 14d-IO(d)(2) under the Exchange Act with respect to the foregoing arrangements. The Company represents and warrants 
that each member oftlle Compensation Committee is an "independent director" in accordance with the requirements of Rule 14d-1O 
(d)(2) under the Exchange Act. 

Section 6.14 Certain Tax Matters. Each of the Company and Parent shall use its reasonable best efforts to obtain the opinions of 
counsel referenced in paragraph (E)(5) and (E){6) of Annex A, including by executing and delivering customary tax representation 
letterr, to each such counsel in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to such counsel. None of the Parties shall (and each Party. 
shaU cause its respective Subsidiaries not to) knowingly take any action (or fail to take any reasonable action) which action (or failure 
to act) would reasonably be expected to prevent or impede the Offer and the Mergers, taken together, from qualifYing as a 
"reorganizatio.~" within the meaning of Section 368(a) ofthe Code. The Parties intend to report and, provided the above referenced 
opinions of coun~el are received, except to the extent otherwise required by Law, shall report, for federal income tax purposes, the 
Offer and the Mergers, taken together, as a "reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code. 

Section 1).15 Ad~itional Agreements. In case at any time after the First Effective Time any further action is necessary or 
d.esirablc to carry out the purposes oftbis Agreement or to vest the Surviving Company with full title to all properties, assets, rights, 
npprovals, immun:ties and franchises of any of the Parties to the First Merger or the Second Merger, the officers of the Surviving 
Company shall be authorized to, in the name and on behalf of the Company, execute and deliver such deeds, bills of sale, assignment 

, •. ; or assurances and take all such other action as may be necessary in connection therewith. 

Section 6. Hi Jflvice of Changes. The Company and Parent shall each as promptly as practicable advise 1he other Perty of 
(a) any notice or other written communication received from any counterparty to a material Contract with regard to any action, 
consent, approval.)r waiver that is required to be taken or obtained with respect to such Contract in connection with the . , 
c:)nsummation oftht: Transactions (and provide·a copy thereof), or (b) any notice or other written communication from any other 
Per~cn alJe6ing that ~hc; C0nsent of such Person is or may be required in connection with the Transactions (and provide a copy 
thereof). The Comp::ny shall nf)tif); Parent as promptly as practicable of any written notice or other written communication from any 
party to any C\'mpflny l<,·taterial Contract to the effect that such party has terminated or intends to terminate Or otherwise materially 
adversely modify it- rel,;tiU'lsnip with the Company or any Suhsidiary of the Company as a result of the Transactions. 

Sectioll 6.! 1 !1grt!~r<1ents' Conceming Parent ana the Merger Subs. 

(a) Parent shall Gause the Merge, Subs, the First Surv:ving Corporation and the Surviving Company to perform 1heirrespectiv.e .. 
obligations under this Agreement and to consummate the Transactions upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this 
Agreement. 

(b) Paren~ he:ehy guarantees payment, performance and discharge by Purchaser, Merger Sub 2, the First·Slifviving,CorporatioJ:l 
and the SurViving C(lmpany ot: and the compliance by Purchaser, Merger Sub 2, the First Surviving Corporation and the Sm:viving 
Comp,,-n.y with, all or tl;eir respective 
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covenants, agreements, obligations and undertakings under this Agreement in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. Parent 
shall, immediately following execution of this Agreement, approve this Agreement in its capacity as (i) sole stockholder of Purchaser 
and (ii) sole member of Merger Sub 2, in each case in accordance with applicable Law and the articles of incorporation and bylaws 
(or other applicable organizational documents) of such Merger Sub. 

(c) During the period from the date of this Agreement through the Second Effective Time, the Merger Subs shall not engage in 
any activity of any nature except for activities related to or in furtherance of the Offer and the Mergers. 

Section 6.18 Resignations. The Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause to be delivered to Parent resignations 
executed by each director of the Company in office as of immediately prior to the First Effective Time and effective upon the First 
Effective Time. 

Section 6.19 Debt Matters. 

(a) From and after the date of this Agreement, and through the earlier of the Closing and the date on which this Agreement is 
terminated in accordance with Article VIII, the Company shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries and each of its and their 
Representatives to, use its respective commercially reasonable efforts to provide all cooperation as may be reasonably requested by 
Parent to assist Parent in any repayment of the Company's debt obligations at or following the Closing, including in each case taking 
all customary actions as may be necessary or desirable to effect any such transactions. 

(b) In no event shall this Section 6.19 (a) require the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to agree to or to pay any fees, incur or 
reimburse any costs or expenses, or make any payment, prior to the occurrence of the Closing or otherwise incur any liability or give 
any indemnities prior to the occurrence of the Closing, (b) require the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to take any action that 
would reasonably be expected to conflict with, or result in any violation or breach of, or default (with or without notice or lapse of 
time, or both) under, the Organizational Documents of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, any applicable laws or any Contract, 
( c) require the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to execute or deliver any certificate, document, instrument or Contract that is 
effective prior to the Cosing or agree to any change or modification of any existing certificate, document, instrument or Contract that 
is effective prior to the Closing (other than customary payoffletters), (d) require the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or their 

, . respective Repre:;entatives to enter into, execute or deliver any Contract, or agree to any change or modification to any Contract, that 
. is effective prior to the occurrence of the Closing or that would be effective if the Closing does not occur, or (e) require cooperation 

to the extent it woul<! unreasonably disrupt or interfere with the c.onduct of the business or operations of the Company or its 
Subsidi~ries. ' 

(c) Parent will indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Company and its Subsidiaries and its and their Representatives from 
and against any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, d'lmages~ c1aims,-costs~ expenses"awards,judgments and penalties suffered or 
incurred b)' any of them in connection with any actions taken at the request of Parent pursuant to this ,S,.ection 6.19. 
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ARTICLE VII CONDITIONS TO THE MERGERS 

Section 7.1 Conditions to Each Party's Obligation to Effect the Mergers. The respective obligations of each Party to effect the 
Mergers shall be subject to the fulfillment (or waiver by the Company and Parent, to the extent permissible under applicable Law) on 
or prior to the Closing Date ofthe following conditions: 

(a) Purchase of Shares of Company Common Stock. Purchaser shall have accepted for payment and paid for all of the shares of 
Company Common Stock validly tendered and not properly withdrawn in the Offer. 

(b) No Legal Prohibition. No injunction, whether temporary, preliminary or permanent, by any court or other tribunal of 
competent jurisdiction shall have been entered and shall continue to be in effect, and no Law shall have been adopted or be effecti ve, 
in each case that restrains, enjoins, prevents, pmhibits or makes illegal the consummation of the Mergers. 

ARTICLE VIII TERMINATION 

Section 8.1 Termination or Abandonment Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, this Agreement may be 
terminated and the Offers and the Mergers may be abandoned at any time prior to the Acceptance Time, only as follows, and subject 
to any required authorizations of the Company Board of Directors or the board of directors of Purchaser to the extent required by the 
DGCL, as applicable: 

(a) by the mutual written consent of the Company and Parent; 

(b) (i) by either the Company or Parent, if the Offer shall have terminated or expired in accordance with its terms (subject to the 
rights and obligations of Parent and Purchaser to extend the Offer pursuant to Section 1.1 (c )(ii) without the Minimum Condition 
having been satisfied and the other Offer Conditions having been satisfied or waived by Parent; 

(c) by either the Company or Parent ifthe Acceptance Time shall not have occurred on or prior to 12:01 a.m., New York City 
time, on July 7, 2017 (such date, or as it may be extended pursuant to this Section 8.lfc), the "End Date"); provided, however, that if 
all ofthe Offer Conditions, other than the condition set forth in paragraph (E)(8) of Annex A, shall have been satisfied or waived 
(other than the Minimum Condition and those conditions which by their terms cannot be satisfied prior to the Acceptance Time), and 
the Offer shall not have been terminated theretofore, the End Date may be extended one or more times to 12:01 a.m., New York City 
time, on the date that is ten (10) Business Days following the then-current End Date at the election of Parent by delivery ofwriti:en 
notice to the Company prior to the then-current End Date; provided, further, that Parent may only exercise such an extension up to a 
maximum of two (2) times; 

(d) by either the Company or Parent if an Order by a Governmental Entity of competent jurisdiction shall have been issued 
permanently restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the consummation of the Offer or either Merger and such Order shall 
have become final and nonappealable; provided, ho'l:Y£lli, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 8.1 (d) shall 
not be available to a Party if such Order (or such Order becomi,ng final and nonappealable) was due to the material breach of such 
Party of any covenant or other agreement of such Party set forth in, this Agreement; 
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(e) by the Company (provided that the Company is not then in breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or other 
agreement contained herein such that any Offer Condition set forth in paragraph (E)(2) or (£)(3) of Annex A would not be satistied) 
if: (A)(l) Parent or either Merger Sub shall have breached or failed to perform in any material respect any of their covenants or other 
agreements contained in this Agreement, or (2) any ofthe representations and warranties of Parent and the Merger Subs contained in 
Article V shall have become inaccurate, in each case which breach or inaccuracy, individually or when aggregated with other 
breaches or inaccuracie~, would reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect; and (D) the relevant breaches, 
failures to perform or inaccuracies refen'ed to in clause (A) ofthis Section 8.l(e) is or are either not curable Of is not cured by the 
earlier of (x) the End Date and (y) the date that is thirty (30) calendar days following written notice from the Company to Parent 
describing such breach or failure or inaccuracy in reasonable detail; 

(f) by the Company, prior to the Acceptance Time, in accordance with Section 6.3<0 in order to enter into a definitive agreement 
providing for a Company Superior Proposal either concurrently with or immediately following such termination, provided that 0) the 
Company has complied with its obligations contained in (A) Section 6.3(0, and (D) the remaining provisions of Section 6.3 with 
respect to such Company Superior Proposal in all material respects and (ii) immediately prior to or concurrently with (and as a 
conditIOn to) the termination of this Agreement, the Company pays to Parent the Termination Fee in the manner provided in 
Section 8.3{.ru,; 

(g) by Parent (provided that Parent is not then in breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or other agreement contained 
herein such that any Offer Condition would not be satisfied), if(A) the Company shall have breached or failed to perform any of its 
representations, warranties, covenants or other agreements contained ill this Agreement, which breach or failure to perform, if it 
occurred or was contil!uing to occur at the Acceptance Time, would result in a failure of an Offer Condition set forth in paragraph (E) 
(2) or (E)(3) of Annex A, and (D) the relevant breaches, failures to perform or inaccuracies referred to in clause (A) of this 
Section 8.Hg) is or are not curable or is not cured by the earlier of (x) the date that is thirty (30) days following written notice from 
Parent to the Company describing such breach or failure in reasonable detail and (y) the End Date; and 

",' (h) by Parem if prior to the Acceptance Time, (i) a Company Adverse Recommendation Change shall have occurred; provided 
~;~ that Parent'3 right iu lCflJlinate this Agreement pursuant to this clam;t;! (h)(i) shall expire at II :59 p.m., New York City time; on the 
; :' last Business Day :.fthe first extension of the Offer made by Parent in accordance with Section Ll(c} following the Company 

Adverse Recommendation Change, or (ii) the Company shall have materially violated or materially breached its obligations under 
Section 6.3. 

Section :":.2 Effe~'t ofT(';rmination. In the event of termination of this :\greement pursuani to and in accordance with Section 8.1, 
this Agn:ement shall 'terrr.lllate and become void and of nc effect (except that the C:mfidentiality Agreement and the provisions of thiE 
.Seg.tiOtlJU, Sc,.;l!.9!L§.c1. and Article IX, and the agreements of the Company, Parent and the Merger Subs contained in the last.' 
sentence cf Section_L if c )wil shall survive any termination), and there shall be no other Liability on the part of the Company, on the 
one hand, or P'l.fent 0.1' the Merger Subs, on the other hand, to the other except (i) as provided in Section 8.3 or (ii) Liabili.ty ari~ing out 
of or resulting from traud, intentional misrepresentation or willful br~ach of this Agreement occurring prior to termination (in which 

. case the aggrieved Patty shall be entitled to all rights and remedies 3:/ailable at law or inequity). 

Section 8.3 Termination Fee. 

(a) (i) If this Agreement is terminated by the Company pursuantto and in accordance with Section 8.1(f), the Company shall 
pay to Parent the Tennination Fee, by wire transfer (to an account designated by Parent) in immediately available' funds immediately 
prior to or cQnl~urrently with such termination. 
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(ii) If this Agreement is tenninated by Parent pursuant to and in accordance with Section 8.1 (h), the Company shall pay to 
Parent the Termination Fee, by wire transfer (to an account designated by Parent) in immediately available funds within two 
(2) Business Days after such termination; provided that if the Company terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 8, I (b) or 
Section 8,1(c) at any time at which Parent would have been entitled to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 8J(h)(i), 
this Agreement shall be deemed terminated pursuant to Section 8.1 (h)(i} for purposes ofthis Section 8.3(a)(ii). 

(iii) If(A) a Pre-Termination Takeover Proposal Event shall have occurred at any time following the date of this 
Agreement and thereafter this Agreement is terminated by Parent or the Company pursuant to Section 8.J(b) or Section 8.1 (c) or 
by Parent pursuant to Section 8.l(g) and (B) at any time on or prior to the twelve (12) month anniversary of such termination, 
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries enters into a definitive agreement with respect to any transaction included within the 
definition of Company Takeover Proposal that is subsequently consummated (whether within such twelve (12) month period or 
thereafter) or conSllmmates any transaction included within the definition of Company Takeover Proposal (a "Company 
Takeover Transaction") (whether or not involving the same Company Takeover Proposal as that which was the subject of the 
Pre-Termination Takeover Proposal Event), then the Company shall pay Parent the Termination Fee, by wire transfer (to an 
account designated by Parent) in immediately available funds upon the consummation of such Company Takeover Transaction; 
provided, that in the event that the Termination Fee is payable pursuant to this Section 8.3(alCiii) as a result of a termination of 
this Agreement by Parent pursuant to Section 8.1 (g), then the Termination Fee payable hereunder shall be offset by the amount 
of any damages recovered by Parent as a result ofthe relevant breaches, failures to perfonn or inaccuracies; provided that for the 
purposes of this Section 8,3Ca)(jii), all references in the definition of Company Takeover Proposal to "fifteen percent (15%)" 
shall instead be references to "fifty percent (50%)". ' 

(b) For purposes of this Section 8.3, a "Pre-Termination Takeover Proposal Event" shall be deemed to occur if (i) a Company 
Takeover Proposal shall have been made directly to the Company's stockholders or otherwise publicly announced or publicly 
disclosed, or (ii) a bona fide third party or group shall have made, or disclosed its or their intention to make, a Company Takeover 
Proposal, directly or through an intermediary, to any member of the Company Board of Directors, and in each case of clauses (i) and 
(ii), such Company Takeover Proposal shall not have been withdrawn in good faith at least five (5) Business Days prior to such 
termination; 'provided that for purposes of this Section 8.3(b), all references in the definition of Company Takeover Proposal to 
"fifteen percent (15%)" shall instead be references to "fifty percent (50%)". 

(c) "Termination Fee" shall mean a cash amount equal to $90,000,000. 

. . (d) The parties agree th.at if this Agreement is terminated in acco,rdance with any provision under which payment of the 
. Termimili(:10 Fee is required hereunder, then, 'except in the case offraud, intentional misrepresentation or other willful breach 

occu.rring prior to such'termination, uPon receipt of such payment 'by Parent, (i) the payment of such Termination Fee in accordance 
with tBis Section 8.3, :;hall b~ the sole and exclusive remedy of Parent andth'e Merger Subs for any loss suffered as a result of any 
breach of any covenant or agreement in this Agreement or the failure of,the Transactions to be consummated, and (ii) none of the 
Company, its Su bsidiaries or any 9f their respective former, current or f~ture stockholders, directors, officers, Affiliates, agents or 
other Representatives shall h'ave any further Liability of any kInd for any rea~on 'arising Ollt of or in connection with the Transactions, 

. • ' ,\1 • 
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(e) Each of the Parties hereto acknowledges that the Termination Fee is not intended to be a penalty, but rather is liquidated 
damages in a reasonable amount that will compensate Parent in the circumstances in which such Termination Fee is due and payable 
and which do not involve fraud, intentional misrepresentation or other willful breach, for the efforts and resources expended and 
oppOltunities foregone while negotiating this Agreement and in reliance on this Agreement and on the expectation of the 
consummation of the Transactions, which amount would otherwise be impossible to calculate with precision. In no event shall Parent 
be entitled to more than one payment of the full Termination Fee in connection with a termination of this Agreement pursuant to 
which such Termination Fee is payable. 

(f) Each of the Company, Parent, Purchaser and Merger Sub 2 acknowledges that the agreements contained in this Section 8.3 
are an integral part of the Transactions, and that, without these agreements, the Company, Parent, Purchaser and Merger Sub 2 would 
not enter into this Agreement. Accordingly, if the Company fails to pay in a timely manner any amount due pursuant to Section 8.3 
~, and, in order to obtain such payment, Parent or either Merger Sub commences a suit that results in a judgment against the 
Company for the amounts set fOlih in this Section 8.3 or any portion thereof, then (i) the Company shall reimburse Parent for all costs 
and expenses (incl uding disbursements and reasonable fees of counsel) incurred in in connection with the collection under and 
enforcement of this Section 8.3 and (ii) the Company shall pay to Parent interest on such amount from and including the date 
payment of such amount was due to but excluding the date of actual payment at the prime rate set forth in The Wall Street Journal in 
effect on the date such payment was required to be made plus two percent (2%). 

ARTICLE IX MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 9.1 No Survival of Representations and Warranties. None of the representations, warranties, covenants or agreements in 
this Agreement or in any. instrument delivered pursuant to this Agreement shall survive the First Merger; provided, that this 
Section 9.1 shall not limit any covenant or agreement of the Parties which by its terms contemplates performance or compliance in 
whole or in part after the First Effective Time or otherwise expressly by its terms survives the First Effective Time. 

Section 9.2 Expenses. Except as set forth in Section 8.3, whether or not the Offer and the Mergers are consummated, all costs 
and expenses incurred in connection with the Offer, the Mergers, this Agreement and the other Transactions shall be paid by the Party 
incurring or required to incur such expenses; provided, however, that Parent, on the one hand, and the Company, on the other hand, 
shall be responsible for the payment of fifty percent (50%) of a!ly filings fees under th!,! HSRAct. 

Section 9.3 Counterparts; Effectiveness. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be 
. d~emed to be an original, with the same effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument, and shall 
qecome.effective when on!! or more counterparts have been signed by each of the Parties and delivered (by telecopY,electronic 
delivery or otherwise) to the other Parties. Signatures to this Agreement transmitted by facsimile transmission, by electronic mail in 
"portable document format" (".m!f') form, or by any other electronic means intended to preserve the original graphic and pictorial 
appearance ofa document, will have the same "!ffect as physical delivery of the paper document bearing the original signature. 

Section 9.4 Governing Law. This Agreement, and all claims or causes of action (whether at Law, in contract or in tort or 
otherwise) that may be based upon, arise out of or relate to this Agreement or the negotiation, execution or performance hereof, shall 
be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without giving effect to any choice or conflict of 
law provision or rule (whether of the State of Delaware or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of the Laws of any 
jurisdiction other than the State of Delaware. 
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Section 9.5 Jurisdiction: Specific Enforcement. The Parties agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of 
the provisions of this Agreement were not performed, in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached. It is 
accordingly agreed that, in addition to any other remedy that may be available to it, including monetary damages, each ofthe Parties 
shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and 
provisions of this Agreement (including the obligation of the Parties to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement 
and the obligation of Parent and the Merger Subs to pay, and the Company's stockholders' right to receive, the aggregate 
consideration payable to them pursuant to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, in each case in accordance with the terms 
and subject to the ccnditions of this Agreement) exclusively in the Delaware Court of Chancery and any state appellate court 
therefrom within the State of Delaware (or, ifthe Delaware Court of Chancery declines to accept jurisdiction over a particular matter, 
any state or federal court within the State of Delaware). In the event that any action is brought in equity to enforce the provisions of 
this Agreement, no Party shall aUege, and each Party hereby waives the defense or counterclaim, that there is an adequate remedy at 
law. The Parties further agree that no Party to this Agreement shall be required to obtain, furnish or post any bond or similar 
instrument in connection with or as a condition to obtaining any remedy referred to in this Section 9.5 and each Party irrevocably 
waives any objection to the imposition of such relief or any right it may have to require the obtaining, furnishing or posting of any 
such bond or similar instrument. In addition, each of the Parties hereto hTevocably agrees that any legal suit, action or proceeding 
with respect te this Agreement and the rights and obligations arising hereunder, or for recognition and enforcement of any judgment 
in respect ofthi" Agreement and the rights and obligations arising hereunder brought by the other Party hereto or its successors or 
assigns, shall be brought and determined exclusively in the Delaware Court of Chancery and any state appellate court therefrom 
within the State of Delaware (or, if the Delaware Court of Chancery declines to accept jurisdiction over a particular matter, any state 
or federal court within the State of Delaware). Each of the Parties hereto hereby irrevocably submits with regard to any such suit, 
action or proceeding for itself and in respect of its property, genera1ly and unconditionally, to the personal jurisdiction of the aforesaid 
courts and agrees that it will not bring any action relating to this Agreement or the Transactions in any court other than the aforesaid 
courts. Each of the Parties hereto hereby irrevocably waives, and agrees not to assert, by way of motion, as a defense, counterclaim or 
otherwise, in any suit, action or proceeding with respect to this Agreement, (i) any claim that it is not personally subject to the 
jurisdiction of !h~ above named courts, (Ii) any claim that it or its property is exempt ur immune from jurisdiction of any; such court or 

" . from any legal pmcl!ss commenced in such courts (whether through service of notice, attachment prior to judgment, al1ac;hment in aid 
of execution (If judgment, execution of judgment or otherwise) and (iii) to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, any claim 
that (A) the suit, action or proceeding in such court is brought in an inconvenient forum, (B) the venue of such suit, action or 
proceeding is imprope, or (C) this Agreement, or the subject matter hereof, may not be enforced in or by such courts. To the fullest 
extent per11itted by applicable Law, each of the Parties hereto hereby consents to the s·~rvi"e of process in accordance with 
k:'ectioI19.7; p'rovid.~, however, that nothing herein sha11 affect the right of any Party to serve legal process in any other manner 
~crm:tter1 by:Law. . 

Se-::tkm 9.6 WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO IRREVOCABLY WAIVES.ANY AND ALL 
RIGHT TO TRlA.t BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING '}:O TIllS AGREEMENT OR 
rrlE TRANSACTIONS. EACH PARTY CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT (a) NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR 
ATTORNEY OF ANY OTIIER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY 
WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE .FOREGOING WAIVER, (b) EACH PARTY 

66 

105 



UNDERSTANDS AND HAS CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF THIS WAIVER, (c) EACH PARTY MAKES THIS 
WAIVER VOLUNTARILY AND (d) EACH PARTY HAS BEEN INDUCED TO ENTERINTO'THIS AGREEMENT BY, 
AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICA nONS IN THIS Section 9.6. 

Section 9.7 Notices. All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing in one of the following formats and 
shall be deemed given (a) upon actual delivery if personally delivered to the Party to be notified; (b) when sent, when sent by email or 
facsimile by the Party to be notified; provided, however, that notice given by email or facsimile shall not be effective unless (i) such 
notice specifically states that it is being delivered pursuant to this Section 9.7 and either (ii)(A) a duplicate copy of such email or 
facsimile notice is promptly given by one of the other methods described in this Section 9.7 or (B) the receiving Party delivers a 
written confinnation of receipt for such notice either by email (excluding "out of office" replies) or facsimile or any other method 
described in this Section 9.7, or (c) when delivered if sent by a courier (with confirmation of delivery); in each case to the Party to be 
notified at the following address: 

To Parent or the Merger Subs: 

clo UnitedHealth Group Incorporated 
9900 Bren Road East 
Minnetonka, MN 55343 
Attention: Chief Legal Officer 
Fax: (952) 936-3007 
Email: richard.mattera@uhg.com 

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: 

Hogan Lovells US LLP 
1601 Wewatta Street, Suite 900 
Denver, CO 80202 
Attn: Timothy R. Aragon, Esq. 
Facsimile: (303) 899-7333 
Email: timothy.aragon@hoganlovells.com 

To the Company: 

Surgical Care Affiliates, Inc. 
569 Brookwood Village, Suite 901, 
Billnlngbam. AL 35209 
Attn: General Counsel 
Fac~imile: (205) 439-4929 
Email: rsharff@scasurgery.com 
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with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice): 

Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP 
One Liberty Plaza 
New York, NY 10006 
Attn: Paul J. Shim, Esq. 

James E. Langston, Esq. 
Facsimile: (212) 2253999 
Email: pshim@cgsh.com 

jlangston@cgsh.com 

or to such other address as any Party shall specifY by written notice so given. Any Party to this Agreement may notify any other Party 
of any changes to the address or any of the other details specified in this paragraph; provided, however, that such notification shall 
only be effective on the date specified in such notice or five (5) Business Days after the notice is given, whichever is later. Rejection 
or other refusal to accept or the inability to deliver because of changed address of which no notice was given shall be deemed to be 
receipt of the 'lotice as of the date of such rejection, refusal or inability to deliver. 

Section 9.8 Assignment: Binding Effect. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder shall be 
assigned, in whole or in part, by operation of Law or otherwise, by any of the Parties without the prior written consent of the other 
Parties; provided, however, that, prior to the commencement (as such term is defined for purposes of Rule 14d-2 promulgated under 
the Exchange Act) of the Offer, Parent may designate, by written notice to the Company, another wholly-owned Subsidiary to be a 
Merger Sub in lieu of either entity that is a Merger Sub as of the date hereof, in which event all references herein to such Merger Sub 
shall be deemed references to such other Subsidiary, except that all representations and warranties made herein with respect to such 
Merger Sub as of the date of this Agreement shall be deemed representations and warranties made with respect to such other 
Subsidiary as of the date of such designation; provided, further, that any such assignment or designation shall not, and would not 
reasonably be expected to, impede or delay the consummation of any Transaction, prevent or impede the Offer and the Mergers, 
taken t(·gethcr, from qualifying as a "reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368( a) of the Code or otherwise materially 
impede the rights ofthe stockholders of the Company under this Agreement. Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement shall 
be binding upon, inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted 
assigns. Any purpOlted assignment not permitted under this Section 9.8 shall be null and void. 

Sectioll 9.9 Severability. Any term or provision of this Agreement which is invalid ot: unenforceable in any Jurisdiction (a) shall, 
as to that jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity or unenforceability without rendering invalid or unenforceable the 
remaining terms and provisions of this Agreement and (b) shall not, solely by virtue thereof, be invalid or unenforceable in any other 
jurisdiction. If any provision of this Agreement, or the application thereof to any Person or any circumstance, is invalid or 
unenforceable, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to determine a suitable and equitable provision to be substituted therefor in 
order to carry out, so far as may be valid and enforceable, the intent and purpose of such invalid or unenforc.eable provision. 

Section 9.10 Entire Agreement. This Agreement together with the exhibits hereto, schedules and annexes hereto (including the 
Company Disclosure Schedule) and the Confidentiality Agreement constitute the entire agreement, and supersede all other prior 
agreements and understandings, both written and oral, between the Parties, or any of them, with respect to the subject matter hereof 
and thereof, and except as provided by Section 9.13, this Agreement is not intended to grant standing to any Person other than the 
Parties hereto. 
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Section 9.11 Amendments: Waivers. At any time prior to the Acceptance Time, any provision of this Agreement may be 
amended or waived, but only if, such amendment or waiver is in writing and signed, in the case of an amendment, by the Company, 
Parent, Purchaser and Merger Sub 2 or, in the case ofa waiver, by the Party waiving such provision. At any time and from time to 
time prior to the Acceptance Time, either the Company, on the one hand, or Parent and Merger Subs, on the other hand, may, to the 
extent permissible by applicable Law and except as otherwise set forth herein, (a) extend the time for the performance of any of the 
obligations or other acts of Parent or Merger Subs, in the case of an extension by the Company, or of the Company, in the case of an 
extension by Parent and Merger Subs, as applicable, (b) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties made to such 
Party contained herein or in any document delivered pursuant hereto, and (c) waive compliance with any of the agreements or 
conditions for the benefit of any such Party contained herein. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no failure or delay by any Party hereto 
in exercising any right hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or 
further exercise of any other right hereunder. 

Section 9.12 Headings. Headings ofthe Articles and Sections of this Agreement are for convenience of the Parties only and 
shall be given no substantive or interpretive effect whatsoever. The table of contents to this Agreement is for reference purposes only 
and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. 

Section 9.13 No Third-Party Beneficiaries. Except (a) as provided in Section 6.S, or (b) for the right of holders of shares of 
Company Common Stock, after the First Effective Time, to receive the aggregate consideration payable pursuant to Article III ofthis 
Agreement, which rights set forth in,c1auses (a) and (b) of this Section 9.13 are hereby expressly acknowledged and agreed by Parent 
and the Merger Subs, each of Parent, Purchaser, Merger Sub 2 and the Company agrees that their respective representations, 
warranties, covenants and agreements set forth herein are solely for the benefit of the other Parties hereto, in accordance with and 
subject to the terms of this Agreement, and this Agreement is not intended to, and does not, confer upon any Person other than the 
Parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns any rights or remedies hereunder, including the right to rely upon 
the representations and warranties set forth herein. The Parties further agree that the rights of third party beneficiaries under 
.s..ectiun 6J. and clausft (b) of the first sentence of this Section 9.13 shall not arise unless and until the First Effective Time occurs. The 
rtpresentations and warranties in this Agreement are the product of negotiations among the Parties and are for the sole benefit of the 
rarties. 

Section 9.14 Interpretation. When a reference is made in this Agreement to an Article, Section or Annex, such reference shall be 
to ae Article, Section or Annex of this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. Whenever the words "include," "includes" or 
"ilicluding'~ are used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation." The words "hereof', 
"herein" :'lJlO ".hereund(;~" and'words of similar import when used in this Agreement shall refer to this Agree;nent as a whole and not 
to any particular pr6v~3ion of this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires. The word "since" when used in this Agreement 
in r<:ference to a date 5nall be deemed to be inclusive of such date. All terms defined in this Agreement shall have the defined 
I)lcanings when us~d in any certificate or other document made or deiivered pursuant hereto unless otherwise defined therein. The 
defin'itions cpntained in this Agreement are applicable to the singular as well as the plural fOlms of such terms and to the masr.ulinf. as 
well as to' the feminine and neuter genders of such term. References in this Agreement to specific laws or to specific provisions of 
laws shall include all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and any statute defined or referred to herein or in any agreement 
or instIllment referred to herein shall mean such statute as from time to time amended, modified or supplemented, including by 
succession of compaiable successor statutes. Each of the Parties has participated in the drafting and negotiation of this Agreement. If 
mi ambig·jity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement must be construed as if it is drafted by all the Parties, and 
no prr~sumption or burden of 
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proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any Party by virtue of authorship of any of the provisions of this Agreement. Any agreement 
or instrument referred to herein or in any agreement or instrument that is referred to herein means such agreement or instrument as 
from time to time amended, modified or supplemented, including by waiver or consent and references to all attachments thereto and 
instruments incorporated therein. References to "dollars" or "$" shall mean United States dollars. Any reference to days means 
calendar days unless Business Days are expressly specified. References to "written" or "in writing" include in electronic form. When 
used in Article IV or Section 6.1 in relation to the Company or its Subsidiaries, the word "material" shall be deemed to mean 
"material to the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole" and when used in Article V in relation to Parent or its Subsidiaries, 
shall be deemed to mean "material to Parent and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole". 

Section 9.15 Definitions. 

(a) Certain Specified Definitions. As used in this Agreement: 

(i) "Action" means any legal or administrative proceeding, claim, suit, arbitration, mediation, charge, complaint, litigation 
or similar action. 

(ii) "Affiliate" means as to any Person, any other Person that, directly or indirectly, controls, or is controlled by, or is under 
common control with, such Person. For this purpose, "control" (including, with its correlative meanings, "controlled by" and 
"under common control with") shall mean the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of 
management or policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of securities or partnership or other ownership interests, by 
contract or otherwise. For the avoidance of doubt, in no event shall TPG Partners V, L.P., TPG FOF V-A, L.P., TPG FOF V-B, 
L.P. or any of their respective investment vehicles or portfolio companies or any of their respective affiliated investment fund or 
any portfolio company of such affiliated investment funds, be considered an Affiliate of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. 

(iii) "Business Day"_means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or any other day on which the SEC or commercial 
banks in New York, New York are authorized or required by Law to close. 

(iv) "Company Benefit Plan" means each employee benefit plan, program, policy, agreement or arrangement, including 
pension, retirement, supplemental retirement, profit-sharing, deferred compensation, stock option, change in control, retention, 
employment, equity or equity-based compensation, stock purchase, employee stock ownership, severance pay, vacation, bonus 
or other in<;entive plans, medical, retiree medical, vision, dental or other health plans, life insurance plans, and each other, 
compensatory or employee benefit plan or fringe benefit plan, including any "employ~e benefit plan" as that term is defined in 
Section 3(3) of ERISA, whether or not subject to ERISA, in each case, whe~her oral or written, funded or unfunded, or insured 
or self-insured, ma:ntaineq by the Company, any Subsidiary or, to the knowleqge of the Company, any of the Facility Entities, 
or to which the Compi\ny, any Subsidiary or, to the knowledge of the Company, any ofthe Facility Entities contributes or is 
obligated toco/lt~ibute or might otherwise have or reasonably be expected to have any Liability, including, for the avoidance of 
doubt, for the, bcn'etit or; or in respect of, employees outside of the United States. 

• ' t' 

(v) "~omj?a1ly Intellectual Property" means any and all Intellectual Property that is owned by (or purported to be owned 
by) the Company,'any Subsidiary of the Company or, to the knowledge of the Company, any of the Facility Entities. 
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(vi) "Company Material Adverse Effect" means any condition, fact, change, circumstance, event, occurrence, development 
or effect (each, an "Effect") that individually or in the aggregate has had or would reasonably be expected to have a material 
adverse effect on the financial condition, business or results of operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole; 
provided, however, that no Effect arising from or relating to any of the following shall be taken into account in determining 
whether there has been or would reasonably be expected to be a Company Material Adverse Effect: 

(A) political or economic conditions, or securities, credit, financial or other capital markets conditions; 

(8) any condition or changes generally affecting the Company's industry or industries; 

(C) any decline in the market price or trading volume of the shares of Company Common Stock on Nasdaq or a 
change in the credit rating of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (provided that the exception in this clause (C) shall 
not prevent or otherwise affect a determination that any change, effect or development underlying such decline or change 
has resulted in a Company Material Adverse Effect); 

(D) any failure, in and of itself, by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to meet any internal or published 
projections, forecasts, estimates or predictions in respect of revenues, earnings or other financial or operating metrics for 
any period (provided that the exception in this clause (D) shall not prevent or otherwise affect a determination that any 
change, effect or development underlying such failure has resulted in or contributed to a Company Material Adverse 
Effect); 

(E) the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the performance by any Party of its obligations hereunder and 
consummation of the Transactions or the public announcement or pendency of the Offer or the Mergers or any of the other 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the impact thereof on the relationships, contractual or otherwise, 
of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company with customers, suppliers, distributors, employees or any other third 
party (provided that this clause (E) shall not apply to any representation or warranty to the extent such representation or 
warranty addresses the consequences resulting from the execution and delivery ofthis Agreement, the performance of a 
Party's obligations hereunder or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby); 

(F) changes or proposed changes in GAAP or in applicable Laws or the enforcement or interpretation thereof; 

(G) the outbreak or escalation of hostilities, any acts of war, sabotage, terrorism or military actions, or any escalation 
or worsening of any such hostilities, acts of war, sabotage, terrorism or military actions threatened or underway as of the 
date of this Agreement; 

(H) ally action taken at the request of Parent, Purchaser or Merger Sub 2 in accordance with this Agreement; 

(1) the ide-ntitj of, or any facts or circumstances relating to, Parent,either Merger Sub or any of their respective 
Affiliates; or 
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(1) any matter set forth specifically in Section 9. I 5(a)(vi)(J) of the Company Disclosure Schedule; 

(vii) except, in the case of any of clauses (A), (B), (F) or (G) to the extent that any Effect has a disproportionate adverse 
effect on the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, relative to the adverse effect that it has on other participants in the 
Company's industry or industries. 

(viii) "Company Registered Intellectual Property" means any and all Intellectual Property that is the subject of an 
application or registration with any Governmental Entity at any time that is owned by the Company, an)' Subsidiary of the 
Company or, to the knowledge of the Company, any Facility Entity. 

(ix) "Company Regulatory Agency" means any Governmental Entity that regulates the business of the Company or its 
facilities, including, without limitation, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. 

(x) "Company Stock Plans" means the 2016 Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plan, 2013 Omnibus Long-Tenn Incentive 
Plan, Management Equity Incentive Plan and Directors and Consultants Equity Incentive Plan and any applicable award· 
agreements granted under any of the foregoing, collectively. 

(xi) "Company Superior Proposal" means a written Company Takeover Proposal (but substituting "50%" for all references 
to" 15%" in the definition of such term) that the Company Board of Directors determines in good falth, after consultation with 
its outside financial advisor and :>utside legal counsel, taking into account the timing, likelihood of consummation, legal, 
financial, regulatory and other aspects of such Company Takeover Proposal, including the identity of the third party making 
such Company Takeover Proposal and financing terms thereof, and such other factors as the Company Board of Directors 
considers to be appropriate, and taking into aC(:Qunt any revisions to the terms of this Agreement to which Parent has committed 
in writing in response to such Company Takeover Proposal in accordance with Section 6.3(f) ofthis Agreement, is more 
Hlvorable to the stockholders of the Company from a financial point of view than the Transactions. 

(xii~ "Company Takeover Proposal" means any unsolicited bona fide inquiry, proposal, indication of interest or offerfrom 
any Person (other than Parent, Purchaser or any of their Affiliates) to the Company or any of its Representatives relating to (A) a 
merger, consolidation, business combination, recapitalization, binding share exchange, liquidation, dissohition,joint venture or 
other similar transai;tion involving the Comrany or <,.ny of its Subsidiaries that would result in such other Person acquiring .. '. 
(x) benefic!al ownership of fifteen percent (J 5%) of more of the outstanding Company Common Stock or secUi ities of the 
Company repre3cnting morl:! than fifteen percent (15%) of the voting power of the Company or (y) fifteen percent (15%) or 
more of the conwlidated assets, net re-·!enues or net inc-erne of the Company and its Subsidiaries, (B) any acquisition, in one 
trcl11Sactioll or a serie~ of related transactions, of the beneficial ownership of or the right to acquire beneficial oWl1en;hip, directly 
or bdirectly, of fihccn percent (15%) or more cfthe outstanding Company Common Stock or securities of the Company·. 
represeiltine 1TI')re !han fifteen percent (150/)) of the voting power of the Company, (C) any acqL:isriion (including the acquisition 
of stock iIi any SubsidialY of the Companj), in one transaction Of a series of related transactions, of assets or businesst~s of th';) 
Cc,mpany or it~ Subsidiaries, ino:luding pcrsuant to ajoint .enture, representing fifteen per,;ent (15%) or more ofthe 
consolidated ass~ts, /let p~Ve'1ues or net ii1come. ofth.c Company and its Subsidiaries or 
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(D) any tender offer or exchange offer or any other similar transaction or series of transactions that if consummated would result 
in any Person directly or indirectly acquiring beneficial ownership or the right to acquire beneficial ownership of fifteen percent 
(15%) or more of the outstanding Company Common Stock' or securities of the Company representing more than fifteen percent 
(15%) of the voting power of the Company. 

(xiii) "Contract" means any contract, note, bond, mortgage, indenture, loan or credit agreement, debenture, deed of trust, 
license agreement, lease, agreement, arrangement, commitment or other instrument or obligation that is legally binding, whether 
written or oral. 

(xiv) "Environmental Law" means any applicable Law relating to the protection, regulation, preservation or restoration of 
the environment (including air, surface water, groundwater, drinking water supply, surface land, subsurface land, plant and 
animal life or any other natural resource), or any exposure to or Release of, or the management of (including the use, storage, 
recycling, treatment, generation, transportation, processing, handling, labeling, production or disposal of) any Hazardous 
Materials. 

(xv) "ERISA" means, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. 

(xvi) "ERISA Affiliate" means, with respect to any entity, trade or business, any other entity, trade or business that is, or 
was at the relevant time, a member of a group described in Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (0) of the Code or Section 400J(b)(I) of 
ERISA that includes or included the first entity, trade or business, or that is, or was at the relevant time, a member of the same 
"controlled group" as the first entity, trade or business pursuant to Section 4001(a)(14) of ERISA. 

(xvii) "Facility Entity" means any partnership, corporation, association, trust or other form oflega! entity which operates a 
provider of health c!lre services, (a) the equity or other ownership interests of which are directly or indirectly held by (I) the 
Company or any of its Subsidiaries and (II) any other Person, and (b) whose results were not presented on a consolidated basis 
with the Company, but ratqer a.s a noncontrolling interest, on its financial statements for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 
as included in the Company SEC Documents and will not be presented on a consolidated basis with the Company, but rather as 
a nonc01)trolIing interest, on its financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016. 

(xviii) "Governmental Entitv" means any federal, state or local, domestic, foreign, multinational or transnational 
government, court; agency, commission, authority, bureau, board, official, political subdivision, tribunal or other governmental 
instrumentality. ' 

. (xix) "Gov.ernmental Programs" means, co'llectively, the Medicare and Medicaid programs set forth in Titles XVlII and 
'XIX of the !3ocial. Security Act, and "federal health care programs" as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(f). 
., :.,", 

. (xix) "Hazardous Materials" means any waStes, substances, radiation, or materials (whether solids, liquids or gases): 
(A) which :are hazardous, toxic, infectious, explosive, 'radioactive, carcinogenic, or mutagenic; (B) which are or become defined 

:' ( as'''poHutants,'' '''contaminants,'' "hazardous materials','? ~'hazardouswastes,"'''hazatdous substances," "chemical substances," 
"radicactive materials," "solid wastes," or other'similar designations in, or otherwise subject to regulation under, any 
Environmental Laws; (C) which contain without limitation polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), toxic mold, methyl-tertiary butyl 
ether (MTBE), asbestos or asbestos-containing materials, lead-based paints, urea-formaldehyde foam insulation, or petroleum or 
petroleum products (including, without limitation, crude oil or any fraction thereof); or (D) which pose a hazard to human 
health, safety, natural resources, employees, or the environment. 
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(xxi) "HlPAA" means collectively the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and its implementing 
regulations, as amended and supplemented by the Health Information Technology for Clinical Health Act of the American 
Recovery and Reinvestment Act of2009, Pub. Law No. 111-5 and its implementing regulations, when each is effective and as 
each is amended from time to time. 

(xxii) "Indebtedness" means, as of any time with respect to any Person, any obligations (including, without limitation, 
principal, premium, accrued interest, reimbursement or indemnity obligations, bonds, financing arrangements, prepayment and 
other penalties, breakage fees, sale or liquidity participation amounts, commitment and other fees and related expenses) (A) with 
respect to indebtedness of such Person, in respect of borrowed money, issued in substitution for or exchange of bon'owed 
money, or evidenced by bonds, notes, debentures or similar instruments or letters of credit (or reimbursement agreements in 
respect thereot), including factoring arrangements or asset securitizations; (B) representing foreign exchange contracts, interest 
rate and currency swap arrangements or any other arrangements designed to provide protection against fluctuations in interest or 
currency rates; (C) representing obligations to pay the deferred purchase price of goods and services (including any potential 
future earnout, indemnification, purchase price adjustment, release of "holdback" or similar payment, but excluding trade 
payables incurred in the ordinary course of business); (D) representing obligations under leases required in accordance with 
GAAP to be recorded as capital leases; and (E) any guarantee of any such obligations described in clauses (A) through (D) of 
this definition by such person. 

(xxiii) "Infomlation Privacy and Security Laws" means all Laws concerning the privacy or security of Personal 
Information, including in each case to the extent relating to the privacy or security ofPersonallnforrnation, HIPAA, the 
Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, the Fair Credit Reporting Act, the Fair and Accurate Credit Transaction Act, Section 5 of the Federal 
Trade Commission Act as it applies to the receipt, access, use, disclosure, and security of Personal Information, the CAN-SPAM 
Act, Children's Online Privacy Protection Act, state data breach notification laws, state data security laws, state social security 
number protection laws, any heaIthcare Laws pertaining to privacy or data security and any applicable Laws concerning 
requirements for website and mobile application privacy policies and practices, or Laws concerning any outbound 
communications (including e-mail marketing, telemarketing and text messaging) and data tracking. 

(xxiv) "Intellectual Property" means all intellectual property rights in all jurisdictions worldwide, whether registered or 
unregistered, including all rights in, to and under: (A) all patents and applications therefor, and utility models, and all reissues, 
divisionals, renewals, extensions, provisionals, reexaminations, continuations and continuations-in-part of any of the foregoing 
and all rights in any of the foregoing provided by international treaties and conventions; (B) all inventions (whether patentable 
or 110t and whether or not reduced to practice). invention disclosures, confidential proprietary information, know-how, trade 
secrets; (C) all works of authorship, copyrights (registered or unregistered), copyrightable works, mask works, databases and 
data collections, copyright registrations and registrations, renewals and applications of any of the foregoing; (D) all industrial 
designs and any registrations, renewals and applications therefor or thereof throughout the world; (E) ali Software; and (F) all 
domftin names. trade names, trademarks, service mar.ks and names; brand names, logos, trade dres~, common law trademarks 
and service marks, including all goodwill of the business symbolized thereby or associated therewith, and registrations and 
renewals for or of any of the foregoing. . . 
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(xxv) "Intervening Event" means a material event, development or change in circumstances with respect to the Company 
and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, that occurred or arose after the date of this Agreement, which (a) was unknown to and 
was not reasonably foreseeable by, the Company Board of Directors as of or prior to the date of this Agreement and (b) becomes 
known to or by the Company Board of Directors prior to the Acceptance Time; provided, however that none of the following 
will constitute, or be considered in determining whether there has been, an Intervening Event: (i) the receipt, existence of or 
tenns of a Company Takeover Proposal or any inquiry, request, proposal or discussion that could reasonably be expected to lead 
to a Company Takeover Proposal or any matter relating thereto or consequence thereof, (ii) changes in the market price or 
trading volume of the shares of Company Common Stock on Nasdaq; (iii) the fact that the Company or its Subsidiaries have 
exceeded or met in and of itself (or the failure of Parent to meet in and of itself) any internal or published projections, forecasts 
or predictions in respect of revenues, earnings or other financial or operating performance for any period ending on or after the 
date hereof and (iv) changes in the market price or trading volume of the shares of Parent Common Stock on the New York 
Stock Exchange (provided, however, that the underlying causes of such change or fact shall not be excluded by clauses (ii), 
(iii) or (iv». 

(xxvi) "knowledge" means with respect to the Company, its Subsidiaries, and the Facility Entities, the knowiedge, after 
reasonable due inquiry (which the Parties agree does not require specific inquiry of the Facility Entities), of the individuals 
listed in Section 9. 1 5(a)(xxvi) of the Company Disclosure Schedule. 

(xxvii) "Liability" means any and all fines, penalties, awards, costs and expenses (including attorneys and other 
professional's fees), debts, liabilities, commitments, duties, obligations and responsibilities of any kind and description, whether 
known or unknown, unliquidated or fixed, contingent or absolute, matured or unmatured, accrued or not accrued, determined or 
determinable, secured or unsecured, disputed or undisputed, subordinated or unsubordinated, monetary or non-monetary, direct 
or indirect or otherwise, whether due or to become due, and regardless of when asserted or whether it is accrued or required to 
be accrued or disclosed pursuant to GAAP. 

(xxviii) means any formal charge, order, writ, permit, license, injunction, judgment, decree, ruling, determination, 
directive, Jward or cettlement of any Governmental Entity or any arbitrator, whether civil, criminal or administrative. 

(xxix) ';Parent Material Adverse Effect" means any Effect that individually or in the aggregate has had or would 
reasonably be expected to (A) prevent or materially impede, materially interfere with ormaterially delay the consummation by 
Parent or the Merger Subs of the Transactions or (B) have a material adverse effect on the financial condition, business or 
results of operations of Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole; provided, however, that no Effect arising from or relating' 
to any ofthe following shall be taken into account in determming whether there has been or would reasonably be expected to be 
a Pire~t Material Adverse Effect: -

-' . 
(1\'1 political or economIc condItions, or se;;urifies, credit, financial or other capital markets conditions; 
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(8) any condition or changes generally affecting Parent's industry or industries; 

(C) any decline in the market price or trading volume of the shares of Parent Common Stock on the New York Stock 
Exchange 01' a change in the credit rating of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (provided that the exception in this clause 
(C) shall not prevent or otherwise affect a determination that any change, effect or development underlying such decline or 
change has resulted in a Parent Material Adverse Effect); 

(D) any failure, in and of itself, by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries to meet any internal or published projections, 
forecasts, estimates or predictions in respect of revenues, earnings or other financial or operating metrics for any period 
(provided that the exception in this clause (D) shall not prevent or otherwise affect a determination that any change, effect 
or development underlying such failure has resulted in or contributed to a Parent Material Adverse Effect); 

(E) the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the performance by any Party of its obligations hereunder and 
consummation of the Transactions or the public announcement or pendency of the Offer or the Mergers or any of the other 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the impact thereof on the relationships, contractual or otherwise, 
of Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent with customers, suppliers, distributors, employees or any other third party (provided 
that this clause (E) shall not apply to any representation or warranty to the extent such representation or warranty addresses 
the consequences resulting from the execution and delivery ·ofthis Agreement, the performance of a Party's obligations 
hereunder or the consummation ofthe transactions contemplated hereby); 

(F) changes or proposed changes in GAAPor in applicable Law or the enforcement or interpretation thereof; 

(G) the outbreak or escalation of hostilities, any acts of war, sabotage, terrorism or military actions, or any escalation 
or worsening of any such hostilities. acts of war, sabotage, terrorism or military actions threatened or underway as of the 
date of this Agreement; 

(H) any action taken at the request ofthe Company or any of its Subsidiaries in accordance with this Agreement; or 

(I) the identity of, or any facts or circumstances relating to, the Company, its Subsidiaries or any of their respective 
Affiliates; 

except, in the case of any of clauses (A), (ll), (F) or (G) to'the extent that any Effect has a disproportionate adverse effect 
on Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, relative to the adverse effect that it has on other participants in Parent's 

. industry or industries. 

(i) "p'arent Stock Plans" means the United'Health 'Group Incorporated 20 II Stock Incentive Plan (as amended and restated 
in 2015), the Catamaran Corporation Third Amended and Restated Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended, the Catalyst Health 
Solutions, Inc: 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended, the Amended and Restated UnitedHealth Group Incorporated Executive 
Incentive Plan (2009 Statement), effective as of December 31,2008, as amended. the Amended and Restated UnitedHealth 
Group Incorporated 2008 Executive Incentive Plan. effective as of December 31, 2008, as amended and any applicable award 
agreements granted under any of the foregoing, collectively. 
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(ii) "Parent Trading Price" means the volume weighted average of the closing sale prices per share of Parent Common 
Stock on the New York Stock Exchange, as reported in the New York City edition of The Wall Street Journal (or, if not reported 
thereby, as reported in another authoritative source) on each of the five (5) full consecutive trading days ending on and including . 
the third (3rd) business day prior to the Expiration Date. 

(iii) "PCI DSS" means the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard, issued by the Payment Card Industry Security 
Standards Council, as may be revised from time to time. 

(iv) "Permitted Lien" means (A) any Lien for Taxes not yet due or delinquent or which are being contested in good faith 
by appropriate proceedings and for which adequate reserves have been established in the applicable financial statements in 
accordance with GAAP, (B) vendors', mechanics', materialmen'S, carriers', workers', landlords', repairmen's, warehousemen's, 
construction and other similar Liens arising or incurred in the ordinary and usual course of business and consistent with past 
practice or with respect to Liabilities that are not yet due and payable or, if due, are not delinquent or are being contested in 
good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which adequate reserves (based on good faith estimates of management) have 
been set aside for the payment thereof,(C) Liens imposed or promulgated by applicable Law or any Governmental Entity with 
respect to real property, including zoning, building or similar restrictions, (D) applicable zoning, building or similar Laws, 
codes, ordinances and state and federal regulations which are not violated by the current use or occupancy of the applicable real 
property or the operation ofthe Company's, its Subsidiaries' or a Facility Entity's business thereon, (E) pledges or deposits in 
connection with workers' compensation, unemployment insurance, and other social security legislation, (F) defects, 
irregularities or imperfections of title which do not materially interfere with, or materially impair the use of, the property or 
assets subject thereto or (G) Liens that constitute non-exclusive licenses to Intellectual Property granted in the ordinary course 
of business. -

(v) "Person" means an individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association, trust, unincorporated 
organization, joint venture, other entity or group (as defined in the Exchange Act), including a Governmental Entity. 

(vi) "Personal Information" means any information that (A) identifies or relates to an individual person including 
information that alone or in combination with other information held by Company or any of its Subsidiaries can be used to 
identify, contact, or precisely locate an individual person or can be linked to an individual person, including, without limitation, 
name, address, telephone number, health information (including protected health information (as defined in 45 C.F.R. § 
160.1 OJ», social security number, drivers' license number, government issued identification number, any financial account 
numbers or log-in information, Internet Protocol addresses or other persistent device identifiers, or any other data that can be 
used to identify, contact, or precisely locate an individual; or (B), any information that is governed, regulated or protected by any 

. of the Information Privacy and Security Laws that are expressly listed in thedefinition ofInformation Privacy and Security 
Laws set forth in Section 9.15(a)(xxiii); or (C) any information that is covered by the PCI DSS. 

(vii) "Prohibited Person" means (A) an entity that has been determi~ed by a competent authority to be the subject of a 
prohibition on such conduct of any Law, regulation, rule or executive order administ~red by OFAC; (B) the government, 
including any political 
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subdivision, agency or instrumentality thereof, of any country against which the United States maintains comprehensive 
economic sanctions or embargoes; (C) any individual or entity that acts on behalf of or is owned or controlled by a government 
of a country against which the United States maintains comprehensive economic sanctions or embargoes; (D) any individual or 
entity that has been identified on the OFAC Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons List (Appendix A to 31 C.F.R. 
Ch. V), as amended from time to time, or fifty percent (50%) or more of which is owned, directly or indirectly, by an such 
individual or entity; or (E) any individual or entity that has been designated on any similar list or order published by a 
Governmental Entity in the United States. 

(viii) "Release" means any release, spill, emission, discharge, seepage, escaping, leaking, pumping, pouring, injection, 
deposit, disposal, dispersal, leaching or migration of Hazardous Materials into or upon the indoor or outdoor environment 
including the air, soil, improvements, surface water, groundwater, the sewer, septic system, storm drain, publicly owned 
treatment works, or waste treatment, storage, or disposal systems. 

(ix) "Software" means any and all software and computer programs in both machine-readable form and human-readable 
form, including all data files, application programming. user interfaces, source code, object code and operating systems, and 
related documentation. 

(x) "Subsidiaries" means, with respect to the Company and any of its Subsidiaries, except as set forth on Section 9.15(a) 
(xxxix) of the Company Disclosure Schedule: any corporation, partnership, association, trust Of other form oflegal entity 
(A) whose results were presented on a consolidated basis with the Company on its financial statements for the quarter ended 
September 30 2016 as included in the Company SEC Documents or will be presented on a consolidated basis with the 
Company on its financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016 (B) which more than fifty percent (50%) of the 
voting power of the outstanding voting securities are directly or indirectly owned by such Person or (C) such Person or any 
Subsidiary of such Person is a general partner; and with respect to any other Person, any corporation, partnership, association, 
trust or other fOlm of legal entity of which (i) more than fifty percent (50%) ofthe voting power of the outstanding voting 
st:curities are direc'ly or indirectly owned by such Person or (ii) such Person or any Subsidiary of such Person is a general; 
par'ncr. 

(xi) "Ta:.:" or "Taxes" means any and all federal, state, local or foreign taxes, imposts, levies, duties, fees or other 
asses,ments, including all net income, gross receipts, capital, sales, use, ad valorem, value added, transfer, franchise, profits, 
inventory, capital stock, license, withholding, payroll, employment, social security, unempleyment, excise, severance, stamp, 
occupation, property and estimated taxes, c:ustoms duties, and other taxes of any kind whatsoever, including allY and all interest, 
penalties; additiom; to tax or addition,t1 amounts imposed by any Governmental Entity with respect thereto. 

(xii) "Jax Retunl" means any return, report, information return, claim for refund, dection, estimated tax filing or 
decJaratir)O or sirni:ar filing (including any attached schedules, supplements and additional or supporting material) filed or· 
(~quirf:d Ie be filed with respect to Taxes, including any amendments thereof. 

(xiii) "Taxing Authority" means, with regpect to any Tax, the Governn1entai Entity that imposes such Tax, and the agency 
(if any) charged with the collection, assessment or administration of such Tax. 
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Section 9.16 Scheduled Matters. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, in no event shall the exercise by 
the applicable counterparty of any right arising under any of the Contracts set forth on Section 9. I 5(a)(vi)(J) of the Company 
Disclosure Schedule in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the failure to obtain the consent of any 
such counterparty required to be obtained under any such Contract constitute a breach by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of 
any representation, warranty covenant or other agreement contained in this Agreement, result in the failure of any Offer Condition or 
condition set forth in Article VII or give rise to any right of termination under A11icle VIII. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly exeeuted and delivered as of the date first 

above written. 

UNITED HEALTH GROUP INCORPORATED 

By: lsi David S. Wichmann 
Name: David S. Wichmann 
Title: President 

SPARTAN MERGER SUB 1, INC. 

By: lsi David S. Wichmann 
Name: David S. Wichmann 
Title: Chief Executive Officer 

SPARTAN MERGER SUB 2, LLC 

By: 151 David S. Wichmann 
Name: David S. Wichmann 
Title: Chief Executive Officer 

SURGICAL CARE AFFILIATES, INC. 

By: lsi Andrew P. Hayek 
Name: Andrew P. Hayek 
Title: Chairman. President and Chief Executive 

Officer 

[Signature Page to Agreement and Plan of Reorganization] 
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ANNEXA 

Conditions to the Offer 

Notwithstanding any other term of the Offer, but subject to the terms and conditions ofthis Agreement, Purchaser shall not be 
required to, and Parent shall not be required to cause Purchaser to, accept for payment or, subject to any applicable rules and 
regulations of the SEC, including Rule 14e-1(c) under the Exchange Act (relating to Purchaser's obligation to pay for or return 
tendered sh81'es of Company Common Stock promptly after termination or withdrawal of the Offer), pay for any shares of Company 
Common Stock validly tendered pursuant to the Offer (and not properly withdrawn prior to the Expiration Date and theretofore 

. accepted for payment or paid for) in the event that, at the Expiration Date: 

(A) any waiting period (and extensions thereof) applicable to the Offer and the Mergers under the HSR Act shall nothave 
expired or been temlinated; 

(B) there shall not have been validly tendered and not withdrawn in accordance with the terms of the Offer a number of shares 
of Company Common Stock that, together with the shares of Company Common Stock (if any) then owned by Parent, 
Purchaser and Parent's other Subsidiaries, represents at least a majority of all then outstanding shares of Company 
Common Stock (the "Minimum Condition") (excluding, for purposes of determining whether a sufficient number of shares 
have been tendered in the Offer to satisfY the Minimum Condition, shares of Company Common Stock tendered pursuant 
to guaranteed delivery procedures that have not yet been "received," as such term is defined in Section 251(h) of the 
DGCL, by the depositary for the Offer pursuant to such procedures); 

(C) the Registration Statement shall not have been declared effective by the SEC under the Securities Act or a stop order 
suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement shall have been issued by the SEC or proceedings for that 
purpose shall have been initiated or threatened by the SEC; 

(D) the shares of Parent Common Stock to be issued in the Offer and the First Merger shall not have been approved for listing 
on the New York Stock Exchange, subject to official notice of issuance (provided that Parent shall not be entitled to invoke 
this condition if it has not complied in all material respects with Section 6.12); 

(E) any of the following shall have occurred and continue to exist as of the Expiration Date: 

(1) an injunction, whether temporary, preliminary or permanent, by any court or other tribunal of competentjurisdictior. 
shall have been entered and shall continue to be in effect, or a Law shall have been adopted or be effective, in each 
case that prohibits or makes illegal the consummation of the Offer or the Mergers; 

(2) any of the representations and warranties of the Company set forth in (i) At1icle IV (other than in Section 4.l(a). the 
first four sentences of Section 4.l(b), the first two sentences of Section 4.2(a); clauses (A), (B) and (E) of 
Section 4.2(b )(i), Section 4.2( d), Section 4.3(a), ill and 1£}, Section 4.11 (b)' Section 4.23, and Section 4.25) shall 
not be true and correct both at and as of the date of this Agreement and at and as of the Expiration Date as though 
made at and as of the Expiration Date, other than for failures to be so true and correct (without regard to 
"materiality," COmp811Y Material Adverse Effect and similar qualifiers contained in 
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such representations and warranties) that have not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Company 
Material Adverse Effect, (ii) Section 4. [(a), the first two sentences of Section 4.1 (bl. the first two sentences of 
Section 4.2(a), clauses (A), (B) and (E) of Section 4.2(b)(i), and Section 4.1l(b) shall not be true and correct at and 
as of the date of this Agreement and at and as of the Expiration Date as though made at and as of the Expiration 
Date, except for any de minimis inaccuracies, or (iii) the third and fourth sentences of Section 4. ](b), Section 4.2(d), 
Section 4.3(a), !.hl and !£l, Section 4.23 and Section 4.25 shall not be true and correct in all material respects at and 
as of the date of this Agreement and at and as of the Expiration Date as though made at and as of the Expiration 
Date; provided. however, that representations and warranties that are made as of a particular date or period need be 
true and correct (in the manner set forth in clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) as applicable) only as of such date or period; 

(3) the Company shall have failed to perfOlm and comply in all material respects with all covenants and agreements 
required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by it prior to the Expiration Date; 

(4) the Company shall have failed to deliver to Parent a certi ficate, dated the Expiration Date and signed by its Chief 
Executive Officer or another senior officer, certifying to the effect that the conditions set forth in paragraphs (£)(2) 
ami (E)(3) of this Annex t\. have been satisfied; 

(5) the. Company shall not have received a written opinion from Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP, in form and 
substance reasonably satisfactory to the Company, dated a~ of the Expiration Date, to the effect that, on the basis of 
certain facts, representations and assumptions set forth or referred to in such opinion, the Offer and the Mergers; 
taken together, will qualify as a "reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code; 

(6) Parent shall not have rec.eived a written opinion from Hogan Lovells US LLP, in form and substance reasonably 
satisfactory to Parent, dated as of the Expiration Date, to the effect that, on the basis of certain facts, representations 
and assumptions set forth or referred to in such opinion, the Offer and the Mergers, taken together, will qualify as a 
"reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code; 

(7) this Agreement shall have been terminated in accordance with its terms; or 

(8) the Company ;;hall have failed to obtain all consents, authorizations, waivers and approvals and to make all filings, 
applications and notices, in each case, with respec.t to certificates of need and licenses to operate as an ambulatory 
Sl.Jrgery center or a hospital, as the case may be, required to be obtained by the Company pursuant to applicable 
Health Care Laws in mder to consummate the Transactions with respect to more than 6% of all facilities lha,t 
provid~ health care services that are operated or managed by the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any Fa;;;ility 
Entity. 
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AMENDED AND RESTATED BY-LAWS 
OF 

SURGICAL CARE AFFILIATES, INC. 

(as of January 6, 2017) 

ARTICLE I 

OFFICES 

Exhibit 3.1 

1.1 Registered Office. The Corporation shall have and maintain at all times (i) a registered office in the State of Delaware, which 
office shall be located at 1209 Orange Street, in the City of Wilmington, in the County of New Castle, in the State of Delaware 
19801; and (ii) a registered agent located at such address whose name is The Corporation Trust Company, until changed from time to 
time as provided by the DGCL. 

1.2 Other Offices. The principal office of the Corporation may be located within or without the State of Delaware, as designated by 
the Board of Directors. The Corporation may have other offices and other places of business at such places within or without the State 
of Delaware as shall be determined by the Board of Directors or as may be required by the business of the Corporation. 

ARTICLE II 

STOCKHOLDERS 

2.1 Annual Meeting. The annual meeting of stockholders shall be held each calendar year at the place, if any, either within or without 
the State of Delaware (including by remote communication as authorized.by Section 21 I (a)(2) of the DGCL), and at the date and time 
determined by the Board of Directors from time to time. The purposes for which the annual meeting is to be held, in addition to those 
prescribed py law"by t.)}e Certificate ofIncorporation or elsewhere in these By-Laws, spal,l be for the purpose of electing Directors 

. and for such otherpUlpo~esas.may properly come befo~e it. The Corporation ,may postpone. reschedule or cancel any annual meeting 
of stockholders previously sche.duled by the Board of Directors. . 

2.2 Special Meetings. Special meetings ofthe stockholders may be called only in the manner set forth in the Certificate of 
Incorporation. Any such special meeting shall be held at such place, if any. either within or without the State of Delaware (including 
by remote communication as authorized by Section 2] I (a)(2) ofthe DGCL), and at such date and time determined by the Board of 
Directors or as the Chairman of the Board shall designate, as set forth in the notice of the meeting. Business tl'llllsacted at any special 
meeting of stockholders shall be limited to the purposes stated in the notice. The Corporation may postpone. reschedule or cancel any 
special meeting of stockholders scheduled by the Board of Directors or Chairman of the Board. 

2.3 Place of Meetings. All meetings of stockholders shall be held at the principal executive office of the Corporation unless (a) a 
different place is fixed by the Board of Directors or the Chairman of the Board and is specified in the notice of the meeting; or (b) the 
meeting is held solely by means of remote communication in accordance with Section 2.13. 
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2.4 Notice of Meetings. 

(a) A written notice of meeting that states the date, time and place, if any (or the means of remote communication, if any, by 
which stockholders and proxy holders may be deemed to be present in person and vote at such meeting), and, in the case of a special 
meeting the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called, shall be delivered personally or mailed in a postage prepaid 
envelope or, to the extent and in the manner permitted by applicable law, by any form of electronic transmission (with the consent of 
the stockholder to the extent required by applicable law) no fewer than 10 nor more than 60 days before the meeting date to each 
stockholder entitled to vote at such meeting as of the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to notice of the meeting, 
except that where any other minimum or maximum notice period for any action to be taken at such meeting is required under the 
DGCL, then such other minimum or maximum notice period shall control. 

(b) Notices pursuant to this Section 2.4 are deemed given (i) ifby mail, when deposited in the United States mail, postage 
prepaid, directed to the stockholder at such stockholder's address as it appears on the records of the Corporation, or, if a stockholder 
shall have filed with the Secretary a written request that notices to such stockholder be mailed to some other address, then directed to 
such stockholder at such other address; (ii) if by facsimile, when directed to a number at which the stockholder has consented to 
receive notice; (iii) ifby electronic mail, when directed to an electronic mail address at which the stockholder has consented to 
receive such notice; (iv) ifby posting on an electronic network together with a separate notice to the stockholder of such specific 
posting, upon the later to occur of (A) such posting; and (B) the giving of such separate notice of such posting; and (v) ifby any other 
form of electronic transmission, when directed to the stockholder as required by law and, to the extent required by applicable law, in 
the manner consented to by the stockholder. An affidavit of the mailing or other means of giving any notice of any stockholders' 
meeting, execute.d by the Secretary, an Assistant Secretary or any transfer agent ofthe Corporation giving the notice, shall be prima 
facie evidence of the giving of such notice or report. Notice shall be deemed to have been given to all stockholders of record who 
share an address if notice is given in accordance with the "house holding" rules set forth in Rule 14a-3( e) under the Exchange Act or 
Section 233 ofthe DGCL. 

2.5 Notice of Adjourned Meeting. If an annual or special meeting of stockholders is adjourned to a different date, time or place, 
written notice need not be given of the new date, time or place if the new date, time or place, ifany, and the means of remote 
communication, if any, by which stockholders and proxyholders may be deemed to be present in person and vote at such adjourned 
meeting, are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken before such adjournment; provided, however, that ifthe date 
for any adjourned meeting is more than 30 days after the date of the original meeting, or if a new record date is fixed for the 
adjourned meeting, notice ofthe adjourned meeting shall be given in conformity with this Article II. At the adjourned meeting, any 
business may be transacted which might have been transacted at the original meeting. 
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2.6 Waiver of Notice. Notice of any meeting of stockholders shall not be required to be given to any stockholder who attends such 
meeting in person or by proxy and does not, at the beginning of such meeting, object to the transaction of any business because the 
meeting has not been lawfully called or convened, or who, either before or after the meeting, submits a signed waiver of notice or 
waives notice by electronic transmission, in person or by proxy. To the extent permitted by law, a stockholder's attendance at an 
annllal meeting, in person or by proxy, waives objection to consideration ofa pa11icular matter at such annual meeting that is not 
within the purpose or purposes described in the meeting notice, unless the stockholder objects to considering the matter when it is 
presented. Any stockholder so waiving notice of a meeting shall be bound by the proceedings of such meeting in all respects as if due 
notice thereof had been given. 

2.7 Ouorum. 

(a) At any meeting of the stockholders, the holders of a majority in voting power of the outstanding shares of capital stock 
entitled to be voted at the meeting, present in person or by proxy, shall constitute a quorum for all purposes, except to the extent that 
the presence of a larger number is required by law, the Certificate oflncorporation or any other provision of these By-Laws. Where a 
separate vote by one or more series or classes is required, a majority in voting power of the outstanding shares of such one or more 
series or classes present in person or by proxy shall constitute a quorum entitled to take action with respect to that vote on that matter. 
A quorum, once established, ~hall not be broken by the withdrawal of enough votes to leave less than a quorum. 

(b) If a quorum fails to attend any meeting, the chairman of the meeting or the holders of a majority in voting power of the 
outstanding shares of capital stock entitled to be voted at the meeting that are present, in person or by proxy, may adjourn the meeting 
to another place, date or time, without notice other than as specified in Section 2.5. 

2.8 Organization. Such person as the Chairman of the Board may have designated or, in the absence of such person, such person as 
the Board of Directors may have designated or, in the absence of such person, the Chief Executive Officer, or in his or her absence, 
such person as may be chosen by the holders ofa majority of the voting power of the outstanding shares of capital stock entitled to 
vote at the meeting who are present, in person or by proxy, shall call to order any meeting of the stockholders and act as chairman of 
the meeting. III the absence ofthe Secretary, the secretary of the meeting shall be such person as the chairman of the meeting 
appoints, 

2.9 Conduct ofB'y'siness. 

(a) The date and Lime of the opening and the closing of the polls lor eaGh matter upon which the stockholders will vote at a 
meeting shall be arUlonnced at the meeting by the chairman of the meeting. The Board of Directors may adopt by resolution such 
mie. and regulations for the conduct of any meeting of stockholders as it shall deem appropriate, provided they are not inconsistent 
with any other provision of these By-Laws. Except to the extent inconsistent with such rules and regulations as adopted by the Board 
ofOirectors, the :.:hairman ofthe meeting shall have the right and authority to p,onvene and (for any or no reason) to recess and/or 
adjourn 
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the meeting, to determine the order of business and the procedure at the meeting, including such rules and regulation of the manner of 
voting and the conduct of discussion as seems to him or her in order, and to do all such acts as, in the judgment of such chairman of 
the meeting, are appropriate for the proper conduct of the meeting. 

(b) Such rules, regulations or procedures, whether adopted by the Board of Directors or prescribed by the chairman of the 
. meeting, may include the following: (i) the establishment of an agenda or order of business for the meeting; (ii) rules and procedures 

for maintaining order at the meeting and the safety of those present; (iii) limitations on attendance at or participation in the meeting to 
stockholders of record of the Corporation, their duly authorized and constituted proxies or such other persons as the chairman of the 
meeting shall determine; (iv) restrictions on entry to the meeting after the time fixed for the commencement thereof; and 
(v) limitations oq the time allotted to questions or comments by participants. 

( c) The chairman of any meeting of stockholders shall have the power and duty to determine all matters relating to the conduct 
of the meeting, including detennining whether any nomination or item of business has been properly brought before the meeting in 
accordance with these By-Laws (including whether the stockholder or beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination or 
proposal is made solicited (or is part of a group that solicited) or did not so solicit, as the case may be, proxies in support of such 
stockholder's nominee or proposal in compliance with such stockholder's representation as required by Section 2.16(a)(iii)(C)(9», 
and ifthe chairman should so determine and declare that any nomination or item of business has not been properly brought before a 
meeting of stockholders, then such business shall not be transacted or considered at stich meeting and stich nomination shall be 
disregarded. Unless and to the extent determined by the Board of pi rectors or the chairman ofthe meeting, meetings of stockholders 
shall not be required to be held in accordance with the rules of parliamentary procedure. 

2.10 Voting and Proxies. 

(a) At all meetings of stockholders, a stockholder may vote by proxy as may be permitted by law, provided that no proxy shall 
be voted after three years from its date, unless the proxy provides for a longer period. Any proxy to be voted or acted upon at a 
meeting of stockholders must be delivered to the Secretary or his or her representative at or before the time of the meeting. Except as 
otherwise limited therein, proxies shall en'titIe the persons authorized thereby with respect to a meeting of stockholders to vote at any 
adjournment or postponement of such meeting but shall not be valid after final adjournment of such meeting. A proxy with respect to 
stock held of record in the name of two or more persons shall be valid if executed by one of them unless prior to voting in accordance 
with the directions of the proxy, the Corporation receives a specific written notice to the contrary from anyone of them and is 
furnished with a copy bfthe instrument or order appointing the proxy. Subject10 the. provisions of Section 212 of the DGCL and to 
any express. limitation on the proxy's authority provided in the instrument appointing the, proxy, the Corporation is entitled to accept 
the proxy's vote or other action as that of the stockholder authori:>:ing such proxy to.act as pro>.)'. 
I. 
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(b) In advance of any meeting of stockholders, the Board of Directors shall appoint one or more inspectors to act at the meeting 
or any adjournment thereof and make a written report thereof and may designate one or more persons as alternate inspectors to 
replace any inspector who fails to act. If no inspector or alternate is able to act at a meeting of stockholders, the.chairman of the 
meeting shall appoint one or more inspectors to act at the meeting. Each inspector, before entering upon the discharge of his or her 
duties, shall take and sign an oath faithfully to execute the duties of inspector with strict impartiality and according to the best of his 
or her ability and may perform slIch other duties not inconsistent herewith as may be requested by the Corporation. 

2.11 Action at Meeting. Except as otherwise required by law (including the rules or regulations of any stock exchange applicable to 
the Corporation), the Certificate of Incorporation or any other provision of these By-Laws, each matter other than the election of 
Directors submitted to the stockholders at any meeting shall be decided by the affirmative vote of the holders of not less than a 
majority of the voting power of the outstanding shares of capital stock entitled to vote on such matter and present, in person or by 
proxy, at the meeting. 

2.12 Record Date. 

(a) The Board of Directors may fix the record date in order to detennine the stockholders entitled to notice of a meeting of 
stockholders, which record date shall not precede the date on which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the Board of 
Directors, and which record date may not be more than 60 days nor less than 10 days before the date of such meeting. If the Board of 
Directors so fixes a date, such date shall also be the record date for detennining the stockholders entitled to vote at such meeting 
unless the Board of Directors detennines, at the time it fixes such record date, that a later date on or before the date of the meeting 
shall be the date for making such determination. A detennination of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting 
of stockholders shall apply to any adjournment ofthe meeting; provided, however, that the Board of Directors in its discretion may 
fix a new record date for detennination of stockholders entitled to vote at the adjourned meeting and in such case shall also fix as the 
record date for stockholders entitled to notice of such adjourned meeting the same or an earlier date as that fixed for determination of 
stockholders entitled to vote in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this clause (a) at the adjourned meeting. Ifno record date 
is fixed pursuant to this clause (a), the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of or vote at a meeting of 
stockholders shall b~ at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which notice is given, or if notice is waived, at the 
close of business on the day next preceding the day on which the meeting is held. 

(b) The Board of Directors may fix a record date in order to determine the stockholders entitled to receive payment of any 
dividend or other distribution or allotment of any rights or the stockholders entitled to exercise any rights in respect of any change, 

. conversion or exchange of stock, Qr for the purpose of any other lawful action,. which record date shall not precede the date upon 
which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted, and which record date shall be not more than 60 days prior to such action. If no 
record date is fixed pursuant to this clause (b), the record date for determining stockholders for any such purpose shall be at the close 
of business on the day on which the Board of Directors adopts the resolution relating thereto. 
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(c) Unless otherwise restricted by the Certificate oflncorporation, in order that the Corporation may determine the stockholders 
entitled to express consent to corporate action in writing without a meeting, the Board of Directors may fix a record date, which 
record date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the Board of Directors, and 
which record date shall not be more than 10 days after the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the 
Board of Directors. lfno retord date for determining stockholders entitled to express consent to corporate action in writing without a 
meeting is fixed by the Board of Directors, (i) when no prior action ofthe Board of Directors is required by law, the record date for 
such purpose shal! be the first date on which a signed written consent setting forth the action taken or proposed to be taken is 
delivered to the Corporation in accordance with applicable law, and (ii) if prior action by the Board of Directors is required by law, 
the record date for such purpose shall be at the close of business on the day on which the Board of Directors adopts the resolution 
taking such prior action. 

2.13 Meetings by Remote Communications. Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation, if authorized by the Board 
of Directors, any annual or special meeting of stockholders, whether such meeting is to be held at a designated place or by means of 
remote communication, may be conducted in whole or in part by means of remote communication. If authorized by the Board of 
Directors, and subject to such guidelines and procedures as the Board of Directors may adopt, stockholders and proxyholders not 
physically present at a meeting of stockholders may, by means of remote communications: (a) participate in such meeting of 
stockholders; and (b) be deemed present in person and vote at such meeting of stockholders whether such meeting is to be held at a 
designated place or solely by means of remote communication, provided that: (i) the Corporation shall implement reasonable 
measures to verifY that each person deemed present and permitted to vote at the meeting by means of remote communication is a 
stockholder or proxy holder; (ii) the Corporation shall implement reasonable measures to provide such stockholders and proxy holders 
a reasonable opportunity to participate in the meeting and to vote on matters submitted to the stockholders, including an opportunity 
to read or hear the proceedings of the meeting substantially concurrently with f.Uch proceedings; and (iii) if any stockholder or 
proxyholder votes or takes other action at the meeting by means of remote communication, a record of such vote or other action shall 
be maintained by the Corporation. 

2.14 &.nroductions. Any copy, facsimile or other reliable reproduction of a vote, consent, waiver, proxy appointment or other action 
by a stockholder or by the proxy or other agent of any stockholder may be substituted or used in lieu of the original writing or 
electronic transmission for any and all purposes for which the original writing or electronic transmission could be used, so long as the 
copy, facsimile or other reproduction is a complete reproduction of the entire original writing or electronic transmission. 

2.15 Stockholders List for Meeting. 

(a) After fixing a record date for a meeting of stockholders, fht offic¢r of the Corporation who has charge of the Corporation's 
stock ledger ~hal1 prepare, at least 10 days before such meeting, a complete list of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting, 
proviilllf!, ho:~.J:, that if the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to vote is less than 10 days before the meeting 
date, the list shall reflect the stockholders entitled to vote as of the 
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10th day before the meeting date. The list shall be arranged in alphabetical order and by class or series of shares, and show the 
address of and number of shares rcgistered in the name of each stockholder, but need not include an electronic mail address or other 
electronic contact information for any stockholder. 

(b) The list of stockholders shall be made available for inspection in accordance with Section 219 of the DGCL. 

2.16 Notice of Stockholder Business and Nominations; Director Qualifications. 

(a) (i) At any annual meeting of the stockholders, only such nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors shall 
be made, and only such other business shall be conducted or considered, as shall have been properly brought before the meeting. To 
be properly brought before an annual meeting, nominations of persons for election or re-election to the Board of Directors or other 
business must be (A) specificd in the notice of meeting (or any supplement thereto) given by or at the direction of the Board of 
Directors; (B) otherwise properly brought before the meeting by or at the direction of the Board of Directors or any committee 
thereof; or (C) otherwise properly brought before the meeting by a stockholder in accordance with clauses (ii), (iii) and (iv) of this 
Section 2.16( a) (this clause (C) being the exclusive means for a stockholder to bring nominations or other business before an annual 
meeting of stockholders, other than business properly included in the Corporation's proxy materials pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the 
Exchange Act). The provisions of Sections 2.16(a) and 2.16(b) apply to all nominations of persons for election to the Board of . 
Directors. 

(ii) For nominations of any person for election or re-election to the Board of Directors or other business to be properly brought 
before an annual meeting by a stockholder (A) the stockholder must have given timely notice thereof in writing to the Secretary, 
which notice must also fulfill the requirements of clause (iii) of this Section 2.16(a); (B) the subject matter of any proposed business 
must be a matter that is a proper subject matter for stockholder action at such meeting; and (C) the stockholder must be a stockholder 
of record of the Corporation at the time the notice required by this Section 2.16(a) is delivered to the Corporation and must be entitled 
to vote at the meeting. 

(iii) To be considered timely notice, a stockholder's notice must be received by the Secretary at the principal executive offices of 
the Corporation not earlier than the opening of business 120 days before, and not later ~han the close of business 90 days before, the 
first anniversary ofthe date ofthe preceding year's annual meeting of stockholders. If no annual meeting was held in the previous 
year, or if the date of the applicable annual meeting has been changed by more than 30 days from the date of the previous year's 
annual meeting, then a stockholder's notice, in order to be considered timely, must be received by the Secretary at the principal 
executive offices of the Corporation not earlier than the opening of business .120 days before the date of such annual meeting, and not 
later ~han the cIo~e of business on the later of (x) 90 days prior to thy date of.such '}rmual meeting; and (y) the 10th day following the 

. day on which Public Announcement of the date of such anImal meeting was first, made. In no event shall the Public Announcement of 
an adjoumrnei)t or postponement of an annual meeting or of ~ new recoirl'date for an annual meeting commence a new time period 
fer the giving of a stockholder's notice as described aoove. Such stockholder's notice shall '.iet forth the following 
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information (and, if such notice relates to the nomination of any person for election or re-election as a Director of the c.orporation, the 
questionnaire, representation and agreement required by Section 2. I 6(b) must also be delivered with and at the same time as such 
notice): 

(A) as to each person whom the stockholder proposes to nominate for election as a Director, (\) all information relating to 
such person that is required to be disclosed in solicitations of proxies for election of directors in an election contest, or is 
otherwise required, in each case in accordance with Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act and such other information as may 
be requil'ed by the Corporation pursuant to any policy of the Corporation governing the selection of Directors publicly available 
(whether on the Corporation's website or otherwise) as of the date of such notice; (2) such person's written consent to being 
named in the proxy statement as a nominee and to serving as a Director if elected and (3) a description of all agreements, 
arrangements or understandings between the stockholder or any beneficial owner on whose behalf such nomination is made, or 
their respective affiliates, and each nominee or any other person or persons (naming such person or persons) in connection with 
the making of such nomination or nominations; 

(B) ,as to any business the stockholder proposes to bring before the meeting, (1) a brief description of such business; (2) the 
text ofthe proposal to be voted on by stockholders (including the text of any resolutions proposed for consideration and, in the 
event that such business includes a proposal to amend the By-Laws, the language of the proposed amendment); (3) the reasons 
for conducting such business at the meeting; and (4) a description of any direct or indirect material interest of the stockholder or 
of any beneficial owner on whose behalf the proposal is made, or their respective affiliates, in such business (whether by 
holdings of securities, or by virtue of being a creditor or contractual counterparty of the Corporation or of a third party, or 
otherwise), and alJ agreements, arrangements and understandings between such stockholder or any such beneficial owner or 
their respective affiliates and any other person or persons (naming such person or persons) in connection with the proposal of 
such business; 

(C) as to the stockholder giving the notice and each beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalfthe business is proposed or 
nomination is made (each, a "~"), (\) the name and address of such Party (in the case of each stockholder, as they appear on 
the Corporation's books); (2) the class or series and number of shares of the Corporation that are owned, directly or indirectly, 
beneficially or held of record by such Party or any of its affiliates (naming such affiliates); (3) a description of any agreement, 
arrangement or understanding (including any swap or other derivative or short position, profit interest, option, warrant, 
convertible security, stock appreciation or similar right with exercise or conversion privileges, hedging transactions, and 
securities lending or borrowing arrangement) to which such Party or any of its affiliates is, directly or indirectly, a party as of 
the date of such notice (x) with respect to shares of stock of the Corporation; or (y) the effect or intent of which is to mitigate 
loss to, manage the potential risk or benefit of security price changes (increases or decreases) for, or increase or decrease the 
voting p0wer of such Party or any of its affiliates with respect to securities of the Corporation or which has a value derived in 
whole or in part, directly or indirectly, from the value (or change in value) of any securities ()fthe Corporation, ;n each case 
whether or not subject 
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to settlement in the underlying security of the Corporation (each such agreement, arrangement or understanding, a "Disclosable 
Arrangement") (specifying in each case (1) the effect of such Disclosable Arrangement on voting or economic rights in 
securities in the Corporation, as of the date of the notice; and (II) any changes in such voting or economic rights which may 
arise pursuant to the terms of such Disclosable Arrangement); (4) any proxy, agreement, arrangement, understanding or 
relationship pursuant to which such Party has a right to vote, directly or indirectly, any shares of any security of the Corporation; 
(5) any rights to dividends on the shares of the Corporation owned, directly or indirectly, beneficially by such Party that are 
separated or separable from the underlying shares of the Corporation; (6) any proportionate interest in shares of the Corporation 
or Disclosable Arrangements held, directly or indirectly, by a general or limited partnership in which such Party is a general 
pa11ner or, directly or indirectly, beneficially ownS an interest in a general partner; (7) any performance-related fees (other than 
an asset-based fee) that such Party is directly or indirectly entitled to based on any increase or decrease in the value of shares of 
the Corporation or Disclosable Arrangements, if any, as ofthe date of such notice, including any such interests held by members 
of such Party's immediate family sharing the same household; (8) a representation that the stockholder is a holder of record of 
stock of the Corporation entitled to vote at such meeting and intends to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to propose 
such business or nomination; and (9) a representation whether such Pal1y intends, or is part of a group which intends, (x) to 
deliver a proxy statement andlor form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage of the Corporation's outstanding shares of 
capital stock required to approve or adopt the proposal or elect the nominee; andlor (y) otherwise to solicit proxies from 
stockholders in support of such proposal or nomination; and 

(D) an undertaking by each Party to notifY the Corporation in writing of any change in the information previously 
disclosed pursuant to clauses (A)(1), (A)(3), (B)( 4) and (C) of this Section 2.16(a)(iii) as of the record date for determining 
stockholders entitled to receive notice of such meeting, by notice received by the Secretary not later than the 10th day following 
such record date, and thereafter by notice so given and received within two business days of any change in such infonnation 
(and. in any event, by the close of business on the day preceding the meeting date). 

Thf) C(),'poration may require any proposed nominee to furnish such other information as it may reasonably require to determine the 
eligibility of wch proposed nominee to serve as a Director of the Corporation or that could be material to a reasonable stockholder's 
under,tanJing of the independence, or lack thereof, of such nominee. In addition, a stockholder seeking to nominate a director 
r.andidate or bring another item of business before the annual meeting shall promptly provide any other information reasonably 
i"equested billie Corporation. 

\iv) NOt'i'lithstanding anything in clause (iii) of this Section 2.16(a) to the contrary, in the event that the number of Directors to 
be "!\fcted tp tile Board of Directors at an annual meeting of stockholders is increased and there is no Publio Announcement by the 
Cornoratil1'l :lan'mg (he nominees '(Or the additional directorships at leasf 100 days prior to the first anni'ver~ary ofthe date of the 
yrer;;edi,lg ',eal,\; a~.nllaJ meeting of stockholders, a stockholder's noti,ce required by this Section 2.l6(a}·shalJ ,alsohe considered 
tilllt:!y: bu; 0nly with respect to 
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nominees for the additional directorships, if it is received by the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not 
later than the close of business on the 10th day following the day on which such Public Announcement is first made by the 
Corporation (it being understood that such notice must nevertheless comply with the requirements of clause (iii) of this Section 2.16 
(a». 

(b) To be eligible to be a nominee for election or re-election by the stockholders as a Director of the Corporation or.to serve as a 
Director of the Corporation, a person must deliver (not later than the deadline prescribed for delivery of notice under clause (iii) or 
(iv), as applicable, of Section 2. I 6 (a» to the Secretary a written questionnaire with respect to the background and qualification of 
such person and, if applicable, the background of any other person on whose behalf the nomination is being made (which 
questionnaire shall be provided by the Secretary upon written request) and a written representation and agreement (in the form 
provided by the Secretary upon written request) that such person: (i) is not and will not become a party to (Al any agreement, 
arrangement or understanding with, and has not given any commitment or assurance to, any person as to how such person, if elected 
as a Director, will act or vote on any issue or question (a "Voting Commitment") that has not been disclosed in such questionnaire; or 
(B) any Voting Commitment that could limit or interfere with such person's ability to comply, if elected as a Director, with such 
person's duties under applicable Jaw; (ii) is not and will not become a party to any agreement, alTangement or understanding with any 
person other than the Corporation with respect to any direct or indirect compensation, reimbursement or indemnification in 
connection with service or action as a Director that has not been disclosed in such questionnaire; and (iii) in such person's individual 
capacity and on behalf of any person on whose behalf the nomination is being made, would be in compliance, if elected or re-elected 
as a Director, and will comply with, applicable law and all conflict of interest, confidentiality and other policies and guidelines of the 
Corporation (including the Corporation's Corporate Governance Guidelines) applicable to Directors generally and publicly available 
(whether on the Corporation's website or otherwise) as ofthe date of such representation and agreement. 

(c) Only such business shall be conducted at a special meeting of stockholders as shall have been specified in the Corporation's 
notice of rneeHng (or any supplement thereto) given by or at the direction of the Board of Directors. Nominations of persons for 
election to the Board of Directors may be made at a special meeting of stockholders at which Directors are to be elected pursuant to 
the Corporati9n's notiCe of meeting (i) by or at the direction of the Board of Directors; or (ii) so long as and provided that the Board 
of Directors has determined that Directors shall be elected at such meeting, by any stockholder ofthe Corporation who is a 
stockholder of record at the time the notice provided for in Section 2.16(a)(iii) is delivered to the Secretary, who is entitled to vote at 
the meeting and upon such election and who complies with the requirements set forth in Sections 2.l6(a)(iii) and 2.16(b) as if such 
requirements referred to such special meeting; provided, however, that to be considered timely notice under this clause (c), a 
~10ckholder'3 notice musfbe received by the Secretary at the principal executive offices ofthe Corporation not earlier than the dose 
of busines:; c.n the 120th day prior to such special meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of the 90th day prior to 
such meeting or the 10th day following the day on which Public Announcement ofthe date of such special meeting was first made. In 

> no even! shaIllhe Publie Announcement of an adjournment or. postponement of a special mi;eting commence a new timt: period (or 
extend Jny tim.;; period) for giving of a stockholder's notice as described above. Thi3 clause (c) shall be the exclusive 
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means for a stockholder to make nominations or other business proposals before a special meeting of stockholders (other than matters 
properly brought under Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act and included in the Corporation's notice of meeting). 

(d) Only such persons who are nominated for election or reelection as a director of the Corporation in accordance with the 
procedures, and who meet the other qualifications, set forth in the Section 2.16(a), (b) and (if applicable) (c) of these By-Laws shall 
be eligible to serve as directors and only such business shall be conducted at a meeting of stockholders as shall have been brought 
before the meeting in accordance with the procedures set forth in these By-Laws. 

(e) Without limiting the applicability of the foregoing provisions of this Section 2.16, a stockholder who seeks to have any 
proposal or potential nominee included in the Corporation's proxy materials must provide notice as required by and otherwise comply 
with the applicable requirements ofthe rules and regulations under the Exchange Act. Except for the immediately preceding sentence, 
nothing in this Section 2.16 shall be deemed to affect any rights of (i) stockholders to request inclusion of proposals in the 
Corporation's proxy statement pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act; or (ii) the holders of any class or series of Preferred 
Stock, voting as a class separately from the holders of common stock, to elect Directors pursuant to any applicable provisions of such 
class or series Preferred Stock or the Certificate ofIncorporation. Subject to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act, nothing in these 
By-Laws shall be construed to permit any stockholder, or give any stockholder the right, to include or have disseminated or 
described in the Corporation's proxy statement any nomination of director or directors or any other business proposal. 

(f) Nor-withstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 2.16, for as long as the Stockholders' Agreement, as may 
be amended from time to time, remains in effect with respect to TPG, TPG (to the extent then subject to the Stockholders' 
Agreement, as may be amended from time to time), shall not be subject to the notice provisions set forth in paragraphs (a)(ii), (a)(iii), 
(a)(iv), (b), (c) or (d) of this Section 2.16. 

2.17 Requirement to Appear. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Section 2.] 6, if the stockholder (or a qualified 
representative of the stockholder) does not appear at the annual or special meeting of stockholders of the Corporation to present a 
nomination or item of business, such proposed business shall not be transacted and such nomination shall be disregarded, 
notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such vote may have been received by the Corporation. 

ARTICLE III 

DIRECTORS 

3.1 POV£l<!]. Ail corporate power shaU'be exercised by or under the authority of, and the business and affairs ofthe Corporation shall 
be managed bi or under the direction of, its Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may exercise (or grant authority to be 
exercised) ~11 t.'Ie p'owers and authority ofthe Corporation and do all such lawful acts arid things except (a) as are by law or otherwise 
required lX airected to be exercised or done by the stockholders; or (b) as and to the extent set forth in the Certificate of In..:orporation 
or these By-Laws. 
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3.2 Number, Election and Qualification. The number of Directors shall be such number as is from time to time determined in the 
manner provided in the Certificate of Jncorporation. Except to the extent otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation, the 
Directors shall be divided into three classes, as nearly equal in number as possible. A nominee for Director shall be elected to the 
Board of Directors if the votes cast for such nominee's election exceed the votes cast against such nominee's election; provided, 
however, that Directors shall be elected by a plurality of the votes cast at any meeting of stockholders or in any action by written 
consent in lieu of sllch a meeting for which (a) the Corporation receives a notice that a stockholder has nominated a person for 
election to the Board of Directors that was timely made in accordance with the applicable nomination periods provided in these 
By-Laws, and (ii) such nomination or notice has not been withdrawn on or before the 10th day before the Corporation first mails its 
initial proxy statement in connection with such election of directors. If Directors are to be elected by a plurality of the votes cast, 
stockholders shall not be permitted to vote against a nominee. 

3.3 Vacancies; Reduction of Board. Any vacancy or newly created directorship in the Board of Directors, however occurring, may be 
filled only in the manner provided in and to the extent permitted under the Certificate of Incorporation. A vacancy that will occur at a 
specific later date may be filled before the vacancy occurs but the new Director may not take office until the vacancy occurs. 

3.4 Resignation. Any Director may resign at any time by delivering his or her resignation in writing or by electronic transmission to 
the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board (if any) or to the Corporation at its principal executive office. Such resignation 
shall be effective upon receipt unless it is specified therein to be effective at some later time, and the acceptance of a resignation shall 
not be necessary to make it effective unless such resignation specifies otherwise. 

3.5 Removal. Any Director, or the entire Board of Directors, may only be removed from office in the manner provided in and to the 
extent permitted under the Certificate of Incorporation. 

3.6 Meetings. 

(a) Annual Meetings. The Board of Directors shall meet for the election of officers and the transaction of other business, as soon 
as practicable after each annual meeting of stockholders. Notice of such meeting need not be given. In the event such annual meeting 
of stockholders is not held, the annual meeting of the Board of Directors may be held at such other time or place (within or without 
the State of Delaware), called in the manner provided in Section 3.6(c). 

(b) Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held without notice at such time or times, on such 
date or dates and at such place or places as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine and publicize among all 
Directcrs. A notice of each regular meeting shall not be required. 

(c) Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by one-third ofthe Directors then in office 
(rounded up to the nearest whole number), by the Chairman of the Board, or by the Chief Executive Officer, and shall be held at such 
~Iace, on such date, and at such time as they or he or sh«r shall fix. 
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3.7 Notice of Special Meeting. Notice of the time, date and place of all special meetings of the Board of Directors shall be given to 
each Director. Except as otherwise provided by law, notice of each such meeting shall be mailed to each Director, addressed to such 
Director at his or her residence or usual place of business, at least 48 hours prior to the day on which such meeting is to be held, 
provided that in lieu thereof, notice may be delivered to each Director personally or by telephone or sent by facsimile, electronic mail 
or other electronic transmission, not later than noon of the calendar day before the day on which such meeting is to be held. A notice 
of a special meeting of the Board of Directors need not specify the purposes of the meeting unless required by the Certificate of 
Incorporation or these By-Laws. Notice of any meeting of the Board shall not, however, be required to be given to any Director who 
submits a signed waiver of notice, or waives notice of slIch meeting by electronic transmission, whether before or after the meeting, 
or ifhe or she is be present at such meeting; and any meeting of the Board of Directors shall be a legal meeting without any notice 
thereof having been given to all of the Directors if all the Directors of the Corporation then in office are present thereat or have 
waived notice thereof. 

3.8 Quorum. At any meeting of the Board of Directors, a majority of the total number of authorized Directors shall constitute a 
quorum for all purposes, provided that if a quorum of Directors shall fail to attend any meeting, any number of Directors (whether 
one or more and whether or not constituting a quorum) constituting a majority of Directors present at such meeting may adjourn the 
meeting to another place, date or time, without further notice or waiver thereof. 

3.9 Action at Meeting. At any meeting of the Board of Directors at which a quorum is present (or such smaller number as may make a 
determination pursuant to Section 145 of the DGCL or any successor provision), business shall be transacted in such order and 
manner as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine. and all matters shall be determined by the vote of a majority of 
the Directors present at such meeting at which there is a quorum, except as is required or provided by law, by the Celtificate of 
Incorporation or by any other provision of these By-Laws. 

3.10 Action Without Meeting. Unless the Certificate ofIncorporation otherwise provides, any action required or permitted to be taken 
by the Board of Directors or a committee thereof may be taken without a meeting ifall members of the Board of Directors or such 
committee consent thereto in writing, or by electronic transmission, and the writing or writings or electronic transmission or 
transmissions are filed with th('. minutes of proceedings of the Board of Directors or such committee. Action taken under this 
Section 3.10 is effective when the last Director signs or delivers the consent, unless the consent specifies a later effective date. A 
consent signed or delivered under this Section 3.10 has the effect of a meeting vote and may be described as such in any document. 

3.11 Telephone Conference Meetings. Unless otherwise restricted by the Certificate ofIncorporation, any or all Directors may 
participate in a regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors, or any meeting of any committee thereof, by, or conduct the 
meeting through the use 
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of, any means of communication by which all Directors participating may hear each other during the meeting. A Director 
participating in a meeting by this means is considered to be present in person at the meeting. 

3.12 Rules and Regulations. The Board of Directors may adopt stich rules and regulations for the conduct of its meetings and the 
management of the affairs of the Corporation as it may deem proper, not inconsistent with the laws of the State of Delaware, the 
Certificate ofIncorporation or the other provisions of these By-Laws. 

3.13 Committees. 

(a) Designation of Committees. The Board of Directors shall designate and shall appoint one or more of its members to an Audit 
Committee, a Compensation Committee and a Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, with such lawfully delegable 
powers and duties as it thereby confers. The Audit Committee shall be composed of at least three Directors and each of the 
Compensation Committee and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee shall be composed of at least two Directors. Unless 
otherwise provided by the Certificate oflncorporation, the Board of Directors may from time to time elect from its members one or 
more other committees ofthe Board and may delegate thereto such lawfully delegable powers and duties as it thereby confers. All 
members of any committee of the Board of Directors shall serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors, and the Board of Directors 
may abolish any such committee at any time. Any committee to which the Board of Directors delegates any of its powers or duties 
shall keep records of its meetings and shall report its actions to the Board of Directors. Unless otherwise provided in a resolution or 
resolutions of the Board of Directors designating the committee, the Board of Directors shall have the power to rescind any action of 
any such committee, but no such rescission shall have retroactive effect. 

(b) Alternates: Substitution of Members. The Board of Directors may, subject to any requirements specifically set forth in this 
Section 3.13, designate one or more Directors as alternate members of any committee, who may replace any absent or disqualified 
member at any meeting of the committee. In the absence or disqualification of any member of any committee and any alternate 
member in his or her place, the member or members of the committee present at the meeting and not disqualified from voting, 
whether or not he or she or they constitute a quorum, may by unanimous vote appoint another member ofthe Board of Directors to 
act at the meeting in the place of the absent or disqualified member. 

( c) Delegable Authority. Any such committee, to the extent provided in a resolution of the Board of Directors, shall have and 
may exercise all the powers and authority of the Board of Directors in the management of the business and affairs of the Corporation, 
and may authorize the seal ofthe Corporation to be affixed to all papers that may require it; but no such committee shall have the 
power or authority to (i) approve or adopt, or recommend to the stockholders, any action or matter (other than the election or removal 
of Directors) required by the DGCL to be submitted to :;~ockholders for approval; or (ii) adopt, amend or repeal the By-Laws ofthe 
Corporation. 
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(d) Tenn. The Board, subject to the requirements specifically set forth in this Section 3.13 and subject to the applicable 
requirements of law (including the rules or regulations of any stock exchange applicable to the Corporation), may at any time change, 
increase 01' decrease the number of members of a committee or terminate the existence of a committee. A Director's membership on a 
committee shall terminate on the date of his or her death or resignation, but the Board of Directors may at any time for any reason 
remove any individual committee member and the Board of Directors may, subject to any requirements specifically set forth in this 
Section 3.13, fill any committee vacancy created by death, resignation, or removal or increase in the number of members of the 
committee. 

(e) Conduct of Business of Committees. Each committee may determ ine the procedural rules for meeting and conducting its 
business and shall act in accordance therewith, except as otherwise provided herein or required by law. Adequate provision shall be 
made for notice to members of all meetings. A majority of the members of the committee shall constitute a quorum unless the 
committee shaH consist of one or two members, in which event one member shall constitute a quorum, except to the extent that the 
presence of a larger number of members is required by the charter of such committee; and all matters shall be determined by a 
majority vote of tile members present, except to the extent a charter of a committee otherwise requires. 

3.14 Compensation. Directors, as such, may receive, pursuant to a resolution of the Board of Directors, fixed fees and other 
compensation for their services as Directors, including their services as members of committees of the Board of Directors. 

ARTICLE IV 

OFFICERS 

4.1 Appointment: Term of Office. The Board of Directors, at its first meeting after each annual meeting of stockholders, shall elect at 
least the following officers: a Chairman of the Board, a Chief Executive Officer, a Chief Financial Officer, a Treasurer and a 
Secretary. The Board of Directors may also elect, appoint, or provide for the appointment of such other officers and agents as may 
from time to time appear necessary or advisable in the conduct of the affairs of the Corporation. Each officer of the Corporation shall 
hold office for such tenn as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors and until his or her successor is chosen and qualifies or until 
his or her earlier death, disqualification, resignation or removal, and shall perform such duties as from time to time shall be prescribed 
by these By-Laws or, to the extent consistent with these By-Laws, by the Board of Directors or by direction of an officer authorized 
by the Board of Directors to prescribe the duties of other officer::;. The Board of Directors may fill any vacancy occurring in any 
office of the Corporation at any regular or special meetir.g. Two or more offices may be held by the same person. No officer need be 
a stockholder or Director, except that the Chairman of the Board shall be chosen from among the Directors. 

4.2 Resignation. Any officer may resign by delivering his or her written resignation to the Corporation at its principal office, and such 
resignation shall be effective upon receipt unless it is specified to be effective at a later time. If a resignation is made effective at a 
later date and the Corporation accepts the future effective date, the Board of Directors may fill the pending vacancy before the 
effective date if the Board of Directors provides that the successor shall not take office until the effective date. An officer's 
resignation shall not affect the Corporation's contract rights, if any, with the officer. 
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4.3 Removal. The Board of Directors may remove any officer with or without cause. Nothing herein shall limit the power of any 
officer to discharge any subordinate. 

4.4 Powers and Duties; Delegation. 

(a) Each officer of the Corporation shall have such duties and powers as are customarily incident to his or her office (subject to 
the direction and control of the Board of Directors and except as otherwise provided by these By-Laws), lind such other duties and 
powers as may be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors or by direction of an officer authorized by the Board of 
Directors to prescribe the duties of such other officer. 

(b) Whenever an officer or officers is absent, or whenever for any reason the Board of Directors may deem it desirable, the 
Board may delegate the powers and duties of any officer or officers to any Director or Directors. 

(c) The Board of Directors may from time to time delegate the powers or duties of any officer to any other officers or agents, 
notwithstanding any other provision hereof. 

4.5 Compensation. The compensation of the officers of the Corporation for their services as officers to the Corporation shall be fixed 
from time to time by or at the direction of the Board of Directors. An officer of the Corporation shall not be prevented from receiving 
compensation by reason of the fact that he or she is also a Director of the Corporation. 

ARTICLE V 

CAPITAL STOCK 

5.1 Issuance and Consideration. Subject to any applicable requirements oflaw, the Certificate ofIncorporation or these By-Laws, the 
Board of Directors may direct the Corporation to issue the number of shares of each class or series of stock authorized by the 
C~rtificate of Incorporation. The Board of Directors may authorize shares to be issued for any valid consideration. Before the 
Corporation issues shares, the Board of Directors shall determine that the consideration received or to be received for shares to be 
issued is equal to or more than the aggregate par value of such shares. That determination by the Board of Directors is conclusive 
insofar as the adequacy of consideration for the issuance of shares relates to whether the shares are validly issued, fully paid and 
nonassessable. Subject to any applicable requirements of law or the Certificate of Incorporation, the Board of Directors shall 
determine the terms upon which the rights, options, or W'lrrants fQ.r the purchase of shares or other securities of the Corporation are 
issued by the Corporation and the terms, including the consideratiC'n, for which the shares or other securities are to be issued. 

5.2 Share Certificate~. Ifshares are represented by certificates, at a minimum.each share certificate shall state on its face: (a) the name 
. of the Corporation and that it is organized under the laws of the State of Delaware; (b) the name of the person to whom issued; and 
(c) the number and class of shares and the designation of the series, if any, the certificate represents. The front or back of each 
certificate shall also set forth any information or statement required to be set forth thereon by the DGCL. Unless shares can be issued 
only in uncertificated form as contemplated by SectionS.3, each stockholder.shall be entitled to a certificate signed by, or in 
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the name of the Corporation by, either manually or in facsimile, the Chairman of the Board or Vice-Chairman of the Board, or the 
President or Vice-President, and by the Treasurer or an Assistant Vice--Treasurer, or the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary 
certifying the number of shares owned by him or her in the Corporation. Any or all of the signatures on the certificate may be by 
facsimile, and any such certificate shall bear the corporate seal or its facsimile. If the person who signed, either manually or in 
facsimile, a share certificate no longer holds office when the certificate is issued, the certificate shall be nevertheless valid. 

5.3 Uncertificated Shares. The Board of Directors may authorize the issue of some or all of the shares of any or all of the 
Corporation's classes or series of capital stock without certificates. The authorization shall not affect shares already represented by 
certificates until they are surrendered to the Corporation. To the extent required by the DGCL, within a reasonable time after the issue 
or transfer of shares without certificates, the Corporation shall send the stockholder a written statement of the infolmation required by 
the DGCL to be on physical share certificates of the Corporation. 

5.4 Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates. The Board of Directors may, subject to Section 167 of the DGCL, determine the conditions 
upon which a new share certificate may be issued in place of any cel1ificate alleged to have been lost, destroyed, or stolen. The Board 
of Directors may, in its discretion, require the owner of such share certificate, or his or her legal representative, to give a bond, 
sufficient in its opinion, with or without surety, to indemnifY the Corporation against any loss or claim which may arise by reason of 
the issue of the new certificate. 

5.5 Transfers. Transfers of stock shall be made only upon the transfer books of the Corporation kept at an office of the Corporation or 
by transfer agents designated to transfer shares of stock of the Corporation. Subject to any restrictions on transfer, shares of stock 
represented by certificates may be transferred on the books of the Corporation by the surrender to the Corporation or its transfer agent 
of the certificate therefor properly endorsed or accompanied by a written assignment and power of attorney properly executed, with 
transfer stamps (if necessary) affixed, and with such proof ofthe authenticity of signature as the Corporation or its transfer agent may 
reasonably require. Upon receipt of proper transfer instructions from the registered owner of uncertificated shares, such uncertificated 
shares shall be cancelled and the issuance of new equivalent uncertificated shares. shall be made to the person entitled thereto and the 
transaction shall be recorded upon the books of the Corporation. A record shall be made of each transfer and whenever a transfer shall 
be made for collateral security, and not absolutely, it shall be so expressed in the entry of the transfer . . 
5.6 Regulations. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the issue, transfer, conversion and registration of certificates of stock shall be 
-governed by such other regulations as the Board of Directors may establish. 

5.7 Registered Stockholders. The Corporation shall be entitled to recognize the exclusive right of a person registered on its books as 
thf:l owner of shares to receive dividends flnd to vote as s;Jch owner and to hold liable for calls and assessments a person registered on 
its books as the owner of shares and shall not be bound to recognize ailY equitable or other claim to or interest in such share or shares 
on the part of any other person, whether or not it shall have express or other notice tr.:reof, except as otherwise provided by the laws 
of Delaware. 
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ARTICLE VI 

CORPORATE RECORDS 

6.1 Records to be Kept. The Corporation shall keep as permanent records minutes of all meetings of its stockholders and Board of 
Directors and committee thereof, and a record of all actions taken by the stockholders or Board of Directors and committee thereof 
without a meeting. The Corporation or its agent shall maintain a record of its stockholders, in a form that permits preparation of a list 
of the names and addresses of all stockholders, in alphabetical order by class or series of shares showing the number and class or 
series of shares held by each. The Corporation shall maintain its records in written form or in another form capable of conversion into 
written form within a reasonable time. 

ARTICLE VII 

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE 

7.1 Power to Indemnify in Action, Suits or Proceedings. Subject to the limitations set forth in Section 7.4, the Corporation shall 
indemnitY and hold harmless to the fullest extent authorized by the DGCL, as the same exists or may hereinafter be amended (but, in 
the case of any such amendment, only to the extent that such amendment permits the Corporation to provide broader indemnification 
rights than permitted prior to such amendment), or by other applicable law as then in effect, any person who was or is a party to or is 
threatened to be made a party to or is involved in (including as a witness) any proceeding, by reason of the fact that he or she, or a 
person for whom he or she is the legal representative, is an Eligible Person (hereinafter, an "Indemnitee"), whether the basis of such 
proceeding is alleged action in an official capacity as an Eligible Person or in any other capacity while serving in such official 
capacity, against all expense, liability and loss (including attorneys' and other professionals' fees, judgments, fines, ERISA taxes or 
penalties and amounts to be paid in settlement) actually and reasonably incurred or suffered by such person in connection therewith. 

7.2 Expenses Payable In Advance. To the fullest extent authorized by Delaware law, each Indemnitee shall, subject in all events to 
satisfaction of the terms and conditions set forth in or imposed pursuant to clauses (a) and (b) of this Section 7.2 and to the limitations 
contained in Section 7.4, have the right to be paid by the Corporation the expenses (including attorneys' and other professionals' fees 
and disbursements and court costs) actually and reasonably incurred in defending any proceeding described in Section 7.1 in advance 
of its final disposition (an "advancement of expenses") upon (a) the receipt of an undertaking (an "undertaking") by or on behalf of 
such person to cooperate with the Corporation and its' insurers in connection with the proceeding and any related matter and to repay 
all amounts so advanced ifit shall ultimately be determined by finaljudicial decision from which there is no further right to appeal (a 
"final adjudication") that stich person is not entitled to be indemnified by the Corporation for'stlch expenses pursuant to this 
Article VII (it being understood that no collateral securing or other assurance of performance of such undertaking shall be required of 
such Indemnitee by the Corporation) and (b) in the case of an advancement of expenses for any Indemnitee other than a present or 
former Director ofthe Corporation, such other terms and conditions as the Corporation, in its sole discretion, deems appropriate. 
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7.3 Indemnification and Advancement of Expenses to Certain Other Persons. The Corporation may, by action of its Board of 
Directors, from time to time grant rights to indemnification and advancement of expenses to such persons and with such scope and 
effect as the Board of Directors may determine, subject to applicable law. The Board of Directors may delegate to the appropriate 
officers of the Corporation the decision to grant from time to time rights to indemnification and advancement of expenses pursuant to 
this Section 7.3 to any employee or agent of the Corporation who is not an Eligible Person. 

7.4 Exclusion of Claims Against the Corporation. No Eligible Person shall be entitled to any advancement of expenses for, or to 
indemnification from or to be held harmless by the Corporation against expenses, liabilities or losses, incurred by him or her in 
asserting any claim or commencing or prosecuting any proceeding against the Corporation (except as provided in Section 7.5) or any 
subsidiary of the Corporation or any current or fomler Director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation or of any subsidiary of 
the Corporation, but such advancement of expenses and indemnification and hold harmless rights may be provided by the 
Corporation in any specific instance as permitted by Sections 7.7 or 7.9, or in any specific instance in which the Board of Directors or 
any person designated to grant such authorization pursuant to a resolution adopted by the Board of Directors shall first authorize the 
commencement or prosecution of such a proceeding or the assertion of such a claim. 

7.5 Enforcement. The rights to indemnification and advancement ofexpenses provided by, or granted pursuant to, this Article VII 
shall be enforceable by any person entitled to such indemnification or advancement of expenses (following final disposition of any 
proceeding entitling such person thereto) in any court of competent jurisdiction. To the fullest extent permitted by law, if successful 
in whole or in part in any such proceeding, or in a proceeding brought by the Corporation to recover an advancement of expenses, the 
person entitled to such indemnification or advancement of expenses (following final disposition of any proceeding entitling such 
person thereto) shall be entitled to be paid also the expense of prosecuting or defending such suit. Notice of any application to a court 
by an Indemnitee pursuant to this Section 7.5 shall be given to the Corporation promptly upon the filing of such application; 
provided, however, that such notice shall not be a requirement for an award of or a determination of entitlement to indemnification or 
advancement of expenses. 

7.6 Certain Definitions. For purposes of this Article VII: (a) a "proceeding" means any threatened, pending or completed action, suit 
or pro~eeding (or part thereof), whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, or any appeal therefrom; (b) an "Eligible 
Person" is any person who is or was, or has agreed to become, (i) a Director or offic~r of the Corporation or, (ii) a Director or officer 
of the Corporation who, while such a Director or officer, is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, 
employee, agent or manager of another corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust or other enterprise or 
nonprofit entity, including service with respect to an employee benefit plan; and (c) a "TPG lndemnitee" is any Indemnitee that is an 
affiliate of TPG (other than the Corporation), or any direct or indirect partner, manager, member, shareholder, employee, director. 
officer or agent of such Indemnitee. .. . 
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7.7 Non-Exclusivity and Survival of rndemnification. 

(a) The rights to indemnification and to the advancement of expenses provided by or granted pursuant to this Article VII shall be 
deemed independent of, and shall not be deemed exclusive of or a limitation on, any other rights to which any person seeking 
indemnification or advancement of expenses may be entitled or hereafter acquire under any statute, provision of the Certificate of 
Incorporation, provision of these By-Laws, agreement, vote of stockholders or of disinterested Directors or otherwise, both as to such 
person's official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding such office, it being the intent of the Corporation that 
indemnification of and advancement of expenses to Indemnitees shall be made to the fullest extent permitted by law, including as a 
result of any amendment of the DGCL expanding the right of corporations to indemnifY and advance expenses. 

(b) The Corporation's obligation, if any, to indemnify, to hold halmless, or to provide advancement of expenses to any 
Indemnitee who was or is serving at its request as a Director, officer, employee, agent or manager of another corporation, partnership, 
limited liability company, joint venture, trust or other enterprise or nonprofit entity (including service with respect to an employee 
benefit plan) shall be reduced by any amount such Indemnitee actually collects as indemnification, holding harmless, or advancement 
of expenses from such other corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust or other enterprise nonprofit 
entity. 

(c) In all events, the Corporation hereby agrees that, to the fullest extent permitted by law with respect to its indemnification and 
advancement obligations to any TPG Indemnitee, (i) the Corporation is the indemnitor of first resort (i.e., its and its insurers' 
obligations to any TPO Indemnitee to advance expenses and to indemnify such TPG Indemnitee are primary and any obligation of 
TPG (including any affiliate thereof other than the Corporation) or its insurers to advance expenses or to provide indemnification 
hereunder or under any other indemnification agreement (whether pursuant to contract, the By-Laws or the Certificate of 
Incorporation) is secondary and excess) and (ii) the Corporation irrevocably waives and relinquishes, and releases TPG (including 
any affiliate thereof other than the Corporation) and its insurers from, any and all claims against TPO (including any affiliate thereof 
other than the Corporation) or such insurers for contribution, subrogation or any other recovery of any kind in respect thereof. In 
furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, the Corporation agrees that in the event TPG (including any affiliate thereof other 
than the Corporation) or its insurer should advance any expenses or make any payment to any TPG Indemnitee for matters subject to 
advancement or indemnification by the Corporation pursuant to this Article VII or otherwise, the Corporation shall promptly 
reimburse TPG (including any affiliate thereof other than the Corporation) or such insurers, as applicable, and that TPG (including 
any affiliate thereof other than the Corporation) or insurer shall be subrogated to all of the claims or rights of such TPG Indemnitee 

. with respect to such payment, including to the payment of expenses in an action to cc,Uect . 
• 1 
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(d) The rights to indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by, or granted pursuant to, this Article VII shall 
continue as to a person who has ceased to be a Director or officer ofthe Corporation (or in the case of any other person entitled to 
indemnity granted pursuant to this Article VII, has ceased to serve the Corporation) and shall inure to the benefit of the estate, heirs, 
legatees, distributes, executors, administrators and other comparable legal representatives of such person. 

7.8 Contractual Rights. The rights conferred upon any person in this Article VII shall be contract rights and such rights shall continue 
as to any person who has ceased to be a Director, officer, employee, trustee or agent, and shall inure to the benefit of such person's 
heirs, executors and administrators. A right to indemnification or to advancement of expenses arising under any provision of this 
Article VII shall not be eliminated or impaired by an amendment, alteration or repeal of any provision of these By-Laws after the 
occurrence ofthe act or omission that is the subject of the proceeding for which indemnification or advancement of expenses is 
sought (even in the case of a proceeding based 011 such a state of facts that is commenced after such time). 

7.9 Insurance. The Corporation may, but shall not be required to, purchase and maintain insurance, at its expense, on behalf of itself 
and any person who is or was a Director, officer, employee, agent or manager of the Corporation or another corporation, partnership, 
limited liability company, joint venture, trust or other enterprise or nonprofit entity, including service with respect to an employee 
benefit plan, against any expense, liability or loss, whether or not the Corporation would have the power or the obligation to 
indemnify such person against such expense, liability or loss under Delaware law. Nothing contained in this Article VII shall prevent 
the Corporation from entering into with any person any agreement that provides independent indemnification, hold harmless or 
exoneration rights to such person or further regulates the terms on which indemnification, hold harmless or exoneration rights are to 
be provided to such person or provides independent assurance of the Corporation's obligation to indemnifY, hold harmless and/or 
exonerate such person, whether or not such indemnification, hold harmless or exoneration rights are on the same or different terms 
than provided for by this Article VII or is in respect of such person acting in any other capacity, and nothing contained herein shall be 
exclusive of, or a limitation on, any right to indemnification, to be held harmless, to exoneration or to advancement of expenses to 
which any person is otherwise entitled. The Corporation may create a trust fund, grant a security interest or use other means 
(including a letter of credit) to ensure the payment of such amounts as may be necessary to effect indemnification and the 
advancement of expenses as provided in this Article VII. 

7.10 Severability. If this Article VII or any portion hereof shall be invalidated or held to be unenforceable on any ground by any court 
,of competent jurisdiction, the decision of which shall not have been reversed on appeal, this Article VII shall be deemed to be 
modified to the minimum extent necessary to avoid a violation of law and, as so modified, this Article VII and the remaining 
provisions hereof shall remain valid and enforceable in accordance with ,their terms to, the fuUest extent permitted by law. 
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ARTICLE VlII 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

8.1 Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be as fixed by the Board of Directors. If the Board makes no determination to 
the contrary, the fiscal year of the Corporation shall be the twelve months ending with December 31 in each year. 

8.2 Seal. The Board of Directors shall have power to adopt and alter the seal ofthe Corporation, which seal shall be in the charge of 
the Secretary. If and when so directed by the Board of Directors or a committee thereof, duplicates of the seal may be kept and used 
by the Treasurer or by an Assistant Treasurer or Assistant Secretary (if there be such officers appointed). 

8.3 Execution ofInstruments. The Board of Directors may authorize, or provide for the authorization of, officers, employees or agents 
to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name and on behalf of the Corporation. Any such authorization 
must be in writing or by electronic transmission and may be general or limited to specific contracts or instruments. 

8.4 Voting of Securities. Unless otherwise provided by the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial 
Officer or the General Counsel may waive notice of and act on behalf of the Corporation, or appoint another person or persons to act 
as proxy or attorney in fact for the Corporation with or without discretionary power or power of substitution, at any meeting of 
stockholders or stockholders of any other corporation, entity or organization, any of whose securities or interests are held by the 
Corporation. 

8.5 Amendments. Except as otherwise specifically provided by the DGCL, these By-Laws may be added to, amended, altered or 
repealed, in the manner provided in the Certificate ofIncorporation, by the Board of Directors. The stockholders ofthe Corporation 
may not adopt, amend or repeal any By-Law provision, and no provision inconsistent therewith shall be adopted by the stockholders, 
unless (i) prior to the Trigger Date, such action is approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power of 
the outstanding common stock and (ii) from and after the Trigger Date, such action is approved by 66 2/3% of the voting power of the 
outstanding common stock. 

8.6 Construction. The words "include" and "including" and similar terms shall be deemeu to be followed by the words "without 
limitation." Whenever used in these By-Laws, any noun or pronoun shall be deemed to include the plural as well as the singular and 
to cover all genders. Any reference in these By-Laws to a provision of any statute shall be deemed to include any successor provision. 
Unless the context otherwise requires, the term "person'''shall be deemed to include any natural person or any corporation, 
organization or other entity. 

S.7 RelianCe upon Books. Reports and Records. Each Director, each member of any committee designated by the Board of Directors, 
and each officer of the Corporation shall, in the performance of his or her duties, be fully protected in relying in good faith upon the 
books of aCC01mt or other records of the Corporation and upon such information, opinions, reports or 
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statements presented to the Corporation by any of its officers or employees, or committees of the Board of Directors, or by any other 
person as to matters that such Director, committee member or officer reasonably believes are within such other person's professional 
or expert competence and who has been selected with reasonable care by or on behalf of the Corporation. 

S.S. Forum for Adjudicating Disputes. Unless the Corporation consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court 
of Chancery (the "ChancelY Court") of the State of Delaware (or, in the event that the Chancery Court does not have jurisdiction, the 
federal district court for the District of Delaware or other state courts of the State ofOelaware) shall. to the fullest extent permitted by 
law, be the sole and exclusive forum for (a) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf ofthe Corporation, (b) any action 
asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer, other employee or stockholder of the Corporation to the 
Corporation or to the Corporation's stockholders, (c) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the OGCL or 
the Certificate ofIncorporation or these By-Laws (as any of the foregoing may be amended from time to time) or as to which the 
OGCL confers jurisdiction on the Chancery Court, or (d) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine of the 
State of Delaware, in each such case, unless the Chancery Court (or such other state or federal court located within the State of 
Delaware, as applicable) has dismissed a prior action by the same plaintiff asserting the same claims because such court lacked 
personal jurisdiction over an indispensable party named as a defendant therein. If any action the subject matter of which is within the 
scope ofthe preceding sentence is filed in a court other than a court located within the State of Delaware (a "Foreign Action") in the 
name of any stockholder, such stockholder shall be deemed to have consented to (i) the personai jurisdiction of the state and federal 
c')urts located within the State of Delaware in connection with any action brought in any such court to enforce the preceding sentence 
and (ii) having service of process made upon such stockholder in any such action by service upon such stockholder's counsel in the 
Foreign Action as agent for such stockholder. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding any interest in shares 
of capital stock of the Corporation shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to the provisions ofthis SectiQn 8.8. 

ARTICLE IX 

DEFINITIONS 

As llsed ill thes<! By-Lf.ws, unless the context otherwise requires, the term: 

9.1 ",!!dvancement of expenses" i~ defined in Section 7.2. 

9.2 "f,to3l'd" and "~Qard of Directors" means the Board of Directors of the Corporation. 

"',. ,9.3- "~rtificlj.~.9f1fl(:vfporatio!l" means the Certificate ofIncorporation ofthe Corporation, as amended, modified, restated and in 
. effect from time to time, including any certificate of designations in effect from time to time with respect foPreferred St0ck ... 

9.4 "'Cml)o,rate Governance Guidelines" means the corporate governance guidelines ofthe Corporation, as amended, modified. 
restated and ir. effect from time to time. 

95 "Corp0l'atiof\" means Surgical Care Affiliates, Inc. 
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9.6 "DGCL" means the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, as in effect from time to time. 

9.7 "Disclosable Arrangement" is defined in Section 2.l6(a)(iii)(C). 

9.8 "Eligible Person" is defined in Section 7.6(b). 

9.9 "Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

9.10 "final adjudication" is defined in Section 7.2(a). 

9.11 "Indemnitee" is defined in Section 7.1. 

9.12 "Party" is defined in Section 2.l6(a)(iii)(C). 

9.13 "Preferred Stock" means the preferred stock of the Corporation. 

9.14 "proceeding" is defined in Section 7.6(a). 

9.15 "Public Announcement" means disclosure in a press release reported by the Dow Jones News Service, Associated Press or 
comparable national news service or in a document publicly filed by the Corporation with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
pursuant to Sections 13, 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act. 

9.16 "Stockholders' Agreement" means the Stockholders' Agreement byand among the Corporation and the stockholders thereto. 

9.17 "TPG" means the investment funds affiliated with TPG Global, LLC and their respective successors and affiliates (other than the 
Corporation and its subsidiaries). 

9.18 "Trigger Date" means the first date on which any investment fund affiliated with TPG ceases to collectively beneficially own 
(directly or indirectly) shares representing at least 50% of the then issued and outstanding shares of the common stock ofthe 
Corporation, with such beneficial ownership to be determined in accordance with Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act. 

9.19 "undertaking" is defined in Section 7.2(a). 

9.20 "Voting Commitment" is detined in Section iI6(b). 
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Exhibit 99.1 

OPTUM 

Surgical Care Affiliates (SCA), OptumCare to Combine 

Creates comprehensive ambulatOfY care services platform, including primary care, urgent care and surgical care services 

2 Combination broadens ability of the companies to improve patient experience, and quality and cost of care 

3 Companies to align strategy to support value-based payment models and a multi-payer approach 

4 Builds of/companies' existingjoint ventures, strong relationship and complementafY capabilities 

Wakefield, Mass., and Deerfield, Ill. (Jan. 9,2017) Optum, a leading health services company and part ofUnitedHealth Group 
(NYSE: UNH), and Surgical Care Affiliates, Inc. (NASDAQ: SCAI), a leading ambulatory surgery center (ASC) and surgical 
hospital provider, are combining. The agreement calls for the acquisition ofSCA's outstanding common stock for $57.00 per share. 

The combination ofSCA with OptumCare, Optum's primary and urgent care delivery services business working with more than 80 
health plans, will position the combined organization as a comprehensive provider of ambulatory care services, while continuing 
expansion ofSCA's network of ASCs and surgical hospitals in partnership with leading health systems, medical groups and health 
payers. The combination builds upon the two companies' successful ASC collaborations and expands OptumCare'scapabiIities in 
outpatient surgical procedures. 

"Joining with OptumCare will enable us to better support and empower independent physicians, helping them provide high-quality 
care for their patients while making health care more affordable. The combination of SCA and OptumCare is another step forward 
toward our vision of becominglhe' partner of choice for surgeons," said Andrew Hayek, chairman and chief executive officer of SCA. 
"We already have a strong relationship with OptumCare, so we have seen firsthand that our cultures and strategies are aligned and 
complementary ." 

Larry C. Renfro, vice chairman of UnitedHealth Group and Optum chief executive officer, said: "Combining SCA and OptumCare 
will enable us to continue the transition to high-quality, high-value ambulatory surgical care, partnering with the full range of health 
systems, medical groups and health plans. We have an incredibly high regard for SCA's leadership and people, so we look forward to 
working with them and our payer partners to implement care models that reward independent surgeons and specialists for quality and 
care efficiency." 

System-wide, SCA and its affiliates serve approximately 1 million patients per year in more than 30 states. The company is a leader 
in partnering strategically with many health plans, medical groups and health systems to align with physicians through value-based 
payment models that reward quality, patient experience and cost-efficiency. 
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With the combination, SCA will become part of the OptumCare platform, which serves millions of consumers annually through 
20,000 affiliated physicians and hundreds of care facilities. Hayek and the SCA leadership team will continue forward as part of SCA 
and the larger OptumCare platform. The companies will offer compelling quality and value to patients and payers and support 
independent doctors' practices as eligible surgical cases (e.g., total joint replacements) continue to migrate to the ASC and surgical 
hospital environments. 

The agreement calls for the acquisition ofSCA's outstanding common stock for a fixed price of$57.00 per share, to be funded 
between 51 percent and 80 percent with UnitedHealth Group common stock, with the final percentage to be determined at 
UnitedHealth Group's option and the remainder in cash. The transaction is expected to close during the first half of 20 17, subject to 
the tender of ii majority of SCA 's shares, regulatory approvals and other customary closing conditions, and is expected to be neutral 
to UnitedHealth Group's outlook for adjusted net earnings per share in 2017 and modestly accretive in 2018. 

"Over the past eight years, we have had the great pleasure of partnering with SCA as the business has transformed into a leader in the 
health care services sector," said Lead Independent Director of SCA and Managing Partner ofTPG Capital Todd B. Sisitsky. "We 
believe this combination will create significant value for SCA's patients and physician partners, and we look forward to the combined 
company's future success." Affiliates ofTPG Capital, owning approximately 30 percent of the common stock ofSCA, have agreed to 
tender their shares as part of the offer. 

AboutSCA 

SCA (NASDAQ; SCAl), a leader in the outpatient surgery industry, strategically partners with health plans, medical groups and 
health systems across the country to develop and optimize surgical facilities. SCA operates 205 surgical facilities, including 
ambulatory surgerj centers and surgical hospitals, in partnership with approximately 3,000 physicians. For more information on SCA, 
visit 'www.scasurgery.ccf1. 

AboutOptum 

Optum is a l~ading 'infonnation and technology-enabled health services business dedicated to helping make the heaith system work 
better for everyone. With more than 100,000 people worldwide, Optum delivers intelligent, integrated solutions that help to 
modernize the health system and improve overall population health. Optum is palt of UnitedHealth Group (NYSE: UNH). 

About UnitedHealth Group 

UnitedHealth Group (NYSE: UNH) is a diversified health and well-being company dedicated to helping people live healthier lives 
and helping make the health system work better for everyone. UnitedHealth Group offers a broad spectrum of products and services 
through two . ' 
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distinct platforms: UnitedHealthcare, which provides health care coverage and benefits services; and Optum, which provides 
information and technology-enabled health services. For more information, visit UnitedHealth Group at www.unitedhealthgroup.com 
or follow @UnitedHealthGrp on Twitter. 

Contacts: 
ForOptum: 
Lauren Mihajlov 
952-205-6312 
lauren.mihajlov@optum.com 

ForSCA: 
Alison Donnelly 
847-420-3822 
alison.donnelly@scasurgery.com 

Tyler Mason 
424-333-6122 
ty ler.mason@uhg.com 

Cautionary Statement Regardinl:: Forward Looking Statements 

This communication may contain statements that constitute "forward-looking statements," including, for example, information related 
to UnitedHealth Group Incorporated ("UnitedHealth Group"), Surgical Care Affiliates, Inc. ("SCA") and the proposed acquisition of 
SCA by UnitedHealth Group. Generally the words "believe," "expect," "intend," "estimate," "anticipate," "plan," "project," "should" 
and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements, which generally are not historical in nature. Such statements reflect the 
current analysis of existing information and involve substantial risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ 
materially from those expressed or implied by such statements. The following factors, among others, could cause actual results to 
differ materially from those described in these forward-looking statements: the possibility that various conditions to the 
consummation of the UnitedHealth Group exchange offer and mergers may not be satisfied or waived, including the receipt of 
regulatory c1earance~ related to the mergers; uncertainty as to how many shares of SCA common stock will be tendered into .the 
UnitedHealth Group exchange offer; the risk that the UnitedHealth Group exchange offer and mergers will not close within the 
anticipated time periods, or at all; the failure to complete or receive the anticipated benefits from UnitedHealth Group's acquisition of 
SeA; the possibility that the parties may be unable to successfully integrate SCA's operations into those ofUnitedHealth Group; such 
integration may be more difficult, time-consuming or costly than expected;. revenues following the transaction may be lower than 
expected; operating costs, customer loss and business disruption (including, without limitation, difficulties in maintaining 
relationships with employees, customers, clients, suppliers or physicians) may be greater than expected following the transaction; the 
retention of certain key employees at SCA may not be achieved; the parties may be unable to meet expectations regarding the timing, 
completion and accounting and tax treatments of the transactions; UnitedHealth Group and SCA are subject to intense competition; 
factors that atfect UnitedHealth Group's ability to generate suffici€nt funds to maintain its quarterly dividend payment cycle; the 
effects of local and national economic, credit and capital market 
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conditions; and the other risks and uncertainties relating to UnitedHealth Group and SCA described in their respective Annual 
Reports on Form JO-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, and in their subsequent Quarterly Reports on Form lO-Q and 
Current RepOlts on Form 8-K, all of which are filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") and available at 
www.sec.gov. 

UnitedHealth Group and SCA assume no obligation to update the information in this communication, except as otherwise required by 
law. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements or information, which speak only as of 
the date hereof. 

Additional Information and Where to Find It 

This communication relates to a pending business combination transaction between UnitedHealth Group and SCA. The exchange 
offer referenced in this communication has not yet commenced. This communication is for informational purposes only and is neither 
an offer to sell or exchange, nor a solicitation of an offer to buy or exchange, any securities, nor shall there be any sale of securities in 
any jurisdiction in which such offer, sale or exchange would be unlawful prior to registration or qualification under the securities laws 
of any such jurisdiction. 

UnitedHealth Group intends to file a registration statement on Form S-4 related to the transaction with the SEC and may file 
amendments thereto. UnitedHealth Group and a wholly-owned subsidiary of United Health Group intend to file a tender offer 
statement on Schedule TO (including a prospectus/offer to exchange, a related letter of transmittal and other exchange offer 
documents) related to the transaction with the SEC and may file amendments thereto. SCA intends to file a 
solicitation/recommendation statement on Schedule 14D-9 with the SEC and may file amendments thereto. SCA and UnitedHealth 
Group may also file other documents with the SEC regarding the transaction. This communication is not a substitute for any 
registration statement, Schedule TO, Schedule 14D-9 or any other document which SCA or UnitedHealth Group may file with the 
SEC in connection with the transaction. Investors and security holders are urged to read the registration statement, the Schedule TO 
(including the prospectus/offer to exchange, related letter of transmittal and other exchange offer documents), the 
solicitation/recommendation statement on Schedule 14D-9 and the other relevant materials with respect to the transaction carefully 
and in their entirety when they become available before making any decision regarding exchanging their shares, because they will 
contain important information about the transaction. The prospectus/offer to exchange, the related letter of transmittal and certain 
other exchange offer documents, as well as the solicitation/recommendation statement, will be made available to all holders ofSCA's 
stock at no expense to them. The exchange offer materials and the solicitation/recommendation statement will be made available for 
free at the SEC's website at www.sec.gov. Additional copies of the exchange offer materials and the solicitation/recommendation 
statement may be obtained for free by contacting UnitedHeaIth Group's Investor Relations department at (800) 328-5979. Additional 
copies of the solicitation/recommendation statement may be obtained for free by contacting SCA's Investor Relations department at 
800-768-0094. 
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In addition to the SEC filings made in connection with the transaction, each of United Health Group and SCA files annual, quarterly 
and current reports and other information with the SEC. You may read and copy any reports or other such filed information at the 
SEC public reference room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further 
information on the public reference room. UnitedHealth Group's and SCA's filings with the SEC are also available to the public from 
commercial document-retrieval services and at the website maintained by the SEC at http://www.sec.gov. 

### 
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~ .. 

ATTACHMENT #6: 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Please see the attached excerpt from the Form 10-K filed for VHG for the ftscal year ended December 31, 
2015 containing the audited ftnancial statements ofVHG. 

Please be advised that neither Spartan Merger Sub 2, LLC nor Hawthorn Place Outpatient Surgery 
Center, L.P. have audited ftnancial statements. Spartan Merger Sub 2, LLC was created January 5, 2017, 
for the purpose of the Proposed Transaction. 
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Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section I3 or Section IS(d) ofthe Act Yes [J No [X] 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or IS( d} ofthe Securities Exchange 
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subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes [X] No [ ] 
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Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.40S of this chapter) during the preceding 12 
months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes [Xl No r 1 
Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent fliers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S·K (§229.405 of this chapter) is not contained 
herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by 
reference in Part III of this Form IO-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. [] . 
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting 
company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange 
Act. (Check one) 

Large accelerated filer [X] Accelerated filer [ J Non-accelerated filer [ J Smaller reporting company [ ] 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defmed in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes [] No [X] 
The aggregate market value of voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of June 30, 2015 was $114,440,856,791 (based on the 
last reported sale price of $122.00 per share on June 30, 2015, on the New York Stock Exchange), excluding only shares of voting stock 
held beneficially by directors, executive officers and subsidiaries of the registrant. 
As of January 29, 2016, there were 950,673,998 shares of the registrant's Common Stock, $.01 par value per share, issued and outstanding. 

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 

The information required by Part III of this report, to the extent not set furth herein, is incorporated by reference from the registrant's 
definitive proxy statement relating to its 2016 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. Such proxy statement will be filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year to which this report relates, 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of United Health Group Incorporated and Subsidiaries: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets ofUnitedHealth Group Incorporated and subsidiaries (the 
"Company") as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive 
income, changes in equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,2015. These 
consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
UnitedHealth Group Incorporated and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the results of their operations and 
their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2015, in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 
the Company's internal control over financial repOlting as of December 31, 2015, based on the criteria established in Internal 
Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
and our report dated Febl'uary 9, 2016, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's internal control over financial 
repOlting. 

/s/ DEL01TTE & TOUCHE LLP 

Minneapolis, Minnesota 
F ebruaI)' 9, 2016 
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(in millions, except Iler share data) 

Assets 

Current assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Short-tenn investments 

UnitedHeaIth Group 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 

Accounts receivable, net of allowances of$333 and $260 

Other CUtTent receivables, net of allowances of$138 and $156 

Assets under management 

Deferred income taxes 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 

Total current assets 

Long-term investments 

Property, equipment and capitalized software, net of accumulated depreciation and 
amortization of$3,173 and $2,954 

Goodwill 

Other intangible assets, net of accumulated amOltization of $3, 128 and $2,685 

Other assets 

Total assets 

Liabilities, redeemable noncontrolling interests and equity 

Current liabilities: 

Medical costs payable 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

Other policy liabilities 

Commercial paper and current maturities of long-term debt 

Unearned revenues 

Total current liabilities 

Long-tetm debt, less current maturities 

Future policy benefits 

Deferred income taxes 

Other liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Commitments and contingencies (Note 13) 

Redeemable noncontrolling interests 

Equity: 

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value - 10 shares authorized; no shares issued or 
outstanding 

Common stock, $0.0 I par value - 3,000 shares authorized; 953 and 954 issued and 
outstanding 

Additional paid-in capital 

Retained earnings 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 

Nonredeemable noncontrolling interest 

Total equity 

$ 

$ 

$ 

December 31, 
2015 

10,923 

1,988 

6,523 

6,801 

2,998 

860 

1,546 

31,639 

18,792 

4,861 

44,453 

8,391 

3,247 

111,383 

14,330 

11,994 

7,798 

6,634 

2,142 

42,898 

25,460 

2,496 

3,587 

1,481 

75,922 

1,736 

10 

29 

37,125 

(3,334) 

(105) 

33,725 

Page 84 of 161 

$ 

$ 

$ 

December 31, 
2014 

7,495 

1,741 

4,252 

5,498 

2,962 

556 

1,052 

23,556 

18,827 

4,418 

32,940 

3,669 

2,972 

86,382 

12,040 

9,247 

5,965 

1,399 

1,972 

30,623 

16,007 

2,488 

2,065 

1,357 

52,540 

1,388 

10 

33,836 

(1,392) 

32,454 
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Total liabilities, redeemable noncontrolling interests and equity $ 111,383 $ 86,382 -----.:.--

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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UnitedHealtb Group 
Consolidated Statements of Operations 

For the Yean Ended December 

(in millions, except per share data) 2015 2014 2013 

Revenues: 

Premiums $ 127,163 $ 115,302 $ 109,557 

Products 17,312 4,242 3,190 

Services 1l,922 10,151 8,997 

Investment and other income 710 779 745 

Total revenues 157,107 130,474 122,489 

Operating costs: 

Medical costs 103,875 93,633 89,659 

Operating costs 24,312 21,263 18,941 

Cost of products sold 16,206 3,826 2,891 

Depreciation and amortization 1,478 1,375 

Total operating costs 146,086 120,200 112,866 

Earnings from operations 11,021 10,274 9,623 

Interest expense (790) (618) (708) 

Earnings before income taxes 10,231 9,656 8,915 

Provision for income taxes (4,363) (4,037) (3,242) 

Net earnings 5,868 5,619 5,673 

Earnings attributable to noncontroJling interests (55) 

Net earnings attributable to UnitedHealth Group common stockholders $ 5,813 $ 5,619 $ 5,625 

Earnings per share attributable to UnitedHealth Group common 
stockholders: 

Basic $ 6.10 $ 5.78 $ 5.59 

Diluted $ 6.01 $ 5.70 $ 5.50 

Basic weighted-average number of common shares outstanding 953 972 1,006 

Dilutive effect of common share equivalents 14 14 17 

Diluted weighted-average number of common shares outstanding 967 986 1,023 

Anti-dilutive shares excluded from the calculation of dilutive effect of common 
share equivalents 8 6 8 

Cash dividends declared per common share $ 1.8750 $ 1.4050 $ 1.0525 

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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United Health GroUl} 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 

For the Yeal's Ended December 31, 

(in millions) 2015 2014 2013 

Net earnings $ 5,868 $ 5,619 $ 5,673 

Other comprehensive loss: 

Gross unrealized (losses) gains on investment securities during the period (123) 476 (543) 

Income ta'( effect 44 (173) 196 

Total unrealized (losses) gains, net of tax (79) 303 (347) 

Gross reclassification adjustment for net realized gains included in net 
earnings (141) (211) (181) 

Income tax effect 53 77 66 

Total reclassification adjustment, net of tax (88) (134) (115) 

Total foreign currency translation losses (1,775) (653) (884) 

Other comprehensive loss (1,942) (484) (1,346) 

Comprehensive income 3,926 5,135 4,327 

Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests (55) (48) 

Comprehensive income attributable to UnitedHealth Group common 
stockholders $ 3,871 $ 5,135 $ 4,279 

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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United Health Group 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 

Accumulated Other 
Comprebensive Income 

Common Stock (Loss) 

Net 
Unrealized Foreign 

Additional Gains Curl'ency Nonredeemablc 
Paid-In Retained (Losses) on Translation NOllcontrolling Total 

(in millions) Shares Amount Capital Earnings Investments Losses Interest Equity ------
Balance at January 1,2013 1,019 $ 10 $ 66 $30,664 $ 516 $ (78) $ $31,178 

Net eamings 5,625 5,625 

Other comprehensive loss (462) (884) (1,346) 

Issuances of common stock, 
and related tax effects 17 431 431 

Share-based compensation, 
and related tax benefits 406 406 

Common stock repurchases (48) (984) (2,186) (3,170) 

Acquisition of redeemable 
noncontrolling interests 
and related tax effects 81 81 

Cash dividends paid on 
common stock (1,056) (1,056) ------

Balance at December 31, 
2013 988 10 33,047 54 (962) 32,149 

Net earnings 5,619 5,619 

Other comprehensive income 
(loss) 169 (653) (484) 

Issuances of common stock, 
and related tax effects 15 146 146 

Share-based compensation, 
and related tax benefits 394 394 

Common stock repurchases (49) (540) (3,468) (4,008) 

Cash dividends paid on 
common stock (1,362) (1,362) ------

Balance at December 3 1, 
2014 954 10 33,836 223 (1,615) 32,454 

Net earnings 5,813 26 5,839 

Other comprehensive loss (167) (1,775) (1,942) 

Issuances of common stock, 
and related tax effects 10 127 127 

Share-based compensation, 
and related tax benefits 589 589 

Common stock repurchases ( 11) (462) (738) (1,200) 

Cash dividends paid on 
common stock (1,786) (1,786) 

Redeemable noncontrolling 
interests fair value and 
other adjustments (225) (225) 

Acquisition of 
nonredeemable 
noncontrolling interest 9 9 
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Distributions to 
non redeemable 
non controlling interest 

Balance at December 31, 
2015 

Page 89 of 161 

(140) (140) 

------- --- ---- ---- ----- ---
953 $ JO $ 29 $37, l25 $ 56 $ (3,390) $ (105) $33,725 

= ===== === ========= 

Sce Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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United Health Group 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

(in millions) 2015 2014 2013 

Operating activities 

Net earnings $ 5,868 $ 5,619 $ 5,673 

Noncash items: 

Depreciation and amortization 1,693 1,478 1,375 

Deferred income taxes (73) (117) 

Share-based compensation 406 364 331 

Other, net (235) (298) (83) 

Net change in other operating items, net of effects from acquisitions and changes in AARP 
balances: 

Accounts receivable (591) (911) (317) 

Other assets (1,430) (590) (838) 

Medical costs payable 2,585 484 509 

Accounts payable and other liabilities 643 1,642 459 

Other policy liabilities 637 (5) (221) 

l1nearnedrevenues 237 385 102 

Cash flows from operating activities 9,740 8,051 6,991 

Investing activities 

Purchases of investments (9,939) (9,928) (12,176) 

Sales of investments 6,054 7,701 5,706 

Maturities of investments 3,354 3,026 4,859 

Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash assumed (16,164) (1,923) (362) 

Purchases of property, equipment and capitalized software (1,556) (1,525) (1,307) 

Other, net (144) 115 191 

Cash flows used for investing activities (18,395) (2,534) (3,089) 

Financing activities 

Acquisition of redeemable noncontrolling interest shares (118) (1,474) 

Common stock repurchases (1,200) (4,008) (3,170) 

Cash dividends paid (1,786) (1,362) (1,056) 

Proceeds from common stock issuances 402 462 598 

Repayments of/ong-term debt (1,041) (812) (1,609) 

Proceeds from (repayments of) commercial paper, net 3,666 (794) (474) 

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 11,982 1,997 2,235 

Customer funds administered 768 (638) 31 

Other, net (434) (138) (27) 

Cash flows from (used for) financing activities 12,239 (5,293) (4,946) 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (156) (5) 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,428 219 (1,130) 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 7,276 8,406 

Cash and cash equivalents. end of period $ 10,923 $ 7,495 $ 

Supplemental cash now disclosures 

Cash paid for interest $ 639 $ 644 $ 724 
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Cash paid for income taxes 4,401 4,024 2,785 

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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UnitedHeaItb Group 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

1. Description of Business 

UnitedHealth Group Incorporated (individually and together with its subsidiaries, "UnitedHealth Group" and "the Company") 
is a diversified health and well-being company dedicated to helping people live healthier lives and making the health system 
work better for everyone. 

Through its diversified family of businesses, the Company leverages core competencies in advanced, enabling technology; 
health care data, information and intelligence; and clinical care management and coordination to help meet the demands ofthe 
health system. 

2. Basis of Presentation, Use of Estimates and Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Presentation 

The Company has prepared the Consolidated Financial Statements according to U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (GAAP) and has included the accounts of United Health Group and its subsidiaries. 

Use Of Estimates 

These Consolidated Financial Statements include certain amounts based on the Company's best estimates and judgments. The 
Company's most significant estimates relate to estimates and judgments for medical costs payable and revenues, valuation and 
impairment analysis of goodwill and other intangible assets, estimates of other policy liabilities and other current receivables 
and valuations of certain investments. Certain ofthese estimates require the application of complex assumptions and 
judgments, often because they involve matters that are inherently uncertain and will likely change in subsequent periods. The 
impact of any change in estimates is included in earnings in the period in which the estimate is adjusted. 

Reclassification 

During the fourth quarter of20 15, the Company changed its accounting policy for the presentation of certain pharmacy 
fulfillment costs related to its OptumRx business. These costs are now included in medical costs and cost of products sold, 
whereas they were previously included in operating costs. Prior periods have been reclassified to conform to the current period 
presentation. The reclassification increased medical expenses by $376 million and $369 million, decreased operating costs by 
$418 million and $421 million and increased cost of products sold by $42 million and $52 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The reclassification had no impact on total operating costs, earnings from 
operations, net earnings, earnings per share or total equity. 

Reincorporation 

On July 1,2015, UnitedHealth Group Incorporated changed its state of incorporation from Minnesota to Delaware pursuant to 
a plan of conversion. The rein corporation was approved by the Company's stockholders at its 2015 Annual Meeting of 
Shareholders held on June 1,2015. Upon reincorporation, the affairs of United Health Group Incorporated became subject to 
the Delaware General Corporation Law, a new celtificate of incorporation and new bylaws, and each previously outstanding 
share of United Health Group Incorporated's common stock as a Minnesota corporation (UNH Minnesota) converted into an 
outstanding share of common stock of United Health Group Incorporated as a Delaware corporation after the locincorporation 
(UNH Delaware). The rein corporation was a tax-free reorganization under the U.S. Internal Revenue Code and did not affect 
the Company's business operations. 

Revenues 

Premium revenues are pIimarily derived from risk-based health insurance arrangements in which the premium is typically at a 
fixed rate per individual served for a one-year period, and the Company assumes the economic risk of funding its customers' 
health care and related administrative costs. 

Premium revenues are recognized in the period in which eligible individuals are entitled to receive health care benefits. Health 
care premium payments received from the Company's customers in advance ofthe service period are recorded as unearned 
revenues. Fully insured commercial products of U.S. health plans, Medicare Advantage and Medicare Prescription Drug 
Benefit (Medicare Pmt D) plans with medical loss ratios as calculated under the definitions in the Patient Protection and 
Affordable Care Act and a reconciliation measure, the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of2010 (together, 
Health Reform Legislation) and implementing regulations, that fall below certain targets are required to rebate ratable portions 
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oftheir premiums annually. Additionally. the Company's market reform compliant individual and small group plans in the 
commercial markets are subject to risk adjustment provisions as discussed in "Premium Stabilization Programs" below. 
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Premium revenues are recognized based on thc estimated premiums eamed net of projected rebates because the Company is 
able to reasonably estimate the ultimate premiums ofthese contracts. The Company also records premium revenues from 
capitation ruTangements at its OptumHealth businesses. 

The Company's Medicru'e Advantage and Medicare Part D premium revenues are subject to periodic adjustment under the 
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services' (CMS) risk adjustment payment methodology. CMS deploys a risk adjustment 
model that apPOItions premiums paid to all health plans according to health severity and certain demographic factors. The 
CMS risk adjustment model provides higher per member payments for enrollees diagnosed with certain conditions and lower 
payments for enrollees who are healthier. Under this risk adjustment methodology, CMS calculates the risk adjusted premium 
payment using diagnosis data from hospital inpatient, hospital outpatient and physician treatment settings. The Company and 
health care providers collect, capture and submit the necessary and available diagnosis data to CMS within prescribed 
deadlines. The Company estimates risk adjustment revenues based upon the diagnosis data submitted and expected to be 
submitted to CMS. Risk adjustment data for certain of the Company's plans are subject to review by the government, 
including audit by regulators. See Note 13 for additional information regarding these audits. 

For the Company's OptumRx pharmacy cru'e services business, revenues are derived fi'om products sold through a contracted 
network of retail pharmacies or home delivery and specialty pharmacy facilities, and from administrative services, including 
claims processing and formulary design and management. Product revenues include ingredient costs (net of rebates), a 
negotiated dispensing fee and customer co-payments for drugs dispensed through the Company's mail-service pharmacy. In 
retail pharmacy transactions, revenues recognized exclude the member's applicable co-payment. Product revenues are 
recognized when the prescriptions are dispensed through the retail network or received by consumers through the Company's 
mail-service pharmacy. Service revenues ru'e recognized when the prescription claim is adjudicated. The Company has entered 
into retail service contracts in which it is primarily obligated to pay its network pharmacy providers for benefits provided to 
their customers regardless if the Company is paid. The Company is also involved in establishing the prices charged by retail 
pharmacies, determining which drugs will be included in formulary listings and selecting which retail pharmacies will be 
included in the network offered to plan sponsors' members. As a result, revenues are repOlted on a gross basis. 

Service revenues consist primarily of fees derived from services performed for customers that self-insure the health care costs 
of their employees and employees' dependents. Under service fee contracts, the Company recognizes revenue in the period the 
related services are performed. The customers retain the risk of financing health care costs for their employees and employees' 
dependents, and the Company administers the payment of customer funds to physicians and other health care professionals 
from customel'-funded bank accounts. As the Company has neither the obligation for funding the health cru'e costs, nor the 
primary responsibility for providing the medical care, the Company does not recognize premium revenue and medical costs 
for these contracts in its Consolidated Financial Statements. For both risk-based and fee-based customer alTangements, the 
Company provides coordination and facilitation of medical services; transaction processing; customer, consumer and care 
professional services; and access to contracted networks of physicians, hospitals and other health care professionals. These 
services are performed throughout the contract period. 

Mellical Costs and Medical Costs P{tyable 

Medicarcosts and medical costs payable include estimates ofthe Company's obligations for mcdical care services that have 
been rendered on behalf of insured consumers, but for which claims have either not yet been received or processed, and for 
liabilities for physician, hospital and other medical cost disputes. The Company develops estimates for medical costs incurred 
but not reported using an actuarial process that is consistently applied, centrally controlled and automated. The actuarial 
models consider factors such as time from date of service to claim receipt, claim processing backlogs, care provider contract 
rate changes, medical care utilization and other medical cost trends. The Company estimates liabilities for physician, hospital 
and other medical cost disputes based upon an analysis of potential outcomes, assuming a combination oflitigation and 
settlement strategies. Each period, the Companyre-examines previously established medical costs payable estimates based on 
actual claim submissions and other changes in facts and circumstances. As the medical costs payable estimates recorded in 
prior periods develop, the Company adjusts the amount of the estimates and includes the changes in estimates in medical costs 
in the period in which the change is identified. Medical costs also include the direct cost of patient care. 

Cost of Products Sold 

The Company's cost of products sold includes the cost of phalmaceuticals dispensed to unaffiliated customers either directly 
at its mail and specialty pharmacy locations, or indirectly through its nationwide network of participating pharmacies. Rebates 
attributable to non-aftiliated clients are accrued as rebates receivable and a reduction of cost of products sold with a 
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corresponding payable for the amounts of the rebates to be remitted to those non-affiliated clients in accordance with their 
contracts and recorded in the Consol idated Statements of Operations as a reduction of product revenue. Cost of products sold 
also includes the cost ofpersonnei to support the Company's transaction processing services, system sales, maintenance and 
professional services. 
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Casll, Casl, Equivalents lind Investments 

Cash and cash equivalents are highly liquid investments that have an original maturity of three months or less. The fair value 
of cash and cash equivalents approximates their carrying value because of the sh01t maturity of the instruments. 

Investments with maturities of less than one year are classified as sholt-term. Because of regulatory requirements, certain 
investments are included in long-term investments regardless oftheir maturity date. The Company classifies these investments 
as held-to-maturity and reports them at amortized cost. Substantially all other investments are classified as available-for-sale 
and reported at fair value based on quoted market prices, where available. 

The Company excludes unrealized gains and losses on investments in available-for-sale securities from net earnings and 
reports them as comprehensive income and, net of income ta"\( effects, as a separate component of equity. To calculate realized 
gains and losses on the sale of investments, the Company specifically identifies the cost of each investment sold. 

The Company evaluates an investment for impairment by considering the length oftime and extent to which market value has 
been less than cost or amortized cost, the financial condition and near-term prospects ofthe issuer as well as specific events 01' 

cireumstances that may influence the operntions of the issuer and the Company's intent to sell the security or the likelihood 
that it will be required to sell the security before recovery ofthe entire amortized cost. 

New information and the passage of time can change these judgments. The Company manages its investment portfolio to limit 
its exposure to anyone issuer or market sector, and largely limits its investments to investment grade quality. Securities 
downgraded below policy minimums after purchase will be disposed ofin accordance with the Company's investment policy. 

Assets Under Management 

The Company provides health insurance products and services to members of AARP under a Supplemental Health Insurance 
Program (the AARP Program) and to AARP members and non-members under separate Medicare Advantage and Medicare 
Part 0 arrangements. The products and services under the AARP Program incll:lde supplemental Medicare benefits (AARP 
Medicare Supplement Insurance), hospital indemnity insurance, including insurance for individuals between SO to 64 years of 
age and other related products. 

Pursuant to the Company's agreement, AARP Program assets are managed separately fi'om its general investment portfolio 
and are used to pay costs associated with the AARP Progrnm. These assets are invested at the Company's discretion, within 
investment guidelines approved by AARP. The Company does not guarantee any rntes of return on these investments and, 
upon any transfer of the AARP Program contract to another entity. the Company would transfer cash equal in amount to the 
fi:tir value of these investments at the date of transfer to that entity. Because the purpose of these assets is to fund the medical 
costs payable, the rnte stabilization fund (RSF) liabilities and other related liabilities associated with this AARP contract, 
assets under management are classified as cuo'ent assets, consistent with the classification ofthese liabilities. 

The effects of changes in other balance sheet amounts associ,lted with the AARP Program also accrue to the overall benefit of 
the AARP policyholders through the RSF balance. Accordingly, the Company excludes the effect of such changes in its 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. For more detail on the RSF, see "Other Policy Liabilities" below. 

Otlter Current Receivables 

Other current receivables include amounts due from pharmaceutical manufacturers for rebates and Medicare Part D drug 
discounts, reinsurance and other miscellaneous amollnts due to the Company. 

The Company's phalmacy care services businesses contract with pharmaceutical manufacturers, some of which provide 
rebates based on use of the manufacturers' products by its affiliated and non-affiliated clients. The Company accrues rebates 
as they are earned by its clients on a monthly basis based on the terms ofthe applicable contracts, historical data and CUlTent 
estimates. The pharmacy care services businesses bill these rebates to the manufacturers on a monthly or quru1erly basis 
depending on the contractual terms and records rebates attributable to afliliated clients as a reduction to medical costs. The 
Company generally receives rebates from two to five months after billing. As of December 31,2015 and 2014, total 
pharmaceutical manufacturer rebates receivable included in other receivables in the Consolidated Balance Sheets amounted to 
$2.6 bilJion and $1.5 billion, respectively. 

For details on the Company's Medicare Part 0 receivables see "Medicare Palt 0 Phalmacy Benefits" below. 
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For details on the Company's reinsurance receivable see "Future Policy Benetits and Reinsurance Receivable" below. 
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Medicare Part D Pharmacy Benefits 

The Company serves as a plan sponsor offering Medicare Part D prescription drug insurance coverage under contracts with 
CMS. Under the Medicare Part D program, there are seven separate elements of payment received by the Company during the 
plan year. These payment elements are as follows: 

CMS Premium. CMS pays a fixed monthly premium per member to the Company for the entire plan year. 

Member Premium. Additionally, certain members pay a fixed monthly premium to the Company for the entire plan year. 

Low-Income Premium Subsidy, For qualifying low-income members, CMS pays some or all of the member's monthly 
premiums to the Company on the member's behalf. 

Catastrophic Reinsurance SubSidy. CMS pays the Company a cost reimbursement estimate monthly to fund the CMS 
obligation to pay approximately 80% of the costs incurred by individual members in e;xcess of the individual annual out­
of-pocket maximum. A settlement is made with CMS based on actual cost experience, after the end of the plan year. 

Low-Income Member Cost Sharing Subsidy. For qualifYing low-income members, CMS pays on the member's behalf 
some or all ofa member's cost sharing amounts, such as deductibles and coinsurance. The cost sharing subsidy is 
funded by CMS through monthly payments to the Company. The Company administers and pays the subsidized portion 
of the claims on behalf of CMS, and a settlement payment is made between CMS and the Company based on actual 
claims and premium experience, after the end of the plan year. 

eMS Risk-Share. Premiums from CMS are subjeet to risk corridor provisions that compare costs targeted in the 
Company's annual bids by product and region to actual prescription drug costs, limited to actual costs that would have 
been incurred under the standard coverage as defined by CMS. Variances of more than 5% above or below the original 
bid submitted by the Company may result in CMS making additional payments to the Company or require the Company 
to refund to CMS a portion of the premiums it received. The Company estimates and recognizes an adjustment to 
premium revenues related to the risk corridor payment settlement based upon pharmacy claims experience to date. The 
estimate of the settlement associated with these risk cOlTidor provisions requires the Company to consider factors that 
may not be certain, including estimates of eligible pharmacy costs and member eligibility status differences with CMS. 
The Company records risk-share adjustments to premium revenues in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and 
other policy liabilities or other current receivables in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

Drug Discount. Health Reform Legislation mandated a consumer discount on brand name prescription drugs for 
Medicare Part D plan participants in the coverage gap. This discount is funded by CMS and pharmaceutical 
manufacturers while the Company administers the application ofthese funds. Accordingly, amounts received are not 
reflected as premium revenues, but rather are accounted for as deposits. The Company records a liability when amounts 
are received from CMS and a receivable when the Company bills the pharmaceutical manufacturers. Related cash flows 
are presented as customer funds administered within financing activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. 

The CMS Premium, the Member Premium and the Low-Income Premium Subsidy represent payments for the Company's 
insurance risk coverage under the Medicare Part D program and, therefore, are recorded as premium revenues in the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations. Premium revenues are recognized ratably over the period in which eligible individuals 
are entitled to receive prescription drug benefits. The Company records premium payments received in advance of the 
applicable service period in unearned revenues in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

The Catastrophic Reinsurance Subsidy and the Low-Income Member Cost Sharing Subsidy (Subsidies) represent cost 
reimbursements under the Medicare Part D program. Amounts received for these Subsidies are not reflected as premium 
revenues, but rather are accounted for as receivables and/or deposits. Related cash tlows are presented as customer funds 
administered wilhin tinancing activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. 

Pharmacy benefit costs and administrative costs under the contract are expensed as incurred and are recognized in medical 
costs and operating costs, respectively, in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 

The tinal 2015 risk-share amount is expected to be settled during the second half of2016, and is subject to the reconciliation 
process with CMS. 

The Consolidated Balance Sheets include the following amounts associated with the Medicare Part D program: 

December 31, 2015 December 2014 
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(in millions) 

Other cun'ent receivables 
Other policy liabilities 

Subsidies 

$ i,703 

Drug Discount 

$ 423 

58 

54 

Risk-Share Subsidies 

$ $ 1,801 $ 

496 
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Drug Disco" nt 

719 $ 

302 

Risk-Share 

20 
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Property, Equipment amI Capitalized Software 

Propelty ,equipment and capitalized software are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. Capitalized 
software consists of certain costs incurred in the development ofinternal-use software, including external direct costs of 
matcrials and services and applicable payroll costs of employees devoted to specific software development. 

The Company calculates depreciation and amortization using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the 
assets. The useful lives for pl'Operty, equipment and capitalized software are: 

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 
Buildings 

Capitalized software 

3 to 7 years 

35 to 40 years 

3 to 5 years 

Leasehold impl'Ovements are depreciated over the shorter of the remaining lease term or their estimated useful economic life. 

Goodwill 

To determine whether goodwill is impaired, annually or more frequently if needed, the Company perfOlIDs a multi-step 
impairment test. First, the Company estimates the fair values of its reporting units using discounted cash flows. To determine 
fair values, the Company must make assumptions about a wide variety of internal and external factors. Significant 
assumptions used in the impairment analysis include financial projections of free cash flow (including significant assumptions 
about operations, capital requirements and income taxes), long-term growth rates for determining terminal value and discount 
rates. Comparative mW'ket mUltiples are used to corroborate the results of the discounted cash flow test. If the fair value is less 
than the carrying value of the repOiting unit, then the implied value of goodwill would be calculated and compared to the 
carrying amount of goodwill to determine whether goodwill is impaired. 

During 2015, the Company changed its annual quantitative goodwill impairment testing date from Januwy 1 to October I of 
each year. The change in the goodwill impairment test date better aligns the impairment testing procedures with the timing of 
the Company's long-term planning process, which is a significant inpui to the testing. This change in testing date did not 
delay, accelerate, or avoid a goodwill impairment charge. 

There was no impairment of goodwill during the year ended December 31, 2015. 

Intangible Assets 

The Company's intangible assets are subject to impaiIment tests when events or circumstances indicate that an intangible asset 
(or asset group) may be impaired. The Company's indefinite lived intangible assets are also tested for impairment annually. 
There was no impairment of intangible assets during the year ended December 31,2015. 

Accounts PtlYllble lind Accrued Lillbilities 

The Company had checks outstanding of $1.6 billion and $1.4 billion as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, which 
were classified as accounts payable and accrued liabilities and the change in this balance has been reflected within othcr 
financing activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. 

As of both December 31,2015 and 2014, accounts payable and accrued liabilities included acclUed payroll liabilities 01'$1.5 
billion. 

Other Policy Liabilities 

Other policy liabilities include the RSF associated with the AARP Program, health savings account deposits, deposits under 
the Medicw'e Part D program (see "Medicare Parl D Pharmacy Benefits" above), accruals for premium rebate payments under 
Health RefOlID Legislation, the current pOltion offuture policy benefits and customer balances. Customer balances represent 
excess customer payments and deposit accounts under experience-rated contracts. At the customer's option, these balances 
may be refunded or used to pay future premiums or claims under eligible contracts. 

Changes in the RSF are reported in medical costs in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. As of December 31,2015 and 
2014, the balance in the RSF was $1.6 billion and $1.5 billion, respectively. 

FlIture Policy BCllfjits (111£1 Reillsurmlce Receivable 
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Future policy benefits represent account balances that accrue to the benefit of the policyholders, excluding surrender charges, 
for universal lite and investment annuity products and for long-duration health policies sold to individuals for which some or 
the premium received in the earlier years is intended to pay benefits to be incurred in future years. As a result ofthe 2005 sale 
of the life and annuity business within the Company's Golden Rule Financial Corporation subsidiary under an indemnity 
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reinsurance arrangement, the Company has maintained a liability associated with the reinsured contracts, as it remains 
primarily liable to the policyholders, and has recorded a corresponding reinsurance receivable due from the purchaser. The 
Consolidated Balance Sheets include the following amounts associated with Golden Rule as of December 31, 2015 and 2014: 

(in millions) 2015 2014 

Other current receivables $ 133 $ 127 

Other assets 1,610 1,669 

Other policy liabilities (133) (127) 

Future policy benefits ( 1,610) (1,669) 

The Company evaluates the financial condition of the reinsurer and only records the reinsurance receivable to the extent of 
probable recovery. As of December 31, 2015, the reinsurer was rated by A.M. Best as "A+." 

Policy Acquisition Costs 

The Company's short duration health insurance contracts typically have a one-year telm and may be canceled by the customer 
with at least 30 days' notice. Costs related to the acquisition and renewal of short duration customer contracts are charged to 
expense as incurred. 

Redeemable Noncontrolllng Interests 

Redeemable noncontrolling interests in the Company's subsidiaries whose redemption is outside the control ofthe Company 
are classified as temporary equity. The following table provides details ofthe Company's redeemable noncontrolling interests 
activity for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014: 

(In millions) 

Redeemable noncontrolling interests, beginning of period 

Net earnings 

Acquisitions 

Redemptions 

Distributions 

Fair value and other adjustments 

Redeemable noncontrolling interests, end of period 

Shltre-Based Compensation 

$ 

2015 2014 

1,388 $ 1,175 

29 

196 203 

(116) 

(19) (40) 

258 50 

1,736 $ 1,388 

The Company recognizes compensation expense for share-based awards, including stock options, stock-settled stock 
appreciation rights (SARs) and restricted stock and restricted stock units (collectively, restricted shares), on a straight-line 
basis over the related service period (generally the vesting period) of the award, or to an employee's eligible retirement date 
under the award agreement, if earlier. Restricted shares vest ratably; primarily over two to five years and compensation 
expense related to restricted shares is based on the share price on date of grant. Stock options and SARs vest ratably primarily 
over four to six years and may be exercised up to 10 years from the date of grant. Compensation expense rdated to stock 
options and SARs is based on the fair value at date of grant, which is estimated on the date of grant using a binomial option­
pricing mode!. Under the Company's Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) eligible employees are allowed to purchase the 
Company's stock at a discounted price, which is 85% ofthe lower market price of the Company's common stock at the 
beginning or at the end ofthe six-month purchase period. Share-based compensation expense for all programs is recognized in 
operating costs in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations. 

Net Elfrnilzgs Per Common Share 

The Company computes basic earnings per common share attributable to UnitedHealth Group common stockholders by 
dividing net earnings attributable to UnitedHealth Group common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common , 
sh3les outstanding during the period. The Company determines diluted net earnings per common share attributable to 
UnitedHcalth Group common stockholders using the weighted-average I)umber of common shares outstanding during the 
period, adjusted for potentially dilutive shares associated with stock options, SARs, restricted shares and the ESPP, 
(collectively, common stock equivalents) using the treasury stock method, The treasury stock method assumes a hypothetical 
issuance of shares to settle the share-based awards, with the assumed proceeds used to purchase common stock at the average 
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market price tbr the period. Assumed proceeds include the amount the employee must pay upon exercise, any unrecognized 
compensation cost and any related excess tax benefit. The difterence between the number of shares assumed issued and 
number of shares assumed purchased represents the dilutive shares. 
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Health Insltrance Ilidustry Tax 

Health RefOiTIl Legislation includes an annual, nondeductible insurance industry tax (Health Insurance Industry Tax) to be 
levied proportionally across the insurance industry for risk-based health insurance products. 

The Company estimates its liability for the Health Insurance Industry Ta'C based on a ratio ofthe Company's applicable net 
premiums written compared to the U.S. health insurance industry total applicable net premiums, both for the previous calendar 
year. The Company records in full the estimated liability for the Health Insurance Industry Tax at the beginning ofthe 
calendar year with a corresponding deferred cost that is amortized to operating costs on the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations using a straight-line method of allocation over the calendar year. The liability is recorded in accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities and the corresponding deferred cost is recorded in prepaid expenses and other current assets on the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. [n September 2015, the Company paid its full year 2015 Health Insurance Industry Tax of $1.8 
billion. There was no liability or asset related to the Health Insurance Industry Tax recorded as of both December 31, 2015 
and 2014 as the Health Insurance Industry Tax was paid in September of both years and the asset was fully expensed by each 
yearend. 

Premiltm Stabilization Programs 

Health Reform Legislation has included three programs designed to stabilize health insurance markets (Premium Stabilization 
Programs): a permanent risk adjustment program; a temporary risk corridors program; and a transitional reinsw'ance program 
(Reinsurancc Program). 

The risk-adjustment provisions apply to market reform compliant individual and small group plans in the commercial markets. 
Under the program, each covered member is assigned a risk score based upon demographic information and applicable 
diagnostic codes from the current year paid claims, in order to determine an average risk score for each plan in a particular 
state and market risk pool. Generally, a plan with a risk score that is less than the state's average risk score will pay into the 
pool, while a plan with a risk score that is greater than the state's average will receive money from the pool. The temporary 
risk corridors provisions are intended to limit the gains and losses of individual and small group qualified health plans. Plans 
are required to calculate the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) risk corridor ratio of allowable costs to 
the defined target amount. Qualified health plans with ratios below 97% are required to make payments to HHS, while plans 
with ratios greater than 103% expect to receive funds from HHS. The Reinsurance Program is a transitional three year 
program through 20 [6 that is funded on a per capita basis from all commercial lines of business, including insured and self­
funded arrangements. 

Fot' the Premium Stabilization Programs, the Company records a receivable 01' payable as an adjustment to premium revenue 
based on year-to-date experience when the amounts are reasonably estimable and collection is reasonably assured. Final 
adjustments or recoverable amounts to the Premium Stabilization Programs are determined by HHS in the year toll owing the 
policy year. 

Recently Issuetl ACCOlllllillg Stantlards 

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standard Update (ASU) No. 2014-09, 
"Revenue fi'om Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)" (ASU 2014-09) as modified by ASU No. 2015-14, "Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Deferral of the Effective Date." ASU 2014-09 will supersede existing revenue 
recognition standards with a single model unless those contracts are within the scope of other standards (e.g., an insurance 
entity's insurance contracts). The revenue recognition principle in ASU 2014-09 is that an entity should recognize revenue to 
depict thc transfer of goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to 
be entitled in exchange tor those goods or services. In addition, new and enhanced disclosures will be required. Companies 
can adopt the new standard either using the full retrospective approach, a modified retrospective approach with practical 
expedients, or a cumulative etTect upon adoption approach. ASU 2014-09 is effective for annual and interim reporting periods 
beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption at the original effective date, for interim and annual periods beginning 
after December 15,2016, will be permittcd. The Company is currently evaluating the effect ofthe new revenue recognition 
guidance. 

In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-17, "Balance Sheet Classification of Defen'ed Taxes (Topic 740)" (ASll 
2015-17). ASU 2015 ·17 requires entities to present deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities as noncurrent on a classified . 
balance sheet. ASU -2015-17 is cffective for annual and interim reporting periods after December 15,2016 and companies ai'C. 
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permitted to apply ASU 20\5-17 either prospectively or retrospectively. Early adoption of ASU 20\5-17 is permitted. The 
Company plans to early adopt ASU 20\5-\7 on a prospective basis in the tirst quarter of2016. 

The Company has determined that there have been no other recently issued or adopted accounting standards that had, or will 
have, a material impact on its Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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3. Business Combination 

On July 23, 2015, the Company acquired all ofthe outstanding common shares of Catamaran Corporation (Catamaran) and 
funded Catamaran's payoff of its outstanding debt and credit facility for a total of$14.3 billion in cash. This combination 
diversifies OptumRx's customer and business mix, while enhancing OptumRx's technology capabilities and flexible service 
offerings. Catamaran offers pharmacy benefits management services similar to OptumRx to a broad client portfolio, including 
health plans and employers serving 35 million people, and provides health care information technology solutions to the 
pharmacy benefits management industry , 

The Company paid for the acquisition primarily with the proceeds of new indebtedness, Debt issuances included $10.5 billion 
of senior unsecured notes, approximately $2.4 billion of commercial paper and a $1.5 billion term loan, The total 
consideration exceeded the estimated fair value ofthe net tangible assets acquired by $15.6 billion, of which $5.4 billion has 
been allocated to finite-lived intangible assets and $10.2 billion to goodwill. The goodwill is not deductible for income tax 
purposes. 

Acquired tangible assets (liabilities) for Catamaran at acquisition date were: 

(in millions) 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Accounts receivable and other cun'ent assets 

Rebates receivable 

Property, equipment and other long-term assets 

Accounts payable and other current liabilities 

Deferred income taxes and other long-term liabilities 

Total net tangible liabilities 

$ 

$ 

299 

2,005 

602 

215 

(2,525) 

(1,923) 

(1,327) 

Since the Catamaran acquisition closed during the third quartel' of 20 15, the preliminary purchase price allocation is subject to 
adjustment as valuation analyses, primarily related to intangible assets and contingent and tax liabilities, are finalized. 

The acquisition date fair values and weighted-average useful lives assigned to Catamaran's finite-lived intangible assets were: 

(in millions. exccllt years)' 

Customer-related 

Trademarks and technology 

Total acquired finite-lived intangible assets 

FftirVnlue 

$ 5,278 

J59 

$ 5,437 

Weigltted-
Average Useful 

Life 

19 years 

4 years 

19 years 

The results of operations and tinancial condition of Catamaran have been included in the Company's consolidated results and 
the results of the OptumRx segment as of July 23, 2015. Through December 3 J, 2015, the Catamaran business has generated 
$12.4 billion in revenue and had an immaterial impact on net earnings. 

Unaudited pro fonna revenue for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 as ifthe acquisition of Catamaran had 
occurred on January 1,2014 were $172 billion and $152 billion, respectively. The pro fOlma effects of this acquisition on net 
earnings were immaterial for both years. 
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4. Investments 

A summary of short-term and long-term investments by major security type is as follows: 

Gross Gross 
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair 

(in millions) Cos! Gains Losses Value 

December 31, 2015 

Debt securities - available-for-sale: 

U.S. government and agency obligations $ 1,982 $ $ (6) $ 1,977 

State and municipal obligations 6,022 149 (3) 6,168 

Corporate obligations 7,446 41 (81) 7,406 

U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities 2,127 13 (16) 2,124 

Non-U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities 962 5 (1 956 

Total debt securities - available-for-sale 18,539 209 (117) 18,631 

Equity securities - available-for-sale 1,638 58 (57) 1,639 

Debt securities - held-to-maturity: 

U.S. government and agency obligations 163 164 

State and municipal obligations 8 8 

Corporate obligations 339 339 

Total debt securities - held-to-maturity 510 511 

Total investments $ 20,687 $ 268 $ (174) $ 20,781 

December 31, 2014 

Debt securities - available-for-sale: 

U.S. government and agency obligations $ 1,614 $ 7 $ (I) $ 1,620 

State and municipal obligations 6,456 217 (5) 6,668 

Corporate obligations 7,241 112 (26) 7,327 

U.s. agency mOltgage-backed securities 2,022 39 (5) 2,056 

Non-U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities 872 12 (4) 880 

Total debt securities - available-for-sale 18,205 387 (41) 18,551 

Equity securities - available-for-sale 1,511 36 (25) 1,522 

Debt securities - held-to-maturity: 

U.S. government and agency obligations 178 2 180 

State and municipal obligations 19 19 

Corporate obligations 298 298 

Total debt secLirities- held-to-maturity 495 2 497 -------
Total investments $ 20,211 $ 425 $ (66) $ 20,570 

Nearly all of the Company.'s investments in mortgage-backed securities were rated AAA as of December J 1,2015. 

The amortized cost and fair value of debt securities as of December 31,2015, by contractual maturity, were as follows: 

Available-lor-Sale Held-Io-Malurity 
Amortized Fair Amorti7.ed Fair 

(in millions) Cos! Value Cost Value 

DLie in one year or less $ 2,103 $ 2,105 $ 121 121 

Due after one year through five years 6,830 6,843 188 188 

Due after five years through ten years 4,752 4,793 118 118 

Due after ten years 1,765 1,810 83 84 
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U.S. agency mOltgage-backed securities 
Non-U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities 

Total debt securities 

59 

183 

2,127 

962 
2,124 

956 
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The fair value of available-for-sale investments with gross unrealized losses by major security type and length oftime that 
individual sccurities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position were as follows: 

(in millions) 

December 31, 2015 

Debt securities - available-for-sale: 

U.S. government and agency 

Less Than \2 Months 

Fair 
Value 

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses 

obligations $ 1,473 $ (6) $ 

(3) 

(63) 

State and municipal obligations 

Corporate obligations 

U.S. agency mortgage-backed 
securities 

Non-U .S. agency m0l1gage-backed 
securities 

Total debt securities - available-for-sale $ 

Equity securities - available-for-sale $ 

December 31,2014 

Debt securities - available-for-saIe: 

U.S. government and agency 

650 

4,629 

1,304 

593 

8,649 $ 

112 $ 

(12) 

(7) 

(91) $ 

(11) $ 

obligations $ 420 $ (1) $ 

(4) 

(17) 

State and municipal obligations 

Corporate obligations 

U.S. agency mortgage-backed 
securitics 

Non-U.S. agency mortgage-backed 
securities 

Total debt securities - available-for-sale $ 

Equity securities - available-for-sale $ 

711 

2,595 

254 

3,980 $ ====== 
107 $ ====== 

$ 

$ 

12 Months or Greater Total 

Fair 
Value 

339 

116 

127 

$ 

582 $ 

89 $ 

99 

464 

272 

114 

$ 

949 $ 

88 $ 

Gross 
Unrealized Fair 

Value 

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses Losses 

$ 1,473 $ 

650 

(18) 4,968 

(6) 

(3) 

(81) 

(16) (4) 1,420 

(4) 

(26) $ 

(46)$ 

720 (11) 

9,231 $ (117) 
===~~ 

201 $ (57) 
===== 

$ 420 $ (1) 

(5) 

(26) 

(5) 

(1) 810 
(9) 3,059 

(5) 272 

(2) 

(17) $ 

(19) $ 

368 (4) 

4,929 $ (41) 
===== 

195 $ (25) 

The Company's unrcalized losses from all securities as of December 31, 2015 were generated from approximately 11,000 
positions out of a total of24,000 positions. The Company believes that it will collect the principal and interest due on its debt 
securities that have an amm1ized cost in excess of fair value. The unrealized losses were primarily caused by interest rate 
increases and not by unfavorable changes in the credit quality associated with these securities. At each repolting period, the 
Company evaluates securitie~ for impainnent when the fair value of the investment is less than its amortized cost. The 
Company evaluated the underlying credit qu~lity and credit ratings oflhe issuers, noting neither a significant deterioration 
since purchase nor other factors leading to an other-than-temporary impairment (OTn). As of December 31, 2015, the 
Company did not have the intent to sell any of the securities in an unrealized loss position. Therefore, the Company believes 
these losses to be temporary. 

The Company's investments in equity securities consist ofinvestments in Brazilian real denominated fixed-income funds, 
employee savings plan related investments, venture capital funds and dividend paying stocks. The Company evaluated its 
investments in equ:ty securities for severity and duration of unrealized loss, overall market volatility and other market factors. 
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Net realized ga!ns reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income were from the following sources: 

For the Years Ended Deeember 31, 

(ill millions) 2015 2014 2013 

TotalOTn $ (22) $ (26) $ (8) 

Portion of loss recognized in other comprehensive income 

Net OTTI recognized in earnings (22) (26) (8) 

Gross realized losses fi'om sales (28) (47) (9) 
Gross realized gains from sales 191 284 198 

Net realized gains (included in investment and other income on the 
Consolidated Statement~ of Operations) 141 211 181 

Income tax effect (included in provision for income taxes on the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations) (53) (77) (66) 

Realized gains, net of taxes $ 88 $ 134 $ 115 

5. Fair Value 

Certain assets and liabilities are measured at fair value in the Consolidated Financial Statements or have fair values disclosed 
in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. These assets and liabilities are classified into one of three levels of a 
hierarchy defined by GAAP. In instances in which the inputs used to measure fair value fall into different levels ofthe fair 
value hierarchy, the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety based on the lowest level input that is significant to . 
the fair value measurement in its entirety. The Company's assessment of the significance ofa pal1icular item to the fair value 
measurement in its entirety requires judgment, including the consideration of inputs specific to the asset or liability. 

The fair value hierarchy is summarized as follows: 

Levell Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets/liabilities in active markets. 

Level·2 - Other observable inputs, either directly or indirectly, including: 

Quoted prices for similar assets/liabilities in active markets; 

Quoted prices for identical or similar assets/liabilities in inactive markets (e.g., few transactions, limited 
information, noncum:nt prices, high variability over time); 

Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset/liability (e.g., interest rates, yield curves, implied 
volatilities, credit spreads); and 

Inputs that are cOlTOborated by other observable market data. 

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that cannot be corroborated by observable market data. 

Transfers between·levels,'if any, are recorded as of the beginning of the reporting period in which the transfer occurs; there 
were no transfers between Levels 1,2 or 3 of any financial assets or liabilities during 2015 or 2014. 

Nonfinancial assets and liabilities or financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis are 
subject to tair value adjustments only in cel1ain circumstances, such as when the Company records an impairment. There were 
no significant fair value adjustments for these assets and liabilities recorded during the years ended December 31, 2015 or 
2014. 

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value and determine the fair value hierarchy 
classification of each class of financial instrument included in the tables below: 

C(fsh (fml Cash Eqllivalents. The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents approximates lair value as maturities are less 
than threc months. Fair values of cash equivalent instruments that do not trade on a regular basis in active markets are 
c1assitled as Level 2. 

Debt alld Equity Securities. Fair values of debt and equity securities are based on quoted market prices, where available. The 
Company obtains one price for each security primarily from a third-party pricing service (pricing service), which generally 
uses quoted or other observable inputs for the determination of fair value. The pricing service normally derives the security 
prices through recently repol1ed trades for identical or similar securities, and, ifneccssal'Y, makes adjustments through the 
reporting datc based upon available observable market information. For securities not actively traded, the pricing service may 
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use quoted market prices of comparable instruments or discounted cash flow analyses, incorporating inputs that are cU1Tently 
observable in the markets for similar securities. Inputs that are often lISed in the valuation methodologies include, but are not 
limited to, benchmark yields, credit spreads, default rates, prepayment speeds and nonbinding broker quotes. As the Company 
is responsible for the determination of fair value, it performs quarterly analyses on the prices received from the pricing service 
to 
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determine whether the prices are reasonable estimates of fair value. Specifically, the Company compares the prices received 
from the pricing service to prices reported by a secondalY pricing source, such as its custodian, its investment consultant and 
third-party investment advisors. Additionally, the Company compares changes in the reported market values and returns to 
relevant market indices to test the reasonableness ofthc reported prices. The Company's internal price verification procedures 
and reviews of filiI' value methodology documentation provided by independent pricing services have not historically resulted 
in adjustment in the prices obtained from the pricing service. 

Fair values of debt securities that do not trade on a regular basis in active markets but are priced using other observable inputs 
are classified as Level 2. . 

Fair value estimates for Levelland Level 2 equity securities are based on quoted market prices for actively traded equity 
securities andlor other market data for the same or comparable instruments and transactions in establishing the prices. 

The fair values of Level 3 investments in venture capital pOltfolios are estimated using a market valuation technique that relies 
heavily on management assumptions and qualitative observations. Under the market approach, the fair values ofthe 
Company's various venture capital investments are computed using limited quantitative and qualitative observations of 
activity for similar companies in the current market. The Company's market modeling utilizes, as applicable, transactions for 
comparable companies in similar industries that also have similar revenue and grov.1h characteristics and preferences in their 
capital structure. Key significant unobservable inputs in the market technique include implied earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) multiples and revenue multiples. Additionally, the fair values of certain of the 
Company's venture capital securities are based on recent transactions in inactive markets for identical or similar securities. 
Significant changes in any of these inputs could result in significantly lower or higher fair value measurements. 

Throughout the procedures discussed above in relation to the Company's processes for validating third-party pricing 
information, the Company validates the understanding of assumptions and inputs used in security pricing and determines the 
proper classification in the hierarchy based on that understanding. 

Other Assets. The fair values of the Company's other assets are estimated and classified using the same methodologies as the 
Company's investments in debt securities. 

AARP Program-Related Investments. AARP Program-related investments consist of debt securities and other investments 
held to fund costs associated with the AARP Program and are priced and classified using the same methodologies as the 
Company's investments in debt and equity securities. 

/flIerest Rate Swaps. Fair values of the Company's swaps are estimated using the terms of the swaps and publicly available 
information, including market yield curves. Because the swaps are unique and not actively traded but are valued using other 
observable inputs, the fair values are classified as Level 2. 

Long-Term Debt. The fair values of the Company's long-term debt are estimated and classified using the same methodologies 
as the Company's investments in debt securities. 

AARP Program-Related Other Liabilities. AARP Program-related other liabilities consist of liabilities that represent the 
amount of net investment gains and losses related to AARP Program-related investments that accrue to the benefit of the 
AARP policyholders. 

62 

187 
https:llwww.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/dataI731766/000073176616000058/unh20 15123110-... 1/17/2017 



lO-K Page 113 of 161 

Table ~f Contents 

The following table presents a summary of fair value measurements by level and carrying values for items measured at filiI' 
value on a recurring basis in the Consolidated Balance Sheets excluding AARP Program-related assets and liabilities, which 
are presented in a separate table below: 

Quoted Prices Ollter Total 
in Active Observable Unobservable Fa;" and 
Markets Inputs Inputs Carrying 

(in millions) (Levell) (Levell) (Level 3) Value 

December 31,2015 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 10,906 $ 17 $ $ 10,923 

Debt securities - available-for-sale: 
U.S. government and agency obligations 1,779 198 1,977 

State and municipal obligations 6,168 6,168 

Corporate obligations 5 7,308. 93 7,406 

U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities 2,124 2,124 

Non-U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities 951 5 956 

Total debt securities - available-far-sale 1,784 16,749 98 18,631 

Equity securities - available-far-sale 1,223 14 402 1,639 

Interest rate swap assets 93 93 

Total assets at fair value $ $ 16,873 $ 500 $ 31,286 

Percentage of total assets at fair value 44% 54% 2% 100% 

Interest rate swap liabilities $ $ II $ $ 11 

December 31, 2014 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,472 $ 23 $ $ 7,495 

Debt securities - available-for-sale: 

U.S. govemment and agency obligations 1,427 193 1,620 

State and municipal obligations 6,668 6,668 

Corporate obligations 2 7,257 68 7,327 

U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities 2,056 2,056 

Non-U.S. agency m0l1gage-backed securities 874 6 880 

Total debt securities - available-for-sale 1,429 17,048 74 18,551 

Equity securities - available-far-sale 1,200 12 310 1,522 

Interest rate swap assets 62 62 

Total assets at fair value $ $ 384 $ 27,630 

Percentage oftotal assets at fair value 37% 62% 1% 100% 

Interest rate swap liabilities $ $ 55 $ $ 55 

63 

188 
https:llwww.sec.gov/ArchivesJedgar/dataI731766/0000731766160000S8/unh201512311 0-... lIJ 7/2017 



lO-K Page 1I4 of 16] 

Table of Contents 

The following table presents a summary of fair value measurements by level and carrying values for certain financial 
instruments not measured at fair value on a recurring basis in the Consolidated Balance Sheets: 

(in millions) 

December 31, 2015 

Debt securities - held-to-maturity: 

U.S. government and agency obligations 

State and municipal obligations 

Corporate obligations 

Total debt securities - held-to-maturity 

Other assets 

Long-telID debt and other financing obligations 

December 31,2014 

Debt securities - held-to-maturity: 

U.S. government and agency obligations 

State and municipal obligations 

$ 

Quoted Prices 
in Active 
Markets 
(Levell) 

164 $ 

Otller 
Observable 

Inputs 
(Levell) 

91 10 

$ 

Unobservable 
Inputs 

(Levell) 

8 

238 

$ 

-----
$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

255 $ 10 $ 
==== 
$ 493 $ 

246 $ 

$ 

$ 
==== 

$ 29,455 $ 
====== 

180 $ $ $ 

19 

Total 
Fair 

Value 

164 $ 

8 

339 

Total 
Carrying 

Value 

163 
8 

339 

511 $ 510 
==== 

493 $ 500 
=== 

29,455 $ 28,107 
===== 

180 $ 

19 

178 

19 

Corporate obligations 46 10 242 298 298 

Total debt securities - held-to-maturity $ 226 $ 10 $ 261 $ 497 $ 495 
======== ======== 

Other assets $ $ 478 $ $ 478 $ 484 

Long-term debt and other financing obligations $ $ . 18,863 $ $ 18,863 $ 17,085 

The carrying amounts reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheets for other current financial assets and liabilities 
approximate fail' value because of their shOlt-term nature. These assets and liabilities are not listed in the table above. 

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis using Level 3 
inputs is as follows: 

December 31,2015 December l]. 2014 December ll. 20ll 

Debt Equity Debt Equity Debt Equity 
(in millions) Securities Securities Total Securities Securities Total Securities Securities Total 

Balance at beginning 
of period $ 74 $ 

27 

310 $ 384 $ 42 $ 269 $ 3 11 $ 17 $ 224 $ 241 

Purchases 

Sales 

Net unrealized gains 
( losses) in other 
comprehensive 
income 

Net realized (losses) 
gains in investment 
and other income 

Balance at end of 
period 

106 133 32 105 137 38 71 109 

(4) (24) (28) (1) (180) (181) (IO) (25) (35) 

2 5 7 6 7 (2) (7) (9) 

(1) 5 4 110 110 (1) 
--...:....:- ---- --- ---- ---- --- --- --- ---6 5 

$ 98 $ 402 $ 500 $ 74 $ 310 $ 384 $ 42 $ 269 $ 311 
=== 
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The following table presents quantitative information regarding unobservable inputs that were significant to the valuation of 
assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis using Level 3 inputs: 

Range 

(in millions) 
Fair 

Value ________ V_8_lu_at_io_n_T_e_cb_"_iq~u_c_______ _ ___ U_n_ob_s_e~ __ ab_le_I_n~pu_t___ Low IJigh 

December 31, 20IS 

Equity securities· available-for-sale: 

Venture capital portfolios 

Total equity securities 
available-for-sale 

$ 358 

44 

$ 402 

Market approach - comparable companies Revenue multiple 1.0 5.0 

EB1TDA multiple 9.0 10.0 

Market approach - recent transactions Inactive market transactions N/A N/A 

Also included in the Company's assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis using Level 3 inputs were $98 million of 
available-for-sale debt securities as of December 31, 2015, which were not significant. 

The Company elected to measure the entirety ofthe AARP Program assets under management at fair value pursuant to the fair 
value option. See Note 2 for fUlther detail on the AARP Program. The following table presents fair value information about 
the AARP Program-related financial assets and liabilities: 

(in millions) 

December 31, 2015 

Ca~h and cash equiv~ents 

Dcbt securities: 

U.S. government and agency obligations 

State and municipal obligations 

Corporate obligations 

u.S. agency 1l100tgage-backed securities 

Non-U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities 

Total debt securities 

Other investments 

Total assets in fair value 

December 31, 2014 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Debt securities: 

U.S. government and agency obligations 

State and municipal obligations 

Corporate obligations 

U.S. agency 1l100tgage-backed securities 

Non-U.S. agency mOltgage-backed securities 

Total debt securities 

Equity securities - available-for-sale 

Total assets at fair value 

Other liabilitics 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Quoted Prices 
in Active 
IVlarkels 
(Levell) 

Other 
Observable 

Inputs 
(Level 2) 

274 $ -

482 

482 

76 

832 $ 

140 

103 

1,244 

398 

195 

2,080 

86 

2,166 ==== 
415 $ -

409 245 

95 

1,200 

340 

177 

409 2,057 

81 

824 $ 2,138 
=== 

5 $ 13 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Total 
Fair and 
CarryIng 

Value 

274 

622 

103 

1,244 

398 

195 

2,562 

162 

2,998 

415 

654 

95 

\,200 

340 

177 

2,466 

81 

2,962 

18 
========== 
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6. Property, Equipment and Capitalized Software 

A summary of property, equipment and capitalized software is as follows: 

December 3 I, December3t, 
(in millions) 20t5 2014 

Land and improvements $ 237 $ 310 

Buildings and improvements 2,420 2,295 

Computer equipment 1,945 1,693 

Furniture and fixtures 790 675 

Less accumulated depreciation (2,163) (1,982) 

Property and equipment, net 3,229 2,991 

Capitalized software 2,642 2,399 

Less accumulated amortization (1,010) (972) 

Capitalized software, net 1,632 1,427 

Total property, equipment and capitalized software, net $ 4,861 $ 

Depreciation expense for property and equipment for 2015,2014 and 2013 was $613 million, $532 million and $445 million, 
respectively. AmOltization expense for capitalized software for 2015, 2014 and 2013 was $430 million, $422 million and $41 1 
million, respectively. 

7. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill, by reportable segment, were as follows: 

(in millions) UnitedHealtbcare OptllmHealth Optllmlnsigbt OptumRx Consoli/lated 

Balance at January 1,2014 $ 24,251 $ 2,860 $ 3,653 $ 840 $ 31,604 

Acquisitions 266 978 591 1,835 

Foreign currency effects and 
adjustments, net (487) (4) (8) (499) 

Balance at December 31, 20 J 4 24,030 3,834 4,236 840 32,940 

Acquisitions 128 1,817 89 10,732 12,766 

Foreign currency effects and 
adjustments, net (1,233) 9 (29) (1,253) 

Balance at December 31, 2015 $ 22,925 $ 5,660 $ 4,296 $ 11,572 $ 44,453 

The increase in the Company's goodwill is primarily due to the acquisition of Catamaran. For more detail on the Catamaran 
.acquisition, see Note 3 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

The gross carrying value, accumulated amortization and net carrying value of other intangible assets were as follows: 

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014 

Gross Net Gross Net 
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Aeeumulated Carrying 

(in millions) Value Amortization Value Value Amortization Value 

Customer-related $ 10,270 $ (2,796) $ 7,474 $ 5,021 $ (2,399) $ 2,622 

Trademarks and technology 682. (249) 433 527 (202) 325 

Trademarks - indefinite-lived 358 358 539 539 

Other 209 126 267 183 

Total $ I $ 8,391 $ 
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The acquisition date fail' values and weighted-average useful lives assigned to finite-lived intangible assets acquired in 
business combinations consisted of the following by year of acquisition: 

2015 2014 

Wcighled- Weighled-
Average Average 

(in millions, except years) Fair Value Useful Life Fair Value VsdulLife 

Customer-related $ 5,518 19 years $ 314 14 years 

Trademarks and technology 194 4 years 148 6 years 

Other 2 14 years 

Total acquired finite-lived intangible assets $ 5,712 19 years $ 464 11 years 

Estimated full year amortization expense relating to intangible assets for each of the next five years ending December 31 is as 

follows: 

(in millions) 

2016 $ 808 

2017 772 

2018 668 

2019 612 

2020 543 

Amortization expense relating to intangible assets for December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 was $650 million, $524 million and 
$5] 9 million, respectively. 

8. Medical Costs Payable 

The following table shows the components of the change in medical costs payable for the years ended December 31; 

(in millions) 2015 2014 2013 

Medical costs payable, beginning of period $ 12,040 $ 11,575 $ 11,004 

Reported medical costs: 

CutTent year 104,195 94,053 90,339 

Prior years (320) (420) (680) 

Total reported medical costs 103,875 93,633 89,659 

Claim payments: 

Payments for current year (90,630) (82,750) (79,358) 

Payments for prior year (1O,955) (10,418) (9,730) 

Total claim payments (101,585) (93,168) (89,088) 

Medical costs payable, end of period $ 14,330 $ 12,040 $ 11,575 

For the years ended December 31,2015 and 2014, the favorable medica! cost reserve development was due to a number of 
individual factors that were not material. The net favorable development for the year ended December 31,20 J 3 was primarily 
driven by lower than expected health system utilization levels. 
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9. Commercial Paper and Long-Term Debt 

Commercial paper, term loan and senior unsecured long-term debt consisted of the following: 

(in millillns, except percentages) 

Commercial paper 

Floating rate term loan due July 2016 (e) 

4.875% notes due March 2015 (a) 

0.850% notes due October2015 (a), (b) 

5.375% notes due March 2016 (a), (b) 

1.875% notes due November 2016 (a), (b) 

5.360% notes due November 2016 

Floaling rate notes due January 2017 (c) 

6.oo0%noles due June 2017 (a), (b) 

1.450% notes due July 2017 (e) 

1.400% notes due October 2017 (a), (b) 

6.000% notes due November 2017 (a), (b) 

1.400% notes due December 2017 (a), (b) 

6.000% notes due February 2018 (a), (b) 

1.900"A. notes due July 2018 (e) 

1.625% notes due March 2019 (a), (b) 

2.300% notes due December 2019 (a) 

2.700% notes due July 2020 (e) 

3.875% notes due OClober 2020 (a) 

4.700% noles due February 2021 (a) 

3.375% notes due November 2021 (a) 

2.875% notes due December 2021 (a) 

2.875% notes due March 2022 (a) 

3.350% noles due July 2022 (c) 

0.000% noles due November 2022 

2.750% nOles due February 2023 (a) 

2.875% notes due March 2023 (a) 

3,750% notes due July 2025 (c) 

4.625% notes due July 2035 (e) 

5.800% notes due March 2036 

6.500% nOles due June 2037 

6.625% notes due November 2037 

6.875% notes due February 2038 

5.700% notes due October 2040 

5 950% notes due February 2041 

4.625% notes due November 2041 

4.375% notes due March 2042 

3.950% notes due October 2042 

4.250% notes due March 2043 

4.750% notes due July 2045 (c) 

December 31,1015 

Par Carrying 
Value Vallie 

3,987 $ 3,987 $ 

1,500 1,500 

601 

400 

95 

750 

441 

750 

625 

156 

750 

1,100 

1,500 

500 

500 

1,500 

450 

400 

500 

750 

1,100 

1,000 

15 

625 

750 

2,000 

1,000 

850 

500 

650 

1,100 

300 

350 

600 

502 

625 

750 

2,000 

605 

400 

95 

750 

458 

750 

625 

163 

753 

1,115 

1,498 

503 

501 

1,499 

454 

414 

501 

756 

1,061 

999 

10 

614 

784 

1,995 

1,000 

845 

495 

646 

1,085 

298 

348 

593 

486 

612 

740 

1,992 

Fair 
Value 

3,987 

1,500 

606 

403 

98 

751 

469 

750 

624 

168 

748 

1,196 

1,505 

494 

502 

1,516 

476 

438 

517 

760 

1,099 

1,023 

II 

6\3 

742 

2,062 

1,038 

1,003 

628 

829 

1,439 

348 

416 

609 

493 

582 

728 

2,107 

.$ 

Par 
Value 

32\ 

416 

625 

601 

400 

95 

441 

625 

156 

750 

1,100 

500 

500 

450 

400 

500 

750 

1,100 

15 

625 

750 

850 

500 

650 

1,100 

300 

350 

600 

502 

625 

750 
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December 31, 1014 

Carrying 
Value 

$ 321 S 

419 

625 

623 

397 

95 

466 

616 

164 

745 

1,106 

496 

496 

450 

413 

496 

748 

1,042 

10 

604 

777 

845 

495 

646 

1,085 

298 

348 

593 

486 

611 

740 

Fair 
Value 

321 

419 

627 

634 

406 

103 

489 

624 

175 

749 

1,238 

493 

502 

477 

450 

519 

759 

1,104 

11 

613 

745 

1,052 

670 

888 

1,544 

378 

455 

646 

536 

621 

786 
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Total commercial paper, term loan and long-term debt $ 31,972 $ 31,930 $ 33,278 $ 17,347 $ 17,256 $ 19,034 

(a) Fixed-rate debt instntments hedged with interest rate swap contracts. See below for more information on the Company's interest rate swaps. 

(b) The Company tenninated the interest rate swap contracts on these hedged instruments during the year ended December 31, 2015. See below for more 
information on this tenninalion. 

(c) Debt issued to thnd the Catamaran acquisition. For more detail on Catamaran, see Note 3 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

The Company's long-term debt obligations also included $164 million and $150 million of other financing obligations, of 
which $47 million and $34 million were current as of December 31,2015 and 2014, respectively. 

6& 
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Maturities of commercial paper and long-term debt for the years ending December 31 are as follows: 

(in millions) 

2016 

2017 

2018 

2019 

2020 

Thereafter 

Commercial Paper and Revolving Blink Credit Facilities 

$ 6,630 

3,491 

2,607 

1,024 

1,952 

16,432 

Commercial paper consists of short-duration, senior unsecured debt privately placed on a discount basis through broker­
dealers. As of December 31,2015, the Company's outstanding commercial paper had a weighted-average annual interest rate 
of 0.7%. 

The Company has $3.0 billion five-year, $2.0 billion three-year and $1.0 billion 364-day revolving bank credit facilities with 
23 banks, which mature in December 2020, December 2018, and November 2016, respectively. These facilities provide 
liquidity support for the Company's commercial paper program and are available for general corporate purposes. As of 
December 31, 2015, no amounts had been drawn on any of the bank credit facilities. The annual interest rates, which are 
variable based on term, are calculated based on the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIB OR) plus a credit spread based on the 
Company's senior unsecured credit ratings. If amounts had been drawn on the bank credit facilities as of December 31, 2015, 
annual interest rates would have ranged from 1.2% to 1.7%. 

Debt Covenants 

The Company's bank credit facilities contain various covenants, including requiring the Company to maintain a debt to debt­
plus-stockholders' equity ratio of not more than 55%. The Company was in compliance with its debt covenants as of 
December 31,2015. 

Interest Rate Swap Contracts 

The Company uses interest rate swap contracts to convert a portion of its interest rate exposure from fixed rates to floating 
rates to more closely align interest expense with interest income received on its variable rate financial assets. The floating 
rates are benchmarked to LIBOR. The swaps are designated as fair value hedges on the Company's fixed-rate debt. Since the 
critical terms of the swaps match those ofthe debt being hedged, they are considered to be highly effective hedges and all 
changes in the fair values ofthe swaps are recorded as adjustments to the carrying value of the related debt with no net impact 
recorded on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Both the hedge fair value changes and the off.<>etting debt adjustments 
are recorded in interest expense on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The following table summarizes the location 
and fair value of the interest rate swap fair value hedges on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet: 

Type of Fair Value Hedge 

December 31,2015 

Interest rate swap contracts 

December 31,2014 

Interest rate swap contracts 

Notional Amount 

(in billions) 

$ 5.1 $ 

$ 10.7 $ 

Fair Value Balance Sheet Location 

(ill millions) 

93 Other assets 

11 Other liabilities 

62 Other assets 

55 Other liabilities 

During 2015, the Company terminated $5.2 billion notional amount of its interest rate swap fair value hcdges. The resulting 
gain was not material. 
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The following table provides a summary of the effect of changes in fair value of fair value hedges on the Company's 
Consolidated Statements of Operations: 

For Ibe Years Ended December 31, 

(In millions) 2015 2014 2013 

Hedge - interest rate swap gain (loss) recognized in interest expense $ 75 

Hedged item - long-term debt (loss) gain recognized in interest expense (75) 

Net impact on the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations $ 
==== 

10. Income Taxes 

$ 170 

(170) 

$ 

$ 

$ 

(166) 

166 

The current income tax provision reflects the tax consequences of revenues and expenses currently taxable or deductible on 
various income tax returns for the year reported. The deferred income tax provision or benefit generally reflects the net change 
in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year, excluding any defen-ed income tax assets and liabilities of 
acquired businesses. The components of the provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 

(in millions) 2015 2014 2013 

Current Provision: 

Federal $4,155 $3,883 $3,004 

State and local 281 271 237 

Total eUlTent provision 4,436 4,154 3,241 

Deferred (benefit) provision (73) (117) 1 

Total provision for income taxes $4,363 $4,037 $3,242 

The reconciliation of the tax provision at the U.s. federal statutory rate to the provision for income taxes and the effective tax 
rate for the years ended December 31 is as follows: . 

(in millions. excelllllcrcentages) 2015 2014 2013 

Tax provision at the U.S. federal statutory rate $ 3,581 35.0% $ 3,380 35.0% $ 3,120 35.0% 

Health insurance industry tax 627 6.1 469 4.8 

State income taxes, net of federal benefit 145 1.4 154 1.6 126 1.4 

Tax-exempt investment income (44) (0.4) (49) (0.5) (53) (0.6) 

Non-deductible compensation lO3 1.0 96 1.0 39 0.5 

Other, net (49) (0.5) (13) (0.1) lO 0.1 

Provision for income ta'<es $ 4,363 42.6% $ 4,037 41.8 % $ 3,242 36.4% 

The higher tax rates for 2015 and 2014 were primarily due to the increase in the nondeductible Health Insurance Industry Tax. 
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the differences between the financial and income tax reporting 
bases of assets and liabilities based on enacted tax rates and laws. The components of deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
as of December 31 arc as follows: 

(in millions) 

Deferred income tax assets: 

Accrued expenses and allowances 

U.S. federal and state net operating loss carryforwards 

Share-based compensation 

Nondeductible liabilities 

Medical costs payable and other policy liabilities 

Non-U.S. ta;" loss carryforwards 

Unearned revenues 

Unrecognized tax benefits 

Other-domestic 

Other-non-U.S. 

Subtotal 

Less: valuation allowances 

Total deferred income tax assets 

Deferred income tax liabilities: 

U.S. federal and state intangible assets 

Non-U.S. goodwill and intangible assets 

Capitalized software 

Net unrealized gains on investments 

Depreciation and amortization 

Prepaid expenses 

Other-non-U.S. 

Total deferred income ta;'< liabilities 

Net deferred income tax liabilities 

$ 

$ 

2015 

739 

139 

124 

205 

71 

244 

94 

69 

51 

130 

1,866 

(44) 

1,822 

(2,95 I) 

(397) 

(574) 

(34) 

(312) 

(205) 

(76) 

(4,549) 

(2,727) 

2014 

$ 313 

172 

141 

222 

120 

257 

90 

38 

36 

141 

1,530 

(119) 

1,411 

(1,275) 

(496) 

(506) 

(129) 

(272) 

(140) 

(102) 

(2,920) 

$ (1,509) 

Valuation allowances are provided when it is considered more likely than not that defen'ed tax assets will not be realized. The 
valuation allowances primarily relate to future tax benefits on certain federal, state and non-U.S. net operating loss 
carryforwards. Federal net operating loss carryforwards of$122 million expire beginning in 2021 through 2035; state net 
operating loss carryforwards expire beginning in 2016 through 2035. Substantially all of the non-U.S. tax loss carryforwards 
have indefinite carry forward periods. 

As of December 31,2015, the Company had $459 million of undistributed earnings from non-U.S. subsidiaries that are 
intended to be reinvested in non-U.S. operations. Because these eal11ings are considered permanently reinvested, no U.S. tax 
provision has been accrued related to the repatriation ofthese earnings. It is not practicable to estimate the amount of U.S. tax 
that might be payable on the eventual remittance of such earnings. 
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A reconciliation ofthe beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31 is as follows: 

(in milliolls) 2015 2014 2013 

Gmss unrecognized tax benefits, beginning of period $ 92 $ 89 $ 81 

Gross increases: 

CUlTent year tax positions 8 
Prior year tax positions 55 4 5 

Acquired reserves 89 

Gross decreases: 

Prior year tax positions (2) 

Settlements (I) 

Statute of limitations lapses (9) (1) (5) 

Gross unrecognized tax benefits, end of period $ 224 $ 92 $ 89 

The Company believes it is reasonably possible that its liability for unrecognized tax benefits will decrease in the next twelve 
months by $137 million as a result of audit settlements and the expiration of statutes oflimitations in certain major 
jurisdictions. 

The Company classifies interest and penalties associated with uncertain income tax positions as income taxes within its 
Consolidated Statement of Operations. During 2015, 2014, and 2013, the Company recognized $11 million, $6 million and $4 
million of interest and penalties, respectively. The Company had $59 million and $33 million of accrued interest and penalties 
for uncertain tax positions as of December 31,2015 and 2014, respectively. These amounts are not included in the 
reconciliation above. 

The Company cun'ently files income tax returns in the United States, various states and non-U.S. jurisdictions. The U.S. 
Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has completed exams on the consolidated income tax returns for fiscal years 2014 and prior. 
The Company's 2015 tax year is under advance review by the IRS under its Compliance Assurance Program. With the 
exception of a few states, the Company is no longer subject to income tax examinations prior to the 2008 tax year. The 
Brazilian fedcral revenue.service - Secretaria da Receita Federal (SRF) may audit the Company's Brazilian subsidiaries for a 
period of five years from the date on which corporate income taxes should have been paid andlor the date when the tax return 
was filed. 

11. Stockholders' Equity 

. Regulatory Capital and Dividend Restrictions 

The Company's regulated subsidiaries are subject to regulations and standards in their respective jurisdictions. These 
standards, among other things, require these subsidiaries to maintain specified levels of statutory capital, as defined by each 
jurisdiction, and restrict the timing and amount of dividends and other distributions that may he paid to their parent 
companies. In the United States, most of these regulations and standards are generally consistent with model regulations 
established by the National Association ofInsurance Commissioners. These standards generally pcrmit dividends to be paid 
from statutory unassigned surplus of the regulated subsidiary and are limited based on the regulated subsidiary's level of 
statutory net income and statutory capital and surplus. These dividends are referred to as "ordinary dividends" and generally 
can be paid without prior regulatory approval. If the dividend, together with other dividends paid within the preceding twelve 
months, exceeds a specified statutory limit or is paid from sources other than earned surplus, it is generally considered an 
"extraordinruy dividend" and must receive prior regulatory approval. 

For the year ended December 31, 20 IS, the Company's I'cgulated subsidiaries paid their parent companies dividends of $4.4 
billion, including $1.5 billion of extraordinary dividends. For the year ended Decembel' 31,2014, the Company's regulated 
subsidiaries paid their parent companies dividends of$4.6 billion, including $1.5 billion of extraordinaty dividends. As of 
December 3 t, 2015, $286 million of the Company's $10,9 billion of cash and cash equivalents was available for general 
corporate usc, 
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The Company's regulated subsidiaries had estimated aggregate statutory capital and surplus of approximately $15.3 billion as 
of December 31, 2015. The estimated statutory capital and surplus necessary to satisfy regulatory requirements of the 
Company's regulated subsidiaries was approximately $8.6 billion as of December 31,2015. 

Optum Bank must meet minimum requirements for Tier 1 leverage capital, Tier 1 risk-based capital and total risk-based 
capital of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) to be considered "Well Capitalized" under the capital adequacy 
rules to 
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which it is subject. At December 31,2015, the Company believes that Optum Bank met the FDIC requirements to be 
considered "Well Capitalized." 

Share Repurchase Program 

Under its Board of Directors' authorization, the Company maintains a share repurchase program. The objectives of the share 
repurchase program are to optimize the Company's capital structure and cost of capital, thereby improving returns to 
stockholders, as well as to offset the dilutive impact of share-based awards. Repurchases may be made from time to time in 
open market purchases or other types of transactions (including prepaid or structured share repurchase programs), subject to 
certain Board restrictions. In June 2014, the Board renewed the Company's share repurchase program with an authorization to 
repurchase up to 100 million shares of its common stock. During 2015, the Company repurchased to.7 million shares at an 
average price of $112.45 per share and an aggregate cost of$1.2 billion. As of December 31,2015, the Company had Board 
authorization to purchase up to 61 million shares ofits common stock. 

Dividends 

In June 2015, the Company's Board of Directors increased the Company's quarterly cash dividend to stockholders to equal an 
annual dividend rate of$2.00 per share compared to the annual dividend rate of$1.50 per share, which the Company had paid 
since June 2014. Declaration and payment of future quruterly dividends is at the discretion ofthe Board and may be adjusted 
as business needs or market conditions change. 

The following table provides details of the Company's dividend payments: 

Payment Date 

2015 

2014 

2013 

12. Share-Based Compensation 

Amount per Share 

$ 1.8750 $ 

1.4050 

1.0525 

Total Amount Paid 

<iu miliioDs) 

1,786 

1,362 

1,056 

In June 2015, the Company's stockholders approved an amendment to the 2011 Stock Incentive Plan (Plan). The approved 
amendment increased the number of shares authorized for issuance under the Plan by 70 million and removed certain limits in 
the Plan. The Company's outstanding share-based awards consist mainly of non-qualified stock options, SARs and restricted 
shares. As of December 31,2015, the Company had 85 million shares available for future grants of share-b'iSed awards under 
the Plan. As of December 31,2015, there were also 12 million shares of common stock available for issuance under the ESPP. 

Stock Options (lnd SARs 

Stock option and SAR activity for the year ended December 31, 2015 is summarized in the table beiow: 

Outstanding at beginning of period 

Granted 

Exercised 

Forfeited 

Outstanding at end of period 

Exercisable at end of period 

Vested and expected to vest, end of period 

Shares 

(in millions) 

33 

9 

(7) 

(1) 

34 

16 

33 

73 

$ 

Weighted­
Avemge 
Exercise 

Price 

53 

110 

53 

80 

68 

47 

67 

Weightetl­
Average 

Remaining Aggregate 
Contractual Life rntrinsic Value 

(in years) 

6.0 $ 

3.4 

5.9 

(in millions) 

1,666 

1,133 

1,646 
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Restricted Shares 

Restricted share activity for the year ended December 31, 2015 is summarized in the table below: 

(shares in millions) 

Nonvested at beginning of period 

Granted 

Vested 

Nonvested at end of period 

Other Share-Based Compensation Dat(l 

(In millions, except per share amounts) 

Stock Options and SARs 

Weighted-average grant date fair value of shares granted, per share 

Total intrinsic value of stock options and SARs exercised 

Restricted Shares 

Weighted-average grant date fair value of shares granted, per share 

Total fair value ofresti'icted shares vested 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan 

Number of shares purchased 

Share-Based Compensation Items 

Share-based compensation expense, before tax 

Share-based compensation expense, net of tax effects 

Income tax benefit realized from share-based award exercises 

(in millions, except years) 

Unrecognized compensation expense related to share awards 

Weighted-average years to recognize compensation expense 

Share-Based Compensation Recognition fmd Estimates 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Shares 

9 $ 

3 

(5) 

7 

Weighted-Average 
Grant Date 
l<'airValue 
per Share 

61 

110 

62 

82 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

2015 2014 2013 

22 $ 22 $ 19 

482 526 592 

110 71 58 

460 $ 437 $ 31 

2 2 3 

406 $ 361 $ 331 

348 314 239 

247 231 206 

December 31. 2015 

$ 469 

1.3 

The principal assumptions the Company used in calculating grant-date fair value for stock options and SARs were as follows: 

Risk-free interest rate 

Expected volatility 

Expected dividend yield 

Forfeiture rate 

Expected life in years 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

2015 2014 2013 

1.6% - 1.7% 1.7% 1.8% 1.0%- 1_6% 

22.3% - 24.1 % 24.1%-39.6% 41.0%-43.0% 

1.4%- 1.7% 1.6% -1.9% 1.4%- 1.6% 

5_0% 5.0% 5.0% 

5.5 - 6.1 5.4 5.3 

Risk-fi'ee interest Fdtes are based on U.S. Treasury yields in effect at the time of grant. Expected volatilities are based on the 
historical volatility of the Company's common stock and the implied volatility from exchange-traded options on the 
Company's common stock. Expected dividend yields are based on the per share cash dividend paid by the Company. The 
Company uses historical data to estimate option and SAR exercises and forfeitures within the valuation modeL The expected 

https:llwww.sec.gov/ Archives/edgar/data173176~073176616000058/11nh20 15123110-... 1117/2017 



Page 128 of 161 

lives of options and SARs granted represents the period oftime that the awards granted are expected to be outstanding based 
on historical exercise patterns. 
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Other Employee Benefit Plans 

The Company also offers a 40] (k) plan for its employees. Compensation expense related to this plan was not material for 
2015,20]4 and 2013. 

In addition, the Company maintains non-qualified, unfunded deferred compensation plans, which allow certain members of 
senior management and executives to defer portions of their salary or bonus and receive certain Company contributions on 
such deferrals, subject to plan limitations. The deferrals are recorded within long-term investments with an approximately 
equal amount in other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The total deferrals are distributable based upon 
termination of employment or other periods, as elected under each plan and were $553 million and $496 million as of 
December 31,2015 and 2014, respectively. 

13. Commitments and Contingencies 

The Company leases facilities and equipment under long-term operating leases that are non-cancelable and expire on various 
dates. Rent expense under all operating leases for 2015, 2014 and 2013 was $555 million, $449 million and $438 million, 
respectively. 

As of December 3], 20] 5, future minimum annual lease payments, net of sublease income, under all non-cancelable operating 
leases were as follows: 

(in millions) 

2016 

2017 

2018 

2019 

2020 

Thereafter 

Future Minimum Lease 
Paymellts 

$ 417 

370 

325 

267 
230 

471 

The Company provides guarantees related to its service leveL under certain contracts. If minimum standards are not met, the 
Company may be financially at risk up to a stated percentage of the contracted fee or a stated dollar amount. None ofthe 
amounts accrued, paid or charged to income for service level guarantees were materiaL as of December 31, 2015, 2014 and 
2013. 

As of December 31,2015, the Company had outstanding, undrawn letters of credit with financial institutions of $30 million 
and surety bonds outstanding with insurance companies of $1. 1 billion, primarily to bond contractual pelformance. 

Legal Matters 

Because of the nature of its businesses, the Company is frequently made pal1y to a variety oflegaL actions and regulatory 
inquiries, including class actions and suits brought by members, care providers, consumer advocacy organizations, customers 
and regulators, relating to the Company's businesses, including management and administration of health bcneHt plans and 
other services. These matters include medical malpractice, employment, intellectual property, antitl1lst, privacy and contract 
claims and claims related to health care benetits coverage and other business practices. 

The Company records liabilities for its estimates of probable costs resulting from these matters where appropriate. Estimates 
of costs resulting from legal and regulatory matters involving the Company arc inherently difficult to predict, particularly 
where the mattcrs: involve indeterminate claims for monetary damages or may involve lines, penalties or punitive damages; 
present novel legal theories or represent a shift in regulatory policy; involve a largc numbcr of claimants or regulatory bodies; 
are in the early stages ofthe proceedings; or could result in a change in business practices. Accordingly, the Company is oUen 
unable to estimate the losses or ranges or losses tor those matters where thcre is a reasonable posilibility or it is probable that a 
loss may be incurred. 

Litigation Matters 
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California Claims Processing Matter. On January 25, 2008, the California Department of Insurance (CDI) issued an Order to 
Show Cause to PacitiCare Life and Health Insurance Company, a subsidiary of the Company, alleging violations of certain 
insurance statutes and regulations related to an alleged failure to include certain language in standard claims correspondence, 
timeliness and accuracy of claims processing, interest payments, care provider contract implementation, eare provider dispute 
resolution and other related matters. Although the Company believes that COl had never before issued a fine in excess of$8 
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million, COl advocated a fine of approximately $325 million in this matter. The matter was the subject of an administrative 
hearing before a California administrative law judge beginning in December 2009, and in August 2013, the administrative law 
judge issued a nonbinding proposed decision recommending a tine of$1 1.5 million. The California Insurance Commissioner 
rejected the administrative law judge's recommendation and on June 9, 2014, issued his own decision imposing a fine of 
approximately $174 million: On July 10,2014, the Company filed a lawsuit in Califomia state court challenging the 
Commissioner's decision. On September 8, 2015, in the first phase ofthat lawsuit, the California state court issued an order 
invalidating certain ofthe regulations the Commissioner had relied upon in issuing his decision and penalty. The Company 
cannot reasonably estimate the range of loss, if any, that may result from this matter given the procedural status of the dispute, 
the wide range of possible outcomes, the legal issues presented (including the legal basis for the majority of the alleged 
violations), the inherent difficulty in predicting a regulatory fine in the event of a remand, and the various remedies and levels 
of judicial review that remain available to the Company. 

Government Investigatiol/s, Audits and Reviews 

The Company has been involved or is currently involved in various governmental investigations, audits and reviews. These 
include routine, regular and special investigations, audits and reviews by CMS, state insurance and health and welfare 
departments, the Brazilian national regulatolY agency for private health insurance and plans (the Agencia Nacional de Saude 
Suplementar), state attorneys general, the Office of the Inspector General, the Office of Personnel Management, the Office of 
Civil Rights, the Government Accountability Office, the Federal Trade Commission, U.S. Congressional committees, the U.S. 
Department of Justice, the SEC, the Internal Revenue Service, the U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration, the Brazilian 
federal revenue service (the Secretaria da Receita Federal), the U.S. Department of Labor, the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation, the Defense Contract Audit Agency and other governmental authorities. Celtain ofthe Company's businesses 
have been reviewed or are currently under review, including for, among other things, compliance with coding and other 
requirements under the Medicare risk-adjustment model. The Company has produced documents, infOlmation and witnesses 
to the Depal1ment of Justice in cooperation with a current review of the Company's risk-adjustment processes, including the 
Company's patient chart review and related programs. CMS has selected celiain of our local plans for risk adjustment data 
validation (RADV) audits to validate the coding practices of and supporting documentation maintained by health care 
providers and such audits may result in retrospective adjustments to payments made to our health plans. 

The Company cannot reasonably estimate the range of loss, if any, that may result from any material government 
investigations, audits and reviews in which it is currently involved given the status of the reviews, the wide range of possible 
outcomes and inherent difficulty in predicting regulatOlY action, fines and penalties, if any, the Company's legal and factual 
defenses and the various remedies and levels of judicial review available to the Company in the event of an adverse finding. 

Guaranty Fumi Assessments 

Under state guaranty association laws, celtain insurance companies can be assessed (up to prescribed limits) for certain 
obligations to the policyholders and claimants of impaired or insolvent insurance companies (including state health insurance 
cooperatives) that write the same line or similar lines of business. In 2009, the Pennsylvania Insurance Commissioner placed 
long term care insurer Penn Treaty Network America Insurance Company and its subsidialY (Penn Treaty), neither of which is 
affiliated with the Company, in rehabilitation and petitioned a state COUlt for approval to liquidate Penn Treaty. In 2012, the 
cOUl1 denied the liquidation petition and ordered the Insurance Commissioner to submit a rehabilitation plan. The court held a 
hearing in July 2015 to begin its consideration of the latest proposed rehabilitation plan.lhe hearing is scheduled to continue 
in the spring of 20 16. 

If the current proposed rehabilitation plan, which contemplates thepat1ialliquidation of Penn Treaty, is approved by the court, 
the Company's insurance entitie$ and other insurers may be required to pay a portion of Penn Treaty's policyholder claims 
through state guaranty association assessments. The Company continues to vigorously challenge the proposed rehabilitation 
plan. The Company is cun'ently unable to estimate losses or ranges of losses because the Company cannot predict when or to 
what extent Penn Treaty will ultimately be liquidated, the amount of the insolvency, the amount and timing of any associated 
guaranty fund assessments or the availability and amount of any premium tax and other potential offsets. 

14. Segment Financial Information 

Factors used to determine the Company's repol1able segments include the nature of operating activities, economic 
characteristics, existence of separate senior managcment teams and the type of information lISed by the Company's chief 
operating decision maker to evaluate its results of operations. Reportable segments with similar economic characteristics, 
products and services, customers, distribution methods and operational processes that operate in a similar regulatOlY 
environment are combined. 
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T ablc of Contcnts 

The following is a description of the types of products and services from which each ofthe Company's four repol1able 
segments derives its revenues: 

UniledHealthcare includes the combined results of operations of United Health care Employer & Individual, 
UnitedHealthcare Medicare & Retirement, UnitedHealthcare Community & State and UnitedHealthcare Global. The 
U.S. businesses share significant common assets, including a contracted network of physicians, health care 
professionals, hospitals and other facilities, information technology infrastructure and other resources. 
UnitedHealthcare Employer & Individual offers an array of consumer-oriented health benefit plans and services for 
large national employers, public sector employers, mid-sized employers, small businesses and individuals nationwide 
and active and retired military and their families through the TRrCARE program. UnitedHealthcare Medicare & 
Retirement provides health care coverage and health and well-being services to individuals age 50 and older, 
addressing their unique needs for preventive and acute health care services as well as services dealing with chronic 
disease and other specialized issues for older individuals. UniledHealthcare Community & State's primary customers 
oversee Medicaid plans, the Children's Health Insurance Program and other federal, state and community health care 
programs. UnitedHealthcare Global is a diversified global health services business with a variety of offerings, 
including international commercial health and dental benefits. 

OptumHealth serves the physical, emotional and financial needs of individuals, enabling population health 
management and local care delivery through programs offered by employers, payers, government entities and directly 
with the care delivery system. OptumHealth offers access to networks of care provider specialists, health 
management services, care delivery, consumer engagement and relationship management and sales distribution 
platform services and financial services. 

Optumlnsight is a health care information, technology, operational services and consulting company providing 
software and information products, advisory consulting services and business process outsourcing services and 
support to participants in the health care industry. Hospitals, physicians, commercial health plans, government 
agencies, life sciences companies and other organizations that comprise the health care system use Optumlnsight to 
reduce costs, meet compliance mandates, improve clinical performance and adapt to the changing health system 
landscape. . 

OptumRx offers pharmacy care services and programs, including retail pharmacy network management services, 
home delivery and specialty pharmacy services, manufacturer rebate contracting and administration, benefit plan 
design and consultation, claims processing and a variety of clinical programs such as formulary management and 
compliance, drug utilization review and disease 8.nd drug therapy management services. 

The Company's accounting policies for reportable segment operations are consistent with those described in the Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies (see Note 2). Transactions between reportable segments principally consist of sales of 
phal1nacy benefit products and services to UnitedHealthcare customers by OptumRx, certain product offerings and care 
management and local care delivery services sold to UnitedHealthcare by OptumHealth, and health information and 
technology solutions, consulting and other services sold to UnitedHealthcare by Optumlnsight. These transactions are 
recorded at management's estimate of fair value. Intersegment transactions are eliminated in consolidation. Assets and 
liabilities that are jointly used are assigned to each reportable segment using estimates of pro-rata usage. Cash and investments 
are assigned such that each repOltable segment ha., working capital andlor at least minimum specified levels of regulatory 
capital. 

As a percentage of the Company's total consolidated revenues, premium revenues from CMS were 26% for 2015, and 29% 
for both 2014 and 2013, most of which were generated by UnitedHealthcare Medicare & Retirement and included in the 
UnitedHealthcare segment. U.S. customer revenue represented approximately 96%, 95% and 95% of consolidated total 
revenues for 2015,2014 and 2013, respectively. Long-lived fixed a~sets located in the United States represented 
approximately 81% and 73% of the total long-lived fixed assets as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The 
non-U.S. revenues and fixed assets are primarily related to UnitedHealthcare Global. 
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The following table presents the repOltable segment financial information: 

(in millions) 

2015 

Revenues external customers: 

Premiums 

Products 

Services 

Total revenues· external customers 

Total revenues· interscgment 

Investment and other income 

Total revenues 

Earnings from operations 

Interest expense 

Earnings before income taxes 

Total assets 

Purchases of property, equipment and 
capitalized software 

Depreciation and amortization 

2014 

RevenueS. external customers: 

Premiums 

Products 

Services 

Total revenues· external customers 

Total revenues· intersegment 

Investment and other income 

Total revenues 

Eamings from operations 

Interest expense 

Earnings before income taxes 

Total assets 

Purchases of property, equipment and 
capitalized software 

Depreciation nnd amortization 

20ll 

Revenues· external customers: 

Premiums 

Products 

Services 

Total revenues· external customers 

TOlal revenues - interscgmenl 

Investment and other income 

Total revenues 

Earni ngs from operations 

J nterest expense 

OpIUm 

UnttedHealttll:al"e OpttlmHeallb Optumlnsight OptumR:t 

$ 124,011 $ 

2 

6,776 

130,789 

3,152 $ 

31 

2,375 

5,558 

8,216 

554 153 
---....:-

$ $ 

108 17,171 

2,390 381 

2,498 17,552 

3,697 30,718 

2 

Optum 
Eliminntions 

(791) 

$ 

$ 

131,343 $ 13,927 .,;$==6""1,,,9,;,.6 $48,272 .,;$=~;..;,;" 

6,754 $ 1,240 $ 1,278 $ 1,749 $ 

$ 6,754 $ 1,240 $ 1,278 $ 1,749 $ ====== ==~== ====== 
$ 64,212 $ 14,600 $ 8,335 $26,844 $ 

653 

718 

252 

251 

572 

492 

79 

232 

Corporate and 
Optum Eliminations ComO)id<'tM 

$ 3,152 $ 

17,310 

5,146 

25,608 

41,840 (41,840) 

$127,163 

17,312 

11,922 

156,397 

156 710 

$67,604 $ (41,840) $157,107 

$ 4,267 $ $ 11,021 

_--.:...(7_90....:...) (790) 
$ 4,267 $ (790) $ 10,231 

$49,779 $ (2,608) $111,383 

903 

975 

1,556 

1,693 

$ 112,645 $ 2,657 $ $ $ $ 2,657 $ $115,302 

4,242 

10,151 

129,695 

3 18 96 4,125 4,239 

16 1,300 2,224 II 3,635 ----- ---'-- ---'-- ~--'- ---- --- ----
119,164 3,975 2,320 4,236 

6,913 2,906 27,740 

634 144 

(489) 

10,531 

37,070 

145 

(37,070) 

779 

$ 119,798 $ 11,032 $ 5,227 ~ =$=.,;(~48;;.;.9~) $47,746 $ (37,070) $130,474 

$ 6,992 $ 1,090 $ 1,002 $ 1,190 $ $ 3,282 $ $ 10,274 

$ 6,992 $ 1,090 $ 1,002 $ 1,190 $ 
======= -===== 
$ 62,405 $11,148 $ 8,112 $5,474 $ 

773 

772 

212 

179 

484 

433 

56 

94 

$ 107,024 $ 2,533 $ $ $ 

8 19 92 3,071 

819 2,006 96 ----- ---- ----- --- ----

_--.:...(6_18....:...} (618) 

$ 3,282 =$=.,;,(6=1..;.,8) $ 9,656 

$24,734 $ (757) $ 86,382 

752 

706 

$ 2,533 $ 

3,182 

2,921 

1,525 

1,478 

113,108 3,371 3,167 

20,839 

______ 8_,6_3_6 ___ _ 

$\09,557 

3,190 

8,997 

121,744 

617 

6,357 

127 

2,615 

1 

(458) 

$ $24,006 $ 
===== ======= ===== ======= 
$ 7,132 949 $ 831 $ 711 $ 

209 

29,353 

128 

(29,353) 

$38,117 $ (29,353) 

$ 2,491 $ 

(708) 

745 

$122,489 

$ 9,623 

(708) 
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Earnings before income taxes $ $ 949 $ 831 $ 711 $ $ $ (708) $ 8,915 

Total assets $ 61,942 $ 9,244 $ 6,880 $ 4,483 $ $20,607 $ (667) $ 81,882 
Purchases of property, equipment and 

capitalized software 670 185 363 89 637 1,307 

Depreciation and amortization 766 158 359 92 609 1,375 
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15. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) 

Selected quarterly financial information for all quarters of 2015 and 2014 is as follows: 

For the Quarter Ended 

(in millions, except per share dllta) March 31 .fune 30 September 30 December 31 

2015 

Revenues $ 35,756 $ 36,263 $ 41,489 $ 43,599 

Operating costs 33,116 33,368 38,471 41,131 

Earnings from operations 2,640 2,895 3,018 2,468 

Net earnings 1,413 1,585 1,618 1,252 

Net earnings attributable to UnitedHealth Group common 
stockholders 1,413 1,585 1,597 1,218 

Net earnings per share attributable to UnitedHealth Group 
common stockholders: 

Basic 1.48 1.66 1.68 1.28 

Diluted 1.46 1.64 1.65 1.26 

2014 

Revenues $ 31,708 $ 32,574 $ 32,759 $ 33,433 

Operating costs 29,654 30,022 29,856 30,668 

Earnings from operations 2,054 2,552 2,903 2,765 

Net earnings 1,099 1,408 1,602 1,510 

Net eamings attributable to UnitedHeaIth Group common 
stockholders 1,099 1,408 1,602 1,510 

Net earnings per share attributable to UnitedHealth Group 
common stockholders: 

Basic 1.12 1.44 1.65 1.58 

Diluted 1.10 1.42 1.63 1.55 

ITEM 9.CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURE 

None. 

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934 (Exchange Act) that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us 
in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time 
periods specified in SEC rules and forms; and (ii) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal 
executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 

In connection with the filing of this Annual Report on Fonn !O-K, management evaluated, under the supervision and with the 
participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Ofticer, the etfectiveness ofthe design and operation of our 
disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2015. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and 
Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level 
as of December 31, 2015. 

CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 
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There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2015 that 
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over tinancial repOlting. 
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Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting as of December 31,2015 

UnitedHealth Group Incorporated and Subsidiaries' (the "Company") management is responsible for establishing and 
maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(1) and 15d-15(1) under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934. The Company's internal control system is designed to provide reasonable assurance to our 
management and board of directors regarding the reI iability of financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements for extemal purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The Company's intemal control 
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable 
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions ofthe assets of the Company; (ii) provide reasonable 
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance 
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company's assets that could 
have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company's intemal· contl'Ol over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015. 
In making this assessment, we used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013). Management's assessment of the effectiveness of our 
internal control over financial reporting excluded an assessment ofthe effectiveness of our internal control over financial 
reporting of the Catamaran Corporation (Catamaran) acquisition. Such exclusion was in accordance with Securities and 
Exchange Commission guidance that an assessment of a recently acquired business may be omitted in management's report 
on internal control over financial reporting in the year of acquisition. We acquired Catamaran during July 2015. Catamaran 
represented 16% of our consolidated total assets and 8% of our consolidated total revenues as of and for the year ended 
December 31,2015. Based on our assessment and the COSO criteria, we believe that, as of December 31, 2015, the Company 
maintained effective internal control over financial feporting. 

The Company's independent registered public accounting film has audited the Company's internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2015, as stated in the Report of Independent Registefed Public Accounting Firm, appearing 
undef Item 9A. 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of United Health Group Incorporated and Subsidiaries: 

We have audited the internal control over financial repOlting of United Health Group Incorporated and subsidiaries (the 
"Company") as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria established in Internal Control- Integrated Framework (2013) issued 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. As described in Report of Management on 
Intemal Control over Financial Reporting as of December 31, 2015, management excluded from its assessment the intemal 
control over financial reporting at Catamaran Corporation (Catamaran), which was acquired during July 2015 and whose 
financial statements collectively constitute 16% of consolidated total assets and 8% of consolidated total revenues as of and 
for the year ended December 31, 2015. Accordingly, our audit did not include the intemal control over financial reporting at 
Catamaran. The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and 
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Report of 
Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting as of December 31, 2015. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards ofthe Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal 
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of 
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and ev~Iuating the design 
and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we 
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company's 
principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company's 
board of dircctors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for extemal purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the 
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of 
the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are 
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets 
that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or 
improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fi-aud may not be prevented or detected on a 
timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over linancial reporting to future 
periods are su~ject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of 
compliance with the policies 01' procedures may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control ovcr tlnancial reporting as of 
December 3 J, 2015, based on the criteria established in Internal Control- Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards ofthe Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 
the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year cnded December 31, 2015 of the Company and our report dated 
February 9, 2016 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements. 

lsi DELOITl'E & TOUCHE LLP 

Minneapolis, Minnesota 

February 9, 2016 
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